
Greeley City Council Agenda 
Regular Meeting 

Tuesday, December 6, 2022 at 6:00 p.m.
City Council Chambers at City Center South, 1001 11th Ave, Greeley, CO 80631 

Zoom Webinar link: https://greeleygov.zoom.us/j/98241485414 

NOTICE: 
Regular meetings of the City Council are held on the 1st and 3rd Tuesdays of each month in 
the City Council Chambers. Meetings are conducted in a hybrid format, with a Zoom 
webinar in addition to the in person meeting in Council Chambers. 

City Council members may participate in this meeting via electronic means pursuant to 
their adopted policies and protocol. 

Members of the public are also invited to choose how to participate in Council meetings in 
the manner that works best for them. 

Watch Meetings: 
Meetings are open to the public 
and can be attended in person 
by anyone. 

Meetings are televised live 
on GTV8 on cable television. 

Meetings are livestreamed on 
the City's website, greeleygov.com 
as well as YouTube at 
youtube.com/CityofGreeley 

For more information about this meeting 
or to request reasonable accommodations, 
contact the City Clerk's Office at 
970-350-9740 or by email at 
cityclerk@greeleygov.com. 

Comment in real time: 
During the public input portion of the meeting 
and public hearings: 

In person attendees can address the 
Council in the Chambers . 

The public can join the Zoom webinar 
and comment from the remote 
meeting. 

Submit written comments: 
Email comments about any item on the 
agenda before Noon on the day of the 
meeting to cityclerk@greeleygov.com 

Written comments can be mailed or 
dropped off at the City Clerk's Office at City 
Hall, at 1000 10th St, Greeley, CO 80631 

Meeting agendas, minutes, and archived 
videos are available on the City's meeting 
portal at 
greeley-co.municodemeetings.com/ 

https://greeleygov.zoom.us/j/98241485414
https://greeleygov.com/government/ceo/social-media/gtv8
https://greeleygov.com/
https://www.youtube.com/c/Greeleygovernment
mailto:cityclerk@greeleygov.com
mailto:cityclerk@greeleygov.com
https://greeley-co.municodemeetings.com/


City Council Agenda 
December 06, 2022 at 6:00 PM 

City Council Chambers, City Center South, 1001 11th Ave & 

via Zoom at https://greeleygov.zoom.us/j/98241485414 

1. Call to Order

2. Pledge of Allegiance

3. Roll Call

4. Approval of the Agenda

5. Recognitions and Proclamations

6. Citizen Input

7. Reports from Mayor and Councilmembers

8. Initiatives from Mayor and Councilmembers

Consent Agenda 

The Consent Agenda is a meeting management tool to allow the 

City Council to handle several routine items with one action. 

Council Members may request an item be pulled off the Consent 

Agenda and considered separately under the next agenda item 

in the order they were listed. 

9. Approval of the City Council Proceedings of November 1,

2022, and November 15, 2022

10. Acceptance of the Report of the City Council Special Work

Session of November 15, 2022

11. Consideration of a Motion Approving the 2023 Council

Meeting and Work Session Calendar

12. Consideration of a Resolution Authorizing the City to enter

into an Intergovernmental Agreement for Judicial and

Administrative Services with the cities of Fort Collins and

Loveland

13. Consideration of a Resolution Approving the 2023 Budget

for the Greeley Downtown Development Authority and

Appropriating Funds for that Budget

Mayor 

John Gates 

Councilmembers 

Tommy Butler 

Ward I 

Deb DeBoutez 

Ward II 

Johnny Olson 

Ward III 

Dale Hall 

Ward IV 

Brett Payton 

At-Large 

Ed Clark 

At-Large 

A City Achieving 

Community Excellence 
Greeley promotes a 

healthy, diverse economy 

and high quality of life 

responsive to all its 

residents and 

neighborhoods, 

thoughtfully managing its 

human and natural 

resources in a manner 

that creates and sustains 

a safe, unique, vibrant 

and rewarding 

community in which to 

live, work, and play. 

Page 1



City Council Agenda - City of Greeley, Colorado 

14. Consideration of a Resolution Establishing the 2022 Downtown Development Authority Tax 

Levy and Directing the Certification of the same to the Board of County Commissioners 

15. Consideration of a Resolution for Adoption of the 2022 Water Efficiency Plan  

16. Introduction and first reading of an Ordinance re-authorizing various Boards and 

Commissions for three years 

17. Introduction and first reading of an Ordinance for the sixth amendment to the development 

agreement for Leprino Foods Company. 

End of Consent Agenda 

18. Pulled Consent Agenda Items 

19. Public hearing to Consider a Substantial Amendment (#4) to the Community Development 

Block Grant Coronavirus (“CDBG-CV”) related to the 2020-2024 Consolidated Plan and 2020 

Action Plan 

20. Public hearing and second reading of an Ordinance appropriating additional sums to 

defray the expenses and liabilities of the City of Greeley for the balance of the fiscal year of 

2022 and for funds held in reserve for encumbrances through December 31, 2021 

21. Scheduling of Meetings, Other Events 

22. Consideration of a motion authorizing the City Attorney to prepare any required resolutions, 

agreements, and ordinances to reflect action taken by the City Council at this meeting and 

any previous meetings, and authorizing the Mayor and City Clerk to sign all such resolutions, 

agreements and ordinances 

23. Consideration of a motion to go into Executive Session to receive legal advice 

from the City Attorney and to determine positions, develop strategy, and give 

instructions to negotiators regarding 2023 collective bargaining with Greeley 

Firefighters 

24. Adjournment 

Page 2



City Council Agenda - City of Greeley, Colorado 

Council Agenda Summary 
 

 

Title 

Recognitions and Proclamations 

Summary 

Council Member DeBoutez will present the What’s Great about Greeley Report. 

 

 

Attachments 

What’s Great about Greeley Report 

 

 
                                 

Page 3

Item No. 5.



City Council Meeting
December 6, 2022 Page 4

Item No. 5.



Page 5

Item No. 5.



Greeley Ranks High on New 
‘Black Progress Index’

• The Black Progress Index is a collaboration between the 
Brookings Institution and the National Association for 
the Advancement of Colored People

• Mean life expectancy for Black residents in Greeley is 
96.2 years – a national high.

Page 6

Item No. 5.



UNC Professor Emerita 
Genevieve Canales Recognized 
as a Corn Mother of 2022

• Professor emerita of Hispanic Studies

• Founded annual Mexican American Arts Festival

• Founded Más Arts Plus After-School Program at Dos 
Rios Elementary

Page 7

Item No. 5.



Madison Elementary School 
Honored with Governor’s 
Bright Spot Award

• One of 21 schools across the state to receive the new 
award.

• Award includes $50,000 grant through the Governor’s 
Emergency Education Relief Fund.

Page 8

Item No. 5.



UNC Wrestler, Andrew Alirez, 
Becomes First Bear to Earn 
No. 1 NCAA Ranking

• Former Greeley Central wrestler

• Placed first at NWCA All-Star Classic

Page 9

Item No. 5.



Page 10

Item No. 5.



City Council Agenda - City of Greeley, Colorado 

Council Agenda Summary 
 

 

Title 

Citizen Input 

Summary 

During this 15 minute portion of the meeting, anyone may address the Council on 

any item of City Business appropriate for Council consideration that is not already 

listed as a public hearing on this evening’s agenda.  

 

As this meeting is being conducted in a hybrid format, citizen input will be 

accepted first from those in the City Council Chambers, and then from the virtual 

meeting audience via the meeting’s webinar. 

 

Written comments submitted for any item on the agenda will be placed in the 

public record and provided to the Council for their review and should include the 

name and city of residence of the person submitting the comments for the record. 
                                 

Page 11

Item No. 6.



City Council Agenda - City of Greeley, Colorado 

Council Agenda Summary 
 

 

 

Title 

Reports from Mayor and Councilmembers 

Summary 

During this portion of the meeting any Councilmember may offer announcements or 

reports on recent events and happenings.  These reports should be a summary of the 

Councilmember’s attendance at assigned board/commission meetings and should 

include key highlights and points that may require additional decision and discussion 

by the full Council at a future time.   
 

Page 12

Item No. 7.



City Council Agenda - City of Greeley, Colorado 
 

Council Agenda Summary 
 

Title 

Initiatives from Mayor and Councilmembers 

Summary 

During this portion of the meeting any Councilmember may bring before the Council 

any business that the member feels should be deliberated upon by the Council. These 

matters need not be specifically listed on the Agenda, but formal action on such 

matters shall be deferred until a subsequent Council meeting. 

 

Initiatives generally fall into three categories: 

 

1) A policy item for Council deliberation and direction for a future Worksession, 

Committee meeting, or regular/special Council meeting; 

 

2) A request to the City Manager for information or research; 

 

3) A request involving administrative processes or procedures. 

 

At the close of this portion of the meeting, the Mayor will confirm Council’s consensus 

that the individual requests be pursued. 

 

Attachments 

Status Report of Council Initiatives and Related Information 

                                 

Page 13

Item No. 8.



Initiative No. Council 

Member 

Initiating

Council Request Council Meeting or 

Work Session Date 

Requested

Status or Disposition 

(After completion, item is shown one time as 

completed and then removed.)

Next Steps & Schedule Anticipated Deliverable 

& Date (Report, Council 

Presentation, etc.)

Assigned to:

15-2021 Olson Formation of a committee for 

implementation of a funding strategy for the 

35th and 47th interchanges.

December 7, 2021

 Council Meeting

Councilmember Olson will be following up with 

Manager Lee and Director Trombino on next steps

Pending outcome of federal grant 

application submitted

Report to Council early 2023 Paul Trombino

09-2022 Butler Review traffic and safety surrounding 15 

acre open area between 71st Avenue and 8th 

Street

June 7, 2022

Council Meeting

Requested that Public Works review the traffic and to 

improve safety in this congested area.

Additional signage installed for 

traffic and parking.

Staff worked with School District, 

builder and GPD to ensure road is 

passable for school buses.  GPD will 

focus enforcement times to ensure 

compliance with posted speed limit. 

Staff developing neighborhood 

safety improvement options and 

working with School District on 

transportation issues to improve 

coordination and support related to 

safety and infrastructure around 

school sites.

Anticipate providing report to 

Council on Improvements in 

early 2023

Paul Trombino

10-2022 Butler Review costs and strategies to live stream 

Planning Commission and Water Board 

meetings for public and Councilmembers

June 7, 2022

Council Meeting

Asked staff to investigate the cost of live streaming 

Planning Commission and Water and Sewer Board 

meetings and return to Council with findings

Additional technology costs ~ 

$15,000.  Parts are backordered, eta 

approx. mid-January. Anticipate 

additional operation costs to inclue 1 

addt'l staff at each B&C meeting to 

accommodate hybrid meeting.  

Assessing costs related to staffing, 

overtime expenes or other flexible 

staff options.  Some testing has 

occurred for broadcasting of 

meetings.  Additional equipment 

testing will be done once equipment 

is received.  Staff will identify long-

term operational impacts at that time.

Anticipated report to Council 

1st Qtr 2023

Kelli Johnson

12-2022 Butler Varying Boards & Commissions meeting 

times

September 6, 2022 

Council Meeting

Asked staff to research the ability for alternative 

meeting times for Boards & Commissions to increase 

community engagement and recruitment

CCO survey to Boards due back 

12/16.  

Report to Council/January 

2023

City Clerk’s Office

15-2022 Hall Concerns regarding aftermath of natural 

disasters

October 4, 2022

Council Meeting

Requested update from Greeley’s emergency 

management team to lessen the aftermath effects from a 

natural disaster, i.e. water and sewer, electricity, phone 

services, etc.

OEM update to Council Work Session report 

1/10/2023

Brian Kuznik

16-2022 Clark Concers over the increase in incidents and 

safety in the  tunnel under Hwy 34 in the 

Hillside/Farr Park neighborhood

November 1, 2022 

Council Meeting

Requested staff study implementing a closure of the 

tunnel entrance between the hours of 10:00 PM and 

7:00 AM over safety concerns

City holding citizen meetings in 

December.

Report to Council early 2023. Paul 

Trombino/Becky 

Safarik

17-2022 DeBoutez Expressed concern about neighborhood 

issues, i.e. speeding and noise violations. 

November 15, 2022 

Council Meeting

Requested GPD and PW research technologies 

available for traffic calming, speed/red light cameras 

and decibel measuring devices to improve safety, 

wellbeing and quality of life in Greeley.  

CMO recommendation - Do we 

invest in additional technology tools 

and structure to combat 

neighborhood issues?

PW/GPD provide report on 

technologies available, cost of such 

technology, and how different 

technologies are used in other 

communities and the results of 

implementing such technology.

Work Session report/CMO 

recommendation

Adam Turk/Paul 

Trombino

Greeley City Council

Status Report of Council Initiatives

Page 14

Item No. 8.



City Council Agenda - City of Greeley, Colorado 

Council Agenda Summary 
  

Title:  

Approval of the City Council Proceedings of November 1, 2022, and November 15, 2022 

Summary:  

Meetings of the City Council were held in the City Council’s Chambers on November 1, 

2022, and November 15, 2022. The draft proceedings have been prepared and are 

being presented for the Council’s review and approval. 

Decision Options:  

1) 1.  To approve the proceedings as presented; or 

2) 2.  Amend the proceedings if amendments or corrections are needed, and approve 

3)  as amended. 

Council’s Recommended Action:  

A motion to approve the City Council proceedings as presented. 

Attachments: 
Draft Proceedings of November 1, 2022 

Draft Proceedings of November 15, 2022 

 

 

 

Page 15

Item No. 9.



City Council Proceedings November 1, 2022 - draft 

City of Greeley, Colorado 

CITY COUNCIL PROCEEDINGS 

November 01, 2022 

 

 

 
 1. Call to Order 

Mayor Gates called the meeting to order at 6:00 p.m. in the City Council 

Chambers at 1001 11th Ave, Greeley, Colorado, with hybrid participation 

available via the City's Zoom platform. 

 

2. Pledge of Allegiance 

Mayor Gates led the Pledge of Allegiance. 

 

3. Roll Call 

Heidi Leatherwood, City Clerk, called the roll. 

Present: 

Mayor John Gates 

Councilmember Tommy Butler 

Councilmember Deb DeBoutez 

Councilmember Dale Hall 

Councilmember Ed Clark 

Councilmember Johnny Olson 

 

Excused Absence - Mayor Pro Tem Brett Payton  

 

4. Approval of the Agenda 

City Manager Lee announced Item 17 will be removed from the agenda and will 

be continued to the November 15, 2022, City Council meeting.  

 

5. Recognitions and Proclamations 

Mayor Gates read the “Veteran’s Day Proclamation.” The Proclamation will be 

read again at the Veteran’s Day Ceremony on November 11, 2022. 

 

Mayor Gates presented the “Native American Heritage Month Proclamation”. 

Eryka Charley, Director of Native American Student Services at the University of 

Northern Colorado received the proclamation accompanied by several other 

staff and students. Ms. Charley spoke about the Indigenous Peoples Speaker 

Series event on November 9, 2022.  

 

Councilmember Olson gave the “What’s Great About Greeley” presentation. 

 

 

 

Page 16

Item No. 9.



City Council Proceedings November 1, 2022 - draft 

6. Citizen Input 

1. Jim Riesberg spoke about the America Walks program and AARP’s 

Colorado State Walking College. Mr. Riesberg invited Council to join him 

at the Downtown Walk and a remembrance event November 20th. 

2. Jaysen Lopez, with Cargador Company spoke about EVSE, 

disproportionately impacted grants and intelligent energy storage.  

 

7. Reports from Mayor and Councilmembers 

Councilmember Olson asked Mr. Lopez from citizen comment about the CDOT 

program for Innovative Mobility. Councilmember Olson spoke about the awards 

and grants the City applied for through CDOT. In response to the question, Mr. 

Lopez mentioned that he has reached out to Public Works Director, Paul 

Trombino. 

 

Mayor Gates congratulated the six individuals from the Fire Department who 

received promotions and individuals who saved a life using the AED device at 

the Recreation Center. 

  

8. Initiatives from Mayor and Councilmembers 

Councilmember Clark brought forth an initiative for staff to study potentially 

closing the Hillside tunnel that runs under Highway 34 between the hours of 10:00 

p.m. and 7:00 a.m. Councilmember Clark was concerned about the suspicious 

activity that occurs in the evenings. 

 

Consent Agenda 

9. Consideration of a motion to call a Special Work Session November 15, 2022 to 

discuss Development Impact Fees. 

10. Approval of the City Council Proceedings of October 4, 2022 

11. Acceptance of the Report of the City Council Work Session of October 11, 2022 

12. Consideration of a motion to approve a change order, in the amount of 

$38,250.00, to the contract with Barnhart Communications for the image 

campaign  

13. Introduction and first reading of an Ordinance amending Title 12, Chapter 3 

and Title 20, Chapter 3 and Chapter 4 of the Greeley Municipal Code 

Relating to the City of Greeley’s Municipal Separate Storm Sewer System 

Councilmember Butler moved to approve the Consent Agenda Items 9-13.   

Councilmember Clark seconded the motion. The motion passed 6-0 at 6:27 p.m. 

with Mayor Pro Tem Payton absent. 

 

 

Page 17

Item No. 9.



City Council Proceedings November 1, 2022 - draft 

End of Consent Agenda 

14. Pulled Consent Agenda Items 

 No pulled items. 

15. Public hearing and second reading of an Ordinance repealing and replacing 

Article V of Title 18 and enacting a new Article V of Title 18 regarding Event and 

Demonstration Permits; and Making changes to Section 12-357 regarding 

Amplified Sound Permits 

 Deputy City Attorney Stacey Aurzada introduced the item with a presentation at 

6:28 p.m.  

The new ordinance clarifies the permit process, demonstration permits will remain 

with the Police Department and revocable event permits will be handled by the 

City Clerk’s Office. No fee will be collected for demonstrations permits and a 

tiered fee schedule will be established for the revocable event permits. The City 

Manager has the authority to waive or reduce the fees.  

 Councilmember DeBoutez asked how long it takes to be approved.  In response 

to the question, Ms. Aurzada answered that the deadline for an application is 60 

days prior to the event but cannot be submitted earlier than a year in advance. 

The City Clerk has 45 days to respond to the applicant with approval or denial.  

Councilmember DeBoutez asked if individuals camping in the parks need a 

permit.  In response to the question, Ms. Aurzada replied that the permit process 

does not pertain to events in parks. Parks and Recreation have their own 

processes. 

Councilmember Butler asked about the Downtown Development Authority 

events and will those be waived. Ms. Aurzada replied, the City Clerk and City 

Manager will work on the criteria related to possible fee waivers. 

 The Public Hearing opened at 6:38 p.m. 

 With no speakers, the Public Hearing closed at 6:38 p.m. 

 

Councilmember Clark moved to adopt the Ordinance and publish with reference 

to title only. Councilmember Hall seconded the motion. The motion passed 6-0 at 

6:39 p.m. with Mayor Tem Payton absent. 

 

16. Public hearing and second reading of an Ordinance amending Article II, Section 

2-60 of the Greeley Municipal Code regarding election wards   

 Interim Community Development Director Becky Safarik introduced the item with 

a presentation at 6:39 p.m. 

Page 18

Item No. 9.



City Council Proceedings November 1, 2022 - draft 

 The City of Greeley Charter and Municipal Code describes the city will be 

divided into four election wards of, as nearly as possible, and equal number of 

residents. Ward boundaries can be updated no more than once every four years 

by ordinance.  

Using the 2020 Census information and the 2022 Annual Growth Report and 

Projections, staff developed amended boundary maps and presented them to 

Council at the March 22, 2022, City Council meeting.  

 Mayor Gates asked for confirmation that none of the Councilmembers will be 

displaced. In response to the question, Ms. Safarik confirmed that no 

Councilmember would be displaced. 

 The Public Hearing was opened at 6:49 p.m. 

1. Edwin Grant spoke about the growth of the community and elections. 

The Public Hearing was closed at 6:52 p.m. 

 

Councilmember Hall moved to adopt the Ordinance and publish with reference 

to title only. Councilmember Olson seconded the motion. The motion passed 6-0 

at 6:52 p.m. with Mayor Pro Tem Payton absent. 

 

17. Public hearing and second reading of an Ordinance changing the official zoning 

map of the City of Greeley, Colorado, from Holding-Agriculture (H-A) to 

Residential-High Density (R-H), changing the underlying land use designations for 

approximately 31.19 acres of property located north of and adjacent to13th 

Street and the Fox Run Neighborhood, approximately 500’ west of 59th Avenue, 

and approximately 580’ south of 10th Street (ZON2021-0016) (13th Street 

Apartments Rezone). 

 The applicant requested this item be continued to the November 15, 2022, City 

Council Meeting. 

Councilmember Olson moved to continue the item to November 15, 2022. 

Councilmember Hall seconded the motion. The motion passed 6-0 at 6:54 p.m. 

with Mayor Pro Tem Payton absent. 

  

18. Public hearing to establish a Planned Unit Development plan to allow all C-H 

(Commercial High Intensity) uses and manufacturing food and beverage major 

use on approximately 19.995 acres of land located West of 23rd Avenue and 

South of 29th Street (Project No. PUD2022-0002) (Colorado Premium PUD) 

 Kristin Cote, City Planner introduced the item with a presentation at 6:55 p.m. She 

asked that items 18 and 19 be discussed together because both applications 

are related to the same project and site.  

Page 19

Item No. 9.



City Council Proceedings November 1, 2022 - draft 

 The application requested a rezone to allow for residential development options 

and incorporate residential density in the area to support existing and future 

commercial properties. The site is located adjacent to the property to the north 

along 10th Street and east along 59th Avenue.  

Councilmember DeBoutez asked to confirm if another manufacturer wanted to 

occupy the location.  In response the question, Ms. Cote indicated that if 

another manufacturer wanted to move into this location with a different type of 

product, they would have to apply for an amendment to the PUD plan which 

would require coming before Council again for consideration.  Councilmember 

DeBoutez then asked if staff had toured Colorado Premium Foods and could 

verify that there are no odors associated with their processes.  In response to the 

question, Ms. Cote indicated they had toured the facility and there are no odors 

emitted.   

 Councilmember Butler asked if there have been any reports of noise issues.  In 

response to the question, Ms. Cote indicated there have been no noise or other 

code compliance complaints. 

 The Public Hearing opened at 7:00 p.m. 

 With no speakers, the Public Hearing closed at 7:00 p.m. 

 

Councilmember Olson moved to approve the Colorado Premium Planned Unit 

Development plan and is in compliance with Title 24-205(c), subject to approval 

of an ordinance changing the official zoning map of the City of Greeley. 

Councilmember Hall seconded the motion. The motion passed vote 6-0 at 7:01 

p.m. with Mayor Pro Tem Payton absent. 

 

19. Public hearing and second reading of an Ordinance changing the official zoning 

map of the City of Greeley, Colorado from Commercial High Intensity (C-H) to 

Planned Unit Development (PUD)changing the underlying land use designations 

for approximately 19.995 acres of land located west of 23rd Avenue and south of 

29th Street (Colorado Premium PUD) 

 This item was presented with Item 18 by City Planner Kristin Cote.  

Mayor Gates opened he Public Hearing at 7:02 p.m. 

 With no speakers, the Public Hearing closed at 7:02 p.m. 

 

Councilmember Hall moved to approve the rezoning from C-H (Commercial High 

Density) to Planned Unit Development (PUD) and the application is in compliance 

with Title 24-204(b). Councilmember DeBoutez seconded the motion. The motion 

passed 6-0 at 7:03 p.m. with Mayor Pro Tem Payton absent. 

Page 20

Item No. 9.



City Council Proceedings November 1, 2022 - draft 

Councilmember Hall motioned to adopt the ordinance and publish with reference 

to title only. Councilmember DeBoutez seconded the motion. The motion passed 

6-0 at 7:04 p.m. with Mayor Pro Tem Payton absent. 

20. Scheduling of Meetings, Other Events 

 None 

21. Consideration of a motion authorizing the City Attorney to prepare any required 

resolutions, agreements, and ordinances to reflect action taken by the City 

Council at this meeting and any previous meetings, and authorizing the Mayor 

and City Clerk to sign all such resolutions, agreements and ordinances 

Councilmember Butler moved to approve the motion. Councilmember Hall 

seconded the motion. The motion passed 6-0 at 7:05 p.m. with Mayor Pro Tem 

Payton absent. 

 

22. Adjournment 

 Mayor Gates adjourned the meeting at 7:06 p.m. 

 

 

 

 

___________________________________ 

John D. Gates, Mayor 

 

___________________________________ 

Heidi Leatherwood, City Clerk 

Page 21

Item No. 9.



City Council Proceedings November 15, 2022 - draft 

City of Greeley, Colorado 

CITY COUNCIL PROCEEDINGS 

November 15, 2022 

 
  

1. Call to Order 

Mayor Gates called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m. in the City Council 

Chambers at 1001 11th Ave, Greeley, Colorado, with hybrid participation 

available via the City's Zoom platform. 

 

2. Pledge of Allegiance 

 The pledge of Allegiance was held at the 6:00 p.m. Work Session. 

3. Roll Call 

Heidi Leatherwood, City Clerk, called the roll. 

Present: 

Mayor John Gates 

Councilmember Tommy Butler 

Councilmember Deb DeBoutez 

Mayor Pro Tem Brett Payton 

Councilmember Ed Clark 

Councilmember Johnny Olson 

 

Excused Absence - Councilmember Dale Hall  

 

4. Approval of the Agenda 

City Manager Lee announced that the applicant had requested Item 20 to be 

continued to the January 17, 2023, City Council meeting.  

 

5. Recognitions and Proclamations 

Mayor Gates read the Law Enforcement Records Personnel Week proclamation 

and presented it to Kelly French, City of Greeley Records and Evidence Manager 

for the Police Department.  

Mayor Gates presented a proclamation for 16 Days of Activism to Heather 

Rehruk, President of Zonta Club of Greeley. Ms. Rehruk spoke to Council about 

the impact of Zonta’s support for women and families. Zonta Club is working 

diligently to educate the public and provide more resources.  

 

6. Citizen Input 

Page 22

Item No. 9.



City Council Proceedings November 15, 2022 - draft 

1. Emmy Adams and James Boulian, students at the University of Northern 

Colorado (UNC) are with the Earth Guardians Club at UNC working toward 

climate and environmental justice solutions. The students presented their list of 

demands for a livable future in Greeley and a poster, which was given to the 

City Clerk. 

2. Pastor David Meek wished the Mayor and Council a happy Thanksgiving. 

7. Reports from Mayor and Councilmembers 

Mayor Pro Tem spoke about the Veteran’s Day celebration. 

8. Initiatives from Mayor and Councilmembers 

Councilmember DeBoutez asked for an initiative for the Public Works and the 

Police Departments to work together in finding a solution for the neighborhood 

nuisances, loud noises, speeding and running red lights. Councilor DeBoutez 

wanted staff to research utilizing software and technology consistent with other 

communities. Councilmember DeBoutez requested a Work Session to discuss 

options on the technology and include insights for options to close the tunnel 

under Highway 34 at night. 

 

City Council consensus was to begin researching this issue.  

Consent Agenda 

9. Approval of the City Council Proceedings of October 18, 2022 

10. Acceptance of the Report of the City Council Work Session of October 25, 2022 

11. Consideration of a Resolution of the Greeley City Council ratifying the 

Appointment of certain nominees to the Board of Trustees of the Clearview 

Library District 

 This item was pulled from the Consent Agenda. 

12. Consideration of a Resolution of the Greeley City Council ratifying the 

Appointment of certain nominees to the Board of Trustees of the High Plains 

Library District 

13. Consideration of Resolution to support application for grant funding from the 

State of Colorado Department of Natural Resources State Trails program for 

planning and design of a new trailhead in Sheep Draw Natural Area 

14. Consideration of a Resolution of the City Council of the City of Greeley, 

Colorado, authorizing City staff to enter into a settlement and release agreement 

with Christina Wiles resolving all claims against the City of Greeley, its officers, 

and employees 

Page 23

Item No. 9.



City Council Proceedings November 15, 2022 - draft 

15. Introduction and first reading of an Ordinance appropriating additional sums to 

defray the expenses and liabilities of the City of Greeley for the balance of the 

fiscal year of 2022 and for funds held in reserve for encumbrances through 

December 31, 2021 

16. Introduction and First Reading of an Ordinance Amending Sections 6-998, 6-

1000, 6- 1002 through 6-1009, 6-1013 and 6-1015 the City of Greeley Municipal 

Code of Ordinances Relating to Development Impact Fees 

 This item was pulled from the Consent Agenda. 

Mayor Pro Tem Payton moved to approve the Consent Agenda Items 9, 10 and 

12-15.   Councilmember Butler seconded the motion. The motion passed 6-0 at 

7:27 p.m. with Councilmember Hall absent. 

 

End of Consent Agenda 

17. Pulled Consent Agenda Items 

 Item 11. Consideration of a Resolution of the Greeley City Council ratifying the 

Appointment of certain nominees to the Board of Trustees of the Clearview 

Library District 

 Councilmember Butler asked if there was a Councilmember included in 

appointing the member to the Board of Trustees. In response to Councilmember 

Butler’s question, Kelli Johnson, Chief of Staff, replied that according to the 

Clearview Library District’s bylaws, individuals included in the interview process 

must reside within the District’s boundaries.  The Library District had reached out 

asking if Councilmember Hall would be available; however, his schedule did not 

align with the interview timeline. Councilmember Hall indicated he would like to 

be part of this process in the future. 

 City Council will be included in the interviewing process moving forward. 

Councilmember Butler moved to adopt the Resolution. Mayor Pro Tem Payton 

seconded the motion. The motion passed 6-0 at 7:31 p.m. with Councilmember 

Hall absent. 

 Item 16, Introduction and First Reading of an Ordinance Amending Sections 6-

998, 6-1000, 6- 1002 through 6-1009, 6-1013 and 6-1015 the City of Greeley 

Municipal Code of Ordinances Relating to Development Impact Fees 

 Finance Director John Karner spoke about the two types of changes included:  

1. Economic adjustment, inflation factor every year and this does not need City 

Council’s vote per The City’s Ordinance.  

2. Every five years a study is done to review the fees and if the City is in line with 

our neighboring Cities in fee costs.  

Page 24

Item No. 9.



City Council Proceedings November 15, 2022 - draft 

Mr. Karner stated he would be back December 6, 2022, for additional discussion.  

 Mayor Pro Tem Payton stated he wanted to discuss this item further and 

intended on voting no.  

 Councilmember Butler spoke on the need to change the fees and wanted more 

information/options for tiered fees.  

 City Attorney, Doug Marek spoke about the options to move forward on this 

item.  

Discussion ensued. 

Councilmember Butler moved to introduce the ordinance and schedule the public 

hearing and second reading for December 6, 2022. Councilmember DeBoutez 

seconded the motion. The motion failed 3-3 at 7:39 p.m. with Mayor Pro Tem 

Payton and Councilmembers Clark and Olson voting nay and Councilmember 

Hall absent. 

 Council’s direction was to set this item for a future Work Session and discuss 

further.   

 

18. Public hearing and consideration of a Resolution of the Greeley City Council to 

decline participation in the State of Colorado paid Family Medical Leave 

Insurance (FAMLI) Program 

 Noel Mink, Human Resources (HR) Director introduced the item with a 

presentation at 7:45 p.m. 

 Communication was sent out to City employees October 26, 2022, and HR held 

a virtual conversation about FAMLI program on November 7, 2022, to address 

questions and concerns.  

 Benefits of opting out are: 

 City employees can participate in FAMLI on their own by electing in and the 

cost to the employee is the same whether the City participates or not. 

 The City has no financial responsibility for the premium. 

 Most City employees receive a greater benefit from the City at no cost to the 

employee. 

Employees can use both the City program and FAMLI.  

Mayor Gates gave appreciation to the HR team in their thorough review of this 

matter and their diligence of informing the employees of this complex matter 

and giving them options for opting in themselves if they desire. 

Councilmember Butler asked about the process for employees, specifically if 

employees can utilize the plan at any time? In response to the question, Ms. Mink 

Page 25

Item No. 9.



City Council Proceedings November 15, 2022 - draft 

replied that employees can, but if they opt in, they cannot opt out for three 

years. Ms. Mink indicated that CML did a study of 45 other municipalities in the 

state and only 3 of those 45 are opting in at this point. 

Mayor Gates indicated he also heard at a School Board meeting that school 

districts in the state are also not opting in for the same reasons. 

The Public Hearing was opened at 7:51 p.m. 

With no speakers, the Public Hearing was closed at 7:51 p.m. 

 

Mayor Pro Tem Payton moved to adopt the Resolution. Councilmember Olson 

seconded the motion. The motion passed 6-0 at 7:52 p.m. with Councilmember 

Hall absent. 

 

19. Public hearing and second reading of an Ordinance amending Title 12, 

Chapter 3 and Title 20, Chapter 3 and Chapter 4 of the Greeley Municipal 

Code Relating to the City of Greeley’s Municipal Separate Storm Sewer 

System 

 Brian Hathaway, Stormwater Quality Administrator introduced the item with a 

presentation at 7:53 p.m. 

 The City’s Municipal Separate Storm Sewer System permit is mandated by the 

Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) and administered by the Colorado 

Department of Health and Environment.  Under the permit, enforcement 

provisions are required for construction sites, post-construction and illicit 

discharges.  

 In 2019, stormwater code underwent a comprehensive revision to ensure 

regulatory compliance, which included enforcement provisions. In 2022, the City 

Attorney’s Office notified Public Works that the enforcement language adopted 

in 2019 had several crucial errors.  

 Councilmember Olson asked who the permit controller is when a developer is 

developing a property. In response to the question, Mr. Hathaway replied the 

City is the permit controller, and the state has the construction storm water 

permit, but the City must also inspect.  

Councilor Olson asked if this change would have helped with the Rock Ridge 

development. In response to the questions, Mr. Hathaway replied that it would 

have helped. 

The Public Hearing was opened at 7:56 p.m. 

 With no speakers, the Public Hearing closed at 7:56 p.m. 

 

Page 26

Item No. 9.



City Council Proceedings November 15, 2022 - draft 

Councilmember Olson moved to adopt the Ordinance and publish with reference 

to title only. Councilmember Butler seconded the motion. The motion passed 6-0 

at 7:57 p.m. with Councilmember Hall absent. 

 

20. Public hearing and second reading of an Ordinance changing the official zoning 

map of the City of Greeley, Colorado, from Holding-Agriculture (H-A) to 

Residential-High Density (R-H), changing the underlying land use designations for 

approximately 31.19 acres of property located north of and adjacent to 13th 

Street and the Fox Run Neighborhood, approximately 500’ west of 59th Avenue, 

and approximately 580’ south of 10th Street (ZON2021-0016) (13th Street 

Apartments Rezone) 

 The applicant requested this item be continued to the January 17, 2023 City 

Council meeting. The applicant’s Attorney Patrick Grooms was present and 

informed the City Council why the request was made. 

Mayor Pro Tem Payton moved to continue the Public hearing and second reading 

of an Ordinance changing the official zoning map of the City of Greeley, 

Colorado, from Holding-Agriculture (H-A) to Residential-High Density (R-H), 

changing the underlying land use designations for approximately 31.19 acres of 

property located north of and adjacent to 13th Street and the Fox Run 

Neighborhood, approximately 500’ west of 59th Avenue, and approximately 580’ 

south of 10th Street (ZON2021-0016)(13th Street Apartments Rezone) to the January 

17, 2023 City Council Meeting. Councilmember Butler seconded the motion. The 

motion passed 6-0 at 8:00 p.m. with Councilmember Hall absent. 

 

21. Appointment of applicants to the Housing Authority 

 City Clerk Leatherwood read the appointment. 

Housing Authority 

 Juliana Kitten was appointed to a term of five years expiring 2027. 

 

22. Scheduling of Meetings, Other Events 

 None.  

23. Consideration of a motion authorizing the City Attorney to prepare any required 

resolutions, agreements, and ordinances to reflect action taken by the City 

Council at this meeting and any previous meetings, and authorizing the Mayor 

and City Clerk to sign all such resolutions, agreements and ordinances 

Mayor Pro Tem Payton moved to approve the motion. Councilmember Butler 

seconded the motion. The motion passed 6-0 at 8:01 p.m. with Councilmember 

Hall absent. 

Page 27

Item No. 9.



City Council Proceedings November 15, 2022 - draft 

24. Consideration of a motion to go into executive session to request and 

receive legal advice from the City Attorney regarding qualifications of 

candidates for City office as set out in the Greeley Municipal Charter 

and the Colorado Constitution 

 

Councilmember Olson moved to approve the motion. Mayor Pro Tem Payton 

seconded the motion. The motion passed 6-0 at 8:02 p.m. with Councilmember 

Hall absent. 

25. Adjournment 

Mayor Gates announced that Council will not be returning to the regular meeting 

and adjourned the meeting at 8:02 p.m. 

 

 

 

Executive Session regarding qualifications of candidates for City office as set out 

in the Greeley Municipal Charter and the Colorado Constitution 

 

Announcement made by mayor as presiding officer at the beginning of 

executive session, confirming that the meeting is being recorded:  

 

“The time is 8:07 p.m. on November 15, 2022. For the record, this is City Attorney 

Doug Marek, and at the request of the Mayor, John Gates, and as required by 

Open Meetings Law this executive session is being electronically recorded. In 

addition, present at this executive session are the following persons: (Mayor 

Gates, Mayor Pro Tem Payton, Councilmembers Clark, Olson, DeBoutez and 

Butler, City Clerk Heidi Leatherwood, and City Manager Raymond Lee, III).” 

 

“This is an executive session for the following purposes: receiving legal advice from 

the City Attorney regarding qualifications of candidates for City office as set out 

in the Greeley Municipal Charter and the Colorado Constitution as provided 

under C.R.S. 2-402(4)(b); and Greeley Municipal Code 2-151(2). 

 

“I caution each participant to confine discussion to the stated purpose of the 

executive session, and no formal action may be taken during executive session. 

If at any point in this executive session any participant believes that the discussion 

is going outside of the proper scope of the executive session, please interrupt the 

discussion and make an objection.”  

 

 

Announcement by City Attorney: 

As City Attorney, it is my opinion that the discussion of this matter is a privileged 

attorney-client communication. I am therefore recommending that the recording 

Page 28

Item No. 9.



City Council Proceedings November 15, 2022 - draft 

of this executive session should stop and that no further record be kept until the 

privileged portion ends.  Mayor Gates, may I turn off the recorder? 

 

(recorder turned off) 

 

Announcement by City Attorney 

The time is now 8:34 p.m., and I have turned the recorder on because the 

confidential attorney-client privileged conversation is ended. This executive 

session is concluded. The recording of this executive session will be retained as 

provided in the City’s Records Retention Policy and in conformity with the 

Colorado Open Meetings Law for  a period of 90 days.  

 

This time is 8:34 p.m. This executive session is concluded. The recording of this 

executive session will be retained as provided in the City’s Records Retention 

Policy and in conformity with the Colorado Open Meetings Law for a period of 90 

days.  

 

 

 

___________________________________ 

John D. Gates, Mayor 

 

___________________________________ 

Heidi Leatherwood, City Clerk 

 

Page 29

Item No. 9.



City Council Agenda - City of Greeley, Colorado 

Council Agenda Summary 
  

Title:  

Acceptance of the Report of the City Council Special Work Session of November 15, 

2022 

Summary:  

A City Council Special Work Session was held in the City Council’s Chambers on 

November 15, 2022. The draft report of that special work session has been prepared for 

the Council’s review and acceptance. 

Decision Options:  

1) 1.  To accept the Report as presented; or 

2) 2. Amend the Report if amendments or corrections are needed, and accept as    

amended. 

Council’s Recommended Action:  

A motion to accept the Report as presented. 

Attachments: 
Draft Report of November 15, 2022 

 

 

Page 30

Item No. 10.



Special Work Session Report November 15, 2022 - draft 

City of Greeley, Colorado 

CITY COUNCIL WORK SESSION REPORT 

November 15, 2022 

 
  

1. Call to Order  

Mayor John Gates called the meeting to order at 6:00 p.m. in the City 

Council Chambers at 1001 11th Ave, Greeley, Colorado, with hybrid 

participation available via the City's Zoom platform.  

 

A work session and a business meeting will be held back-to-back, with 

a regular Council meeting being held immediately following this work 

session. 
 
2. Pledge of Allegiance 

Mayor Gates led the Pledge of Allegiance. 

 

3. Roll Call 

City Clerk Heidi Leatherwood called the roll.  

The following members of Council were present:  

Councilmember Tommy Butler 

Councilmember Deb DeBoutez 

Mayor Pro Tem Brett Payton 

Councilmember Ed Clark 

Councilmember Johnny Olson 

Mayor John Gates 

 

Excused Absence- Councilmember Dale Hall   

 

4. Reports from Mayor and Council  

None 

  

5. Development Fee Discussion 

Finance Director John Karner introduced the item, Development 

Impact Fees Proposed Adjustments , with a presentation at 6:01 p.m. 

 

Mr. Karner provided a recap of the development fee purpose and the 

September discussion, an overview of the use of additional 

development fee funding, a review of 2020 proposed fee adjustments, 

and Council direction and timeline. 

 

The City looks at fees every five years and adopts a fee structure 

based on two factors:  

1) existing service levels provided to citizens; and  

Page 31

Item No. 10.



Special Work Session Report November 15, 2022 - draft 

2) forecast for growth.  The study is intended to propose a fee structure 

to capture revenue to develop and build off the current 

infrastructure to maintain service levels. 

 

An Overview of the use of Additional Development Fee Funding: 

 

The 2020 study proposed the following options:  

1) Adopt the fees; and  

2) If the fees are not adopted, there wil l be a gap in funding that can 

be addressed in two ways: 

a. Reduce service levels  

b. Subsidize the gap through other funding sources  

 

 

If the City were to move forward with approving development fees, the 

revenue would be funded via six development funding sources:  

 Trails Development Fees  

 Transportation Development Fees 

 Stormwater Development Fees 

 Police Department Fees 

 Fire Detail 

 

Development fees can only be used for growth or expansion, not 

maintenance. 

 

Review of 2020 Proposed Development Impact Fee Adjustments : 

 

Two proposed changes recommended by the 2020 study:  

1. Change in fees based on cost factors, existing service levels, and 

funding needs for the City.  

2. Methodology of how fees are applied, moving to a tiered approach 

based on square footage and size of the development. 

 

Council Direction and Timeline: 

 

Two Directions: 

1. If Council decides to keep fees the same, they will be updated 

administratively with a letter going out to the development 

community this month and fees effective March 1 , 2023. Inflationary 

factors included, would not be included in the 2014 study.  

 

2. If Council recommends adopting the 2020 proposed fee structure 

the timeline is: 

November 15, 2022 - First Reading 

December 6, 2022 – Second Reading,  

                   Development Memo Published (~90 days’ notice) 

March 1, 2023 – New Fees Effective 

Page 32

Item No. 10.



Special Work Session Report November 15, 2022 - draft 

Inflationary factors over the last two years would be included to 

ensure fees were caught up as imposed for the 2020 plan.  

 

Mayor Pro Tem Payton requested clarification on inflationary add-ins, a 

timing for this presentation, specifically at the November 15, 2022 

meeting, and removal of the multi -family fee structure. Additionally, 

Mayor Pro Tem Payton expressed his concern that there hasn’t been 

sufficient time to review and understand the material being asked to 

vote on tonight. 

 

In response to the question, Mr. Karner responded that inflationary 

add-ins are included in the original study and clarified that the multi -

family fee structure remains, however, it is based on per unit.  

 

Stacey Aurzada, Deputy City Attorney, provided guidance on the 

timing for providing notice.  

 

An additional conversation ensued regarding the timing of the new fee 

study.  

 

Councilmember Olson requested clarification regarding parks and 

trails included in development plans, and if the same thing applies to 

Metro Districts. In response, Becky Safarik, Interim Community 

Development Director, provided clarification on development fees, 

which contribute to the building of parks and trails.  Developers are not 

required to build a park; they are required to pay the fees for parks in 

the area.  Mr. Karner and Ms. Safarik clarified that building parks is not 

a requirement of Metro Districts in Gree ley. 

 

Councilmember Olson requested an additional discussion on Metro 

Districts, and asked for additional clarification on the tier structure, 

and existing fee structure for single and multi -family builds.  

 

Councilmember Butler requested clarification on the reason for the fee 

structure changes and expressed a sense of inequity for smaller homes.  

 

Kalen Myers, Special Projects Manager, provided background on the 

tier structure as an industry standard across municipalities , based on 

the demand on the infrastructure that is innate to increased 

populations. The tier structure is intended to be agnostic of the 

development type, treating residential the same across the board.  

 

Councilmember DeBoutez expressed support for the tiered structure. 

 

Councilmember Clark asked for clarification on the meeting with the 

developers and inflation fees, noting he also feels the request to vote 

tonight was too soon. 

 

Page 33

Item No. 10.



Special Work Session Report November 15, 2022 - draft 

Additional conversation regarding inflation ensued.  

 

Mayor Pro Tem Payton expressed the intention to pull this agenda item 

if it goes to the first reading based on insufficient time to review, and 

asked for clarification on Stormwater, Transportation, Impact, and 

Commercial fees.  

 

Mayor Gates closed the discussion at 6:51 p.m. and the item will be 

removed from the consent agenda.  

 

No objections from Council or Staff.  

 

6. Scheduling of Meetings, Other Events 

 

 None. 
 

7. Adjournment 

 

 Mayor Gates adjourned the meeting at 6:51 p.m. 

 

 

___________________________________ 

John D. Gates, Mayor 

 

___________________________________ 

Heidi Leatherwood, City Clerk 

Page 34

Item No. 10.



City Council Agenda - City of Greeley, Colorado 

Council Agenda Summary 
December 6, 2022 

Key Staff Contact: Heidi Leatherwood, City Clerk 

  

Title:  

Consideration of a Motion Approving the 2023 Council Meeting and Work Session 

Calendar 

Summary: 
 

Greeley Municipal Code §2-150 addresses regular meetings, work sessions and special 

meetings of the City Council.  This code section sets regular meetings on the first and 

third Tuesdays of each month, and work sessions on the second and fourth Tuesdays of 

each month.  Pursuant to this section, the Council may 1) change the day, hour or 

location of regular meetings or work sessions by motions, and 2) set special meetings 

and special work sessions by motion. 

 

Attached is the proposed 2023 Council Meeting and Work Session Calendar. 

Exceptions to the regular calendar reflected in this proposed calendar include no 

regular meeting or work session on the following dates.  Dates which do not fall on the 

holiday are reflective of City Council cancellations in the past few years. 

 

July 4, 2023 Independence Day holiday (City Holiday) 

November 7, 2023 Election date 

November 21, 2023 Thanksgiving week 

December 19, 2023 Week before Christmas 

December 26, 2023 Christmas holiday (City Holiday) 
 

Fiscal Impact: 
 

Does this item create a fiscal impact on the City of Greeley? N/A 

If yes, what is the initial, or, onetime impact?  

What is the annual impact?  

What fund of the City will provide Funding?   

What is the source of revenue within the fund?  

Is there grant funding for this item? N/A 

If yes, does this grant require a match?  

Is this grant onetime or ongoing?  

Additional Comments:  

Legal Issues:   

None. 

 

Page 35

Item No. 11.



City Council Agenda - City of Greeley, Colorado 

Other Issues and Considerations: 

Consideration of Alternate dates suggested by Council. 

Council’s Recommended Action:  

A motion to approve the 2023 Council Meeting and Work Session Calendar as 

presented; or 

A motion to approve the 2023 Council Meeting and Work Session Calendar as 

amended. 

Attachments: 

Proposed 2023 Calendar 

Proposed Meeting List 

 

Page 36

Item No. 11.



January February March

Su M T W Th F Sa Su M T W Th F Sa Su M T W Th F Sa
1 2 3 4 5 6 7 1 2 3 4 1 2 3 4

8 9 10 11 12 13 14 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 5 6 7 8 9 10 11

15 16 17 18 19 20 21 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 12 13 14 15 16 17 18

22 23 24 25 26 27 28 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 19 20 21 22 23 24 25

29 30 31 26 27 28 26 27 28 29 30 31

April May June

Su M T W Th F Sa Su M T W Th F Sa Su M T W Th F Sa
1 1 2 3 4 5 6 1 2 3

2 3 4 5 6 7 8 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 4 5 6 7 8 9 10

9 10 11 12 13 14 15 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 11 12 13 14 15 16 17

16 17 18 19 20 21 22 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 18 19 20 21 22 23 24

23 24 25 26 27 28 29 28 29 30 31 25 26 27 28 29 30

30

July August September

Su M T W Th F Sa Su M T W Th F Sa Su M T W Th F Sa
1 1 2 3 4 5 1 2

2 3 4 5 6 7 8 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 3 4 5 6 7 8 9

9 10 11 12 13 14 15 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 10 11 12 13 14 15 16

16 17 18 19 20 21 22 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 17 18 19 20 21 22 23

23 24 25 26 27 28 29 27 28 29 30 31 24 25 26 27 28 29 30

30 31

October November December

Su M T W Th F Sa Su M T W Th F Sa Su M T W Th F Sa
1 2 3 4 5 6 7 1 2 3 4 1 2

8 9 10 11 12 13 14 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 3 4 5 6 7 8 9

15 16 17 18 19 20 21 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 10 11 12 13 14 15 16

22 23 24 25 26 27 28 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 17 18 19 20 21 22 23

29 30 31 26 27 28 29 30 24 25 26 27 28 29 30

31

     City Holidays

Election Day Jan. 3 - New Year's Day

Jan. 16 - MLK Day

Worksessions Feb. 20 - Presidents Day

May 29 - Memorial Day

June 19 - Juneteenth Day

July 4 - Independence Day

Sept. 4 - Labor Day

Nov. 10 - Veterans Day

Nov. 23&24 - Thanksgiving

Dec. 25&26 - Christmas 

City of Greeley City Council Calendar 2023

City Council Meetings 
City Council Meetings occur typically on the first and third Tuesdays of the 

month at 6:00 p.m. except as otherwise noted.

Council Work Session Meetings on the second and fourth Tuesday of the 

month at 6:00 p.m. except as otherwise noted.

Page 37

Item No. 11.



City Council Meetings City Council Work Sessions
January 3, 2023 January 10, 2023

January 17, 2023 January 24, 2023
February 7, 2023 February 14, 2023

February 21, 2023 February 28, 2023
March 7, 2023 March 14, 2023

March 21, 2023 March 28, 2023
April 4, 2023 April 11, 2023

April 18, 2023 April 25, 2023
May 2, 2023 May 9, 2023

May 16, 2023 May 23, 2023
June 6, 2023 June 13, 2023

June 20, 2023 June 27, 2023
July 11, 2023

July 18, 2023 July 25, 2023
August 1, 2023 August 8, 2023

August 15, 2023 August 22, 2023
September 5, 2023 September 12, 2023

September 19, 2023 September 26, 2023
October 3, 2023 October 10, 2023

October 17, 2023 October 24, 2023
November 14, 2023
November 28, 2023

December 5, 2023 December 12, 2023

Proposed 2023 Council Meeting/Work Session Dates

Page 38

Item No. 11.



City Council Agenda - City of Greeley, Colorado 

Council Agenda Summary 
December 6, 2022 

Key Staff Contact: Stacey Aurzada, Deputy City Attorney 

  

Title:  

Consideration of a Resolution Authorizing the City to enter into an Intergovernmental 

Agreement for Judicial and Administrative Services with the cities of Fort Collins and 

Loveland 

 

Summary: 
 

Greeley, Fort Collins and Loveland (the “Municipalities”) all have Municipal Courts.  

These Courts are presided by Municipal Judges.  Each city also employs assistant or 

temporary Municipal Judges.  On occasion, a Municipal Judge may be prevented 

from sitting on the bench or presiding over a case by reason of personal conflict of 

interest, vacation, illness or other reason, and in some cases the assistant or temporary 

Municipal Judge may also be unavailable.  In order to provide cost-effective and 

efficient special judicial services to temporarily replace the services of the Municipal 

Judge in the event of a conflict of interest or other circumstance, the Municipalities 

desire to cooperatively exchange the services of their Municipal Judge with each 

other.  In Greeley, all Judges are required to be residents of the City of Greeley.  Since 

this is true, only Judge Jill Heuser is qualified to serve as a Judge in Greeley Municipal 

Court.  If this Agreement is approved, Judge Heuser will be available to serve as a 

Judge in Greeley, and Judge Gonzales and the appointed Assistant Judges will be 

available to serve in Fort Collins and Loveland. 

 

Fiscal Impact: 
 

Does this item create a fiscal impact on the City of Greeley? No 

If yes, what is the initial, or, onetime impact?  

What is the annual impact?  

What fund of the City will provide Funding?   

What is the source of revenue within the fund?  

Is there grant funding for this item? N/A 

If yes, does this grant require a match?  

Is this grant onetime or ongoing?  

Additional Comments:  

Legal Issues:   

None 

  

Page 39

Item No. 12.



City Council Agenda - City of Greeley, Colorado 

Other Issues and Considerations: 

None  

Decision Options:  

1) Adopt the resolution as presented; or 

2) Amend the resolution and adopt as amended; or 

3) Deny the resolution; or 

4) Continue consideration of the resolution to a date certain. 

Council’s Recommended Action:  

A motion to adopt the Resolution. 

Attachments: 

Resolution 

Agreement 

Page 40

Item No. 12.



THE CITY OF GREELEY, COLORADO 

RESOLUTION 43, 2022 

 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF GREELEY COUNCIL AUTHORIZING THE  

CITY TO ENTER INTO AN INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT FOR  

JUDICIAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICES WITH THE  

CITIES OF FORT COLLINS AND LOVELAND 

 

 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 29-1-203, C.R.S., governments may cooperate or 

contract with one another to provide any function, service or facility lawfully authorized 

to each of the cooperating or contracting units of government; and 

 

WHEREAS, the cities of Fort Collins, Loveland, and Greeley (collectively referred to as the 

“Municipality” or “Municipalities”) desire to enter into an agreement for the exchange 

of judicial services; and  

 

WHEREAS, Municipal Courts are generally held and presided over by Municipal Judges 

employed by the Municipalities; and  

 

WHEREAS, on occasion, the Municipal Judges may be prevented from sitting on the 

bench or presiding over a case by reason of personal conflict of interest, vacation, 

illness or other reason, and in some cases the Assistant Municipal Judge (also known as 

the temporary judge) may also be unavailable; and  

 

WHEREAS, in order to provide cost-effective and efficient special judicial services to 

temporarily replace the services of the Municipal Judge in the event of a conflict of 

interest or other circumstance, the Municipalities desire to cooperatively exchange the 

services of their Municipal Judge with each other; and   

 

WHEREAS, Section 7-1 of the Charter of the City of Greeley sets forth the requirements 

for appointment of the Judge or Judges of the Municipal Court and states that in the 

Judge or Judges’ absence the Council shall designate an attorney to serve as Judge; 

and 

 

WHEREAS, the Fort Collins Municipal Judge Jill Hueser is qualified to serve as an assistant 

judge in accordance with Section 2-939 of the Greeley Municipal Code; and 

 

WHEREAS, it is in the best interest of the citizens of the City of Greeley for Council to 

enter into this Agreement. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GREELEY, 

COLORADO: 

 

Section 1.  The City Council hereby authorizes the City to enter into an 

Intergovernmental Agreement entitled “Intergovernmental Agreement for Judicial and 

Administrative Services”, a copy of which is attached hereto and incorporated herein 

Page 41

Item No. 12.



as Exhibit A, for the purpose of appointing Judge Heuser to serve as an assistant judge 

through October 31, 2024.   

 

Section 2.  City staff is hereby authorized to make changes and modifications to the 

Agreement, so long as the substance of the Agreement remains unchanged. 

 
Section 3.   This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon its passage. 

 

PASSED AND ADOPTED, SIGNED AND APPROVED THIS ______ day of DECEMBER, 2022. 

 

ATTEST:      THE CITY OF GREELEY, COLORADO 

 

 

 

 

 

___________________________________ ____________________________________ 

City Clerk Mayor 

Page 42

Item No. 12.



INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT 

FOR JUDICIAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICES 

 

THIS AGREEMENT is made and entered into by and between THE CITY OF FORT 

COLLINS, COLORADO (“Fort Collins”), THE CITY OF GREELEY, COLORADO (“Greeley”), 

and THE CITY OF LOVELAND, COLORADO (“Loveland”), and each and all also will be 

collectively referred to as the “Municipality” or the “Municipalities.”  

WITNESSETH: 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 29-1-203, C.R.S., governments may cooperate or contract 

with one another to provide any function, service or facility lawfully authorized to each of the 

cooperating or contracting units of government; and 

WHEREAS, the Municipal Courts of Cities and Towns are generally held and presided 

over by Municipal Judges employed by the Municipalities; and  

WHEREAS, on occasion, the Municipal Judges may be prevented from sitting on the bench 

or presiding over a case by reason of personal conflict of interest, vacation, illness or other reason, 

and in some cases the Assistant Municipal Judge (also known as the temporary judge) may also 

be unavailable; and  

WHEREAS, in order to provide cost-effective and efficient special judicial services to 

temporarily replace the services of the Municipal Judge in the event of a conflict of interest or 

other circumstance, the Municipalities desire to cooperatively exchange the services of their 

Municipal Judge with each other; and   

WHEREAS, Section 1 of Article VII of the Fort Collins City Charter sets forth the 

requirements for the appointment of Municipal Judges, including temporary judges, and requires 

that the temporary judges be reputable and qualified attorneys; and 

WHEREAS, Section 9-2 of the City of Loveland Charter sets forth the requirements for 

appointment of the Municipal Judge and deputy municipal judges, including that such judges shall 

be an attorney at law admitted to practice in Colorado; and 

WHEREAS, Section 7-1 of the Charter of the City of Greeley sets forth the requirements 

for appointment of the Judge or Judges of the Municipal Court and states that in the Judge or 

Judges’ absence the Council shall designate an attorney to serve as Judge; and 

WHEREAS, the City Councils of all three Municipalities have the authority to designate 

an attorney to serve as a deputy or temporary judge; and  

WHEREAS, by Resolution 2022-___, the Fort Collins City Council recognized that the 

Loveland Municipal Judge, the Honorable Geri Joneson; the Loveland Deputy Municipal Judges 

Page 43

Item No. 12.



Marco Scalise and, Carrie Clein; the Greeley Municipal Judge, the Honorable Mark Gonzales; and 

the Greeley Assistant Judges Diane Knutson, Keith Coleman, and Amy Penfold-Rutz are reputable 

and qualified attorneys; and  

WHEREAS, by Resolution #R-95-2022, the Loveland City Council recognized that the 

Fort Collins Municipal Judge, the Honorable Jill Hueser; the Fort Collins Assistant Municipal 

Judges Michele Kline, Vicki Pace, and Kristin Brown; the Greeley Municipal Judge, the 

Honorable Mark Gonzales; and the Greeley Assistant Judges Diane Knutson, Keith Coleman, and 

Amy Penfold-Rutz are attorneys at law licensed to practice in Colorado; and 

WHEREAS, by Resolution __, 2022, the Greeley City Council recognized that the Fort 

Collins Municipal Judge, the Honorable Jill Hueser is an attorney qualified to serve as assistant 

judge in accordance with Section 2.08.050 of the Greeley Municipal Code; and  

WHEREAS, the Fort Collins City Council authorized the Mayor of Fort Collins to execute 

an intergovernmental agreement between Fort Collins, Loveland, and Greeley for the purpose of 

appointing Judges Joneson, Scalise, Clein, Gonzales, Knutson, Coleman, and Penfold-Rutz as 

temporary judges through October 31, 2024, with such language in an intergovernmental 

agreement as the Municipalities determine is appropriate to provide for the exchange of judicial 

services when needed; and  

WHEREAS, the Loveland City Council has authorized the Mayor of Loveland to execute 

an intergovernmental agreement between Loveland, Fort Collins, and Greeley for the purpose of 

appointing Judges Hueser, Kline, Pace, Brown, Gonzales, Knutson, Coleman, and Penfold-Rutz 

as deputy judges through October 31, 2024, with such language in an intergovernmental agreement 

as the Municipalities determine is appropriate to provide for the exchange of judicial services when 

needed; and 

WHEREAS, the Greeley City Council has authorized the Mayor of Greeley to execute an 

intergovernmental agreement between Loveland, Fort Collins, and Greeley for the purpose of 

appointing Judge Hueser as an assistant judge through October 31, 2024, with such language in an 

intergovernmental agreement as the Municipalities determine is appropriate to provide for the 

exchange of judicial services when needed; and 

WHEREAS, the Municipalities’ City Councils have determined it would be in the best 

interests of their respective Municipalities to enter into an Intergovernmental Agreement to 

authorize the exchange of such judicial services under appropriate circumstances and to establish 

the terms and conditions upon which such exchange of services should occur. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants contained herein and other 

good and valuable consideration, the receipt and adequacy of which are hereby acknowledged, the 

parties agree as follows: 

Page 44

Item No. 12.



1. Exchange of Judicial Services.  If the presiding Municipal Judge of Fort Collins, 

Loveland, or Greeley, in his or her discretion, determines that a conflict of interest exists, or that 

any assistant or backup judges are unavailable to perform the normal duties of such judge’s 

position, the lead presiding Municipal Judge (“the Requesting Municipal Judge”) shall determine 

whether it would be appropriate to exchange judicial services under this Agreement. In making 

such determination, the Requesting Municipal Judge shall consider the unique circumstances 

which give rise to the need for a secondary assistant or backup Municipal Judge as well as any 

other factors which the Requesting Municipal Judge may consider to be relevant. If the City 

Council or the Municipal Judge for a Municipality determines that an exchange of judicial services 

would be appropriate under this Agreement, the Requesting Municipal Judge shall notify the 

Municipal Judge for the other Municipality, (“the Responding Municipal Judge”) and request that 

such judge provide such services.    

 Upon receipt of such request, the Responding Municipal Judge shall determine whether 

such services may be provided without unduly interfering with the Responding Municipality’s 

ability to perform the normal duties of its own court. The Responding Municipal Judge shall notify 

the Requesting Municipal Judge within three (3) working days as to whether the request for judicial 

services can be accommodated. If so, the Responding Municipal Judge will provide such services.  

If no response is received from the Responding Municipal Judge within three (3) working days, 

the request shall be deemed denied. 

 2. Pursuant to Fort Collins City Council Resolution 2022-___, the Loveland City 

Council Resolution #R-___-2022, Greeley City Council Resolution __, 2022, the following 

Municipal Judges are authorized to appear in the Municipal Court of Fort Collins, Loveland, or 

Greeley, respectively: 

Fort Collins 

Geri Joneson 

Marco Scalise 

Carrie Clein 

Mark Gonzales 

Diane Knutson 

Keith Coleman 

Amy Penfold-Rutz 

 

 

 

Loveland 

Jill Hueser 

Vicki Pace 

Kristin Brown 

Michele Kline 

Mark Gonzales 

Diane Knutson 

Keith Coleman 

Amy Penfold-Rutz 

 

 

Greeley 

Jill Hueser 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3. Reimbursement of Costs.  The party for whom judicial services are rendered under 

this Agreement (“the Requesting Municipality”) shall provide a replacement judge for judicial 

services for the other party (“the Responding Municipality”) if requested by the Responding 

Municipality and shall reimburse the Responding Municipality for all out-of-pocket expenses 

incurred in rendering the requested judicial services. Such expenses shall include, without 

limitation, cost of reproducing documents, mileage, and long distance telephone calls, and shall 

Page 45

Item No. 12.



exclude any reimbursement for compensation paid by the Responding Municipality to its 

Municipal Judge, its Temporary or Assistant or Deputy Judge, or to its support staff. Payment of 

such expenses shall be made within thirty (30) days of the date of receipt of any billing therefor. 

The Requesting Municipality shall endeavor to limit the costs to the Responding Municipality by 

providing staff support as needed, copies of documents and the use of equipment such as 

telephones or computers.  

3. Employment Status.  Throughout the delivery of the requested secondary judicial 

services, the Responding Municipal Judge and/or such judge’s personnel shall discharge the 

responsibilities of the Requesting Municipality in accordance with the Requesting Municipality’s 

Charter and  Code and other laws applicable to Requesting Municipality but shall continue to be 

employed solely by the Responding Municipality, and the delivery of such judicial services for the 

Requesting Municipality by the Responding Municipal Judge and/or his or her personnel shall be 

considered to be within the scope of the performance of the Responding Municipal Judge’s duties 

for and employment by the Responding Municipality. 

4. Workers' Compensation Insurance and Other Benefits.  If the Responding 

Municipal Judge or other personnel of the Responding Municipality is injured, disabled or dies 

while providing services to the Requesting Municipality under this Agreement, said individual 

shall remain covered by, and eligible for, the workers compensation and other benefits to which 

said individual would otherwise be entitled if the injury, disability or death had occurred while 

acting solely as an employee of the Responding Municipality and not providing services to the 

Requesting Municipality under this Agreement.  Nothing herein shall be deemed to create an 

employment relationship between the Requesting Municipality and the Responding Municipal 

Judge. 

5. Governing Law.  This Agreement shall be governed by and enforced in accordance 

with the laws of the State of Colorado. In addition, the Municipalities acknowledge that there are 

legal constraints imposed upon them by the constitutions, statutes, rules and regulations of the 

State of Colorado and of the United States, and by their respective charters and codes and that, 

subject to such constraints, the Municipalities intend to carry out the terms and conditions of this 

Agreement. Whenever possible, each provision of this Agreement shall be interpreted in such a 

manner so as to be effective and valid under applicable law. Venue for any judicial proceeding 

concerning this Agreement shall only be in the District Court for Larimer County, Colorado. 

6. Liability and Governmental Immunity.  Each party is responsible for its own 

negligence and that of its officers, employees and agents.  However, the parties agree that all 

liabilities, claims and demands shall be subject to any notice requirements, defenses, immunities 

or limitations to liability under the Colorado Governmental Immunity Act (Section 24-10-101, 

C.R.S., et seq.) and to any other defenses, immunities or limitations to liability available to the 

Requesting Municipality under state and federal law. 

Page 46

Item No. 12.



7. Obligations Subject to Appropriation.  The financial obligations of the parties under 

this Agreement in subsequent fiscal years are subject to the appropriation of funds sufficient and 

intended for such purposes by each party’s City Council in its discretion.  

8. Term.  The term of this Agreement shall be effective November 1, 2022, nunc pro 

tunc, and continue through October 31, 2024. Any party may withdraw from this Agreement at 

any time by giving written notice of termination to the each of the other parties not less than thirty 

(30) days prior to the date of withdrawal.  

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Municipalities have executed this Agreement the day and 

year first above written. 

[Signature pages follow.] 

  

Page 47

Item No. 12.



 

      CITY OF FORT COLLINS, COLORADO  

      a municipal corporation 

 

Date: __________________   By: ___________________________ 

       Jeni Arndt, Mayor 

 

ATTEST:  

 

_______________________________ 

City Clerk 

 

________________________ 

(Print name) 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

________________________________ 

Ingrid Decker, Senior Assistant City Attorney 

 

 

  

Page 48

Item No. 12.



 

      CITY OF LOVELAND, COLORADO 

 

 

Date: __________________   By: _____________________________ 

       Jacki Marsh, Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

 

_________________________ 

City Clerk 

 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

_________________________ 

Assistant City Attorney 

  

Page 49

Item No. 12.



      CITY OF GREELEY, COLORADO 

 

 

Date: __________________   By: _____________________________ 

       John Gates, Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

 

_________________________ 

City Clerk 

 

Approved as to Substance: 

 

 

______________________ 

Raymond C. Lee III 

City Manager 

 

Approved as to Availability of Funds: 

 

 

_______________________ 

John Karner 

Finance Director 

 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

 

_________________________ 

Doug Marek 

City Attorney 

Page 50

Item No. 12.



City Council Agenda - City of Greeley, Colorado 

Council Agenda Summary 
December 6, 2022 

Key Staff Contact: John Karner, Finance Director 

  

Title:  

Consideration of a Resolution Approving the 2023 Budget for the Greeley Downtown 

Development Authority and Appropriating Funds for that Budget 

Summary: 
 

This resolution approves the Greeley Downtown Development Authority (DDA) budget 

and authorizes the appropriations for the fiscal year 2023 (January 1, 2023 through 

December 31, 2023). 

Fiscal Impact: 
 

Does this item create a fiscal impact on the City of Greeley? No 

If yes, what is the initial, or, onetime impact?  

What is the annual impact?  

What fund of the City will provide Funding?   

What is the source of revenue within the fund?  

Is there grant funding for this item? N/A 

If yes, does this grant require a match?  

Is this grant onetime or ongoing?  

Additional Comments: Total appropriations for the Greeley Downtown Development 

Authority in the resolution are $454,900 for Normal Operations 

expenditures. 

Legal Issues:   

None 

 

Other Issues and Considerations: 

None 

Decision Options:  

1) Adopt the resolution as presented; or 

2) Amend the resolution and adopt as amended; or 

3) Deny the resolution; or 

4) Continue consideration of the resolution to a date certain. 

Council’s Recommended Action:  

A motion to adopt the Resolution. 

 

Page 51

Item No. 13.



City Council Agenda - City of Greeley, Colorado 

 

Attachments: 

Resolution 

Greeley Downtown Development Authority Board of Directors Meeting 11/17/2022 

Minutes 

Greeley Downtown Development Authority 2023 Budget 

 

 

Page 52

Item No. 13.



CITY OF GREELEY 

 RESOLUTION NO. 45, 2022 

 

RESOLUTION APPROVING THE 2023 BUDGET OF 

THE GREELEY DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY AND 

APPROPRIATING FUNDS FOR THAT BUDGET. 

 

WHEREAS, the Downtown Development Authority (the “DDA”) in the City of Greeley, 

Colorado was created under the provisions of Part 8 of Article 25 of Title 31, C.R.S.; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of the DDA in the City of Greeley, Colorado, has reviewed 

and considered a proposed budget on November 17, 2022. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

GREELEY, COLORADO: 

 

Section 1.  Pursuant to 31-25-816(1), C.R.S., the City of Greeley hereby approves for fiscal 2023 

(January 1, 2023 to December 31, 2023) the annual budget for the DDA in the City of Greeley, 

Colorado; which consists of a document designated as such, including proceeds of a tax levy of 

5.000 mills upon real and personal property within the DDA.   

 

Section 2.  The annual budget of the DDA for the year 2023, as adopted by the DDA and 

approved by the City, shall be on file in the City Clerk's office for public inspection during office 

hours of such office for the entire year of 2023; that budget attached hereto and incorporated 

herein as Exhibit “A”. 

  

Section 3.  There are hereby appropriated for fiscal year 2023 the following amounts: 

 

Fund Description Amount 

Normal Operations  $   454,900  

Total  $   454,900 

 

 

PASSED AND ADOPTED, SIGNED AND APPROVED THIS 6th DAY OF DECEMBER, 

2022. 

 

ATTEST: THE CITY OF GREELEY 

 

 

 

 

____________________________ ______________________________ 

City Clerk Mayor 

Page 53

Item No. 13.



Greeley Downtown Development Authority 
Minutes – Board of Directors Meeting – Chase Bank Building 3rd Floor Conference Room 

November 17, 2022 

Board Members in Attendance: Drew Notestine (Chair), Thomas & Tyler, LLC; Andy Feinstein (Vice Chair), 
University of Northern Colorado; Polly Kurtz (Treasurer), Resident; Matt Hortt, High Plains Library District; Deb 
Deboutez, Greeley City Council; Brian Seifried, Luna’s Tacos & Tequilas; Justin Ghofrani, Kress Cinema & 
Lounge; Matt Estrin, 477 Distilling & Greeley Hatchet House 

Additional Attendees: Ben Snow; City of Greeley; Andrew Wronkoski, Greeley Police Department; Phil White, 
Phil’s Pro Auto 

DDA Staff in Attendance: Bianca Fisher, Executive Director; Alison Hamling, Director of Experience; Karen 
Baumgartner, Project Coordinator 
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Meeting Called to Order: 

• Drew Notestine called the meeting to order at 7:38 am.

Minutes: 

• Drew Notestine referenced the October DDA Minutes and called for a vote of approval. Justin Ghofrani
moved to approve, Deb Deboutez seconded, motion carried.

Safety Report from the Greeley Police Department: 

• The Cold Weather Shelter is not ready to accept overnight stays yet, but they are prepared to help as
they can with hotel vouchers

• The security company that the GPD hired fell through, so they now have signup sheets for GPD officers
who want to sign up for extra shifts between 9am-7pm until the end of the year

• There were not a lot of issues that Officer Wronkoski could see for Downtown, but they have moved to
a different software system, so he is trying to get used to that and asked if there were any issues that
people had seen

• Bianca Fisher asked about the arcade on 17th Street that is affecting the atmosphere around Chipotle
and The Blue Mug. Officer Wronkoski reported that the GPD is aware of the issues and monitoring
activity.

• Andy Feinstein mentioned that they have had problems on campus with auto theft. Officer Wronkoski
reported that it’s a problem everywhere and it does not help that the consequences for auto theft are
not many and he reminded everyone to lock their cars, don’t puff without an automatic start, and be
conscious of what you leave in your car.

Year To Date Financial Report from Polly Kurtz: 

• Doing great financially and we are ahead of last year by close to $23,000 in terms of income due to the
increase in Mil Levy, Owner Use, and Oktobrewfest income

• Expenses such as Payroll, Board, and Professional Development are up from last year, but that had
been budgeted for and we are right on track

• Net income for the year to date is just over $82,000 but are well ahead of what was budgeted for, and
our retained earnings are at approximately $206,000

• TIF & Mil Levy income and expenses are right on pace for the year
Andy Feinstein moved to approve the year-to-date financial report, Matt Hortt seconded, motion carried. 

GREELEY DDA BOARD MEETING MINUTES 11-17-22

1

Page 54

Item No. 13.



 

Action Items Presented by Bianca Fisher: 
2022 Amended Operational Budget  
Forecasting through the end of the year for where our budget will be 

• We had budgeted low for Oktobrewfest and office supplies and Workmen’s Comp are really the only 
changes of note on the expense side since we run a pretty tight ship 

2022 Approved & Amended DDA Operational Budget 
 
INCOME 

 
2022 Approved 

 
2022 Amended 

4110- Grant Income City of Greeley $     42,250 $     42,250 
4111- Specific Ownership $     10,000 $     12,000 
4112- Mill Levy $    220,000 $     225,000 
4114- Interest Income $       500 $      1,000 
4120- Contributions $     25,000 $     22,800 
4140- Parking Lease $      2,400 $      2,400 
4142- Oil & Gas Income $      1,800 $      1,800 
4143- Miscellaneous Income $       150 $        80 
4150- Oktobrewfest Income $     85,000 $     116,300 
4300- Event Sponsors $      6,000 $      2,850 

Total Income $    393,100 $     426,480 
   

EXPENSES   

5101- Salaries $    215,000 $     212,000 
5102- Simple IRA Match $      6,500 $      6,100 
5105- Worker's Comp Insurance $       400 $       901 
5106- Health & Wellness $      1,000 $       475 
5108- Payroll Taxes $     16,000 $     17,000 
5109- EZ Fund 1.5% Admin Fee $       300 $       380 
5110- Advertising & Marketing $     10,000 $      5,000 
5112- Bank Charges $       300 $      1,100 

5113- Interest Expense TIF $       350 $       400 
5121- Miscellaneous Expense $      1,000 $      1,000 
5132- Office Supplies & Equipment $      3,500 $      4,600 
5134- Professional Development $      2,000 $      3,800 
5135- Subscriptions & Memberships $      2,500 $      2,500 
5153- Office Cleaning & Trash $      2,000 $      2,000 
5154- Printing & Publication $       250 $       250 
5155- Parking Lot Expense & Tax $       300 $       350 
5185- Rent/Utilities/Parking Permits $     37,000 $     38,000 
5190- Board $      2,000 $      3,500 
5195- Office Repairs & Maintenance $       300 $       200 

5200- Oktobrewfest $     60,000 $     61,000 
5500- Special Events- Other Events $      6,000 $      5,000 
5704- Treasurers Fee- Mill $      4,000 $      3,500 

Total Expenses $    370,700 $     369,056 
  

Net Income $     22,400 $     57,424 

 
Polly Kurtz moved to approve the 2022 Amended Operational Budget, Deb Deboutez seconded, motion 
carried. 
 

GREELEY DDA BOARD MEETING MINUTES 11-17-22

2

Page 55

Item No. 13.



 

2023 Operational Budget 

• Income: Mil Levy will stay pretty flat and we budgeted a little higher for Oktobrewfest based on 
averages for last few year 

• Expenses: Will be paying for accounting services starting next year through Phelps Tointon, but they 
have also have committed to continue their yearly donation which will offset this new expense; 
looking to hire a Marketing/Event Support Staff Person who we ideally hope to have on board by the 
end of January or beginning of February 

• For 2023, we will be projecting a deficit budget but are suggesting the use of the Retained Earning to 
cover the deficit 

• Grant income – Ben Snow said that they look at the contracts each year and look over the budgets to 
make sure that everything is still solid, and said the relationship with the DDA is solid 

• The marketing budget will stay at $10,000 even though that much was not spent in 2022 because this 
category ebbs and flows each year, and we are hoping to have more of an opportunity to work on new 
marketing efforts 

2023 Proposed DDA Operational Budget 
INCOME 2022 Amended 2023 Proposed 
4110- Grant Income City of Greeley $    42,250 $      42,250 
4111- Specific Ownership $    12,000 $      12,000 
4112- Mill Levy $    225,000 $     225,000 

4114- Interest Income $     1,000 $       1,000 
4120- Contributions $    22,800 $      23,000 
4140- Parking Lease $     2,400 $       2,400 
4142- Oil & Gas Income $     1,800 $       1,800 
4143- Miscellaneous Income $       80 $        100 
4150- Oktobrewfest Income $    116,300 $     100,000 
4300- Event Sponsors $     2,850 $       3,000 

Total Income $    426,480 $     410,550 
   

EXPENSES   

5050- Accounting Services $       - $      16,000 

5101- Salaries $    212,000 $     268,000 
5102- Simple IRA Match $     6,100 $       7,700 
5105- Worker's Comp Insurance $      901 $       1,200 
5106- Health & Wellness $      475 $       1,000 
5108- Payroll Taxes $    17,000 $      23,000 
5109- EZ Fund 1.5% Admin Fee $      380 $        400 
5110- Advertising & Marketing $     5,000 $      10,000 
5112- Bank Charges $     1,100 $       1,000 
5113- Interest Expense TIF $      400 $        400 
5121- Miscellaneous Expense $     1,000 $       1,000 

5132- Office Supplies & Equipment $     4,600 $       4,000 
5134- Professional Development $     3,800 $       5,000 
5135- Subscriptions & Memberships $     2,500 $       2,500 
5153- Office Cleaning & Trash $     2,000 $       2,300 
5154- Printing & Publication $      250 $        250 
5155- Parking Lot Expense & Tax $      350 $        350 
5185- Rent/Utilities/Parking Permits $    38,000 $      37,000 
5190- Board $     3,500 $       3,500 
5195- Office Repairs & Maintenance $      200 $        300 
5200- Oktobrewfest $    61,000 $      60,000 

GREELEY DDA BOARD MEETING MINUTES 11-17-22

3

Page 56

Item No. 13.



 

5500- Special Events- Other Events $     5,000 $       6,000 

5704- Treasurers Fee- Mill $     3,500 $       4,000 
Total Expenses $    369,056 $     454,900 

 
Net Income $ 57,424 

Retained Earnings 

 

$      (44,350) 
$     263,458 

Net after Retained Earnings $    219,108.31 

 
Deb Deboutez moved to approve the 2023 Proposed Operational Budget, Brian Seifried seconded, motion 
carried. 
 
2022 Amended TIF Budget 

• Received just $1,000,000 in TIF income and just over $96,000 for the Streetscape Grant 

• $336,000 was committed back in the form of ongoing redevelopment projects that are in place 

• Only one Building Improvement Grant paid this year, but two additional approved that will pay out 
next year for LINC and 55Resort Apartments  

• Matt Estrin asked about a Sales Tax TIF. Bianca shared that we had the option for a Sales Tax TIF but 
the base was set in 2000 when there were a couple of auto dealers operating so it is unlikely we would 
generate income. But she doesn’t know the exact amount or if it is possible to move the base year so 
she has reached out to Becky with questions. She also brought up the concept to PUMA as a potential 
tool to help smaller retailers and restaurants get established downtown; Ben Snow said that he is in 
favor of this idea also. 

2022 Approved & Amended TIF Budgets 
  

2022 Approved 
 

2022 Amended 

INCOME   

Tax Increment Finances (TIF) $    1,000,000 $    1,011,600 
Grants $     95,000 $     96,800 

Total Income $   1,095,000 $   1,108,400 

   

EXPENSES   

Annual TIF Reimbursements $     335,000 $     336,000 

Building Improvement Grants $     250,000 $     12,000 

Redevelopment Project $     10,000 $      2,500 

Planters $     18,000 $     22,000 

Public Art $     10,000 $       700 
Façade Grants $     25,000 $      7,500 

Tree Lighting Maintenance $     45,000 $      2,000 

Plaza & Alley Maintenance $     15,000 $      8,000 

Cameras $      3,000 $      3,500 

Streetscape $     165,000 $     125,000 

Holiday Mini Grants $      1,500 $      3,000 

Treasurer's Fees- TIF $     20,000 $     31,000 

Interest Expense & Bank Fees $      1,000 $      1,000 
Total Expenses $     898,500 $     554,200 

  

Net Income $     196,500 $     554,200 

GREELEY DDA BOARD MEETING MINUTES 11-17-22

4

Page 57

Item No. 13.



 

 

Polly Kurtz moved to approve the 2022 Amended TIF Budget, Justin Ghofrani seconded, motion carried. 

 

2023 TIF Budget 

• Income – TIF revenue expected to be about the same next year 

• $200,000 committed in Building Improvement Grants, and we are looking to see a few more come in 

• Will need to overhaul our tree lighting which will be costly; will be meeting with a company next week that 
Andy suggested, but if you know of any other companies that work with outdoor lighting, let Bianca know 

• Alley Maintenance went down because of the unreliability of Top Gun and because the City has hired a 
power washer that works on cleaning the plazas and they are also looking to purchase a small 
multipurpose vehicle that can sweep and clean 

• Drew Notestine asked if there a chance to park that money in a short-term interest account now that rates 
are higher and Bianca will look into it 

2023 Proposed DDA TIF Budget 
  

2022 Amended 
 

2023 Proposed 

INCOME   

Tax Increment Finances (TIF) $    1,011,600 $    1,050,000 
Grants $     96,800 $       - 

Total Income $   1,108,400 $   1,050,000 

   

EXPENSES   

Annual TIF Reimbursements $     336,000 $     355,000 

Building Improvement Grants $     12,000 $     350,000 

Redevelopment Project $      2,500 $      5,000 

Planters $     22,000 $     25,000 

Public Art $       700 $     10,000 
Façade Grants $      7,500 $     25,000 

Tree Lighting Maintenance $      2,000 $     100,000 

Plaza & Alley Maintenance $      8,000 $      5,000 

Cameras $      3,500 $      3,000 

Streetscape $     125,000 $     20,000 

Holiday Mini Grants $      3,000 $      3,000 

Treasurer's Fees- TIF $     31,000 $     20,000 

Interest Expense & Bank Fees $      1,000 $      1,000 
Total Expenses $     554,200 $     922,000 

  

Net Income $     554,200 $     128,000 

 
Brian Seifried moved to approve the 2023 Proposed TIF Budget, Deb Deboutez seconded, motion carried. 
 
GDA Report from Phil White 

• The GDA is looking forward to the big Holiday event coming up next week and GDA members will be 
putting all their efforts into making it as successful as it usually is 

• Meeting tomorrow morning at 8 am at Lincoln Park Emporium 
 
 

GREELEY DDA BOARD MEETING MINUTES 11-17-22

5

Page 58

Item No. 13.



 

Experience Report from Alison Hamling 

• 2022 was a good year, and we received $102,000 in sponsorships overall (including Friday Fest) 

• There was a record crowd at Trick or Treat Street with approximately 1500 kids plus their parents 

• The Association has an $8,000 reserve going into next year, and a big thank you to the City for their 
help with funding 
o Total budget for 2022- $80,000 in income and $70,000 in expenses 
o Already looking into 2023 with a MayPlay Event on May 5th featuring a Latin Band 

• Working on Dazzle Downtown – Reimburse $200 in expenses to help with lighting/decorations in 
windows that is easily visible from the street/sidewalk – 18 businesses to date 

• Visit Greeley – Hotel capacity is the best in the state and the Colorado Model Railroad Miuseum and 
WeldWerks Brewing are the two top tourism draws in the City 

• UCCC – have had some great shows, Brian Hughes and Jason Evanson have left, and we would like to 
explore some possible co-presenting of shows at the UCCC as another fundraiser  

• Business after hours tonight at the Moxi 

• Will be doing a walkability audit with Jim Reisberg 

• Holiday Open House and Parade will be on Saturday, November 26th – 29 businesses participating in 
the Holiday Open House and 60 Parade Entries 

 
Executive Director Report from Bianca Fisher: 
Board & Staff 

• Facilitated and attended tour for the DDA Board and GDA members of the new 55Resort Apartments 
(over 25 in attendance!); official grand opening celebration is this Thursday  

• Conducted staff evaluations and am proud of the work our team has accomplished this past year 

• Please be prepared to discuss FAMLI at December meeting since a Board vote is needed if we chose to 
opt out of the Employer portion or opt out entirely 

Economic Development/Business Support 

• Met with a woman looking for a space for metaphysical healing type store—cosmetic cream, reiki, 
massage healing 

• Met with Juliana Kitten to discuss next steps and needs of the business community as it relates to 
impacts of homelessness; connected to her to a couple business owners who have shared recent 
concerns 

• Update on security team that was supposed to be staffing downtown 7 days/week from 9 am- 7 pm: 
GPD hired a firm but unfortunately had to end contract a couple days later as insurance requirements 
were not met; off duty GPD officers will be covering these security shifts to the best of their ability 
until a new security firm is hired in January for 2023 

• Attended the NoCo Hospitality Partnership to brainstorm with our Northern Colorado restaurants and 
retailers about three primary challenges they are facing: staffing, regulations and customer behavior 

• Attended and heard feedback from community members about the initial plans for the Downtown 
Strategic Master Plan Open House; the overwhelming sentiment I heard was excitement and support 
for all that is ahead 

• Met with prospective new business/property owner at the old UNC Foundation Hall; shared about 
DDA benefits and incentives; they are waiting on cost estimates to rehabilitate the building—the deal 
is not final but it would be a fantastic addition to downtown 

• Met with Barb and Mike Webb about their plans to sell their Subway business and building; if you 
know who might be interested in this opportunity, let me know 

• Monthly meeting with DDA Executive Directors across the state, facilitated by Downtown Colorado Inc, 
focused on next steps for plans to pursuing legislative changes to DDA renewals and discussion around 
downtown holiday promotions 

GREELEY DDA BOARD MEETING MINUTES 11-17-22

6

Page 59

Item No. 13.



 

• Met with two women interested in creating a marketplace concept downtown that would include a 
chocolatier, charcuterie type foods, and more; the hope is also to create space where they could also 
host markets and makers fairs 

• Continued conversations with developer working on residential project at the former Gallery Furniture 
site at 1024 8th Avenue; will likely be scaling project back due to construction costs and tumultuous 
markets; they plan to present to the Economic  Development Committee in either December or 
January and then the Board will review 

Public Realm/University District 

• Met with City staff and their camera vendor to determine possible locations for an expanded public 
camera network in downtown 

• Reviewed and approved three new Safety & Security Grant Program applications—Syntax Distillery, 
Greeley Game Night @ Boomer House, and Warm Hugs Mixes & Gifts 

• Met with University District Committee and heard updates on the 16th Street Project and discussed the 
Downtown Master Plan, homelessness challenges, and other housing updates 

• Great news—City was awarded $150k from the State’s Safer Streets Grant Program for public safety 
and waste collection improvement in the 9th Street alley 

Promotion & Community Connections 

• The DDA team was proud to attend and acknowledge Rhonda Welch as she was inducted into the Arts 
Legacy at the UCCC; Rhonda has brought much joy for families and visitors in downtown through the 
Arts Picnic, Festival of Trees, Whoville Holiday and much more 

• Presented to Downtown Rotary, sharing about recent developments, event updates and more; group 
was incredibly enthusiastic about all that is happening 

• Attended monthly ULI meeting and heard a presentation about construction defects from several 
attorneys at Coan, Payton & Payne 

• Shared downtown updates at the monthly BizWest Editorial Board meeting & GDA meeting 
Business Updates 
New Business 

• Austin’s American Grill- 1100 8th Ave, Ste. 100 
Coming Soon 

• Fusco Pizza- 811 8th Street  

• Sexy Sammies- 1540 8th Avenue 
Commercial Property Updates 
Under Contract: 

• 1007 9th Street- 2,964 SF 

• 924 11th Street- 6,193 SF; $1.25M 

• 829 10th Avenue (Mason’s Event Center)- 8,984 SF; $1.1M 
For Sale or Lease: 

• NEW: 905 16th Street (former Bearded Bear BarBQ)- 3,610 SF; $700,000 

• NEW: 900 14th Street (office & 4 apts)- 7,732 Sf; $1.2M 

• 909 16th Street (Millennium II Tattoo)- 2,020 SF; $365,000 

• 822 8th Street (Lincoln Park Emporium)- 14,375 SF; $2.5M  

• 710 11th Avenue (Greeley Building)- 50,216 SF; $5.4M 

• 601 10th Street (Trinidad Bean Bldg)- 21,556 SF; $1.375M 

• 1508 9th Avenue (only parcel in DDA)- 150 townhome/apartment portfolio; $31.5M 

• 1105 11th Avenue (Peerless Tires)- 2,144 SF; $600,000 

• 824 9th Street- 7,100 SF; $7-$14/SF NNN or $1.65M SALE 

• Various 8th Avenue properties (1215, 1228, 1510, 1535 8th Avenue)- price negotiable, seeking highest 
and best use  

For Lease Only: 

GREELEY DDA BOARD MEETING MINUTES 11-17-22

7

Page 60

Item No. 13.



 

• 1120 6th Avenue- 5,989 SF; $7/SF 

• 1130 8th Avenue, Unit 120 & 130- 2,240-2,747 SF; $22-$30/SF NNN  

• 800 8th Avenue- 1,200-5,493 SF; $12-$14/SF NNN 

• 807 17th Street, Unit F & G- 1,348-2,093 SF; $11.50-$14/SF 
For the full list of properties, visit https://www.greeleydowntown.com/commercial-properties/  
 
City Update from Ben Snow: 

• Request from Xcel to do an update, but will need to go to PUC to get approval 
o Ben did share some economic growth forecast number that were shared with Xcel which he 

forwarded to Bianca and Karen if you would like to see them  

• There has been a merger between Kroger and Albertsons, but it should not affect any of the Greeley 
locations 

• Community wide housing needs assessment – should have consultant hired soon 
 
The meeting adjourned at 9:04 am. 

GREELEY DDA BOARD MEETING MINUTES 11-17-22

8

Page 61

Item No. 13.

https://www.greeleydowntown.com/commercial-properties/


INCOME 2022 Amended 2023 Proposed

4110- Grant Income City of Greeley 42,250$                 42,250$                       

4111- Specific Ownership 12,000$                 12,000$                       

4112- Mill Levy 225,000$               225,000$                    

4114- Interest Income 1,000$                    1,000$                         

4120- Contributions 22,800$                 23,000$                       

4140- Parking Lease 2,400$                    2,400$                         

4142- Oil & Gas Income 1,800$                    1,800$                         

4143- Miscellaneous Income 80$                         100$                            

4150- Oktobrewfest Income 116,300$               100,000$                    

4300- Event Sponsors 2,850$                    3,000$                         

Total Income 426,480$               410,550$                    

EXPENSES

5050- Accounting Services -$                        16,000$                       

5101- Salaries 212,000$               268,000$                    

5102- Simple IRA Match 6,100$                    7,700$                         

5105- Worker's Comp Insurance 901$                       1,200$                         

5106- Health & Wellness 475$                       1,000$                         

5108- Payroll Taxes 17,000$                 23,000$                       

5109- EZ Fund 1.5% Admin Fee 380$                       400$                            

5110- Advertising & Marketing 5,000$                    10,000$                       

5112- Bank Charges 1,100$                    1,000$                         

5113- Interest Expense TIF 400$                       400$                            

5121- Miscellaneous Expense 1,000$                    1,000$                         

5132- Office Supplies & Equipment 4,600$                    4,000$                         

5134- Professional Development 3,800$                    5,000$                         

5135- Subscriptions & Memberships 2,500$                    2,500$                         

5153- Office Cleaning & Trash 2,000$                    2,300$                         

5154- Printing & Publication 250$                       250$                            

5155- Parking Lot Expense & Tax 350$                       350$                            

5185- Rent/Utilities/Parking Permits 38,000$                 37,000$                       

5190- Board 3,500$                    3,500$                         

5195- Office Repairs & Maintenance 200$                       300$                            

5200- Oktobrewfest 61,000$                 60,000$                       

5500- Special Events- Other Events 5,000$                    6,000$                         

5704- Treasurers Fee- Mill 3,500$                    4,000$                         

Total Expenses 369,056$               454,900$                    

Net Income 57,424$                 (44,350)$                     
Retained Earnings 263,458$                    

Net after Retained Earnings  $              219,108.31 

2023 Proposed DDA Operational Budget

Page 62

Item No. 13.



City Council Agenda - City of Greeley, Colorado 

Council Agenda Summary 
December 6, 2022 

Key Staff Contact: John Karner, Finance Director 

  

Title:  

Consideration of a Resolution Establishing the 2022 Downtown Development Authority 

Tax Levy and Directing the Certification of the same to the Board of County 

Commissioners 

Summary: 
 

This resolution establishes the 2022 tax levy for taxes to be collected in 2023 and 

authorizes the City Clerk to certify to the Board of County Commissioners that the tax 

levy has been established for 2022.  The electors of the Downtown Development 

Authority (DDA) approved a 5 mill ad valorem real and personal property tax on 

property of the DDA on November 4, 2008.  This resolution imposes that 5 mill increase. 

Fiscal Impact: 
 

Does this item create a fiscal impact on the City of Greeley? No 

If yes, what is the initial, or, onetime impact?  

What is the annual impact?  

What fund of the City will provide Funding?   

What is the source of revenue within the fund?  

Is there grant funding for this item? N/A 

If yes, does this grant require a match?  

Is this grant onetime or ongoing?  

Additional Comments:  

Legal Issues:   

City Charter requires the City Council to establish the tax levy and authorize the City 

Clerk to certify to the Board of County Commissioners that the tax levy for 2022 has 

been established. 

 

 

Other Issues and Considerations: 

None 

Decision Options:  

1) Adopt the resolution as presented; or 

2) Amend the resolution and adopt as amended; or 

3) Deny the resolution; or 

4) Continue consideration of the resolution to a date certain. 

Page 63

Item No. 14.



City Council Agenda - City of Greeley, Colorado 

Council’s Recommended Action:  

A motion to adopt the Resolution. 

Attachments: 

Resolution 

Certification of Tax Levy 

Notice of Tax Levy for 2022 

Certification of Valuation 

 

 

Page 64

Item No. 14.



 CITY OF GREELEY 

 RESOLUTION NO. 46, 2022 

 

RESOLUTION ESTABLISHING THE 2022 DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT 

AUTHORITY TAX LEVY AND DIRECTING THE CERTIFICATION OF THE SAME 

TO THE BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS. 

 

 

WHEREAS, the Downtown Development Authority (the “DDA”) in the City of Greeley, 

Colorado, was created under the provisions of Part 8 of Article 25 of Title 31, C.R.S.; and 

 

WHEREAS, by special election held November 4, 2008, the qualified electors of the DDA 

approved a five mill ad valorem tax on real and personal properties within the District; and 

 

WHEREAS, pursuant to said election approval and the provisions of Section 31-25-817 C.R.S., 

the City Council of the City of Greeley is authorized, in addition to the regular ad valorem tax 

and special assessments for improvements, to impose and levy an ad valorem tax on all real and 

personal property within the boundaries of the DDA not exceeding five mills on the valuation for 

assessment of such property; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of the DDA in the City of Greeley, Colorado, considered a 

proposed budget on November 17, 2022 and recommended to the Greeley City Council that it 

impose and levy five mills on all real and personal property within the boundaries of the DDA; 

and 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council considered the proposed DDA budget, and has considered the 

certificate from the Weld County Assessor showing that the total assessed valuation of property 

attributable to the five mill ad valorem property tax by the Downtown Development Authority 

District in the City of Greeley for the year of 2022 is $33,104,452; and, 

 

WHEREAS, based upon consideration of the data referred to above, the City Council has 

determined that the additional rate of taxation necessary to produce the required tax revenues for 

the 2023 DDA budget is 5.000 mills. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

GREELEY, COLORADO: 
 

Section 1.  The tax levy to be applied to the valuation for assessment of property subject to 

taxation by the City of Greeley, Colorado as certified by the County Assessor for the current 

year, for the properties located within the DDA boundaries is hereby established at 5.000 mills, 

in addition to all regular ad valorem tax and special assessments. 

 

Section 2.  The Mayor is hereby authorized and directed to sign a statement certifying to the  

  

Page 65

Item No. 14.



Board of County Commissioners that the tax levy for 2022 for the DDA has been established at 

5.000 mills, in addition to all other regular ad valorem taxes and special assessments. 

 

PASSED AND ADOPTED, SIGNED AND APPROVED THIS 6th DAY OF DECEMBER, 

2022. 

 

ATTEST: THE CITY OF GREELEY 

 

 

 

 

 

______________________________ _________________________________  

City Clerk Mayor 

Page 66

Item No. 14.



 CITY OF GREELEY 

FOR THE 

DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY DISTRICT 

 

 CERTIFICATION OF TAX LEVY 

 

 FOR 2022 
 

 

STATE OF COLORADO ) 

COUNTY OF WELD ) 

CITY OF GREELEY ) 

 

The undersigned Mayor of the City of Greeley, Colorado hereby certifies that the City Council of 

the City of Greeley, on December 6, 2022, established by resolution that the 2022 tax levy for 

property in the Downtown Development Authority in the City of Greeley will be 5.000 mills in 

addition to all regular ad valorem taxes and special assessments.  All steps and hearings required 

to be conducted and completed prior to the establishment of the tax levy were in fact taken and 

concluded, in accordance with law.  A true copy of the resolution establishing said levy is 

attached hereto. 

 

Dated this 6th day of December, 2022. 

 

 

 

 

____________________________ ______________________________ 

City Clerk  Mayor 

Page 67

Item No. 14.



 NOTICE OF TAX LEVY FOR 2022 

(Downtown Development Authority Property in the City of Greeley, Colorado) 
 

STATE OF COLORADO ) 

COUNTY OF WELD ) 

CITY OF GREELEY ) 

 

Whereas, at the regular meeting of the Council of the City of Greeley held at 1001 11th Avenue, 

in the City of Greeley, on the 6th day of December, 2022, the following resolution was 

unanimously adopted: 

 

"Be it Resolved and Ordered by the City Council, that upon valuation of assessable property 

within the boundaries of the Downtown Development Authority in the City of Greeley as 

certified by the County Assessor for the current year, in addition to all regular and ad valorem 

taxes and special assessments, there be and is hereby levied for: 

 

Purposes authorized by 31-25-817, C.R.S. 5.000 mills 

Interest  mills 

Payment of Bonds  mills 

Outstanding Warrants mills 

Special Improvements mills 

Parks mills 

Library mills 

Streets and Alleys mills 

Contingent mills 

TOTALS 5.000 mills 

 

Passed by the City Council of Greeley, Colorado and approved this 6th day of December, 2022. 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

 

_____________________________ _______________________________ 

City Clerk  Mayor 

 

(Seal) 

 

 

 

Note:  The Clerk or Secretary will immediately upon passage of this resolution deliver or cause 

to be delivered to the County Commissioners of the County and State aforesaid, a certified copy 

of said resolution with the seal thereto attached; also signed by the Mayor or President and Clerk 

or Secretary of Board. Page 68

Item No. 14.



IN WELD COUNTY ON 8/18/2022

0802 - DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITYName of Jurisdiction:

PREVIOUS YEAR'S NET TOTAL TAXABLE ASSESSED VALUATION: $32,869,726

CURRENT YEAR'S GROSS TOTAL TAXABLE ASSESSED VALUATION:

LESS TIF DISTRICT INCREMENT, IF ANY:

$45,280,430

$12,175,978

CURRENT YEAR'S NET TOTAL TAXABLE ASSESSED VALUATION: $33,104,452

NEW CONSTRUCTION:

INCREASED PRODUCTION OF PRODUCING MINES:

ANNEXATIONS/INCLUSIONS:

PREVIOUSLY EXEMPT FEDERAL PROPERTY:

NEW PRIMARY OIL OR GAS PRODUCTION FROM ANY PRODUCING OIL AND GAS LEASEHOLD
OR LAND  ( 29-1-301(1)(b) C.R.S.):

$0

$0

$0

$450,260

$0

TAXES COLLECTED LAST YEAR ON OMITTED PROPERTY AS OF AUG. 1 (29-1-301(1))(a) C.R.S.): $58.80

TAXES ABATED AND REFUNDED AS OF AUG. 1 (29-1-301(1)(a) C.R.S.) and  (39-10-114(1)(a)(I)(B) C.R.S.): $1,255.70

#

**

# Jurisdiction must submit respective certifications (Forms DLG 52 AND 52A) to the Division of Local Government in order for the values to be treated as growth in the
limit calculation.

** New construction is defined as: Taxable real property structures and the personal property connected with the structure.

USE FOR 'TABOR' LOCAL GROWTH CALCULATIONS ONLY

CURRENT YEAR'S TOTAL ACTUAL VALUE OF ALL REAL PROPERTY:

ADDITIONS TO TAXABLE REAL PROPERTY:

CONSTRUCTION OF TAXABLE REAL PROPERTY IMPROVEMENTS:

ANNEXATIONS/INCLUSIONS:

INCREASED MINING PRODUCTION:

PREVIOUSLY EXEMPT  PROPERTY:

 OIL OR GAS PRODUCTION FROM A NEW  WELL:

TAXABLE REAL PROPERTY OMITTED FROM THE PREVIOUS YEAR'S TAX WARRANT:

(If land and/or a structure is picked up as omitted property for multiple years, only the most current year's actual value can be reported as omitted property.)

DELETIONS FROM TAXABLE REAL PROPERTY:

DESTRUCTION OF TAXABLE REAL PROPERTY IMPROVEMENTS:

DISCONNECTIONS/EXCLUSION:

PREVIOUSLY TAXABLE PROPERTY:

@ This includes the actual value of all taxable real property plus the actual value of religious, private schools, and charitable real property.

$234,225,190

$3,564,045

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

IN ACCORDANCE WITH  39-5-121(2)(a) AND 39-5-128(1),C.R.S. AND NO LATER THAN AUGUST 25, THE ASSESSOR CERTIFIES THE
TOTALVALUATION FOR ASSESSMENT FOR THE TAXABLE YEAR 2022 IN WELD COUNTY, COLORADO

IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE PROVISION OF ARTICLE X, SECTION 20, COLO CONST, AND 39-5-121(2)(b),C.R.S. THE ASSESSOR CERTIFIES
THE TOTAL ACTUAL VALUATION FOR THE TAXABLE YEAR 2022 IN WELD COUNTY, COLORADO ON AUGUST 25, 2022

IN ACCORDANCE WITH  39-5-128(1),C.R.S. AND NO LATER THAN AUGUST 25, THE ASSESSOR  CERTIFIES
TO SCHOOL DISTRICTS :    1. TOTAL ACTUAL VALUE OF ALL TAXABLE PROPERTY:------------------->

@

1.

2.

3.

4.

5.

6.

7.

8.

9.

10.

11.

*  This value reflects personal property exemptions IF enacted by the jurisdiction as authorized by Art. X, Sec.20(8)(b),Colo.

*

#

## Jurisdiction must apply (Forms DLG 52B) to the Division of Local Government before the value can be treated as growth in the limit calculation.

##

$0

! Construction is defined as newly constructed taxable real property structures.

% Includes production from new mines and increases in production of existing producing mines.

!

%

1.

2.

3.

4.

5.

6.

7.

8.

9.

10.

New Entity: No

Data Date:

NOTE:  All levies must be Certified to the Board of County Commissioners NO LATER THAN DECEMBER 15, 2022

8/22/2022

USE FOR STATUTORY PROPERTY TAX REVENUE LIMIT CALCULATIONS (5.5% LIMIT) ONLY

$381,628

IN ACCORDANCE WITH 39-5-128(1.5)C.R.S. THE ASSESSOR PROVIDES:

 HB21-1312 ASSESSED VALUE OF EXEMPT BUSINESS PERSONAL PROPERTY (ESTIMATED): **

**  The tax revenue lost due to this exempted value will be reimbursed to the tax entity by the County Treasurer

    in accordance with 39-3-119 f(3). C.R.S.

CERTIFICATION OF VALUATION BY WELD COUNTY ASSESSOR

Page 69

Item No. 14.



City Council Agenda - City of Greeley, Colorado 

Council Agenda Summary 
December 6, 2022  

Key Staff Contact: Sean Chambers, Water & Sewer Director 

  

Title:  

Consideration of a Resolution for Adoption of the 2022 Water Efficiency Plan  

Summary: 
 

The Water Conservation Act of 2004 requires all Colorado water providers who supply 

more than 2,000 acre-feet of water to submit or update water efficiency plans 

conforming to the Colorado Water Conservation Board (CWCB) standards every 

seven years.  Water efficiency plans contain key information about historical and 

projected water demands, water supply reliability, future water supply needs, and 

proposed demand management activities and monitoring processes. 

This is the City of Greeley’s third update to the original 2008 Water Conservation Plan. 

The City’s updated draft Water Efficiency Plan (WEP) provides a menu of water 

efficiency strategies and conservation programs to ensure water supplies remain 

ample for meeting growing demands. The WEP builds on the City’s current efficient 

use programs and policies and includes existing codes, development policy, design 

criteria and strategic plans. 

The main objectives of the WEP are to maximize widespread efficiency in all indoor 

water use, set goals for more resilient landscapes, and educate customers on 

efficient water use programs and goals. It will provide direction on how to create 

goals with clear measurements for success. 

The Water and Sewer Department has worked diligently to coordinate with a 60-day 

public comment period from August 3, 2022, through October 3, 2022. These methods 

included online forms, social media campaigns, two online open houses (August 18th 

and September 15th), Water and Sewer’s monthly newsletter, press release on August 

9th, presentation and information sharing to commission/advisory boards and 

targeted outreach for local businesses and organizations.  

 

Colorado Water Conservation Board (CWCB) also provides a review of the WEP to 

ensure compliance with the Water Conservation Act.  

 

Full Conservation Plan document available on the water and Sewer website or click 

this link: conservation plan 

 

Fiscal Impact: 
 

Does this item create a fiscal impact on the City of Greeley? No 

If yes, what is the initial, or, onetime impact? NA 

What is the annual impact? None 

Page 70

Item No. 15.

https://greeleygov.com/docs/default-source/water/draft-water-efficiency-plan-20225f1c5857-f83a-4030-a6b6-27fd7ac19e0a.pdf?Status=Master


City Council Agenda - City of Greeley, Colorado 

What fund of the City will provide Funding?  N/A 

What is the source of revenue within the fund? N/A 

Is there grant funding for this item? No 

If yes, does this grant require a match?  

Is this grant onetime or ongoing?  

Additional Comments:  

Legal Issues:   

C.R.S. §37-60-126, the City is required to develop and implement a water efficiency 

plan, by which it shall encourage conservation of water resources by its public utility 

customers; a component of the Water and Sewer Board’s long-term plans for the City 

water system; incorporated as a component of the City’s Comprehensive Plan. The 

City Attorney’s Office has reviewed and approved the Resolution. 

Other Issues and Considerations: 

Adoption of a Water Efficiency Plan is necessary in order for the City of Greeley to 

qualify for certain grants and funding opportunities from the State of Colorado. 

Decision Options:  

1) Adopt the resolution as presented; or 

2) Amend the resolution and adopt as amended; or 

3) Deny the resolution; or 

4) Continue consideration of the resolution to a date certain. 

Council’s Recommended Action:  

A motion to adopt the Resolution. 

Attachments: 

Resolution 

2022 Water Efficiency Plan (draft 2022 efficiency plan) 

Page 71

Item No. 15.

https://greeleygov.com/docs/default-source/water/draft-water-efficiency-plan-20225f1c5857-f83a-4030-a6b6-27fd7ac19e0a.pdf?Status=Master


CITY OF GREELEY, COLORADO 

 

RESOLUTION 44, 2022 

 

A RESOLUTION TO ADOPT THE 2022 WATER EFFICIENCY PLAN  
 

WHEREAS, the City of Greeley (the “City”) is a Colorado home rule municipality empowered 

pursuant to Sections 1 and 6 of Article XX of the Colorado Constitution to, inter alia, construct, 

purchase, acquire, lease, add to, maintain, conduct, and operate water works and other public 

utilities and everything required therefor, within or without its territorial limits for the use of the 

City; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City Water and Sewer Board (the “Board”) is empowered and required by Section 

17-4 of the Charter of the City to acquire, develop, convey, lease, and protect water and sewer 

assets, supplies, and facilities; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Board is empowered and required by Section 17-7 of the Charter of the City to 

submit long range plans to the City Council; and 

 

WHEREAS, in accordance with C.R.S. §37-60-126, the City is required to develop and implement 

a water efficiency plan, by which it shall encourage conservation of water resources by its public 

utility customers; and 

 

WHEREAS, adoption of a Water Efficiency Plan is necessary in order for the City to qualify for 

certain grants and funding opportunities from the State of Colorado; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City has included water conservation as an aspect of its overall supply planning 

for more than 25 years, in recognition of the important role that conservation plays in the successful 

stewardship of its water resources and in securing safe and sufficient water supplies for its future 

generations; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council adopted the Water Master Plan on June 15, 2004, accepted the same 

as the Board’s long-term plans for the City water system, and incorporated the Water Master Plan 

within the City’s Comprehensive Plan, via Resolution 32, 2004; and 

 

WHEREAS, City Water and Sewer Department staff developed the 2008 Water Conservation Plan 

(the “2008 Plan”), which was presented to the City Council for review and comment, and 

subsequently adopted by the Board on November 19, 2008; and 

 

WHEREAS, City Water and Sewer Department staff developed the 2014 Water Conservation Plan 

(the “2014 Plan”) as an update to the 2008 Plan, which was subsequently adopted by the Board on 

January 21, 2015, with recommendation to be adopted by the City Council; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council adopted the 2014 Plan on February 3, 2015, and accepted the same 

as the Board’s long-term plans for the City water system via Resolution 5, 2015; and 

Page 72

Item No. 15.



WHEREAS, City Water and Sewer Department staff developed the 2022 Water Efficiency Plan 

as an update to the 2014 Plan, made the updated plan available for a public comment period of 

sixty (60) days, and submitted the plan for review and adoption by the Board; and  

 

WHEREAS, the Board adopted the 2022 Water Efficiency Plan on October 19, 2022, and has 

recommended adoption by City Council of the same. 

 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

GREELEY, COLORADO: 

 

Section 1:  The City Council hereby adopts the 2022 Water Efficiency Plan as a component of 

the Water and Sewer Board’s long-term plans for the City water system. 

 

Section 2: This resolution shall become effective immediately upon its passage as provided 

by the Greeley City Charter. 

 

PASSED AND ADOPTED, SIGNED AND APPROVED THIS 6th DAY OF DECEMBER, 

2022. 

 

ATTEST: THE CITY OF GREELEY, COLORADO 

 

 

 

 

________________________________ ___________________________________ 

City Clerk Mayor  

 

Page 73

Item No. 15.



2022 Water Efficiency 
Plan Update

City of Greeley Water & Sewer Utilities Department  

www.greeleygov.com/water

December 6th 2022

Page 74

Item No. 15.

http://www.greeleygov.com/water


Water Supply 
Sustainability Strategy

• Continue acquire water and build on 

Greeley’s water conservation legacy

• Provide water wise landscape education

• Adopt innovation and technology that 

supports water use efficiency

• Water for a livable community with 

healthy landscape and tree canopy for 

current and future Greeley residents
Page 75

Item No. 15.



Water Efficiency Legacy

• Water Conservation is an important element of 

Greeley’s long-range water supply planning

• Water & Sewer Water Master Plan, - 2004

• Water Conservation Plans - 2008 and 2015

• Imagine Greeley Comprehensive Plan, - 2018

• Water & Sewer’s Drought Emergency Plan - 2021  

• Water & Sewer’s Non-Potable Water Master Plan - 2021 

• Advanced Metering Infrastructure Project, - 2020 – 2025

• Water & Sewer’s Integrated Water Resources Plan - 2023 Page 76

Item No. 15.



Water Efficiency Plan (WEP)

• Required by the State (C.R.S. §37-60-126)

• Plan update required every seven years

• Prior conservation plans (2008 & 2015)

• WEP is a technical guidance document

• Goal: To guide continuous efficiency improvements

o Create efficiencies, synergies, and consistencies 

among policies, plans, and programs

o Set goals to measure success and progress

Page 77

Item No. 15.



Achieving WEP Goals

Utilize Criteria for Selection of Water Efficiency Activities

• Water Savings Potential

• Initiative Cost Effectiveness 

• Contribution to Community Vitality

• Likelihood of program success

Page 78

Item No. 15.



WEP Score Card
Goals & Strategies 

Measuring Program Success

• Community
- Education, Training, Future Ready Program Design

• Prosperity
- AMI Metering, Leak Detection, Efficiency Rebates Income Qualified 

• Conservation Management 
- Data Driven Programs, Water Loss Analysis, Land Use, Drought Reserve Fund, 

and Collaboration within the City

Score Cards from the WEP

Page 79

Item No. 15.



Water Efficiency Plan Impact
- Future water savings target for 2030

Enough water for 6,000 
families moving to 
Greeley (at 3 housing 
units per A.F.)

Water Efficiency Goals by Focus Area Acre-Feet

Community - Outreach & Education 386

Prosperity - AMI Metering and Design 

Criteria

1,363

Water Conservation Management 285

Total 2,034

Page 80

Item No. 15.



WEP Public Outreach

City Board and Commissions

 Planning Commission and Park & Recreation Advisory Board Briefings

Communications and Social Media- Facebook, Twitter, & LinkedIn 

Community Open Houses- 8/18/22 & 9/15/22

Media- Tribune (6/10/22 and 8/18/22) and Water & Sewer monthly newsletter

Targeted local businesses & community organization stakeholders

Website and online form https://greeleygov.com/conseve

Page 81

Item No. 15.

https://greeleygov.com/conseve


Recommend City Council approve the Resolution 

to adopt the 2022 Water Efficiency Plan (WEP)

Note that following public and key stakeholder engagement, 

consultation with the Colorado Water Conservation Board 

and review by Planning Commission, the Water and Sewer 

Board approved and recommended the approval of the 2022 

Water Efficiency Plan to City Council at their October 10, 

2022 meeting of the Board

Recommendation 

Page 82

Item No. 15.



Questions

Page 83

Item No. 15.



WATER EFFICIENCY PLAN
GREELEY, CO

2022 
Page 84

Item No. 15.



Page 1 of 46 
 

Table of Contents 
Table of Contents .......................................................................................................................................................... 1 

Executive Summary ....................................................................................................................................................... 3 

1.0 Profile of Existing Water Supply System ........................................................................................................... 6 

1.1 OVERVIEW .................................................................................................................................................... 6 

1.2 WATER SUPPLY RELIABILITY ......................................................................................................................... 7 

1.2.1 Water System Profile ........................................................................................................................................ 7 

Water Rights .............................................................................................................................................................. 7 

1.2.2 Drought Planning ............................................................................................................................................ 10 

1.3 SUPPLY-SIDE LIMITATION AND FUTURE NEEDS ......................................................................................... 14 

2.0 Water Demands and Historical Demand Management ................................................................................. 16 

2.1 DEMOGRAPHICS AND SERVICE AREA CHARACTERISTICS ........................................................................... 16 

2.2  HISTORICAL WATER DEMANDS .................................................................................................................. 16 

2021 Analysis of Meter Type and Billed Consumption ...................................................................................... 16 

Water Use Patterns ............................................................................................................................................. 17 

Baseline Water Use ............................................................................................................................................. 19 

SYSTEM WATER LOSSES ...................................................................................................................................... 21 

ANNUAL PEAK DAY DEMANDS ........................................................................................................................... 22 

2.3 PAST AND CURRENT DEMAND MANAGEMENT ACTIVITIES ....................................................................... 23 

CURRENT DEMAND MANAGEMENT ACTIVITIES ................................................................................................ 23 

Past and Current Land Use Activities ................................................................................................................. 25 

Planned Land Use Activities ................................................................................................................................ 26 

2.4 DEMAND FORECAST ................................................................................................................................... 28 

3 Integrated Planning and Water Efficiency Benefits and Goals ............................................................................ 29 

3.1  WATER EFFICIENCY AND WATER SUPPLY PLANNING ....................................................................................... 29 

3.2  WATER EFFICIENCY GOALS ........................................................................................................................ 30 

Community .......................................................................................................................................................... 31 

Prosperity ............................................................................................................................................................ 32 

4.0 Water Efficiency Activities .............................................................................................................................. 34 

4.1 SUMMARY OF THE SELECTION PROCESS ................................................................................................... 34 

4.2 Demand Management Activities ................................................................................................................ 34 

4.3 DEMAND MANAGEMENT ACTIVITIES ........................................................................................................ 38 

Community .......................................................................................................................................................... 38 

Prosperity ............................................................................................................................................................ 39 

Page 85

Item No. 15.



Page 2 of 46 
 

Water Conservation Management ..................................................................................................................... 41 

5.0 Implementation and Monitoring Plan ............................................................................................................ 44 

5.1 IMPLEMENTATION PLAN ................................................................................................................................... 44 

5.2 MONITORING PLAN ........................................................................................................................................... 44 

6.0 Adoption of New Policy, Public Review and Formal Approval ....................................................................... 45 

6.1 Adoption of New Policy .............................................................................................................................. 45 

6.2 PUBLIC REVIEW PROCESS ........................................................................................................................... 45 

6.3 EFFICIENCY PLAN APPROVAL (Pending) ..................................................................................................... 46 

Local Approval ..................................................................................................................................................... 46 

CWCB Approval ................................................................................................................................................... 46 

6.4 WATER EFFICIENCY PLAN REVIEW AND UPDATE ....................................................................................... 46 

Appendices .................................................................................................................................................................. 46 

APPENDIX A: ENHANCING GREELEY’S WATER EFFICIENCY PORTFOLIO THROUGH PERFORMANCE ANALYSIS .. 46 

APPENDIX B:  PUBLIC NOTICE ANNOUNCEMENT, PUBLIC COMMENTS, & OFFICIAL PLAN ADOPTION .............. 46 

 

 
  

Page 86

Item No. 15.



Page 3 of 46 
 

City of Greeley’s Water Efficiency Plan 

Executive Summary 
 
Securing safe and sufficient water supplies for Greeley’s future generations in face of significant water 
uncertainties like drought, wildfires, climate change, etc. is challenge. Successful stewardship of 
precious water resources is a benchmark by which future generations will judge the current citizens and 
water utility staff. The City of Greely’s (City) Water Efficiency Plan (WEP) is a roadmap to establish 
strategic objectives and goals to outline programs and measures to ensure sufficient water supply for 
the future.  
 
The City of Greeley is the business Center for Weld County, the county seat and the second largest 
community in Northern Colorado. The leading industries in Weld County have remained consistent and 
the top five are agriculture, manufacturing, energy production, health and Wellness, and business 
services. With the adoption of the 1958 City Charter, Greeley citizens created a Council-appointed Water 
Board with the duty to “acquire, develop, convey, lease, and protect water and sewer assets, supplies, 
and facilities.” The citizens also gave the Board the power to set the minimum water and sewer rates 
necessary for operation, maintenance, debt service, and depreciation. This separate rate setting 
authority allows City Council to focus on economic development, knowing there will be a healthy water 
system to support their efforts.  
 
The Water and Sewer Board has an important role in Greeley leadership, with seven voting members 
appointed by the City Council, as well as the Mayor, City Manager and Director of Finance as ex-officio 
members. The Director of Water and Sewer is the primary staff representative to this Board. As such, 
the Director has the responsibility to provide reports and recommendations to the Board related to their 
autonomous rate-making and water resource authority, and to adhere to the City Council policies and 
priorities as directed by the City Manager. The Water and Sewer Board has been continuously engaged 
in strenuous and independent oversight of the department's strategic direction, budget, and operations 
since its creation. This overseeing is supplemented by the annual examination of the Water and Sewer’s 
budget by City Council. 
 
Through the Water and Sewer Department, drinking water and irrigation water is provided to 
approximately 108,000 Greeley citizens. Kodak, along with three nearby municipalities (Evans, Windsor, 
and Milliken), annually transfer yield associated with their water rights to Greeley for water treatment 
and delivery. The Water and Sewer Department serves Greeley by treating and distributing nearly 9 
billion gallons of water every year with more than 500 miles of pipelines, two drinking water plants, a 
wastewater treatment plant, three treated water reservoirs, six raw water reservoirs and a variety of 
pumping stations.  
 
Greeley provides drinking water to over 108,000 residents, hundreds of businesses, other municipalities 
through approximately 28,000 individual accounts. Most accounts (82%) represent single family 
residents, however, use only one-third of the total water. Commercial, industrial, and institutional (CII) 
meters made up 7% of the total number of accounts but many CII water users represent a large amount 
of water consumption. 
 

Page 87

Item No. 15.



Page 4 of 46 
 

Greeley’s water demands are similar what is seen within the Colorado Front Range communities with 

highest water demands during the summer due to outdoor irrigation and lowest during the winter. 

Under average weather conditions, about one-half of the total annual water use by all Greeley’s 

customers is for outdoor irrigation (including non-potable deliveries for irrigating parks, schools and 

other large outdoor areas). Absent intentional measures to reduce demand, outdoor water use 

increases to about 55% of annual use under hot and dry conditions. During the peak irrigation season 

from June through September, outdoor water use typically makes up about 70% of total use. That 

percentage increases under hot and dry conditions. 

Although Greeley’s population has grown by approximately 17%, per capita, demand has decreased by 

11% as noted. This overall declining trend in system wide per capita demand is from single family 

residentials sector and gradual decreases in indoor use in particular.  

Reducing water demand not only improves drought resilience but can reduce or defer and potentially 

avoid high costs of new infrastructure. Conservation has been included in Greeley’s overall supply 

planning for over 30 years.  Greeley developed its first water conservation plan in 1992—outside of 

State of Colorado’s requirements. The City will update the WEP every five to seven years and as such, 

this is the third update to the original 2008 Greeley WEP to the Colorado Water Conservation Board 

(CWCB).  

As of 2021, the City’s Water Conservation program has a full time Water Conservation Manager, Water 

Conservation Administrator (Project Manager), and two Water Conservation Specialists. In addition, the 

City hires seasonal labor and outside contractors on a as needed bases.  

The WEP builds on the City’s current priorities and is designed to integrate and synthesize existing 

codes, criteria, roadmaps and strategic plans with the lens of water conservation. It is meant to be the 

guiding document that provides direction to advance water conservation efforts and build 

organizational capacity to: 

▪ Create efficiencies, synergies, and consistencies among policies, plans, projects and programs 

▪ Maximize cost savings opportunities 

▪ Create goals to measure success and progress 

With a use of triple bottom line approach, the Water Conservation team will transform Greeley’s water 
conservation efforts to a sustainable future. This approach offers water efficiency goals to be optimized, 
innovated, and improve water efficiencies across multiple divisions within Greeley. This WEP 
encompasses current plans and reports from the Greeley’s Water and Sewer Department—since water 
efficiency is connected to multiple divisions. These include: 
 

▪ Greeley Non-Potable Water Master Plan, June 2021 
▪ Greeley Water Transmission and Distribution Master Plan, June 2021 
▪ Greeley Integrated Water Resources Plan, draft 2022 
▪ Greeley Drought Emergency Plan, January 2021 
▪ Enhancing Greeley’s Water Efficiency Portfolio through Performance Analysis, May 2022 

 
)2 

 
 
 
T 
 

Page 88

Item No. 15.



Page 5 of 46 
 

The water efficiency is centered around a sustainable water future that revolves around Greeley’s 

community, prosperity, and water conservation management. This Plan is designed to support the five 

core values for Water Conservation: 

▪ Drive water conservation through innovation and technology 

▪ Provide excellent customer service 

▪ Continue and build on Greeley’s water conservation history 

▪ Commit to sustainability and environmental stewardship 

▪ Fulfill future customer needs and changing values 

Greeley’s 2022 WEP is designed to reduce systemwide water use and have identified programs that 
could reduce water demand by 2,034 acre-feet of water savings by 2030. Section 3.2- Water Efficiency 
Goals describes a 5-year scorecard to track progress and provide accountability and transparency within 
Water Conservation. While Section 4- Water Efficiency Activates describes existing and new program to 
be implemented over the coming year to meet cumulative water savings.  
 
This plan was developed through an iterative process of public input starting with an initial citizen 
survey in 2021 and refined through a formal public comment process, Water and Sewer Board and City 
Council’s adoption. Securing safe and sufficient water supplies for future generations of Greeley 
residents in the face of significant uncertainties such as drought and climate change is a major 
challenge. This 2022 Water Efficiency Plan (WEP) for the City of Greeley establishes clear goals and 
outlines programs and measures to help ensure a sufficient water supply for the future. The WEP 
continues the Greeley water legacy of responsible planning, innovation and service.  
 

 
 
  

Page 89

Item No. 15.



Page 6 of 46 
 

1.0 Profile of Existing Water Supply System 
1.1 OVERVIEW 

The City of Greeley (City) is located at 40.4233°N, 104.709°W in a region known as northern Colorado 

and lies approximately 49 miles north/northeast of Denver (see Figure 1). Greeley is the Weld County 

seat and the largest City in the county, with a population now exceeding 108,000 people. Total 

population served is the City of Greeley itself in addition to wholesale water-purchasing municipalities 

near Greeley—Windsor, Evans, and Milliken. The City’s elevation is 4,658 feet above sea level covering a 

total area of 30,730 acres. Greeley’s long-range growth area adds an additional 27,599 acres to the 

City’s size.  

 

Figure 1: City of Greeley’s Location 

Greeley, originally known as Union Colony, was organized in 1870 by Nathan Meeker, the agriculture 
editor for Horace Greeley’s New York Tribune. Meeker dreamed of founding a “utopian community 
based on temperance, religion, education, agriculture, irrigation, cooperation, and family values.”1  

 
Located on Colorado’s high plains, Greeley’s average annual precipitation is 12-14 inches per 
year. Because Greeley is not located near a consent water flows, most of our water supply is brought 
through infrastructure through other parts of the state. Greeley owns surface water rights in four major 
river basins—the Cache la Poudre River, Big Thompson River, Laramie River and Colorado River—and 
operates six water storage reservoirs year-round as part of its public drinking water system. The high 
mountain reservoirs are Barnes Meadow, Comanche, Hourglass, Milton Seaman, Peterson, and Twin 
Lakes. The reservoirs capture spring snowmelt that is released as needed to meet Greeley’s water 
demands. 
 
Greeley’s aquifer storage and recovery (ASR) project, Terry Ranch, was added to the water portfolio in 

March 2021. This ASR project will be developed in stages over long period of time and is currently off-

line.   

 
1Confluence- The Story of Greeley Water by Gregory J. Hobbs, Jr. and Michael Welsh, 2020  

Page 90

Item No. 15.



Page 7 of 46 
 

1.2 WATER SUPPLY RELIABILITY 

1.2.1 Water System Profile 

Greeley’s water sources include direct river diversions, ownership in the Colorado-Big 
Thompson (C-BT) and Windy Gap projects, high mountain reservoirs, and rights in several 
irrigation companies. In addition, the Terry Ranch Aquifer Storage Recovery (ASR) project will provide 
1.2 million acre-feet of water and aquifer storage in the future. Greeley treats water at two treatment 
plants, the Bellvue plant located on the Poudre River and the Boyd Lake Plant located adjacent to Boyd 
Lake in the Big Thompson River drainage. The City also owns and operates a non-potable system with 
associated ditch shares, storage, and wells. Kodak, along with three nearby municipalities (Evans, 
Windsor, and Milliken), annually transfer yield associated with their water rights to Greeley for 
treatment and delivery. 
 
The City’s water supply system stretches more than 60 miles from the westernmost raw water collection 
and storage facilities to the easternmost reaches of its finished water distribution system. Future water 
supplies from Terry Ranch extends 40 miles to the northeast of Greeley.  
 

Water Rights 

Greeley draws raw water from four main river basins on both sides of the Continental Divide: the Cache 
la Poudre (Poudre), Big Thompson, Upper Colorado, and Laramie. This diversity of supply sources 
increases the reliability and security of Greeley’s system. A map of the Greeley water supply system is 
shown in Figure 2. 
 
  
 

Page 91

Item No. 15.



Page 8 of 46 
 

 

Figure 2: City of Greeley’s water collection and treatment systems.  

 

Page 92

Item No. 15.



Page 9 of 46 
 

Cache la Poudre River 

Greeley owns senior direct flow rights on the Poudre River. The direct flow rights consistently yield 
9,000 acre-feet for treatment at the Bellvue Plant. 
 
Milton Seaman Reservoir, on the Poudre River’s North Fork, is the City’s largest multi-year storage vessel 
within the Poudre basin (Figure 3). Milton Seaman Reservoir is primarily used as a drought storage 
vessel and in most years remains relatively full with about 5,000 acre-feet of available water supplies. 
 
Other Poudre basin rights include storage rights in five high 
mountain reservoirs: Barnes Meadow, Peterson, Comanche, 
Hourglass, and Twin Lakes. The reservoirs capture water at 
high elevations from some of the Poudre River tributaries. 
Hourglass reservoir has the most senior rights. However, 
Greeley’s high mountain reservoir storage rights are currently 
only for irrigation and have low yields in drought years. 

 
A majority of Greeley’s Poudre River water rights are 
treatable at the Bellvue water treatment plant (Bellvue). 
However, some of Greeley’s Poudre River water rights cannot 
be physically delivered to Bellvue. For example, Greeley’s ownership in the Greeley Irrigation Company 
(GIC or the No. 3 Ditch) represents a supply located in the lower portion of the Poudre basin. These 
supplies are located too far downstream for treatment and thus are used for non-potable irrigation of 
Greeley’s parks, golf courses and larger landscapes. This reduces the amount of treated water used by 
the City. 
 
Greeley also owns, and is in the process of acquiring, additional storage in the lower Poudre 
Basin. These storage facilities will reduce treated water demands and provide operational 
flexibility. For example, Poudre Ponds at Greeley are lined gravel pits located near the City that reuse, 
not physically but via river exchange, waste water effluent (effluent). Greeley uses the exchanged 
effluent to meet augmentation, non-potable, and return flow obligations. 

 
Colorado River 
Greeley also obtains water from two interrelated transmountain diversion projects – the Colorado-Big 
Thompson (C-BT) and Windy Gap projects (Figure 3). Raw water from 
these projects can be delivered to either of Greeley’s two treatment plants. 
 
The C-BT Project provides supplemental water to its service area in northeastern Colorado. The project 
boasts 800,000 acre-feet of active storage and a relatively senior water right on the Colorado River. 
Owned by the U.S. Bureau of Reclamation, it is operated by the Northern Colorado Water Conservancy 
District (NCWCD). With 22,565 units, Greeley is the largest municipal holder of C-BT rights. 
 
The Windy Gap Project was planned and built between 1969 and 1985. Six C-BT stakeholders (Greeley, 
Loveland, Fort Collins, Longmont, Boulder, and Estes Park) cooperated to form a municipal subdistrict 
which oversees the Project and establishes the assessments for the existing Windy Gap shareholders. 

 
Windy Gap consists of a diversion dam on the Colorado River, pump station, and a pipeline to deliver 
water to Lake Granby. The C-BT system conveys the water from Lake Granby to Windy Gap customers 

Page 93

Item No. 15.



Page 10 of 46 
 

on the Front Range (Figure 3). The Windy Gap Subdistrict has a contract with the U.S. Bureau of 
Reclamation to allow the C-BT system to transport the water when there is unused capacity. In either a 
wet or dry year, Windy Gap does not yield. In a dry year, senior rights limit diversions and there may be 
little water to deliver. In a wet year, the C-BT system is at capacity and has no spare room to store or 
move Windy Gap water to the East Slope. 

 
The Windy Gap Firming Project, which began construction in 2021, will create a 90,000 acre-foot East 
Slope reservoir known as Chimney Hollow. Greeley has committed to 9,189 units in the project. 
Construction is estimated to be complete by 2025.  
 

Big Thompson River 
In the 1960s, Greeley began to acquire shares in three related agricultural water companies: 
the Seven Lakes Company, the Lake Loveland Company, and the Greeley-Loveland Irrigation 
Company (collectively the Greeley-Loveland Irrigation Companies (GLIC)). As the City grew 
westward over ground historically irrigated by GLIC water rights, Greeley accepted shares of 
GLIC for raw water dedication.   Greeley currently leases many GLIC shares back to agriculture. GLIC 
water rights are relatively junior and do not yield well during droughts. Greeley can only treat its GLIC 
water supplies at the city’s Boyd Lake Plant. Greeley also uses GLIC water to meet non-potable irrigation 
demands in an effort to conserve and minimize plant treatment and transmission costs. 

 
Laramie River 
Greeley owns 1/3 of the Laramie Poudre Tunnel Company, which yields about 1,100 acre-feet of water 
per year. The Tunnel water rights have been changed for municipal use and can be treated at Bellvue. 
Because they are transbasin rights, Greeley can reuse the water until extinction, usually through the 
reuse of effluent for augmentation demands. In addition, Greeley also owns a small interceptor ditch 
right in the Laramie River Basin that yields up to 300 acre-feet per year. 

 
Terry Ranch  
In 2021, the City added 1.2 million acre-feet of water to the 
City’s vast water portfolio. Terry Ranch is an aquifer storage 
and recovery project that is currently not online. The City 
anticipates brining Terry Ranch online in two phases. First, 
aquifer recovery of native water from Terry Ranch will be 
utilized to supplement City’s supplies during times of 
drought or emergencies. Second, aquifer storage will pump 
legally available excess water supplies to Terry Ranch and 
store the water for aquifer recovery during low water years.  
  

 

1.2.2 Drought Planning  

In January 2021, the Water and Sewer Department updated its 15-year-old Drought Emergency Plan. 

Water conservation techniques and programs—like the Water Budget for single-family residential 

customers—have made Greeley citizens more efficient. To create equity among Greeley’s customers, 

minimize impacts to landscapes, and minimize financial impacts to citizens and the water utility, the 

Drought Emergency Plan allows flexibility to modify the measures it puts in place based on evolving 

drought conditions and the degree of success achieved in reducing water by its citizens.  

Page 94

Item No. 15.



Page 11 of 46 
 

Under average weather conditions, about one-half of the total annual water use by Greeley’s customers 

is for outdoor irrigation (including non-potable deliveries for irrigating parks, schools and other large 

outdoor areas). Absent intentional measures to reduce demand, outdoor water use increases to about 

55% of annual use under hot and dry conditions. During the peak irrigation season from June through 

September, outdoor water use typically makes up about 70% of total use. That percentage increases 

under hot and dry conditions. 

Greeley has successfully navigated previous droughts, including the most severe drought during the past 
few decades which was experienced in 2001-2003. To maintain sufficient water supplies in storage to 
guard against the potential for sever and prolong droughts, current target storage is at 21,300 AF and 
will be re-evaluated regularly. With C-BT as the single largest component of Greeley’s water supply, 
yields are determined annually by the quota set by the Northern Colorado Water Conservancy District 
which manages the C-BT project.  
 
Each April, shortly after the C-BT quota for the year has been established, Greeley’s Water Resources 
staff will project the storage volume that will be available on April 1st of the following year under 
“conservative” assumptions of high outdoor irrigation demands from Greeley’s customers (as has been 
typical under hot and dry conditions during years such as 2002 and 2012) and low yields from Greeley’s 
water supplies. Based on that projection, Greeley will declare an adequate water year, or a drought 
under one of four potential levels. This process is summarized in Figure 3. Water savings goals for each 
potential drought level are: 

 

 
Figure 3: Annual Greeley Water Supply Evaluation and Drought Declaration Process 

 
Greeley may also decide to declare a mild drought and invoke the drought response measures discussed later 
in this plan if other adverse events that affect Greeley’s water supplies (for example if wildfires affect the 
watersheds that Greeley relies on), or in times when a regional drought response in Northern Colorado is 
deemed appropriate by the Greeley’s Water and Sewer Board. 
 
Drought response and restrictions are for outdoor irrigation use only. The following Table identifies Greeley’s 
recommended response measures for water budgets and landscape restriction for each of the potential 
drought levels.  

 

Page 95

Item No. 15.



Page 12 of 46 
 

Table 1: Greeley Drought Response Measures  

Page 96

Item No. 15.



Page 13 of 46 
 

 

Page 97

Item No. 15.



Page 14 of 46 
 

 

One of the most important elements of any drought response plan is timely and effective 
communication with citizens to explain the situation and motivate the necessary changes in water use 
behavior. Improved technology, social media, and the customer WaterSmart portal portrays additional 
avenues for reaching and educating citizens. Figure 4 summarizes key messages for each of Greeley’s 
customer groups from the 2021 Greeley Drought Emergency Plan.  

 

 
Figure 4: Summary of drought messaging strategies for Greeley’s different customer groups. 

 

 

1.3 SUPPLY-SIDE LIMITATION AND FUTURE NEEDS  

As part of Greeley’s long-term water efficiency planning process, future water demands come from both 
potable water (treated drinking water) and non-potable water (raw water). Using the 2021 Non-Potable 
Master Plan, the City planned a 5-year and 20-year capital improvement projects planning horizons 
which align with the years 2025 and 2040. Buildout timeframe will vary depending on multiple factors 
and therefore, a year is not provided.  
 
It is worth noting that water conservation methods, such as improved landscaping practices and the 
encouragement and adoption of non-potable water for irrigation, may help reduce the City’s annual 
water demands. Conditions will change with time, and uncertainties will impact the accuracy of total 
water demands. With the best current information from the BBC Research & Consulting 2018 report, 
water demands at buildout are presented in Table 2.  
 
Table 2: Annual Demand Projections at Buildout 

Demand Total Water Demand (AFY)1 

Existing 30,500 

Future Demands 43,800 

TOTAL 74,300  
1 AFY= acre-feet per year  

Page 98

Item No. 15.



Page 15 of 46 
 

This WEP encompasses current plans and reports from the Greeley’s Water and Sewer Department—
since water efficiency is connected to multiple divisions. These include: 
 

▪ Greeley Non-Potable Water Master Plan, June 2021 
▪ Greeley Water Transmission and Distribution Master Plan, June 2021 
▪ Greeley Integrated Water Resources Plan, draft 2022 
▪ Greeley Drought Emergency Plan, January 2021 
▪ Enhancing Greeley’s Water Efficiency Portfolio through Performance Analysis, May 2022 

FY)2 
The City is currently updating its Water Supply Master Plan through a process termed Integrated Water 

Resource Plan (IWRP) and is scheduled to be completed the end of 2022. The IWRP process will evaluate 

Greeley’s long-term water supply sustainability, develop a road map to buildout and identify near-term 

capital improvement projects while incorporating future risk and uncertainty. The vision of the IWRP is 

to produce “an actionable and adaptive master plan for Greeley’s water resources that uses modern 

defensible methods to develop a roadmap ensuring a reliable water support for our community through 

an uncertain future”.  Accordingly, the City will identify level of service goals that will act as guard rails to 

assist in planning to meet community standards.  

As part the process, the IWRP will evaluate a suite of future conditions to plan for called “planning 

scenarios”. These scenarios define key components of future conditions such as the state of Greeley’s 

water supply system as mentioned above, demands, climates and other system risks.  Once the planning 

scenarios are selected, near-term horizon projects will be identified to fill identified future supply gaps 

and meet level of service goals. Additionally, the IWRP will refine Greeley’s understanding of the 

operations and sustainability of the Terry Ranch project, Greeley’s identified long-term water supply 

project.  

A summary of water supply limitations and future needs is shown in Table 3. This table is based on 

Worksheet A from the CWCB reporting criteria.  

Table 3. Water supply challenges and future needs.  

Future Needs/Challenges Yes  No 

System is in a designated critical water supply shortage area  X 

System experiences frequent water supply shortages and/or emergencies  X 

System has substantial non-revenue water  X 

Experiencing high rates of population and demand growth X  

Planning substantial improvements or additions X  

Increases to wastewater system capacity anticipated X  

Need additional drought reserves  X 

Drinking water quality issues X  

Aging infrastructure in need of repair X  

Issues with water pressure in portions of distribution system X  

 

Page 99

Item No. 15.



Page 16 of 46 
 

2.0 Water Demands and Historical Demand Management 
It is critical to monitor and understand potable and non-potable water demands and which factors will 

impact the. This section of the WEP focuses on demographics, service area characteristics, water 

demand trends, and past, current and future demand management activities and forecasts.  

2.1 DEMOGRAPHICS AND SERVICE AREA CHARACTERISTICS 

Greeley was founded in 1870 as Union Colony, a utopian temperance colony at the confluence of the 

Cache la Poudre and South Platte Rivers. The first settlers were hand selected by Nathan Meeker after a 

passionate article the in New York Tribune requesting like-minded folks to settle the area.  

Greeley is part of what Stephen Long called “The Great American Desert” because of the native 

vegetation of grasses and low shrubs. Earlier settlers focused on irrigation and agriculture, education, 

and religion. As in the past, agriculture remains a focus for Greeley with a large immigrant population. In 

the 1920’s Greeley was making 25% of the nation’s sugar from sugar beets, and leftovers were used to 

feed cattle. The cattle industry remains an important aspect of Greeley’s culture and businesses.  

Greeley is the business Center for Weld County, the county seat and the second largest community in 

Northern Colorado. The leading industries in Weld County have remained consistent and the top five are 

agriculture, manufacturing, energy production, health and Wellness, and business services. Greeley is 

the home to JBS USA, Leprino Foods Company, Noble Energy Inc., TTEC, Banner Health, UC Health and a 

complete spectrum of business associated with agribusiness, food production, business services, 

construction, energy, and water resources. The City of Greeley is committed to actively promoting the 

development of a progressive economy by creating opportunities to attract and grow target business 

and industry activities. Weld County is currently forecasted to grow faster than any other part of 

Colorado.  

Demographics of Greeley are provided using the 2019 U.S. Census Bureau’s American Community Survey 

data ( https://data.census.gov/cedsci). Greeley is a relatively young community with a median age of 32 

years old. As a diverse community, languages spoken at home vary in Greeley with English (75%), 

Spanish (21%), Asian and Pacific Islander (1.1%), other Indo-European languages (0.8%), and other 

languages (1.2%). Median household income is $57,537 which is lower than the state average of 

$75,231. Poverty rates are around 15.8% for all ages in Greeley with 59.9% of the population is 

employed. Around 60% of all residents own their home and median rents costs $1,063 monthly. The 

average family size is 3.49 people per household.   

 

2.2  HISTORICAL WATER DEMANDS 

2021 Analysis of Meter Type and Billed Consumption  
 

Greeley was one of the first Front Range communities to be fully metered and serves a wide variety of 

water customers. Most metered account are single family residences. Residential meters represent 82% 

of the total number of customer accounts. Many of these accounts use small amounts of water each 

month. For this reasons, residential accounts used only 32% of the total billed water in 2021. 

Commercial, industrial, and institutional (CII) meters made up 7% of the total number of accounts but 

Page 100

Item No. 15.



Page 17 of 46 
 

many CII water users represent a large amount of water consumption. The direct use of non-potable 

water—raw water from the local irrigation ditches—has contributed to reduced per capita consumption. 

Non-potable water is use for landscape irrigation only for CII users, golf courses and internal City Parks.  

 

Table 4: 2021 Water Demands by customer class and billed water use. 

2021 Water Demands  

Customer Type Average Number of Accounts 
Billed Water Use 
(gallons) 

Residential                                             23,202          2,870,282,000  

Multi-family                                                2,221          1,013,071,000  

CII *                                                2,040          2,569,134,000  

Other                                                   640          1,376,765,000  

Irrigation-only non-potable                                                      69          1,045,209,000  

Total 
                                            
28,172  

       
8,874,461,000  

     *Commercial, Industrial, and Institutional accounts 

 

Water Use Patterns 
 

Water use patterns vary greatly with each water customer Greeley serves. From personal homes, 

businesses and large landscapes, water use widely changes. This water use diversity is driven by a wide 

range of factors, some of which can be mitigated through education, behavioral or technical changes. 

Residential household water patterns are relatively easy to compare due to the water budget that 

promotes and rewards water efficiency (more information on the water budget is presented in Section 

4.3). However, comparing CII properties has proven to be more difficult. For example, trying to compare 

water use for a small coffee shop to a large office building or large industrial user is erroneous data. 

Most notable is the water consumption use and altered behavioral patterns that occurred during the 

COVID-19 pandemic. On March 11, 2020, the world health organization declared COVID-19 a pandemic. 

Within a month of former President Trump declaring a nationwide emergency, Greeley began shutting 

down to prevent the spread of COVID-19. The shutdown included school systems, businesses, and local 

governments.  

Page 101

Item No. 15.



Page 18 of 46 
 

Looking at the water consumption data in 2020, residential family household increased their daily water 

consumption by 37.4% from the 

previous year compared in April. 

With the pandemic, hygiene is a 

critical pathway for protections such 

as washing hands, showering, and 

washing clothes. In addition, stay at 

home orders or recommendations 

increased the frequency of toilet 

flushes per person. This pattern 

appeared to continue throughout the 

summer of 2020 with more residents 

finding sanctuary within their gardens 

and landscapes—defiant gardening.                    

 

Figure 5: 2020 monthly water consumption (million gallons) single family residents.  

 

Water consumption for CII customers varied greatly due to temporarily closed businesses, universities, 

schools, and changes in business practices because of the COVID-19 pandemic. March 2020’s water 

consumption for CII customers decreased by 35.3% as compared to March in 2019 and was the lowest 

was water consumption since 2010 for the City.  

 

Figure 6: 2020 monthly water consumption in million gallons for CII customers  

It is recommended any water use data in 2020 should be used with caution given the dramatic changes 

in a short period to time.  

For residential users, in 2021 between 75 to 95% of households were careful with their monthly water 

use and stayed within their water budgets. Throughout time in Greeley, automatic irrigation systems 

have been installed making it easier to use water. For that reason, households using automatic irrigation 

systems often have higher consumption patterns. Irrigation systems can be confusing to use or typically 

the irrigation controller is set once and forgotten.  Greeley has several strategies to address irrigation 

0 20 40 60

March

Feb

Jan

0 200 400 600 800

Dec

Nov

Oct

Sept

August

July

June

May

April

March

Feb

Jan

Page 102

Item No. 15.



Page 19 of 46 
 

inefficiencies through better management of irrigation schedules and reducing the peak water demands 

during the irrigation season.  

Using a 12-year period, residential water demands are 37% outdoor use versus 63% indoor use (Figure 

7). Out use is dependent on weather patterns and pandemics. Over the years, a consistent development 

pattern are noted that single-family residential parcels continue to decrease in size over the years.   

 

Figure 7: Single family residential indoor versus outdoor water use for Greeley 

Baseline Water Use 
Based on the five-year rolling average, total water demand is approximately 82% within Greeley and the 

remainder is associated with customers located outside of Greeley. A majority of accounts are 

composed of residents (82%) with the remainder comprised of commercial, industrial, parks, golf 

course, and schools. Thirty-seven percent of residential water use goes to landscaping; therefore, 

residential use shows a strong seasonal variation with nearly 75% of the of the total City annual use 

occurring between May and October.  

Page 103

Item No. 15.



Page 20 of 46 
 

In-City treated water use customer 

type is shown in Figure 8. Using a 10-

year rolling average, residential 

demand is the highest (44%) followed 

by Commercial/Industrial users (33%). 

This distribution of customer types is 

common in the Front Range.  

 

 

Figure 8: Percentage of In-City Potable 

Demand by Land Use Types 10-year 

rolling average.  

Looking at 2021 treated water consumption, the top key accounts for annual potable water use within 

Greeley are:  

• Food Manufacturing          

• Beef processing 

• Manufacturing 

• Universities 

• Public Schools  

 

Figure 9 shows a 10% reduction in per 

capita residential demand, dropping 

from 119 gallons per capita per day 

(GPCD) in 2012 to 107 GPCD in 2021. 

Due to variations in precipitation, 

populations densities and landscaping, 

Greeley does not compare GPCD to 

other communities to assess water use 

and the effectiveness of its conservation 

programs. Greeley uses GPCD as an 

internal comparison to demonstrate use 

reductions.     

      Figure 9: Residential water use from 2012-2021 in GPCD  

Although Greeley’s population has grown by approximately 17%, per capita, demand has decreased by 

11% as noted in Figure 10. This overall declining trend in system wide per capita demand is from single 

family residents. Replacement and retrofits of new high efficiency toilets, showerheads, washing 

machines, and dishwashers has led to less water use than previous older models. (Figure 9). Existing 

residential homes have more than offset the increase in demand from newer builds and business for 

almost 20-years.  

 

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50%

Single-Family Residential

Commerical/Industrial

Multi-Family Residential

Schools

City of Greeley

100

105

110

115

120

125

2012 2014 2016 2018 2020

Page 104

Item No. 15.



Page 21 of 46 
 

 

Figure 10: System wide water use from 1997-2021 in gallons per capita per day (left-axis) and population growth 

(right-axis) 

System wide water uses will change throughout time and are dependent on factors like economic 

conditions, new construction, outside and CII end users, and land development patterns. The City will 

continue to monitor changes to optimize water conservation planning and implementation.  

SYSTEM WATER LOSSES 
 

An annual water audit and loss control report was completed in 2021 using the methodology prescribed 

by the American Water Works Association M36 manual. The results have shown that there are two 

primary categories for losses in Greeley: real and apparent. The real losses include physical losses of 

water either through leakage or theft, while apparent losses were found in systematic data handling 

errors and unauthorized consumption. Real losses have been estimated at 5% and apparent losses at 

0.5%. Greeley is committed to its water loss control, detection and maintenance system and will 

continue to strive to maintain exceptional system efficiency.  

Currently, Greeley’s annual water demand on a rolling, five-year average is 7,997,513,000 gallons or 
24,543.43 acre-feet. Sources of water loss include: 

▪ Water seeping into soils surrounding distribution and customer piping 
▪ Runoff from overwatering, which seeps into surrounding soils and eventually enters the South 

Platte River alluvial aquifer.  
▪ Building sources, such as leaking toilets, which ends up in the City’s wastewater 

collection/treatment system.  
 

 -

 20,000

 40,000

 60,000

 80,000

 100,000

 120,000

 140,000

 160,000

 -

 1,000,000

 2,000,000

 3,000,000

 4,000,000

 5,000,000

 6,000,000

 7,000,000

 8,000,000

 9,000,000

 10,000,000

1
9

9
7

1
9

9
8

1
9

9
9

2
0

0
0

2
0

0
1

2
0

0
2

2
0

0
3

2
0

0
4

2
0

0
5

2
0

0
6

2
0

0
7

2
0

0
8

2
0

0
9

2
0

1
0

2
0

1
1

2
0

1
2

2
0

1
3

2
0

1
4

2
0

1
5

2
0

1
6

2
0

1
7

2
0

1
8

2
0

1
9

2
0

2
0

2
0

2
1

Greeley Outside of Greeley Total Population

Page 105

Item No. 15.



Page 22 of 46 
 

System wide water main leak detection is done on an on-going basis. The goal of the Leak Detection 

Program is to survey around 30 miles or 6% of existing older water mains per year. Water crews utilizes 

the latest wireless technology with a SEBA KMT GT-3 series of leak detection equipment. This system 

transmits data collected by noise and pressure loggers through the main water lines in real-time.  Once 

leaks are identified and authenticated, crews begin repairs. In addition, Water crews respond to 

reported leaks and make necessary repairs in a timely manner.  

Starting on July 2020, the City of Greeley has been replacing older water meters with Advanced 

Metering Infrastructure (AMI) as part of its water conservation program. The AMI Project demonstrates 

the City’s ongoing commitment to honor the call to water stewardship. As of March 2022, over 11,763 

AMI meters have been installed. 

Greeley has documented both quantifiable water savings and improved water demand management as 

more AMI smart meters replace existing outdated standard volumetric meters. With this near real-time 

data communication and notification system, the City now has the capability to mitigate water leaks and 

losses, educate customers on how to reduce water usage, and help control water consumption during 

water emergencies, shortages, and droughts. By having access to daily meter readings (rather than 

once-per-month readings), the City has and will continue to reduce non-revenue producing water by a 

significant amount.  

 

ANNUAL PEAK DAY DEMANDS 
 

The water use peak day for each year typically occurs, though not always, during July in Greeley. The 

overall water system, including treatment, transmission, and distribution, must be able to meet the peak 

day of use. Daily production and peaking factors for Greeley’s two water treatment plants (Bellvue and 

Boyd) are represented in Table 5 from 2015-2019.  

Table 5: Daily Production Summary and Peaking Factors for Greeley’s Water Treatment Plants (2021 Water 

Transmission and Distribution Master Plan Appendix A) 

Production (MGD) Peaking Factor (PF) 

Year Average 
Day 

Peak Month 
(average Day 
July) 

Max Day Peak 
Month/Average 
Day 

Max 
Day/Average 
Day 

Max 
Day/Peak 
Month  

2015 21.75 38.28 44.00 1.76 2.02 1.15 

2016 23.32 42.49 49.90 1.82 2.14 1.17 

2017 23.19 40.86 46.12 1.76 1.99 1.13 

2018 19.81 32.31 41.58 1.63 2.10 1.29 

2019 18.52 29.93 38.49 1.62 2.08 1.29 

 

All production values are in million gallons per day (MGD) units and peaking factors are ratios of these 

values. 2016 was the year of highest average and maximum day productions and includes the highest 

peak month production during the 5-year period of record. However, peaking factors are relatively 

consistent across the 5-year period of record.  

 

Page 106

Item No. 15.



Page 23 of 46 
 

2.3 PAST AND CURRENT DEMAND MANAGEMENT ACTIVITIES 

In Greeley’s 2008 Water Conservation Plan (WCP), a goal was established of reducing demand by 8.2% 

or 3,300 acre-ft of cumulative water savings from 2010-2030 directly through its conservation programs. 

To achieve that original goal, a net impact of 144 years acre-feet per year, every year until 2030 would 

need to be achieved. In Greeley’s 2017 WCP, at goal was established of reducing demand by 9.3% from 

2015-2035 through its conservation programs. To achieve the 2017 goal, a new impact of 156 acre-feet 

per year, every year until 2035 would need to be accomplished.  

As shown in Figure 11, actual water saving exceeded the yearly goal of 156 acre-feet per year. In fact, by 

the end of 2021, Greeley had achieved total cumulative conservation savings of more than 2,555 acre-

feet since 2010. That is approximately 77% of the 3,300 acre-feet 2017 goal has been completed by 

2021.  

 

Figure 11- 2009-2021 Water Use Efficiency Plan Saving 

 

CURRENT DEMAND MANAGEMENT ACTIVITIES 
 

A list of current demand management activities and year of initiation is represented in Table 6. Over 

time programs and activities have changed from the 2017 WCP or were developed after the 2017 WCP 

and are a result of needs, technology, resources and opportunities. A complete description of these 

programs can be found in Section 4.3 

 

 

Page 107

Item No. 15.



Page 24 of 46 
 

Table 6: Current demand management activities  

Program Area Date Initiated  

Mandatory watering restrictions (3 days per week- no watering from noon to 5 
p.m.) 1907 

Water Loss Control Program Mid 1990s 

Metering Mid 1990s 

Xeriscape Grants  1997 

Landscape Lecture Series 1997 

Speakers Bureau 1997 

Water-Related Facility Tours 1997 

Xeriscape Education 1997 

Outdoor Irrigation Audits 1999 

Weather Sensor Installation for audit customers 2002 

Sod/Establishment Variances (and soil amendment requirement) 2002 

Indoor Water Audits 2006 

Commercial Water Audits 2006 

Irrigation Rebates 2006 

Commercial Rebates 2006 

Irrigation Controller Programming 2006 

Toilet Rebates 2006 

Clothes Washer Rebate 2006 

Discounted Garden in a Box kits 2012 

WaterSmart Portal and Home Reports 2013 

Showerhead Exchanges 2013 

Teacher Training 2013 

Faucet Aerator Installation for Audit Customers 2013 

Online Plant Database 2015 

Tiered Rates 2017 

Water Budget (residential customers) 2017 

Professional Landscape Certification Rebates  2017 

Life After Lawn, formerly known as Cash for Grass 2018 

Discounted Compost Bins 2018 

Discounted Rain Barrels 2018 

Leak Detection with advance metering infrastructure 2020 

 

Spatial trends in water conservation program participation indicate that the Water Conservation team 

has been highly expansive and affective (Figure 12). With the use of spatial analysis, the Water 

Conservation Program will continue targeting outreach around specific programs and Greeley’s social-

economic diversity.  

Page 108

Item No. 15.



Page 25 of 46 
 

 

Figure 12. Greeley Water Conservation Program participation form 2013-2020.  

Past and Current Land Use Activities 
Greeley introduced its first lawn watering restrictions in 1907 and imposed fines for violations.2  At the 
time, the City's population numbered no more than 8,000, and in a remarkable feat of conservation 
continuity, those first rules still apply today to nearly 108,000 citizens. For example, daily lawn watering 
and watering during the heat of the day is forbidden. Greeley’s lawn watering restrictions (the minimum 
applicable every year) are shown in Table 9. 

 
Table 9. Greeley Mandatory (Adequate Year) Watering Restrictions Schedule  

Watering Periods Single Family 
residences on a 
Water Budget  

Single Family 
residences and 
duplex with even 
numbered 
addresses ending 
in: 
0,2,4,6,8 and not 
on a water budget  

Single Family 
residences and 
duplex with odd 
numbered 
addresses ending 
in: 
1,3,5,7,9 and not 
on a water budget  

All others: CII, 
home owner 
association 
common areas, 
multi-family 
residences, 
government, non-
profit, places of 
worship.   

Jan 1st - April 14th  No Lawn Watering No Lawn Watering No Lawn Watering No Lawn Watering 

April 15th- August 
31st.  

Stay within their 
water budget. No 
watering from 10 
am to 6 pm 

Sunday, Tuesday, 
Thursday. No 
watering from 10 
am to 6 pm 

Monday, 
Wednesday, 
Saturday. No 
watering from 10 
am to 6 pm 

No watering from 
10 am to 6 pm 

 

2 A 1908 Greeley Tribune article reports “eight or nine prominent Greeley” citizens complained that their fines for sprinkling out 
of hours should go to the water works fund, not to the Police Magistrate. 

Page 109

Item No. 15.



Page 26 of 46 
 

City ordinance establishes the following water restrictions in Greeley: 

▪ Waste of water is prohibited at any time.  

▪ Sprinkler irrigation shall not occur between 10:00 a.m. and 6:00 p.m. from May through August even 

when water supplies are adequate. 

▪ Drip irrigation, low-volume spray or bubbling sprinklers, hose-end sprinklers and weeping type 

soaker hoses are allowed to water trees, shrubs or flower beds at any time. 

▪ Hand-watering of vegetables and flower gardens, trees and shrubs and individual brown spots in a 

lawn is allowed at any time, so long as water waste does not occur. Hand-watering means holding in 

the hand a hose with attached positive shutoff nozzle and does not include operating a hose with a 

sprinkler or manually operating an irrigation controller. 

▪ Except during time of adequate water supply, hand-watering to clean hard surfaces such as 

driveways and parking lots is prohibited. Hand watering to clean property, such as roof gutters, 

eaves, windows or in preparation for painting, is allowed as long as water waste does not occur. 

▪ Public organizations. The use of water for sprinkling lawns, gardens and trees on the grounds of 

public organizations, public parks and public golf courses served by the city water system will be 

permitted at any time with written variance from the director of water and sewer 

When landscaping a new home or planting seed or sod in an established yard, Greeley residents must 
get a variance to water during restricted periods. Greeley also requires residents to prepare the soil with 
compost (organic matter) before receiving a variance. Under a 2002 City ordinance, new lawns require 
proof of adequate compost. The program has the following rules: 

 
▪ Sod and compost receipts must be provided to the City to verify the installation. 

▪ Four cubic yards of compost must be used for every 1,000 square feet of sod put down. 

▪ The compost must be rototilled, and the property owner must provide photos or tiller 

    rental receipts as proof.  

▪ City employees check to verify the new lawn and compost. 

▪ The property owner must post a variance notice when the off-hour irrigation is occurring. 

Greeley is also actively working with the City of Evans and City of Windsor (two of our wholesale 

customers) to incorporate water planning into land use planning as these adjoining cities are linked 

through economies, land, agriculture, and resources. 

Planned Land Use Activities  
On December 15, 2015, the City of Greeley adopted the Landscape Policy Plan for Water Efficiency 

(LPPWE) was intended to be a sub-element of the Greeley 2060 Comprehensive Plan. The LPPWE is a 

cooperative planning project with the City’s: 

▪ Manager’s Office 

▪ Water and Sewer Department 

▪ Culture, Parks and Recreation Department 

▪ Community Development Department  

LPPWE provides the foundation and detailed goals and policies for the City to further advance 

efforts in the areas of education, regulation, and incentives which maintains Greeley’s existing 

quality landscape and urban forest.  The Water Conservation team has met the specific goals 

Page 110

Item No. 15.



Page 27 of 46 
 

outlined that provided adequate information, training and examples of water efficient landscapes 

that enable the design, installation and maintenance of quality landscapes that use landscape water 

efficiently.  

To boost land use activities around water conservation, the City of Greeley and Evans participated in 

2019 Growing Water Smart, a joint program of the Sonoran Institute and Lincoln Institute of Land 

Policy’s Babbitt Center to integrate land use and water planning at the community level. Greeley and the 

City of Evans are leveraging our relationships and providing values to our water customers by joining 

water conservations participation and marketing strategies. To continue collaboration, Greeley is 

participating with Evans’ 2022 Growing Water Smart Metrics to show value of Evans’ Water Efficiency 

Plan implementation process.   

As part of the 2019 Growing Water Smart, synergies between City’s Community Development and 

Water and Sewer leverages landscape codes to provide lasting water conservation values to Greeley. On 

October 1, 2021, City Council approved the adoption of a new development code that included planned 

landscape use and irrigation activities. Because of these code revisions, in the Fall of 2021, the City of 

Greeley was recognized by the American Planning Association, Colorado Chapter for “promoting health, 

equity, and community engagement through land use code language.”  

With the revised code in 2021, the Water and Sewer Department embarked in creating two criteria for 

water conservation. These Criteria include 1) Landscape and Irrigation Criteria and 2) Non-potable 

Irrigation System Design Criteria. These two Criteria will be adopted within the Engineering’s Design 

Criteria update in the Fall of 2022.  

The Landscape and Irrigation Criteria is intended to provide information for the design, review, 

installation and maintenance of landscape and irrigation systems within the City of Greeley to promote 

the efficient use of water and the reduction of water waste through best management practices. 

These Criteria focuses on new development for: 

▪ Civic and Open spaces 

▪ Common areas for all customer classes (outlots, pocket parks, usable detention, private/on-lot 

required/usable areas) 

▪ Right-of-ways 

▪ Municipal buildings 

▪ Multi-family residential 

▪ Non-residential (institutional, commercial, and industrial)  

Adoption of the Landscape and Irrigation Criteria is set for Fall of 2022 after following public 

participation and engagement sessions. Water Conservation and Community Development are working 

together to ensure processes are in place for communications regarding land-use development and 

water conservation practices.  

The Non-potable Irrigation System Design Criteria is part of the Non-Potable Master Plan which is to 

expand the non-potable water system and reduce the use of potable water for irrigation purposes and 

improve irrigation practices, which is key to the City’s long-term water conservation plan. The City uses 

non-potable water to irrigate both public and private property throughout the City. The City has a 

preexisting network of irrigation ditches for supplying source water for irrigation purposes.  

Page 111

Item No. 15.



Page 28 of 46 
 

2.4 DEMAND FORECAST 

Greeley is the 12th largest city in Colorado and has developed into cultural and academic hub, hosting 
educational institutions such as the University of Northern Colorado (UNC) and Aims Community 
College. The City offers an affordable cost of living with many options for housing and economic growth. 
The City’s population grew from 20,354 in 1950 to an estimated 108,175 in 2019. The City continuous to 
experience strong population growth through both infill and expansion of residential, industrial and 
commercial development within the City’s defined service area.  
 
To plan for the water needs of the City, current and future demands on the system were analyzed to 

help determine what steps the City should take to ensure that sufficient supply is available. Details on 

methodology for projecting future water demands for the water transmission and distribution system 

hydraulic model (water model) can be found in the 2021 Greeley Water Transmission and Distribution 

Master Plan.  

The City’s Long-Range Expected Growth Area (LREGA) is the area where it plans to provide water 
services. The future population, and resulting demands, that were distributed over the 
LREGA for each planning horizon used the “middle” projection from the City of Greeley Population 
and Water Demand Projections (2018 BBC Research & Consulting and 2021 Greely Non-Potable Master 
Plan), referred to as the BBC report, as shown in Figure 13. Because the 2075 projection does not 
represent the buildout year for the City within the LREGA boundary, a buildout population was 
extrapolated using planning data and factors. 

 

Figure 13: Historical and Projected Population Growth for Greeley 

Water demands were determined using four planning horizons that were developed for existing, 2025, 

2040 and buildout. Demand scenarios with all water and with non-potable irrigation are incorporated 

into future model to plan for sufficient system capacity at all planning horizons. The projected demands 

are future peak month (summer) water demands that come directly from water use and follow a diurnal 

pattern with a peaking factor for both residential and nonresidential demands. Table 7 focuses on 

infrastructure needs based on peak summer demands.  

Page 112

Item No. 15.



Page 29 of 46 
 

Table 7. Peak Mouth Demand Projections by Planning Horizon (2021 Water Transmission & Distribution Master 

Plan 2-27) 

 

Wholistically, it important for the City of plan on total annual water demands through buildout. Bear in 

mind, that water conservation methods listed in this Plan will help reduce the City’s annual water 

demands. Conditions will change with time and uncertainties will impact the accuracy of total water 

demands. With the best current information from the BBC Research & Consulting 2018 report and the 

2021 Water Transmission and Distribution Master Plan, water demands at buildout are presented 

below:  

Table 8. Annual Demand Projections at Buildout (2021 Water Transmission & Distribution Master Plan, ES-17) 

Demand Total Water Demand 
(AFY) 

Potable Water Demand 
(AFY) 

Non-potable Water 
Demand (AFY)  

Existing 30,500 28,600 1,900 

Future Demands 33,500 28,300 5,200 

New High Industrial 
Users (theoretically)  

10,300 10,300 0 

Total 74,300 67,200 7,100 

3 Integrated Planning and Water Efficiency Benefits and Goals 
3.1  WATER EFFICIENCY AND WATER SUPPLY PLANNING  

As previously discussed, the City is currently updating its water supply master plan with an IWRP. In step 

with the vision of the IWRP, the City is integrating a suite of approaches to secure the sustainability and 

reliability of future water supplies. The process calls for the development of key system performance 

metrics and level of service goals. Performance metrics are quantitative features used to evaluate 

performance of the water supply system, whereas level of service goals help define acceptable system 

performance and are often related to policy decisions. Subsequently, the City will identify risks and 

uncertainties to which the Greeley water supply system may be susceptible to, prioritizing those most 

pertinent to the system. These decisions will precipitate the development of Planning Scenarios that 

describe the future conditions the City will plan for. Once scenarios are developed, the City will develop 

water resource alternatives that fill identified supply gaps and meet level of service goals. 

Goals for the IWRP include: 

▪ Creating a short term (5-10 year) critical infrastructure project plan 

▪ An actionable water resources strategy including the approach to future water acquisition, 

conservation efforts and watershed protection activities 

Page 113

Item No. 15.



Page 30 of 46 
 

▪ Actionable operation strategy for the timing and integration of the Terry Ranch ASR project.  

The Water Conservation Team acts as part of the IWRP process by assisting to define key system 

performance metrics and setting level of service goals; identifying system risks and uncertainties; and 

selecting water resource alternatives. The IWRP is scheduled to be complete in December of 2022. 

Water efficiency is an integral piece of planning for water supply reliability and resilience. The IWRP 

expects that Greeley as a community will continue to act with water smart values to lessen system 

vulnerabilities in drought and non-drought conditions.  

3.2  WATER EFFICIENCY GOALS 

The water efficiency goals are to provide Greeley’s 

community with tool and resources for sustainable 

water conservation practices utilizing customer service, 

education, and technology. The City used a triple 

bottom line (TBL) approach that will transform 

Greeley’s water conservation efforts to a more 

sustainable future. TBL offers water efficiency goals to 

be optimized, innovated, and improve water 

efficiencies across multiple divisions within Greeley. The 

water efficiency is centered around a sustainable water 

future that revolves around Greeley’s community, 

prosperity, and water conservation management. For 

the City, TBL means creating an optimal mix of water 

efficiency, cost effectiveness and community first in 

daily Water Conservation operations.  

This Plan is designed to support the five core values for Water Conservation: 

▪ Drive water conservation through innovation and technology 

▪ Provide excellent customer service 

▪ Continue and build on Greeley’s water conservation history 

▪ Commit to sustainability and environmental stewardship 

▪ Fulfill future customer needs and changing values 

Through WEP implementation, the goal is to reduce total water demand by 2,034 acre-feet of water 

savings by 2030. To accomplish our water efficiency goals, TBL will be used to evaluate our performance 

and make data-informed priorities and decisions. Table below represent a 5-year scorecard to track 

progress and provide accountability and transparency within Water Conservation. The 5-year scorecard 

is used as a guidance for the Water Conservation team, to document multi-year goals and to evaluate 

resource allocations. To guide, measure and track progress, an Annual Scorecard is developed and will 

be presented to the Water Board annually.  The 5-year scorecard is centered by sustainability through 

community, prosperity and water conservation management.  

 

Page 114

Item No. 15.



Page 31 of 46 
 

Community 
 

Performance Indicators Status Resources Allocation 

Education- Lecture 
and Presentations 

▪ Educational awareness of methods for water 
conservation.   

▪ Community outreach and engagement for classrooms, 
civic clubs, and other groups.  

▪ Work to enhance cohesiveness of presentations and 
water related topics.  

Ongoing ▪ Staff Time- Full time person assigned to Water Conservation 
Administration  

▪ Guest speakers 
▪ Educational materials  
▪ Marketing  

Education-Teacher 
Training 

▪ Provide teachers credits for water and conservation 
issues for local teachers 

▪ Correlate material within lesson plans towards water 
resources 

Ongoing ▪ Staff Time- Full time person assigned to Water Conservation 
Administration and Water Conservation Specialist 

▪ Educational materials (models, lesson plans, etc.) 
▪ Credits and Transportation 

Education- Tours ▪ Provide the public with opportunities to tour Water 
facilities including the Water-wise gardens.  
 

Ongoing ▪ Staff Time- Full time person assigned.  
▪ Educational Materials  
▪ Hand-on demonstration 
▪ Transportation  

Online Water 
Efficiency Tools 

▪ Maintenance and updates to current online tools. 
▪ Contract agreements and associated budgets.  
▪ Ensure tools are customer friendly and provide accurate 

information.  

Ongoing ▪ Staff Time- Full time water conservation assigned.  
▪ Legal for contract agreements. 
▪ Internal Departments- IT and Communications and Engagement.  

Technology and 
Innovation 

▪ Survey to evaluate program outreaches and more 
effective communication strategies.  

▪ Use data-based information to construct a more effective 
outreach strategy.  

▪ Explore methods to engage all sectors of the community 
and embrace diversity.  

New 
(2021) 

▪ Staff Time- Full time person assigned to Water Conservation 
Manager and Administration 

▪ Survey materials 
▪ Open Forums  
▪ Marketing 

Strategic Marketing 
Plan 

▪ Create quarterly plans to support objectives of the water 
conservation program related to marketing strategies. 

▪ Quarterly report on progress on all strategic briefs 
including budget allocation will be created.  

▪ Alignment of other city public relations strategic planning 
with Water Conservation  

Ongoing ▪ Staff Time- Full time person assigned to Water Conservation 
Manager, Water Conservation Administration and Community 
Engagement Department  

▪ Budgeting 

Collaboration  ▪ Outreach to community businesses, non-profits, irrigation 
and landscape industries, etc. to create partnerships and 
methodology for water savings. 

▪ Tap into the Water-Energy nexus.    
▪ Provide guidance for partnerships. 
▪ Reduce barriers and provide value   

Ongoing  
and 
New 

▪ Staff Time- Full time person assigned to Water Conservation 
Manager, Water Conservation Administration and Water 
Conservation Specialist.  

▪ Hosting meetings and forums  
▪ Agreements  
▪ Associated educational credits and certifications  
▪ Educational materials   

Page 115

Item No. 15.



Page 32 of 46 
 

Prosperity 
 

Performance Indicators Status  Resources Allocation  

Rebates and Incentives ▪ Annual review of rebate program including alignment with 
state and federal standards, industry changes and data-
driven decisions on rebate performances.  

▪ Annual review of return on investment and water savings.  
▪ Alignment with the Water Department & City initiatives.  

Ongoing ▪ Staff Time- Full time water conservation manager and 
water conservation specialist assigned.  

▪ Federal, State and local standards to guide changes 
▪ Alignment with other City initiatives 
▪ Finance and Billing Departments  

Advanced Metering 
Infrastructure (AMI) 
Optimization 

▪ Expansion of WaterSmart participation 
▪ Utilization of spatial data paired with other dataset to 

detect patterns in water budgets, rebate/incentives 
utilization, irrigation practices, etc. to improve the Water 
Conservation programs. 

▪ Utilize WaterSmart’s data to improve efficiency, 
communications strategies and customer engagement.  

▪ Provide customers with notifications and/or alerts regarding 
water usage   

Ongoing 
and New 

▪ Staff Time- Full time water conservation assigned.  
▪ Internal Departments- IT, Water Resources, Meter 

Shop, Engineering, GIS, Water Conservation, Billing 
and Finance  

▪ WaterSmart software  
 

Leak Detection ▪ Reduction of water loss due to leaks. 
▪ Provide customers with notifications and/or alerts regarding 

water usage (i.e. water leaks, burst water pipes, emergency 
water issues). 

▪ Leak repair credit 
▪ Develop a new program to quantify and reduce leaks.   

New ▪ Staff Time- Full time and part-time water conservation 
assigned.  

▪ Internal Departments- IT, Water Resources, Meter 
Shop, Engineering, GIS, Billing and Finance, and 
Communications and Engagement 

▪ WaterSmart software  
▪ Educational materials and marketing 

Enforcement  ▪ Provide educational opportunities and/or fees to water 
wasters.  

▪ Enforcement of the Landscape and Irrigation Criteria, and 
lawn variances.  

▪ Develop policies and tracking methods for Drought 
Emergency Plan, Landscape and Irrigation Criteria and lawn 
variances.  

▪ Develop policies and methods for tracking  
▪ Community outreach and engagement.  

New ▪ Staff Time- Full time and part-time water conservation 
assigned 

▪ Internal Departments- IT, Water Resources, Meter 
Shop, GIS, Billing, Finance, Parks, and Community 
Engagement.  

▪ Seasonal staff for enforcement 
▪ Alignment with other City initiatives 
▪ Educational materials and marketing  
 

Income Qualified  ▪ Ensure social equality for Water Conservation programs and 
project.  

▪ Enhance opportunities to serve all community members. 
▪ Explore methods to engage all sectors of the community 

and embrace diversity. 

New ▪ Staff Time- Full time and part-time water conservation 
assigned 

▪ Internal Departments- IT, GIS, Billing, Finance, and 
Communications and Engagement.  

▪ Community Engagement.  
▪ Educational materials and marketing  

Page 116

Item No. 15.



Page 33 of 46 
 

Water 
Conservation 
Management  

 
 
Performance Indicators 

 
 
Status  

 
 
Resources Allocation  

Organizational 
Collaboration 

▪ Continue to leverage community and professional 
partnerships. 

▪ Expand Water-Energy nexus, CII high water use relations, 
stormwater partnerships, etc.  

▪ Alignment with community partnerships 
▪ Pilot projects- testing new ideas based on data 

Ongoing ▪ Staff Time- Full time person assigned.  
▪ Federal and State standards to guide changes 
▪ Align with other city initiatives 
▪ Align with community partnerships 
▪ Memberships, sponsorships, etc.  
▪ Data monitoring  

Land Use  ▪ Leveraging the Water budget for all customer classes 
targeting outdoor water use. 

▪ Promoting water wise landscapes and demonstration 
garden areas.  

▪ Maintenance of the Landscape and Irrigation Criteria 
▪ Survey landscapes to have a pulse on landscape health.   

Ongoing 
and new 

▪ Staff Time- Full time person assigned.  
▪ Align with other city initiatives 
▪ Community Engagement.  
▪ Educational materials  
▪ Marketing 
 

Water Conservation 
Development 

▪ Aligning performance goals with the annual scorecard and 
5-year scorecard.  

▪ Provide training and leadership opportunities for staff. 
▪ Workload alignments with individual programs. 
▪ Improve efficiency through cross-training, documenting 

operations and procedures, increase internal mobility and 
ensure collaboration.  

▪ Targeting water efficiency programs  

Ongoing 
and new 

▪ Staff Time- Full time Water Conservation Manager 
▪ Align with other city initiatives  
▪ Training  
▪ Memberships, sponsorships, etc.  

 

Financial Resources and 
Budget  

▪ Submit a water conservation budget annually.  
▪ Track budget and return on investment for each program.  
▪ Leverage resource through grants and other funding 

opportunities.  

Ongoing ▪ Staff Time- Full time Water Conservation Manager 
and input form staff.  

Reporting  ▪ State reporting including HB1051 
▪ Annual score cards to the Board 
▪ Ensuring website information, reports and forms for the 

public are updated.  
▪ Aligning data analysis internally on water consumption.  
▪ Drought Emergency Plan reserve tracking  
▪ Update Water Efficiency Plan  

Ongoing 
and New 

▪ Staff Time- Full time person assigned.  
▪ Internal staff- Water Resources, IT, and 

Communications and Engagement 
 

Water Loss ▪ AWWA M36 Water Loss Audit (M36) occurring annually. 
▪ Internal collaboration on water loss  
▪ Assets management with AMI meters.  

Ongoing 
and New  

▪ Staff Time- Full time person assigned. 
▪ Alignment with AWWA audits  

Page 117

Item No. 15.



Page 34 of 46 
 

The Water Conservation team revisits the Water Efficiency Plan (WEP) approximately every five to seven 

years. As part of this process, Conservation’s success at accelerating gallons per capita per day (GPCD) 

reductions and mitigating peak demand is part of the IWRP, Water Transmission and Distribution Master 

Plan and the Greeley Non-Potable Water Transmission and Distribution Master Plan.  

4.0 Water Efficiency Activities  
 

4.1 SUMMARY OF THE SELECTION PROCESS  

Historically the entire suite of current water conservation programs is regularly evaluated and judged 

against annual, seasonal, per customer and per capita demands. However, in 2020, the City, in 

conjunction with WaterNow Alliance and Western Resource Advocates, performed an analyses of the 

water conservation program portfolio in order to inform future budgetary decisions and program 

priorities. The full report in found in Appendix A.  Methodologies included a customer survey, an equity-

focused spatial analysis of past program participation, and a water use change analysis.  

Future evaluation criteria, in conjunction with the high WRP long term planning goals. Water 

conservation staff will continue developing a variety of potential programs with based on best 

management practices, studies, reports, innovated technologies, and customer feedback. As always, the 

water conservation team will discuss potential programs with other Front Range and western water 

providers as well as CWCB staff.  

Program screen criteria are based on water savings potential, cost effectiveness, community vitality and 

likelihood of success (Table 10).  

Table 10. Evaluation criteria for success  

Evaluation Criteria Description 

Water Savings Potential Water consumption reduction per customer account.  

Cost Effectiveness Return on investment ratio to ensure the best cost effectiveness.   

Community Vitality  Continue to be a community developed by design and water smart.  

Likelihood of Success Best acceptance of a program, market strategies and feasibility. Pilot 
programs can be used to rank success.  

 

4.2  Demand Management Activities  

These programs are defined according to CWCB’s primary water efficiency categories and are displayed 

as part of the TBL—Community, Prosperity, and Water Conservation Management in the below tables. 

Through these demand management activities, an estimated 2,034 acre-feet of water savings by 2030 

could be achieved.  

  

Page 118

Item No. 15.



Page 35 of 46 
 

 Community 
Water Efficiency Activities 

Education 

Lectures and Presentations 

Teacher Training 

Tours 

Water Wise Demonstration Gardens 

Online water efficiency tools 

Water Budget Calculations 

Registration and apply for education, program, audits and rebates 

Contact the Water Conservation Team 

Watering schedules and restrictions 

Violations Reporting 

Water wise landscape guidelines 

Plant database 

Videos and presentations 

New seed/sod variances 

WaterSmart Portal 

New Technology and Innovation  
Conduct surveys for baseline data 

Public engagement and impacts to water conservation programs 

Data gathering and outputs using GIS to make inform decisions on programs 

Strategic Marketing Plan 

Face to face marketing 

New Outreach demographics 

New releases 

Newsletters 

Paid Advertising 

Promotional items 

Direct mail 

Online communication 

Collaboration 

Creating partnerships on projects 

New Tap into the Water-Energy nexus 

Guidance for other partners 

Reduce barriers and provide water savings value 

Cumulative Water Savings 2022- 2030            
(acre-feet) 

386 

   

Page 119

Item No. 15.



Page 36 of 46 
 

Prosperity  
Water Efficiency Activities 

Rebates and Incentives (Outside) 

Irrigation Water Audits 

Sprinkler nozzle and heads rebates 

Smart Controllers rebates 

Pressure reducing valve  

Irrigation Flow Senor 

Life After Lawn (turf to water-wise plants conversion) 

Rain and soil sensors 

Professional landscape Certification 

Rebates and Incentives (Inside) 

Indoor Water Audits  

Showerhead and aerators-free 

Toilets and Urinal Rebates 

Pre-rinse spray valve- free for commercial properties 

New Dipper wells 

New Frozen food defrost  

Washing machine rebates- multiple family only  

New Commercial ozone laundry washer 

New Commercial Food Steamer 

New Advance Metering 
Infrastructure (AMI) Optimization 

Enhance leak detection 

Minimize water loss 

Daily water monitoring capabilities  

More accurate billing 

Better customer service 

Reduced fuel by eliminating drive-by meter readings 

Leak Detection New WaterSmart software to alert customer of leaks, high usage, and unexpected use 

Enforcement  
No wasting water 

No watering between 10 am - 6 pm 

New Income Qualified  
Affordable housing rehab projects 

Assistance programs 

Cumulative Water Savings 2022- 2030          
(acre-feet) 

1363 

  

Page 120

Item No. 15.



Page 37 of 46 
 

  

Water Conservation Management   

Water Efficiency Activities 

Organizational Collaboration Water use goals  

Land Use 

Water Budget- conservation based rates 

Water Wise landscapes partnership 

New Landscape and Irrigation Criteria 

New Non-potable irrigation system 

New Water Conservation 
Development  Targeting water efficiency programs  

Financial Resources and Budget 
Determine relevant business impact metrics for each program 

Pursue funding and resource opportunities 

Reporting 

House Bill 10-1051 

Water Efficiency Plan 

Drought Emergency Plan reserve tracking 

Annual score cards for accountability  

Water Loss Control Programs 
Distribution System Leak Detection 

Distribution system pressure management  

Water Loss Annual Audit 

Cumulative Water Savings 2022- 2030  
(acre-feet) 285 

 

Page 121

Item No. 15.



Page 38 of 46 
 

4.3  DEMAND MANAGEMENT ACTIVITIES  

The WEP is designed to maximize water use and be a blueprint to facilitate water demand management.  

With a use of the TBL approach the following foundational activities will meet our savings requirements 

through 2030.  

Community 
 

Educational Programs: Greeley’s robust educational programs include teacher training, tours, tailored 

customer service, landscape lectures, presentations, newsletters, and social media postings on various 

water conservation programs. This includes: 

Lecture and Presentations: Making connections and partnerships in the community helps position 

Greeley’s Water Conservation program is an important resource. Water conservation staff sponsors 

and participates in a broad array of events and educational activities to foster face-to-face 

interactions. Greeley participates in fairs, events sponsored by other organizations, festivals, 

neighborhood meetings, speaking engagements, discussions with local civic groups and classroom 

visits. Online lectures series have grown in popularity and provide landscape lectures to help the 

Greeley community save water and create natural ecosystems to become more drought resilient.   

Teacher Training: Greeley co-sponsors The Confluence Institute which is a four-day training of K-12 

teachers on water and conservation issues at the Poudre Learning Center. It provides teachers with 

resources and activities to use inside their classrooms. Teachers received District Six credit. Also 

Caring for Our Watershed project is sponsored by the Poudre Learning Center and Agrium. Water 

Resources staff support the project by judging projects and mentoring students through 

implementation.  

Tours: Making connections within the community is done by providing city wide tours. Tours vary 

from watersheds, demonstration gardens to treatment plants.  

Water Wise Demonstration Garden: This garden was designed to show customers what Xeriscape is 

and is not and to provide examples of plant material that can be utilized in their own landscapes, it 

also demonstrates alternative turf.  

Online water efficiency tools: There are multiple online tools providing 24-hour access to customers on 

water efficiency options that include: 

• Calculate customers’ personalized water budgets and view calculated irrigable areas.   

• Registration and apply for educational opportunities, programs, audits and rebates.  

• Ability to contact the Water Conservation team through email or phone 

• Watering schedules and restrictions 

• Reporting water violations 

• Water wise landscape guideline, and plant database 

• Location of demonstration gardens 

• Videos and presentation on past landscape lectures  

• Application for new seed/sod variances. This ensures the correct soil preparations standards 

have been completed.  

Page 122

Item No. 15.



Page 39 of 46 
 

• WaterSmart portal that includes tutorials, educational material, ability to view of current and 

past bills, and leak and high use notifications. This process includes a Home Water Report. This 

report utilizes social marketing where you create social norms by giving the customer a score 

card on their use and compare them to similar family and property sizes.  

Technology and Innovation: As part of the core values of Water Conservation, the Conservation Team 

will use technology to streamline and evaluate water conservation programs. Making informed 

decisions on water conservation programs-- which work well and sunsetting those which didn’t work 

according to plan-- it not only standard business but guidance us to be more effective. Using technology 

to our advance is key for long-term conservation goals.  

Strategic Marketing Plan: Greeley is steadfast in the belief that personal contact is most effective 

element. Program staff strives to be visible in the community and to meet was as many citizens as 

possible. As noted in the Enhancing Greeley’s Water Efficiency Portfolio through Performance Analysis, 

face to face marketing harness synergies across conservation programs. This document also provides 

guidance on targeting outreach based on demographics, survey data, and marketing methods. The 

Water Conservation Program uses new releases, newsletters, paid advertising, promotional giveaway 

items, direct mail, and online communications. Quarterly the water communications plan is reviewed to 

help focus, monitor, and evaluate the Water Conservation outreach efforts. Conservation information 

and initiatives are an important part of Greeley’s Water and Sewer’s overall public messaging.  

Collaboration: Collaboration improved the way water conservation work together and problem solve. 

Through working with our community members, the Water Conservation team will continue to 

innovate, improved efficiency, increase success and help achieve the water conservation goals. The 

Water Conservation team will be looking at methods to tap into the Water-Energy nexus, LEED building 

projects, regionalized messaging, landscape certifications and work with our schools systems.  

Prosperity  
 

Rebates and Incentives: 

Annually, the Water Conservation Team reviews rebate and incentive programs to algin with State and 

Federal standards, industry changes and data-driven decision on rebate performances. Below is a list of 

outdoor and indoor programs.  

A. Outdoor Programs like: 

1. Irrigation Audits- Throughout the summer Greeley’s Water Conservation Team offers outdoor 

irrigation audits. Staff visit properties to perform a visual inspection and collect data to diagnose 

irrigation inefficiencies, educate customers on proper operation, scheduling techniques and 

maintenance. Customers receive a final report with recommendations along with a personalized 

irrigation schedule.  

2. Sprinkler nozzle and head rebates- By replacing old technology with nozzles and heads with 

modern low volume this is save overall irrigation water application rates. In addition, by ensure 

head and nozzles match each zone, this will all efficiencies in application rate.  

3. Smart Controllers Rebate -Smart Controllers apply the water according to the weather and 

reduce the need for customers to know how to adjust their run times.  When coupled with an 

Page 123

Item No. 15.



Page 40 of 46 
 

irrigation audit and quality sprinkler heads, it can improve the efficiency of the water applied, 

human error and the “set it and forget it” mentality. 

4. Pressure Reducing Valve- Greeley pressure ranges from 80-120 psi which is too high for most 

irrigation systems thus causing misting and /or displaced water due to even slight breezes.  

Another pressure reducing valve occurs during the drip irrigation conservation process. Rebates 

are to offset the cost of installing a pressure reducer on their sprinkler system allowing it to run 

at the correct pressure. 

5. Irrigation Flow Senor- Flow sensor can sense when other than normal flow is going through the 

sprinkler system or line and can shut off the clock to avoid a large amount of water leaking out a 

broken pipe or if a sprinkler head gets damaged. 

6. Life After Lawn (Turf to water-wise plants)- This program incentivizes customers to replace 

water thirsty turf with low water and/or native perennials, trees and shrubs or native grasses. 

7. Rain and soil sensors – Rain sensors are adjustable and can shut off the system when the 

threshold of precipitation is met.  Soil moisture sensor detect the amount of moisture in the soil 

and will activate the system when that water is depleted.  the system will water on demand 

rather than on a set schedule which could save water. 

8. Professional Landscape Certification -Provides incentives for landscape contractors to pursue 

certifications and continuing education. 

9. Pool covers: Besides offering energy savings, pool cover also conserve water by reducing the amount of 

make-up water needed by 30-50%.  

 

B. Indoor Programs: 

1. Indoor audits-These audits work as an educational tool to help Greeley citizens realize all the 

uses of water indoor, like AC units, humidifiers, and auto-fill floats.  This face-to-face marketing 

allow to assist in leak detection and provide information about other conservation programs.  

2. Showerhead and aerators exchange-This is a relatively simple way to upgrade plumbing fixtures 

to WaterSense standard which can help save water and energy by providing free showerheads 

and aerators. 

3. Toilets and Urinal Rebates- By replacing older toilet and urinal this will help save water and 

many times you are also fixing a leak the customer didn’t know they had. 

4. Pre-rinse spray valve-These high-pressure valves apply water in a way that helps dishwashers 

remove the most stubborn food from dishes, pots and pans before they go into the dish 

machine.  

5. Dipper wells- Low-efficiency dipper wells operate using a continuous flow of water. High-efficiency 

dipper wells have automatic shutoffs and other features to dramatically reduce their water use. 

6. Frozen food defrost-Food - This product prevent excessive water from going down the drain 

while thawing frozen foods. 

7. Washing machine rebates (Shared facilities only) New HE washers save water by using 4-7 

gallons per cycle compared to loading washer that can use 40 or more gallons. 

8. Commercial ozone laundry washer: Ozone works best in cold water, so large facilities do not 

have to pay for energy to heat the water. In addition, the process reduces total water usage by 

creating an overall more efficient wash process.  

Page 124

Item No. 15.



Page 41 of 46 
 

9. Commercial Food Steamer: Energy Star certified steam cookers save 90% or more water when 

compared to older standard steam cooker models. Updating commercial food steamers will 

save water and energy.  

Advance Metering Infrastructure (AMI) optimization and monthly Meter Reading: Every connection to 

Greeley’s water utility infrastructure is metered. Customer’s meters are read monthly or through AMI 

on an hourly time scale. AMI is scheduled to be completed in 2026 for the whole City of Greeley. The 

AMI system provides near real-time monitoring and alert capabilities that will detect high usage and 

leaks when paired with the WaterSmart software. Benefits of AMI are: 

▪ Enhanced leak detection 

▪ Minimized water loss 

▪  Daily water monitoring capabilities for customers rather than waiting a month for a record 

of water usage. 

▪ More accurate billing 

▪ Better customer service 

▪ Reduced fuel usage by eliminating drive-by meter readings and additional vehicles to check 

meters 

WaterSmart software allows customer to review, understand and make decisions about their own water 

use. This not only does this on-line portal improves water efficiency but provides communication 

strategies and customer encouragement.  

Leak Detection: Currently the AMI system is paired with the WaterSmart software and can alert 

customers to leaks, high usage, and unexpected use. The customer is then alerted via text message or e-

mail. Water Conservation staff also make efforts to notify customers that do not have contact 

information on file through door tags.  Leak repair assistance offers a credit to customers that discover a 

leak in their water system on a case-by-case basis. Working with other internal staff, the Water 

Conservation team will be developing a new program to quantify and reduce leaks.  

Enforcement: The Water Conservation team takes an educational approach to enforcement. Wasting 

water and watering in the middle of the day between 10:00 am and 6:00 pm are prohibited. First time 

offenders receive a written notice with program offerings to better help the customer understand their 

water use and improve efficiency. If there is no action taken by the customer, then the City has the 

ability to levy fines. 

Income Qualified: Greeley is a culturally dynamic community with different socio-economic conditions 

within Greeley’s customer base. Most outdoor over-use of water occurs by the higher-income 

customers. Though lower-income customers typically do not contribute to high summer water 

production levels but have challenges with indoor use. From the Enhancing Greeley’s Water Efficiency 

Portfolio through Performance Analysis report, water conservation can harness synergies for outreach 

opportunities and provide a suite of future programs to this important population.  

Water Conservation Management  
 

Page 125

Item No. 15.



Page 42 of 46 
 

Organizational Collaboration: Partnerships are key to help create community messages, obtain 

feedback, keep abreast to industry trends, pooling resources and ensure reasonable and effective water 

savings actions. 

Greeley continuously networks finding the best resources for specific water conservation programs. 

Through this collaboration process, the Water Conservation Team will align with community 

partnerships that follow the core values. The Water Conservation team works one-on-one with key 

organizations locally, and at the State and Federal government levels.  

Land Use:  

Water Budget: Water budgets support the City’s goals of promoting efficient water use. A water budget 

is the most equitable (fair) way to reward efficiency and discourage water waste. A water budget is 

unique to each residential household and provides your home all the water you need. It is based on: 

• Family size 

• Landscape size 

• Real-time weather conditions  

 

In this custom tiered rate has four tiers as illustrated in Figure 14 – rewarding customer that stay within 

their water budget.  

 

Figure 14. 2022 Water Budget Rate Structure  

Since 2017, the Water Conservation Program evaluated and implemented a water-budget-based 

rate structure for each single-family residential customer, including information on each 

household’s irrigated area and forecasted demand based on weather data. This empowered 

customers with information that would allow them to take an active role in monitoring and 

lowering their consumption (and in turn their water bills) through a water-budget-based rate 

structure. Part of the rate model includes targeted communication pieces to customers who 

Page 126

Item No. 15.



Page 43 of 46 
 

regularly exceed water budgets, flagging exceptionally high-water bills, and notifying users who 

grossly exceed their water budget.  

Water Wise Landscapes:  Water conservation maintains two demonstration gardens to support 

customer education on water-wise landscape plants.  Other projects include partnerships. One with the 

University of Northern Colorado on showcasing water wise landscapes by removing non-essential turf by 

the student center. The second is partnering with the Stormwater division and CSU Stormwater center, 

Greeley has installed five rain garden demonstration projects in Greeley.  

Additional methods to promote water wise landscapes, such as customer recognition or grants yard 

makeovers will continue to be developed.   

Landscape and Irrigation Criteria and Non-potable Irrigation System Design Criteria: The Landscape and 

Irrigation Criteria is intended to provide information for the design, review, installation and 

maintenance of landscape and irrigation systems within the City of Greeley to promote the efficient use 

of water and the reduction of water waste through best management practices. 

The Non-potable Irrigation System Design Criteria expand the non-potable water system and reduce the 

use of potable water for irrigation purposes and improve irrigation practices.  

Landscape and irrigation plan reviews are for new CII development, civic and open spaces, rights-of-way, 

and common areas. This review and inspection help contractors maintain quality work and help protect 

property owners against innately inefficient irrigation systems. Furthermore, the total landscape water 

requirements are calculated and submitted during the landscape and irrigation plans review process.  

Water Conservation Development: Targeting water efficiency programs is key to success. This is based 

on data informed decisions, performance accountability and staffing levels. Here are some main future 

focuses: 

• Water Users:  The purpose of the measure to is target water users, analyze water use, develop 
efficiency benchmarks and determine ways to help all customer classes to become more water 
efficient.  

• Governmental Properties: The Water Conservation Team is working with City departments to 

improve water efficiencies within its own City’s property. This includes fixture updates, water 

budgets for open spaces like parks, and landscape innovations.   

• Customer service: From leak detection to landscape changes, the Water Conservation customer 

care installs a lasting history for the Greeley community. The Water Conservation team will 

leverage billing systems and WaterSmart to provide more meaningful usage information to 

customers. This will support educational opportunities.   

• Technology and innovation: Methodologies to use technology to innovate water conservation 

programs. 

• Internal water conservation staff: A success water conservation program needs people to guide 

water conservation efforts in the community. There are currently four full-time employees, one-

part time employee and a seasonal staff and volunteers dedicated to developing, implementing 

and promote water conservation efficiency programs in Greeley. Ensuring processes are 

streamlined, staff are cross trained, and are aware of the latest water conservation technologies 

Page 127

Item No. 15.



Page 44 of 46 
 

is the backbone of success for the WEP. Personalized performance goals will align with the 

annual scorecard and 5-year score card in this plan.  

As new ideas emerge, pilot projects will be conducted. This will test the viability of executing the project 

at a full scale and help manage risk and reveal flaws in the plan before substantial resources have been 

committed.  

Financial Resources and Budget: The Water Conservation Program measures the return on investment 

for water conservation programs. This provides relevant business impact metrics for each program and 

allows the Water Conservation Manager to make data-driven decisions on each program. Levering 

financial resources provides value to the Greeley community. Since 2020, the Water Conservation team 

has secured over $3.5 million dollars in grants and professional services boosting long-term water 

conservation efforts. Water Conservation will continue to pursue funding and resource opportunities.  

Reporting: State, local and internal reporting is critical analysis how water conservation is tracking 

within all programs. These tools are used to guide decision-making and solve any identified issues. The 

Water Conservation will continue to report to CWCB all requirements associated with House Bill 10-1051 

and continuous tracking methods mentioned in Section 5.2 of this WEP.  

Water Loss Control Programs: Greeley’s robust Water Loss program includes annual water audit and 

loss control reports using the methodology prescribed by the American Water Works Association M36 

manual, system wide water main leak detection program, an active meter maintenance program with 

meter replacements to AMI meters by 2026, and strong asset management assessment and planning 

group to replace aging infrastructure. 

5.0 Implementation and Monitoring Plan 
Greeley has one of the most robust and longest-standing water conservation programs in the State of 

Colorado. Using the roadmaps mentioned in the WEP, the Water Conservation Manager will plan, 

develop, and lead the Water Conservation team to cost effectively reduce water use for Greeley through 

dynamic programing and outreach.  

5.1 IMPLEMENTATION PLAN  

Demand management solutions are implemented using data driven decisions and by removing planning 

barriers such the lack of leadership, limited manpower to complete tasks, inadequate resources and 

funding, and impractical business planning.  Through the Water Conservation leadership team, 5-year 

scorecards will guide, and track performance of the water conservation programs. Staff will create an 

annual scorecard on specific programs and projects to address the long-term goals from the 5-year 

scorecard. The annual scorecard will be showcased at public Board meetings.  Using the triple bottom 

line approach will allow flexibility to pilot new programs and sunset others.  

The Water Conservation team will be setting the level of service goals as part of its short and long-term 

demand management strategy of the Integrated Water Resource Planning.  

5.2 MONITORING PLAN  

Greeley monitors all water conservation and efficiency programs activities by those customers who have 

participated through costs and estimated water savings. Business impact metrics will be measured 

Page 128

Item No. 15.



Page 45 of 46 
 

through water savings analysis using similar methodologies found in the Enhancing Greeley’s Water 

Efficiency Portfolio through Performance Analysis report.  

Accurate monitoring will be performed by analyzing per capita water use, per unit water use and 

accounting for variations created by annual weather conditions. Data will be submitted for House Bill 

10-1051 annually. In addition, Greeley will annually conduct self-water audits and loss control programs 

following the guideline of the American Water Works Association M36 manual and participate in the 

Colorado Water Loss Control Initiative.  

Geospatial analysis paired with customer surveys will allow the Water Conservation team to stay 

informed on customers’ values and interests, and to benchmark water conservation programs through 

time. Furthermore, surveys will allow Greeley to expand on the success of its existing program and 

further focus how to reach targeted audiences using community based social marketing campaigns.  

Using the latest technology, the AMI data paired with WaterSmart software will allow daily weekly, and 
monthly data analysis and reports. Greeley’s water customers have access to safe, secure, real-time data 
of their water usage through an online customer portal. Accurate information allows customers to 
proactively partner with the City in its conservation efforts by monitoring and adjusting their personal 
usage—a feature that will be especially beneficial to commercial and landscape customers who have 
higher usage rates and thus, higher water bills. 

6.0 Adoption of New Policy, Public Review and Formal Approval 
6.1  Adoption of New Policy 

WEP adoption involved internal and external stakeholder feedback, flexibility and finalizing the WEP 

with the Water and Sewer’s Director. In addition, in 2021 over 720 customers provided survey responses 

to gain a better understanding of customers’ awareness of- and interest in- Greeley’s water 

conservation programs. Results of the survey are found in Appendix A.  Survey results have been 

integrated into this WEP.  

6.2  PUBLIC REVIEW PROCESS 

Through Greeley’s Communications and Engagement staff, a communication plan and marketing 

strategies were developed. These included: 

Executive Team and Internal Staff: Both Water and Sewer’s executive team and staff were briefed at 

various times throughout 2021 and 2022 providing input, suggestions, and insight to optimize end 

results of the WEP. The plan will be part of the Integrated Water Resources Plan to evaluate Greeley’s 

long-term water supply sustainability and incorporate near-term projects to reduce future water risks 

and uncertainty.  

Technical Analysis: The Water Conservation team was selected to WaterNow Alliance’s Project 

Accelerator program for support in analyzing the performance of its water conservation program 

portfolio to inform future budgetary decisions, program priorities, and this WEP.  

60 Day Public Comment Period: As part of the communication plan, the 2022 WEP was posted the 

Water and Sewer long range planning website starting on August 3, 2022 to promote and solicited 

feedback. Those comments will be provided in Appendix B. Tactics to engage the public were through 

Page 129

Item No. 15.



Page 46 of 46 
 

social media, website updates, Water and Sewer’s monthly newsletter, news release, Speak Up Greeley 

project page, presentations to Boards, virtual public briefing/open house and key stakeholder working 

group meetings.  

6.3   EFFICIENCY PLAN APPROVAL (Pending)  

Please note this section will include approval from the Water and Sewer Board along with City Council after the 

public has provided comments.  

Local Approval  

CWCB Approval  

6.4  WATER EFFICIENCY PLAN REVIEW AND UPDATE 

Greeley will submit a formal water efficiency plan update by 2029. A review and revision of each section 

will be completed as necessary.  

Appendices 
APPENDIX A: ENHANCING GREELEY’S WATER EFFICIENCY PORTFOLIO THROUGH PERFORMANCE 
ANALYSIS 

APPENDIX B:  PUBLIC NOTICE ANNOUNCEMENT, PUBLIC COMMENTS, & OFFICIAL PLAN 
ADOPTION  
Please note this section will include approval from the Water and Sewer Board along with City Council after the 

public has provided comments.  

 

Page 130

Item No. 15.



Water Efficiency Plan 

CITY OF GREELEY  Water and Sewer Department 

APPENDIX A 

 

  

Page 131

Item No. 15.



 
 

 1 

Subject: Draft Final Report: Enhancing Greeley’s Water Efficiency Portfolio through 
Performance Analysis 
Date: May 3, 2022 
To: Dena Egenhoff, Water Conservation Manager, and Ruth Quade, Water Conservation 
Administrator, City of Greeley 
From: Lindsay Rogers and John Berggren, Western Resource Advocates; Amy Weinfurter, 
WaterNow Alliance  
 

Final Report: Enhancing Greeley’s Water 
Efficiency Portfolio through Performance 
Analysis 

Table of Contents 

Executive Summary ............................................................................................................... 2 
Program Prioritization .......................................................................................................................................... 3 
Communications and Outreach ........................................................................................................................... 3 

Introduction .......................................................................................................................... 4 

Customer Survey Findings ...................................................................................................... 5 

Awareness & Importance of Greeley Water Conservation Programming ..........................................7 

Outreach Strategies .......................................................................................................................8 

Participant Motivations..................................................................................................................9 

Past & Future Program Participation ............................................................................................ 11 

1. Educational Programs .......................................................................................................... 12 

2. Water Audits ............................................................................................................................ 15 

3. Water Efficiency Incentives ....................................................................................................... 18 

4.Online Water Efficiency Tools .................................................................................................... 22 

Key Findings from the Customer Survey ............................................................................... 25 

Quantitative Analysis of Greeley’s Water Conservation Programs ........................................ 31 

Spatial Trends in Water Conservation Program Participation ......................................................... 31 

Water Use Change Resulting from Water Conservation Programs ................................................. 37 
Methodology ...................................................................................................................................................... 38 
Results and Discussion ....................................................................................................................................... 39 

Page 132

Item No. 15.



 
 

 2 

Recommendations ............................................................................................................... 47 

Conclusion ........................................................................................................................... 49 

Appendix ............................................................................................................................. 51 

Attachment A – Summary of Greeley’s Water Efficiency Portfolio from 2013-2020 ........................ 51 

Appendix B – Customer Survey Questionnaire: Water Efficiency Program Performance ................. 56 

Appendix C – Greeley Water Conservation Bill Stuffer ................................................................... 68 

Appendix D – Demographic Survey Results ................................................................................... 69 

Appendix E – Spatial Trends in Water Conservation Program Participation: Analysis and Data 
Sources ........................................................................................................................................ 70 

Appendix F – Review of Water Efficiency Program Analyses .......................................................... 72 

Appendix G – Water Use Change Analysis: Detailed Methodology ................................................. 82 

Appendix H – Comparison of Results to Reference Values ............................................................. 87 
 

 

Executive Summary 
 
The City of Greeley has one of the most robust and longest-standing water conservation 
programs in the State of Colorado. In 2020, the City applied and was selected to WaterNow 
Alliance’s Project Accelerator program for support in analyzing the performance of its water 
conservation program portfolio in order to inform future budgetary decisions, program 
priorities, and the City’s forthcoming Water Efficiency Plan update. This report synthesizes key 
findings and methodologies from the conservation program performance analysis which 
included a customer survey, an equity-focused spatial analysis of past program participation, 
and a water use change analysis.  
 
This analysis found that across the board, Greeley’s Water Conservation Programs have saved 
both water and money, and have been highly valued by program participants. During the six 
years spanning 2013-2018, selected programs engaged nearly 5,000 participants, and achieved 
water savings ranging from 2.9 to 19.5 AF per year per program. These programs’ average cost 
per acre foot savings is far below the current cost of water from the Colorado Big-Thompson 
Project. Based on the customer survey, 94% of respondents reported that Greeley’s 
conservation programs were important or very important. While the data analysis suggests that 
these programs are effective, it also provides insight into specific programs to expand or 
condense and how to most effectively conduct outreach to Greeley’s target audiences.  
 

Page 133

Item No. 15.



 
 

 3 

Program Prioritization  
1. Residential Audits: Residential Audits (both indoor and outdoor) saved an estimated 

19.5 AF per year, which is encouraging because the customer survey results suggest 
continued interest in further participation in this program, particularly the Outdoor 
Irrigation Audit. The quantitative analysis also shows that participation in the Residential 
Audit often overlaps with participation in other indoor and outdoor water conservation 
programs, suggesting that this program is an effective “gateway” to utilizing other water 
conservation tools and resources. Survey results support this finding in that 95% of 
Residential Audit participants reported taking some kind of water saving action as a 
result of their audit.  

2. Outdoor Efficiency Incentives: The survey showed particularly large interest in outdoor 
water efficiency rebates and incentives. There may be an opportunity to expand 
participation in programs like the Smart Controller Rebate, PRV Rebate, and Rotary 
Nozzles Rebate. These programs have high water savings per account but have seen 
lower levels of overall participation, compared to other programs. The outdoor Life 
After Lawn and Garden in a Box programs – though not captured by the water use 
change analysis – were the most popular incentive opportunities for future participation 
according to the survey results.  

3. Educational Programs & Online Efficiency Tools: Greeley’s array of educational programs 
and online tools were, for the most part, well utilized by Greeley residents and of 
interest to respondents for future participation. Many past participants reported taking 
specific water savings actions as a result of participation in an educational program. 
While data on staff resources and cost for educational programs and online efficiency 
tools is beyond the scope of this project, one can assume that most of these programs 
and tools are less expensive and time intensive than residential audits and outdoor 
efficiency incentive programs. 

 

Communications and Outreach  
1. Harness synergies across conservation programs. Approximately 30% of residents were 

part of multiple conservation programs, suggesting there may be ways to further 
encourage participants to take advantage of other relevant programs. Strategies may 
include continuing to encourage participants to complete an audit as an entry point to 
other programs, as well as reaching out to past participants to suggest additional or 
complementary programs.  

2. Create targeted outreach on specific programs to Hispanic and Latino customers. Survey 
results suggest some differences in program preferences among Hispanic and Latino 
respondents. For example, respondents of Hispanic, Latino or Spanish origin expressed 
more interest in the High Efficiency Toilet rebate. These insights could help target 
outreach around specific programs in neighborhoods with larger percentages of 
Hispanic and Latino residents, as identified in the spatial analysis, or help prioritize the 
translation of specific program materials.  

Page 134

Item No. 15.



 
 

 4 

3. Take advantage of popular outreach methods. Email updates and monthly e-newsletters 
were the most popular form of communication for most customers. These channels can 
be used to further promote and increase awareness of the conservation programs, 
specifically Greeley’s online efficiency tools with which respondents were generally less 
familiar.  

4. Focus community engagement messaging on customers’ key water conservation 
motivations. Motivation to participate in future water conservation programs is 
primarily based on saving money on water bills, protecting Greeley’s limited water 
resources, reducing personal use, paying for a fixture or appliance, and supporting 
community values.  

 
The City of Greeley should be very proud of its efforts to build a popular, impactful, and highly 
valued Water Conservation Program. The report is intended to act as a tool for Greeley’s Water 
Conservation team to make data-drive decisions, and to be a resource to Colorado’s water 
conservation community in evaluating the impact of conservation programs and scaling-up 
future investments in water conservation. 
 

Introduction 
 
The City of Greeley’s leadership in water conservation began in 1907, with the City’s first 
watering restrictions, and Greeley now has one of the most robust water conservation 
programs in the State of Colorado.1 Given the City of Greeley’s (Greeley, Greeley Water, or the 
City) semi-arid climate, receiving less than 13 inches of rainfall per year, these water 
conservation programs form an important strategy to ensure a reliable and sufficient water 
supply for city residents, now and into the future.2 Greeley’s extensive water conservation 
programs have been successful at reducing water demand and keeping water rates affordable. 
These programs included free irrigation audits, direct installation of smart irrigation controllers, 
a conservation lecture series, a water-budget based rate structure, and a Life After Lawn turf 
replacement program, among many others.  
 
In 2020, Greeley Water applied for WaterNow Alliance’s Project Accelerator program3 for 
capacity and expertise in optimizing its existing conservation programs through data-driven, 
performance analysis and an equity-focused analysis of metrics such as socioeconomic status of 
participants, age and geographic distribution, and the value of each program to the City’s 
residents. The resulting analysis, shared in the below report, will drive the City’s next Water 
Efficiency Plan and inform its annual water conservation program budget and priorities. 
 

 
1 City of Greeley, Colorado. (2016). Greeley Water Conservation Report 2016.  
2 City of Greeley, Colorado. (2020). Conservation.  https://greeleygov.com/services/ws/conservation/  
3 See: https://waternow.org/our-work/our-work-projects/project-accelerator/.  

Page 135

Item No. 15.

https://greeleygov.com/services/ws/conservation/
https://waternow.org/our-work/our-work-projects/project-accelerator/


 
 

 5 

Through the Project Accelerator, WaterNow Alliance (WaterNow) and Western Resource 
Advocates (WRA) worked with Greeley Water, to evaluate the City’s water efficiency program 
portfolio through several key phases:  

(1) Interviews on the program background and priorities with City staff and officials;  

(2) Background research on and review of the City’s water efficiency program portfolio and 

available data;  

(3) A customer survey on Greeley’s water conservation programs. 

(4) Quantitative analysis of Greeley’s water conservation programs;  

 
The report focuses on phases three and four of the project (customer survey and quantitative 
performance analysis) and synthesizes key findings on the City’s water conservation program 
portfolio. The intent of this report is to support Greeley’s Water Conservation team as they 
make important future decisions on programs and budgets. It is also intended to be shared with 
the broader Colorado water community as a resource for those that are interested in scaling up 
their investment in water conservation and evaluating the impact of their programs.  

Customer Survey Findings  
 
In February and March 2021, the project team conducted a survey of Greeley Water & Sewer 
customers to gain a better understanding of customers’ awareness of – and interest in – 
Greeley’s water conservation programs. Questions included past participation rates, potential 
future participation, general sentiments, and personal actions taken to advance water 
conservation. The survey focused on four key categories of Greeley’s conservation strategies, 
each with their own programs. The individual programs are listed below and more information 
on each program is provided in Appendix A.   
 

1. Educational Programs 
a. Landscape Lecture Series – free lectures and workshops on landscape topics to 

improve water efficiency 
b. Xeriscape Education – literature, classes, and tours of Greeley’s Xeriscape 

gardens 
c. Tours of Greeley water-related facilities 
d. Teacher Training on water conservation issues for local teachers 
e. Speakers Bureau – Greeley Water speakers visit classrooms, civic clubs, and 

other groups 
f. Annual Mayor’s Water Challenge – water use reduction contest  

 
2. Water Audits 

a. Residential Indoor Water Audits 
b. Residential Outdoor Irrigation Audits  
c. Commercial Audits (Indoor and/or Outdoor) 

Page 136

Item No. 15.



 
 

 6 

d. Outdoor Irrigation Rebates – available to those that have completed an audit 
(e.g., smart irrigation controller, rotary sprinkler nozzles) 

e. Commercial Rebates – available to those that have completed an audit (e.g., 
water efficient appliances, irrigation hardware) 

3. Water Efficiency Incentive Programs 
a. Compost Bin or Discounted Rain Barrel Sale 
b. Discounted Garden in a Box Kit 
c. Free Low-Flow Showerhead Exchange 
d. High Efficiency Toilet Rebate  
e. Life After Lawn Turf Replacement Rebates  

4. Online Water Efficiency Tools 
a. Water Budget Resource 
b. WaterSmart Customer Portal 
c. Online Plant Database 
d. Greeley Water Conservation Webpage 

 
The survey was based on 45 questions, including optional demographic questions derived from 
the U.S. Census demographic questions. It was conducted using the Alchemer survey tool which 
allowed for advanced survey logic. The survey questions were derived based on past water 
conservation survey research conducted by the project team including San Diego County Water 
Authority’s 2017 Water Issues Public Opinion Poll4, Seattle Public Utilities 2006 Residential 
Water Conservation Benchmarking Survey5, and Soquel Creek Water District’s 2015 Voter 
Survey on Water Issues.6 Questions were modified to suit Greeley’s local context, priorities, and 
values. The full list of survey questions and survey logic is available in Appendix B.  
 
Over the course of two months, Greeley Water staff advertised the survey through bill stuffers, 
emails to a listserv of approximately 600 people, social media, the WaterSmart portal, the 
water conservation webpage, and other outlets (see Appendix C for bill stuffer design). To 
promote survey participation, respondents were entered into a raffle to receive gift certificates 
for local restaurants. The survey, which took participants approximately 10-15 minutes to 
complete, garnered 720 completed responses. 
 

Of note, based on the voluntary nature of this survey and the survey’s findings on program 
participation, this pool of survey respondents is likely more engaged with Greeley’s water 
conservation programming than the City of Greeley’s broader public.  While this may influence 
the survey results, importantly, the survey respondents are among Greeley’s target audience, 
as they are those that are likely to engage and respond to outreach and opportunities 
presented by the utility in the future.  
 

 
4 https://www.sdcwa.org/sites/default/files/2017%20SDCWA%20Poll%20Complete%20Report.pdf  
5 http://www.seattle.gov/Documents/Departments/SPU/Documents/2006WaterConservationSurvey.pdf  
6 https://www.soquelcreekwater.org/ArchiveCenter/ViewFile/Item/74  

Page 137

Item No. 15.

https://www.sdcwa.org/sites/default/files/2017%20SDCWA%20Poll%20Complete%20Report.pdf
http://www.seattle.gov/Documents/Departments/SPU/Documents/2006WaterConservationSurvey.pdf
https://www.soquelcreekwater.org/ArchiveCenter/ViewFile/Item/74


 
 

 7 

That being said, it is important to acknowledge that a shortcoming of this survey is that some 
segments of Greeley’s population are under-represented when compared to 2020 census data. 
Perhaps most notably, 9% of survey respondents identified as Hispanic, Latino, or of Spanish 
origin, whereas, per Greeley’s 2020 Census bureau data, 39% of the population identifies as 
Hispanic, Latino or Spanish origin. This discrepancy may be partially attributed to the fact that 
the survey was only offered in English. Additionally, 93% of survey respondents said they own 
their own homes. This suggests that renters are under-represented in this survey as – per the 
2020 census data – Greeley is only 60% owner-occupied housing units. This discrepancy is 
unsurprising given renters are likely to be less attuned to water conservation incentives that 
their landlord would be more likely eligible for, and many renters (particularly in multi-family 
housing) do not pay their own water bill. When possible, survey results described below are 
analyzed based on demographic information. Additionally, demographic program participation 
information is represented in the quantitative Spatial Trends Section of this report. Results from 
the demographic survey questions are available in Appendix D. Opportunities for better 
targeting future outreach to reach a wider cross-section of Greeley’s community is provided in 
the Recommendations section. 
  

Awareness & Importance of Greeley Water Conservation Programming 
 
Survey respondents were asked if they were aware of each of the four primary types of Greeley 
Water programs: 1) education-related programs, 2) water efficiency incentive programs, 3) 
water audits, and 4) online water efficiency tools. Respondents were most aware of the water 
efficiency incentives and least aware of the online water efficiency tools. As illustrated in Figure 
1, in order of awareness, 80% were aware of water efficiency incentive programs, 76% were 
aware of education-related programs, 70% were aware of water audits, and 55% were aware of 
online water efficiency tools. 
 

 
Figure 1. Percentage of respondents aware of four primary categories of conservation 
programming among all participants. 
 
Figure 2 indicates that across the board, survey respondents felt that Greeley’s water 
conservation programs were important, with a total of 94% of respondents reporting that the 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

Water Efficiency
Incentive Programs

Education-related
Programs

Water Audits Online Water
Efficiency Tools

Page 138

Item No. 15.



 
 

 8 

programs were important or very important. Notably, when the results were analyzed for those 
respondents that were completely unaware of Greeley’s four various conservation programs 
prior to completing the survey, the vast majority (approximately 90%) of these respondents still 
felt Greeley’s conservation programs were very important or important.  
 

 
Figure 2. Importance of Greeley’s Water Conservation Programs.  
 
These results are a strong indication that Greeley’s water conservation programs are valued 
amongst their customers and customers are largely aware of the various available programs. 
The exception to this high level of customer awareness is the online efficiency tools. There are 
benefits to continue additional outreach efforts, particularly since these education-based tools 
will practically cost the same to update and maintain regardless of how many customers utilize 
the tools. 
 

Outreach Strategies 
 
Figure 3 captures how respondents prefer to receive information about Greeley’s water 
conservation programs. Sixty-four percent (64%) indicated that they prefer email updates or 
updates through the monthly newsletter, followed by 37% that prefer bill inserts, and 30% that 
prefer the Greeley Water website. These results suggest that Greeley should continue – and 
perhaps increase – communications through email campaigns and the monthly newsletter, 
which is a relatively cost-effective and quick way to connect with customers.  
 

67%

27%

3% 1% 2%

Very important 

Important 

Neither important nor 
unimportant 

Not important at all 

Not sure 

Page 139

Item No. 15.



 
 

 9 

 
Figure 3. Preferred Contact Method for Greeley Water Conservation Information. 
 
Communication through email updates and/or the monthly e-newsletters was the most popular 
for all age brackets except ages 18-24. For the 18-24 age bracket, social media was most 
preferred. If Greeley is interested in effectively reaching this target audience, investment in 
compelling and frequent social media content could be fruitful.  
 

Participant Motivations 
 
As Figure 4 illustrates, when survey respondents were asked what would motivate them to 
participate in a Greeley water conservation program in the future, the most common response 
was to save money on water bills (85%), followed by protecting Greeley’s limited water 
resources (65%), to reduce personal use (47%), and to support community values (38%). To 
save more water than my neighbors (14%) was the least frequently reported motivational 
values.  
 

36.5

24.5
29.8

18.7 16.9

4.4 2.7

64.2

1.6

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

P
er

ce
n

t

Page 140

Item No. 15.



 
 

 10 

 
Figure 4. Motivation for participating in future water conservation programming.  
 
Participant motivations remained consistent for both respondents that were unaware of 
Greeley’s water conservation programs prior to the survey and for respondents of Hispanic, 
Latino or Spanish origin compared to other respondents.  While saving money on water bills 
was consistently the top response across all income levels, individuals in the lowest income 
bracket were next most motivated by supporting community values (60%). 
 

Additionally, Figure 5 shows that 31% of survey respondents reported that they could reduce 
both indoor and outdoor water use easily. A slightly greater percentage (39%) felt it would be 
easier to reduce the amount of water they now use for outdoor landscaping and gardening. 
Notably, only 24% of respondents felt they could neither reduce their indoor nor outdoor water 
use easily. It’s unclear from the results whether respondents felt they couldn’t reduce their 
water use because they had already taken dramatic action to do so, they simply were 
unmotivated to reduce their use, or if they faced barriers that made it challenging to reduce 

Page 141

Item No. 15.



 
 

 11 

their use (e.g. cost, expertise, labor, etc.). 

 
Figure 5. Ease of saving water indoors and outdoors. 
 

 

Past & Future Program Participation 
 
For each of the four primary categories of conservation programs (1) educational programs, 2) 
water audits, 3) water efficiency incentive programs, and 4) online water efficiency tools), 
respondents were asked: 

a. Past Participation - Which programs have you participated in over the past 5 years? 
b. Water Savings Actions - What water saving actions resulted from your program 

participation? 
c. Rating - How helpful did you find the the specific program on a scale of 1-5, with 1 

being least helpful and 5 being most helpful? 
d. Future Participation - How likely are you to participate in the program within in the next 

3 years? 
 
Survey results are summarized below and additional information on past program participation 
can be found in the quantitative analysis results section.7  

 
7 Section X summarizes results from the quantitative analysis of Greeley’s water conservation programs and 
includes some – but not all – of Greeley’s conservation programs. The quantitative analysis focuses on rebate and 
audit programs, rather than educational programing and online tools. The analysis also only includes programs 
with sufficient data that were active between 2013-2018, excluding some more recent program additions. Since 
the quantitative analysis results are not comprehensive of all Greeley conservation programs, the survey results 
can give us a comparative sense of participation levels. However, as noted above, it is clear from comparing survey 

 

Page 142

Item No. 15.



 
 

 12 

1. Educational Programs 
 

a. Past Participation 
 

Illustrated in Figure 6, the landscape lecture series (32%) and Xeriscape education (23%) were 
the most common programs for respondents to have participated in within the past five years. 
56% of respondents had not participated in any educational programs. 
 

 
Figure 6. Past Participation in Education-Related Programs.  
 

b. Water Savings Actions 
 
As Figure 7 shows, while water savings associated with educational programs can be 
challenging to quantify, when asked if respondents had taken some kind of water savings action 
after participating in an educational program, the vast majority affirmed that they had taken 
one or more actions that included, but were not limited to:  

• Changing their water use behavior in some way (57%) 

• Switching to more waterwise plants or landscaping practices (55%) 

• Updating or adjusting their irrigation system to improve water efficiency (54%) 

 
results with actual participation numbers in Section X that survey respondents were more likely to participate in 
conservation programming than Greeley’s general public. 

32.2

22.9

5.9
1.6 2.1

12

4.1

55.7

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

Landscape
Lecture Series -

free lectures
and workshops
on landscape

topics to
improve water

efficiency

Xeriscape 
Education -
literature, 

classes and 
tours of 

Greeley’s 
Xeriscape 
gardens 

Tours of
Greeley water-

related
facilities

Teacher
Training on
water and

conservation
issues for local

teachers

Speakers
Bureau -

Greeley Water
speakers visit
classrooms,

civic clubs and
other groups

Annual 
Mayor’s Water 
Conservation 
Challenge -
water use 
reduction 
contest 

Other - Write
In

None of the
above

P
er

ce
n

t

Page 143

Item No. 15.



 
 

 13 

 
Figure 7. Water saving action taken after participating in and Educational Program. 
 

c. Rating  
 

Most respondents found the education programs they participated in to be helpful or very 
helpful on a scale of 1-5 with one being the less helpful and five being very helpful.  The most 
popular programs for past participation were also the highest scoring programs, using this 
metric.  Ninety-one percent (91%) of respondents rated the Landscape Lecture Series as helpful 
or very helpful, followed by the Xeriscape Education/Tour (89%). Tours of Greeley Water 
Facilities and the Annual Mayor’s Water Challenge had slightly lower responses, with 74% and 
65% of respondents, respectively, ranking them as helpful or very helpful. Interestingly, while 
the Annual Mayor’s Water Challenge had larger participation numbers than the Tours of 
Greeley Water Facilities, it was reported as slightly less helpful than the facility tours. 
 

d.  Future Participation  
 
Consistent with the past participation results, as Figure 8 illustrates, the Landscape Lecture 
Series (57%) and Xeriscape Education (53%) were the most common programs for respondents 
to express interest in participating in within the next 3 years. Interestingly, 26% of respondents 
were also interested in tours of Greeley water-related facilities, compared to just 6% of 
respondents who had participated in tours in the past (a 20-percentage point gap). 
Comparatively, while 12% of respondents had participated in the Mayor’s Water Conservation 
Challenge in the past, only 20% of respondents expressed an interest in participating in the 
future (an 8-percentage point gap). Seventy-seven percent (77%) of all respondents were 

54.8 53.9

46.1

30.3

57.4

30

3.9 3.9

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

Switched to
more

waterwise
plants or

landscaping
practices

Updated or
adjusted my

irrigation
system in

some way to
improve

water
efficiency

Switched to
using more

water
efficient

appliances or
fixtures

Participated
in a Greeley

Water
efficiency

rebate, audit,
or other
financial
incentive

opportunity

Changed my
water usage
behavior in
some way

Began
educating

others
(students,

friends)
about the

importance
of water

conservation

No specific
action was

taken

Other - Write
In

P
er

ce
n

t

Page 144

Item No. 15.



 
 

 14 

interested in participating in future educational programs, far more than the 44% that had 
participated in any of these programs in the past, suggesting a strong amount of interest in 
exploring more education programs among survey respondents.  
 

 
 

Figure H. Participant interest in future participation in Educational Programs. 
 
Future participation results remained consistent amongst those respondents who were 
unaware of the educational programs prior to the survey. However, as one might expect, a 
greater percentage – 40% of these respondents, compared to 23% of all survey respondents – 
were not interested in participating in education programs in the future. Amongst survey 
respondents in the lowest income bracket, a slightly smaller percent was interested in the 
Landscape Lecture Series (36%) and Xeriscape Education (44%), however, respondents in this 
income bracket were slightly more interested in Tours of Greeley Water facilities (36%). 
Amongst respondents of Hispanic, Latino or Spanish origin, results were fairly consistent with 
overall survey responses, however, respondents expressed more interest in the Annual Mayor’s 
Water Challenge (28% compared to 20% for all respondents) and less interest in Xeriscape 
Education (44% compared to 53% for all respondents). 
 
 

  

Page 145

Item No. 15.



 
 

 15 

2. Water Audits 
 

a. Past Participation 
 
Figure 9 shows that of the survey respondents, 24% had participated in an outdoor irrigation 
audit, 13% had participated in an indoor water audit, and just 2% had participated in 
commercial audits. 72% of respondents had not participated in any water audit programs.  
 

 
Figure 9. Past Participation in Water Audits. 
 

b. Water Savings Action 
 
After completing a water audit, most respondents took some type of water saving action. 
Captured in Figure 10, for indoor audits, such actions included: receiving and installing a free 
low flow showerhead(s) and/or faucet aerator(s) (79%), changing their water use behavior in 
some way (59%), and upgrading an old high-water use appliances/fixture to a water efficient 
appliance/fixture (41%). For outdoor irrigation audits, captured in Figure 11, common actions 
included: adjusting their irrigation watering schedule (74%), adjusting their irrigation system to 
improve water efficiency (48%), receiving a rebate from Greeley Water to install a smart 
sprinkler controller (31%), and switching to more water wise plants or landscaping practices 
(31%). 

Page 146

Item No. 15.



 
 

 16 

  
Figure 10. Water savings actions taken as a result of indoor water audit.  
 

  
 
Figure 11. Water savings action taken as a result of outdoor water audit. 
 

c. Rating  
 

The vast majority of survey respondents who participated in a water audit found the program 
to be helpful or very helpful (i.e., scoring them a 4 or 5 on a scale of 1-5 with 5 being very 

Page 147

Item No. 15.



 
 

 17 

helpful). Residential Outdoor Irrigation Audits scored the highest (86% of respondents who 
participated ranking them as helpful or very helpful), followed closely by Commercial Audits 
(Indoor and/or Outdoor) (83%) and Residential Indoor Audits (81%). Additionally, 89% of 
respondents that received an outdoor irrigation rebate following their irrigation audit found 
that rebate to be helpful or very helpful (i.e., scoring them a 4 or 5 on a scale of 1-5).   
 

d. Future Participation 
 
Consistent with the past participation results, Figure 12 shows that the Residential Outdoor 
Irrigation Audit (45%) was the program that respondents expressed the most interest in 
participating in in the future. Forty percent (40%) of respondents were also interested in taking 
advantage of Outdoor Irrigation Rebates, available to those that have participated in a 
Residential Outdoor Irrigation Audit. Thirty-one (31%) of respondents were interested in 
participating in Residential Indoor Water Audits in the future.  
 

 
Figure 12. Participant interest in future participation in Water Audits. 
 
For those that were unaware of Greeley’s audit program prior to this survey, outdoor irrigation 
rebates (36%) and residential irrigation audits (32%) remained the most popular opportunities 
for future participation. Survey respondents in the lowest income bracket expressed less 
interest in all audits compared to higher income respondents. Whereas respondents of 
Hispanic, Latino or Spanish origin expressed slightly more interest in outdoor irrigation rebates 
(50% compared to 26% for those of non-Hispanic, Latino or Spanish origin) and more interest in 
commercial rebates (26% compared to 11% for those of non-Hispanic, Latino or Spanish origin). 
 

  

Page 148

Item No. 15.



 
 

 18 

3. Water Efficiency Incentives 

 
a. Past Participation 

 
Captured in Figure 13, the Free Low-Flow Showerhead Exchange was the most common water 
efficiency program for survey respondents to have participated in (22% of respondents), 
followed by the High Efficiency Toilet Rebate (17%), and the discounted Garden in a Box Kit 
(15%). The Showerhead Exchange and Garden in a Box program, in particular, are perhaps most 
well-utilized since they have very low barriers to entry as they are open to both homeowners 
and renters and only require having a shower or a space to grow a garden. On the other hand, 
the Life After Lawn Program was the least common for past participation (8%) perhaps due to 
the fact that this program only launched in 2020 during the COVID pandemic and requires a 
more significant investment of time and funding from the participant.  
 
 

 
Figure 13. Past participation in Water Efficiency Incentives.  
 

b. Rating  
 
The vast majority of participants – at least 84% of participants for all programs – found the 
Water Efficiency Incentive to be valuable or very valuable (indicated by rating programs a 4 
(valuable) or 5 (very valuable) on a scale of 1-5. The high efficiency toilet rebate ranked the 
highest at 94%, followed by the Garden in a Box program at 92%. The program that the most 
respondents had participated in – the Low-Flow Showerhead Exchange – was rated as slightly 
less valuable (88%).  
 

Compost Bin or
Rain Barrel Sale

Discounted
Garden in a Box

Kit

Free Low-Flow
Showerhead

Exchange

High Efficiency
Toilet Rebate

Life After Lawn
Turf Replacement

Rebates
None of the above

12.2 15.3 22.3 16.6 7.9 55.9

12.2
15.3

22.3

16.6

7.9

55.9

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

P
er

ce
n

t

Page 149

Item No. 15.



 
 

 19 

c. Future Participation 
 
Figure 14 shows that discounted Garden in a Box kits (48%) and Life After Lawn turf 
replacement rebates (39%) rose to the top as the most popular incentive opportunities for 
future participation. Free Low-Flow Showerheads were less popular (19%), perhaps due in part 
to community saturation, given the greatest percentage of survey respondents had participated 
in showerhead exchanges in the past (22%) and the perceived economic value (cost is 
approximately $20-$40). Only 19% were not interested in any efficiency incentive programs. 
  

 
Figure 14. Participant interest in future participation in Water Efficiency Incentives.  
 
For those that were unaware of efficiency incentive programs, respondents were most 
interested in high efficiency toilet rebates (38%), followed closely by compost bin and rain 
barrel sales (36%) and discounted Garden in a Box kits (36%). For respondents in the lowest 
income bracket, a larger percent (43%) expressed that they were not interested in any of the 
incentive programs, compared to 19% for all survey respondents. However, for those in the 
lowest income bracket that were interested in incentive programs, respondents expressed the 
most interest in Life After Lawn (32%) and High Efficiency Toilet Rebates (32%).   
 
For most programs, respondents of Hispanic, Latino or Spanish origin, expressed slightly more 
interest in efficiency incentives than those of non-Hispanic, Latino or Spanish origin, particularly 
the High Efficiency Toilet Rebate (52% compared to 34% for non-Hispanic, Latino or Spanish 
Origin) and the Life After Lawn program (46% compared to 39% for those of non-Hispanic, 
Latino or Spanish origin). The reverse was true for the Compost Bin and Rain Barrel Sale in 
which just 24% of respondents of Hispanic, Latino or Spanish origin were interested in 
participating in the future, versus 38% of non-Hispanic, Latino or Spanish origin respondents. 
 
 

Page 150

Item No. 15.



 
 

 20 

d. Life After Lawn Results 
 
In conversation between the Project Team and Greeley Water staff, Greeley staff expressed a 
targeted interest in potentially expanding its existing Life After Lawn Program. Thus, the survey 
included several questions specific to this program. Encouragingly, Figure 15 shows 59% of 
survey respondents said they would be “very willing” or “may consider” removing grass from 
their front yard, while only 16% said they would not consider this. Figure 16 shows that when 
asked what the primary barriers keeping them from replacing grass with low water landscaping 
were, the most common responses were cost (62%) and physical labor involved (52%), both 
barriers that can be mitigated, in part, through expanded Life After Lawn Program funding 
opportunities. 
 
Interestingly, 28 individual respondents wrote-in under the “Other” category that HOA rules 
and restrictions were their biggest barrier to replacing some or all of their grass. In Colorado, as 
of 2021, HB 21-1229 increases protections for property owners in HOA-guided communities 
and does not allow for HOAs to mandate turf grass or prohibit water wise landscaping.8 It’s 
most likely that these respondents were not aware of this policy change and it may be fruitful 
for Greeley Water to conduct a targeted outreach campaign to both homeowners and HOA 
governing bodies to update them on this change.  
 

 
Figure 15. Participant willingness to remove grass from their front yard. 
 

 
8 https://leg.colorado.gov/bills/hb21-1229  

27%

32%
16%

10%

2% 13%

Very willing 

May consider 

Would not 
consider 
Already converted 
yard 
Don’t have a yard 

Don’t know / Not 
sure 

Page 151

Item No. 15.

https://leg.colorado.gov/bills/hb21-1229


 
 

 21 

 
Figure 16. Primary barriers to replacing turf. 

  

62.1

51.6

29.3

38.5

31.8

10.9

3.6 3.6

18.1

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

P
er

ce
n

t

Page 152

Item No. 15.



 
 

 22 

4.Online Water Efficiency Tools  
 

a. Past Utilization 
 

Figure 17 shows that of those respondents that had used Greeley’s online tools, Greeley’s 
Water Conservation webpage was most common (26%) followed by the Online Plant Database 
(20%). The Water Budget Portal (15%) and WaterSmart Customer Portal (11%) were less 
commonly used. 59% of respondents had not used any of Greeley Water’s online tools.  
 

 
Figure 17. Past Utilization of Greeley Water Online Water Efficiency Tools. 
 
b. Rating 
 
The majority of respondents who had used Greeley’s Online Water Efficiency Tools found them 
to be helpful or very helpful (i.e., scoring them a 4 or 5 on a scale of 1-5). The Online Plant 
Database scored the highest (92%), followed by the Water Conservation Webpage (86%), the 
WaterSmart Customer Portal (76%) and the Water Budget Portal (76%).  
 
c. Motivation for using WaterSmart Portal 
 
 
The WaterSmart Portal was of particular interest to Greeley staff as this is a relatively new tool 
and staff have been conducting a significant outreach effort around the tool. Thus, an 

Page 153

Item No. 15.



 
 

 23 

additional question was asked to determine why respondents were utilizing the WaterSmart 
Portal. Of those that utilized the customer portal, most respondents used it to learn more 
about their water use (73%) and to find out what the water budget was and better understand 
the portal (71%).  
 
d. Future Utilization 
 
Unlike past participation results, Figure 18 illustrates that respondents were most interested in 
using the Online Plant Database in the future (53%) compared to the Water Budget Portal 
(44%), WaterSMART Customer Portal (43.3%), and Water Conservation Webpage (42%). The 
results remained consistent for respondents that were unaware of Greeley’s Online Water 
Efficiency Tools prior to the survey, with the largest percentage interested in using the Online 
Plant Database (44%). Since the Online Plant Database, in particular, was less likely to have 
been used in the past, these results suggest that participants may be more interested in 
utilizing this resource once they are reminded of it or made aware of it.  
 

 
Figure 18. Participant interest in future participation in Online Efficiency Tools.  
 
Compared to other income brackets, the lowest income bracket was most interested in 
Greeley’s Water Conservation Webpage (57% compared to 42% for all survey respondents). 
Respondents of Hispanic, Latino or Spanish origin were more interested in the Water Budget 
Portal (59% compared to 43% of those of non-Hispanic, Latino or Spanish origin) and the 
WaterSMART customer portal (56% compared to 43% of those of non-Hispanic, Latino or 
Spanish origin). Those of Hispanic, Latino, or Spanish origin were less interested in using the 

Page 154

Item No. 15.



 
 

 24 

Online Plant Database (43% compared to 54% of those of non-Hispanic, Latino or Spanish 
origin). 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Page 155

Item No. 15.



 
 

 25 

Key Findings from the Customer Survey 
 

Importance & Effectiveness of Conservation Programming  
Survey results demonstrate that Greeley’s Water Conservation Program is popular, impactful, 
and highly valued. Overwhelmingly, survey respondents found Greeley’s Water Conservation 
program to be important, with 94% reporting that the programs are important or very 
important. This finding is perhaps even better exemplified by the numerous respondents that 
chose to write-in on the survey with positive feedback on the various programs. For example, 
one respondent said, “I’m impressed by the efforts the water education program is making and 
their foresight given our growing population in a dry climate. Programs are very accessible for 
residents.” Another wrote, “Please continue to offer these types of programs. Conserving water 
is critical here in the West.”  Still another noted, “It does not matter how many times I interact 
with a Greeley water official. They are always very informative and willing to help.” In fact, 
several Greeley Water Conservation staff members were even mentioned by name in these 
positive comments. 
 
Across the board, the survey results indicate a strong degree of awareness of, interest in, 
participation in, and value derived from Greeley’s current portfolio of Water Conservation 
Programs, as demonstrated in the analysis below. Compared to those that had participated in 
programming in the past, for almost all programs the percentages increased when asked 
whether respondents wanted to participate in programming in the future.  
 
Outreach Strategies 
Greeley Water can most effectively reach their customers with conservation opportunities 
through email updates and the monthly newsletter, bill inserts, and the Greeley Water website. 
It should be noted that for younger demographics, ages 18-24, investment in compelling and 
frequent social media content could be fruitful. Messages that may resonate with Greeley 
Water customers, based on survey participants water conservation motivations, include: saving 
money on water bills, protecting Greeley’s limited water resources, reducing personal use, 
paying for a fixture or appliance, and supporting community values.  
 

Educational Programs 
The Landscape Lecture Series and Xeriscape Education were consistently the most common 
programs for respondents to have participated in the past, the programs that were rated as 
most helpful and the most common programs for respondents to be interested in participating 
in within the next 3 years. Interestingly, there was a strong increase in interest for future 
participation in tours of Greeley Water Facilities, compared to those that had participated in 
the past (26% compared to 6%). And respondents in the lowest income bracket were slightly 
more interested in these tours than other income brackets (36% compared to 26%). The Annual 
Mayor’s Water Challenge, on the other hand, scored the lowest of the Educational Programs on 
interest in future participation and the rating of how helpful the program was for those that 

Page 156

Item No. 15.



 
 

 26 

had participated in the past. Respondents of Hispanic, Latino or Spanish origin expressed 
greater interest in the Mayor’s Water Challenge than those of non-Hispanic, Latino, or Spanish 
origin (28% compared to 20%).  
 
While the water savings benefits associated with educational programs can be challenging to 
quantify, the vast majority of respondents affirmed that they had taken some kind of water 
savings action as a result of participating in an educational program, including switching to 
more waterwise plants or landscaping practices and updating or adjusting their irrigation 
system to improve water efficiency, among other actions. 
 
The Educational Program results suggest that Greeley Water should prioritize – and perhaps 
even expand – its Landscape Lecture Series and Xeriscape Education offerings. There’s also a 
strong interest in participation in tours of Greeley Water facilities. The Annual Mayor’s Water 
Challenge was slightly less popular. However, given the relatively low cost of participation in 
the program by the City and Greeley’s history of scoring consistent high for resident 
participation compared to other cities in the region, it is likely worthwhile to continue this 
annual tradition.  
 

Water Audits 
The Residential Outdoor Irrigation Audit was consistently the most common program for 
respondents to have participated in in the past, the program that was rated as most helpful and 
the most common program for respondents to be interested in participating in within the next 
3 years (45%). The Outdoor Irrigation Rebates, available to those that have participated in an 
Outdoor Irrigation Audit, were also widely of interest to respondents for future participation 
(40%). Respondents of Hispanic, Latino or Spanish origin, in particular, expressed slightly more 
interest in Outdoor Irrigation Rebates than those of non-Hispanic, Latino or Spanish origin (50% 
and 40%, respectively).  
 
Residential indoor audits were reported as less popular, though 31% of respondents were still 
interested in participating in the future. Notably, since this survey was administered, Greeley 
Water has seen a significant increase in sign-ups for Residential Indoor Audits related to the 
City’s roll-out of Advanced Metering Infrastructure and leak detection notifications.  
 
Commercial Audits and Rebates were more challenging to compare in this survey as 96% of 
respondents identified as Greeley residents and only 4% identified as Greeley 
business/commercial customers. Thus, the relatively low Commercial Audit program interest is 
directly correlated to the low number of overall commercial customers that participated in the 
survey. 
 
Across the board, the majority of past water audit participants reported that they had taken 
some kind of water saving action as a result of the audit (e.g. receiving and installing a low flow 
showerhead and/or faucet aerator or adjusting their irrigation watering schedule).  Based on 

Page 157

Item No. 15.



 
 

 27 

these findings, Greeley Water should continue to prioritize its Residential Outdoor Irrigation 
Audit program and associated Irrigation Rebates. The results do not suggest that the City should 
discontinue any of its water audit offerings at this time. 
 

Water Efficiency Incentives 
While the Free Low Flow Showerhead Exchange was the most common program for 
respondents to have participated in within the last five years (22%), discounted Garden in a Box 
kits (48%) and Life After Lawn turf replacement rebates (39%) rose to the top as the most 
popular incentive opportunities for future participation. The Free Low Flow Showerheads were 
reported as the least popular for future participation (19%). The vast majority of past 
participants found all programs to be very valuable (at least 84%), however the high efficiency 
toilet rebate ranked the highest (94%) followed by the Garden in a Box program (92%).  
 
Respondents that were unaware of efficiency incentive programs prior to taking the survey 
expressed more interest in high efficiency toilet rebates (38%), followed closely by compost bin 
and rain barrel sales (36%) and discounted Garden in a Box kits (36%). Respondents in the 
lowest income bracket, expressed the most interest in Life After Lawn (32%) and High Efficiency 
Toilet Rebates (32%). And those of Hispanic, Latino or Spanish origin, expressed slightly more 
interest in efficiency incentives than those of non-Hispanic, Latino or Spanish origin, particularly 
the High Efficiency Toilet Rebate (52%) and the Life After Lawn program (46%).  
 
The majority of respondents (59%) also expressed a willingness to replace all or some of their 
lawns with water efficient landscaping and indicated that cost and physical labor were the 
primary barriers keeping them from taking this step. One could expect that participation in the 
Life After Lawn Program and Garden in a Box Program would help to negate these barriers. 
 
The results suggest that the Life After Lawn program, the Garden in a Box program, and the 
High Efficiency Toilet Rebate program (due to its interest among the lowest income bracket and 
those unaware of conservation programming) should be prioritized by Greeley Water moving 
forward. Greeley Water may wish to assess participation at upcoming events in its Low Flow 
Showerhead Exchange Program to determine, as this survey suggests, whether this program 
may has reached community saturation at this time. Still, the Low Flow Showerhead Exchange 
Program is one of the more accessible programs to all Greeley residents, including renters, and 
can readily be “coupled” with other conservation program offerings (e.g. giveaways at a 
Landscape Lecture Series).  
 

Online Water Efficiency Tools 
Of the four main categories of programming, respondents were least aware of the Online 
Water Efficiency Tools compared to other programming categories, suggesting a potential 
benefit of increased outreach and communication efforts around these specific tools. The 
Online Plant Database, however, scored consistently high for respondents that had used the 

Page 158

Item No. 15.



 
 

 28 

tool in the past (20%), were interested in using it in the future (53%) and found the tool to be 
helpful or very helpful (92%).  
 
Compared to other income brackets, respondents in the lowest income bracket were most 
interested in Greeley’s Water Conservation webpage (57%). Respondents of Hispanic, Latino or 
Spanish origin were more interested than those of non-Hispanic, Latino and Spanish origin in 
the Water Budget Portal (59%) and the WaterSmart customer portal (56%).  
 
The results do not suggest that any of Greeley’s Online Water Efficiency Tools should be 
discontinued, however, should limited capacity and resources exist for tool updates, it may be 
most beneficial to prioritize the Online Plant Database. Outreach and communication efforts 
should expand, to the extent possible, for all the online tools. 
 

Future Water Conservation Programming Opportunities 
Some respondents also chose to write-in recommendations for additions or modifications to 
Greeley Water Conservation programming. Some common themes included: 

• Expand the Life After Lawn program to provide financial incentives for back yards, not 
just front yards. 

• Provide graywater kits. 

• Encourage and provide rebates for residents to do more mulching.  

• Provide brochures on various water conservation programming to real estate agents. 

• Provide yards signs to individuals participating in Outdoor Irrigation Audits and Life After 
Lawn. 

 

Considerations for Future Surveys 
Greeley’s Water Conservation Program should endeavor to complete a Water Conservation 
Customer Survey every 5-7 years to stay in informed on customers’ values and interests, and to 
analyze trends and changes in respondent answers over time. To the extent feasible, the 
majority of the questions should remain fairly consistent between surveys to demonstrate any 
changes or trends over time. However, questions will likely be adjusted based on changes to 
the Water Conservation Program Portfolio and Greeley Water priorities.  
 
Without asking specific questions on new programming or recommendations, this survey 
garnered a number of written responses with suggestions for updates to Greeley’s Water 
Conservation Program portfolio. Because of this, in the future, Greeley may also consider 
adding questions about potential conservation programs under consideration by the City. For 
example, if the City adopted a graywater ordinance and wanted to consider providing free 
Laundry-to-Landscape parts kits, they could ask respondents about their interest in this 
program and what resources they would need to make their participation feasible.  
 

Page 159

Item No. 15.



 
 

 29 

Additionally, while the survey garnered 720 completed responses, it also had a 21% 
abandonment rate (meaning 191 additional people started the survey and did not complete it). 
This abandonment rate is typical for longer questionnaires and since respondents did not drop-
off at a particular question or questions, we can deduce that the drop-offs were not due to 
survey design or technical issues and instead were primarily due to survey length.9 Survey 
abandonment both reduces a survey’s sample size for analysis and can result in a less 
representative sample. While the project team was aware of the abandonment challenges of a 
longer survey from the outset, it was determined that asking all questions in this initial survey 
would be important to determining what data might be most significant. Given the outcomes of 
the survey, the project team would like to make the following recommendations for scaling-
back this survey in future iterations: 

• Remove awareness questions – Respondents were asked at the beginning of the survey 
which specific Greeley Water Conservation program they were “aware of” prior to 
completing the survey. These questions were primarily included in order to analyze 
results alongside interest in future programming (i.e. of those customers that Greeley 
Water hasn’t effectively been reaching, how many are now interested in participating in 
a given program in the future once they’re made aware of that program). However, in 
almost all cases, the future participation results remained consistent between those 
that were aware of the program prior to the survey, and those that weren’t. 

• Remove most written response boxes – Past participants of the four main categories of 
conservation programs were provided an optional write-in box to share more about 
their participation. While many respondents took advantage of providing feedback and 
positive comments, a single write-in box for additional comments at the end of the 
survey would likely be sufficient to garner these responses while moving respondents 
more quickly through the survey.  

• Remove Life After Lawn Questions – Specific Life After Lawn questions were included in 
the survey since this is a new Greeley Water Program and thus, more limited 
information would be gathered under the past participation and awareness results. 
While the findings may support program outreach efforts, the specific questions will 
likely not need to be included in future surveys as sufficient information will be gleaned 
from responses related to future participation. 

 
Finally, given the City’s interest in connecting with Hard-to-Reach populations, Greeley should 
consider translating the survey, and associated outreach materials, into Spanish and offering 
the survey bilingually.10 If this approach is taken, the City could analyze results based on those 

 
9 Industry research shows that on average 15% will abandon a survey at 10 minutes and 20% will abandon at 60 
questions: https://issuu.com/marymala/docs/survey_abandonment_rates  
10 According to the National Library of Medicine, “Hard-to-Reach is a term used to describe those sub-groups of the 
population that are difficult to reach or involve in research or public health program due to their physical and 
geographical location . . . or their social and economic situation”: 
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3963617/#:~:text=Introduction-
,'Hard%2Dto%2Dreach'%20is%20a%20term%20used%20to,and%20economic%20situation%20%5B1%5D.  

Page 160

Item No. 15.

https://issuu.com/marymala/docs/survey_abandonment_rates
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3963617/#:~:text=Introduction-,'Hard%2Dto%2Dreach'%20is%20a%20term%20used%20to,and%20economic%20situation%20%5B1%5D
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3963617/#:~:text=Introduction-,'Hard%2Dto%2Dreach'%20is%20a%20term%20used%20to,and%20economic%20situation%20%5B1%5D


 
 

 30 

that participated in the survey in Spanish and determine which, if any, Water Conservation 
Programming might be most impactful to offer bilingually. 
 

Survey Conclusion  
The City of Greeley should be very proud of its efforts to build an extensive and valuable Water 
Conservation Program. The customer survey results will allow the City to expand on the success 
of its existing program and further hone in on how to reach their target audience. The survey 
results should be considered in unison with the quantitative analysis sections described below. 
 
  

Page 161

Item No. 15.



 
 

 31 

Quantitative Analysis of Greeley’s Water Conservation Programs 
 

To complement the information gathered on Greeley’s Water Conservation Programs directly 
from participants though the survey, this project also analyzed geographic trends in 
participation among participants and quantified the water savings that resulted from 
participation in these programs. The following sections describe each of these approaches in 
greater detail.  
 

Spatial Trends in Water Conservation Program Participation  
 
This analysis used the 2019 U.S. Census Bureau’s American Community Survey (ACS) data,11 
combined with data tracking participation in Greeley’s water conservation programs, to explore 
if and how participation varies according to demographic characteristics, such as community 
members’ preferred language, identification as Hispanic or Latino by race and/or by origin, 
home ownership status, median household income, and internet access, among other 
characteristics. The goal of this analysis is to identify any trends or patterns in participation that 
could help to inform future outreach.  
 
Participation in Greeley’s water conservation programs was compared to key demographic data 
from the US Census Bureau’s American Community Survey (ACS) dataset. For more details and 
descriptions of each data source included in this analysis, please see Appendix E.   
 
This data was analyzed at the block group scale. Block groups are statistical divisions of census 
tracts, generally defined to contain between 600 and 3,000 people.12 Block groups are the 
smallest geographical unit for which the US Census Bureau publishes sample data (data which is 
sampled from a portion of all households, rather than collected for each household). The 
analysis used block groups since they represented the most recent and most granular census 
data available at the time of the analysis.   
 

 
11 The American Community Service (ACS) data reflects information gathered annually by the U.S. Census Bureau. 
The Bureau poses questions to randomly sampled addresses each year, and then uses this information to calculate 
community demographic information. This ACS data complements the Decennial Census the Bureau conducts 
every 10 years, which seeks responses from every resident. For information, see: 
https://www.census.gov/programs-surveys/acs/about.html.  
12 U.S. Census Bureau. (2021). “Glossary.” Available: https://www.census.gov/programs-
surveys/geography/about/glossary.html#par_textimage_4.  

Page 162

Item No. 15.

https://www.census.gov/programs-surveys/geography/about/glossary.html#par_textimage_4
https://www.census.gov/programs-surveys/geography/about/glossary.html#par_textimage_4


 
 

 32 

 
Figure 19. Greeley Water Conservation Program participation from 2013-2020.  
 
As Figure 19 illustrates, participation in Greeley’s water conservation programs is densest in the 
center of the City, and sparser in the outer sections of Greely’s service area, in the southwest 
quadrant of the city’s center, and in the northeast quadrant of the city’s center.  
 
Figures 20 and 21 compare these geographic patterns in participation with different 
demographic characteristics. In the northeast and southwest quadrants of the City’s center, 
areas of sparser water conservation program participation are also areas with higher 
percentages of renter-occupied housing; with lower household income; and (particularly in the 
northeast section of the city’s center) with high percentages of residents speaking Spanish, 
Asian American or Pacific Islander (AAPI) languages, or Indo-European languages.  
 
Around the perimeter of Greeley’s service area, water conservation program participation is 
also sparser, in part reflecting a lower population density in these areas of the City. New builds 
typically occur in the perimeter of the City, and are therefore likely to be water efficient 
indoors; however, there may still be opportunities for these customers to reduce their water 
use further, particularly through outdoor water conservation. These perimeter areas also differ 
somewhat in their demographics, as they represent areas with greater median household 

Page 163

Item No. 15.



 
 

 33 

income; lower percentages of residents speaking Spanish, an AAPI, or Indo-European language. 
The percentage of renter-occupied housing is these neighborhoods is lower overall, though it 
varies by block group. In general, the northern edge of the service area has larger percentages 
of renter-occupied housing, and the southwest corner of the service area has lower 
percentages of renter-occupied housing.  
 
These demographic trends suggest that strategies for increasing participation within the City’s 
core might require strategies such as language translation (e.g., through partnerships with local 
community groups or non-profit organizations) and a particular emphasis on programs that 
renters are eligible to participate in. In-person events may be especially helpful, providing the 
opportunity for in-person translation to occur in a face-to-face setting and avoiding the need 
for Internet access, which may be lower in areas with lower median incomes. Engaging the 
outer perimeter of the city, in contrast, might be most effectively done through other forms of 
outreach, such as direct mail, bill inserts, or email outreach, that target participants spread 
across a wider area. This outreach might also highlight programs aimed at both renters and 
homeowners and include a focus on outdoor water use (reflecting the fact that outdoor water 
use may be higher in higher income, more sparsely populated areas).   
 

 

Page 164

Item No. 15.



 
 

 34 

Figure 20. Greeley Water Conservation Program participation (top left), compared with 
population density, percentage of renter-occupied housing, and median household income for 
US Census block groups in Greeley’s service area.  
 
Unsurprisingly, many trends in these demographic characteristics correspond with each other. 
For instance, areas with lower median income often have higher percentages of renter-
occupied housing. The trends in residents speaking languages other than English also offer 
some interesting points of comparison. Spanish is the language, aside from English, that is most 
commonly spoken in Greeley, ranging from 3-76% of residents in a block group, compared to a 
maximum of 10% of residents in a block group speaking an AAPI language, and a maximum of 
8% speaking an Indo-European language. Figure 22 shows the neighborhoods with the highest 
percentages of each language spoken across the City. Many neighborhoods have distinct 
languages that are especially prominent, but the neighborhood shown in orange, in the City’s 
northwest corner, has high percentages of residents speaking all three languages, suggesting 
that approaches that provide translation or engagement in a number of different languages 
might be most effective here.  
 
As Figures 22 and 23 illustrate, participation in water conservation programs is lower in 
neighborhoods where more residents speak Spanish. However, it’s important to note that 
water conservation program participation is not low in all neighborhoods with high percentages 
of Spanish-speaking residents. For instance, water conservation participation is fairly high in the 
southern-most dark green neighborhood (showing large percentages of Spanish speakers) in 
Figure 22. Understanding what contributed to higher levels of participation here could offer 
insights into strategies that could be replicated in demographically similar neighborhoods.  

Page 165

Item No. 15.



 
 

 35 

 
Figure 21. Greeley Water Conservation Program participation (top left, shown in terms of 
population density), compared with percentage of Spanish, Asian American and Pacific Islander, 
and Indo-European speakers for US Census block groups in Greeley’s service area.  

Page 166

Item No. 15.



 
 

 36 

 
Figure 22. This map shows the block groups or neighborhoods with the largest concentrations 
of residents speaking languages other than English, including Asian American and Pacific 
Islander (AAPI) Languages (shown in blue), Indo-European Languages (shown in yellow), and 
Spanish (shown in green). The legend indicates what percentage of residents in block group 
speak each language. The orange neighborhood has high percentages of residents speaking 
each of these languages.   

Page 167

Item No. 15.



 
 

 37 

 
Figure 23. Greeley Water Conservation Program participation compared with the percentage of 
Spanish speakers with limited English in a US Census block group.  
 

Water Use Change Resulting from Water Conservation Programs  
 
In addition to analyzing geographic trends, this project analyzed the water use change resulting 
from participation in a subset Greeley’s water conservation programs, focusing in particular on 
incentive and audit programs. Measuring the water efficiencies resulting from participation in 
one of Greeley’s water conservation program sheds light on the return on investment in these 
programs and provides relevant business impact metrics. Also through this analysis, customers’ 
participation in each water conservation program is tracked over time.  
 

Table 1 captures the water programs included in this analysis. The programs included in the 
water savings analysis were limited to programs that had at least 50 participants with sufficient 
data to calculate the change in water use resulting from their participation in this program (for 
more details about this approach, see the following Methodology section). 
 
 

Page 168

Item No. 15.



 
 

 38 

Program Participation 
Analysis 

Water Savings 
Analysis 

Life After Lawn (formally Cash for Grass)   

Commercial Audits (Indoor + Outdoor)   
ET Sensor Rebate   

Front Loading Washer Rebate   
Irrigation Controller Rebate   

PRV Rebate   
Residential Audits (Indoor + Outdoor)    
Rotary Nozzles Rebate   
Showerhead Exchange   

Smart Controller Rebate   
Spray Head Sprinkler Exchange   

Toilet Rebates   
 
Table 1. A list of programs included in this report’s analysis of participation trends and water 
use changes. See Appendix G for more detailed descriptions of each program. 
 
The methodology followed approaches from other Colorado municipalities on water efficiency 
program studies. To better understand the methodology used in conducting these water 
efficiency program analyses, interviews with other Colorado agencies were conducted, and 
reviewed materials and reports from similar studies. A review of the key findings from this 
research and these conversations is provided in the Appendix F.  
 

Methodology  
 
In consultation with Greeley, WaterNow and WRA focused a subset of Greeley’s water 
conservation programs, which were primarily audit and rebate programs. Please see Appendix 
G for more detailed descriptions of each program.  
 
This study covers participation in water efficiency programs during the years 2013-2018. Given 
the unusual factors such as the COVID19 pandemic and stay-at-home orders, 2020 water use is 
not included in these calculations. The water use change for participation in programs during 
2018 is analyzed using only 2019 water use data.  
 
The first step conducted was to calculate the change in annual water use resulting from a 
customer account’s participation in a water conservation program. To do this, we compared 
customers’ average annual water use pre- and post- participation in a water conservation 
program. Within the excel spreadsheet “Greeley Water Efficiency Programs_Water Savings 
Analysis,” water consumption comparisons of pre- and post- participation were based on two-
year averages. For example, if a water audit was conducted in 2016, the average from 2014 and 

Page 169

Item No. 15.



 
 

 39 

2015 consumption was compared to 2017 and 2018 water consumption. This average annual 
water savings was then applied to each year a customer was active in a program (e.g., if a 
customer participated in a program 2014, we applied the average annual water savings to the 
years 2014-2018). For some programs, specifically the Commercial and Residential Audits, we 
applied a five-year limit on water savings and a 20% annual discount on savings, based on the 
literature review reflected in the AWE Water Conservation Tracking Tool.13 This same tool 
indicated lifetime savings for other programs that went beyond the six years included in this 
analysis (see Appendix H for more details).  
 
This approach was applied to programs, focusing on a customer’s indoor and/or outdoor water 
use depending on the type of water use addressed by the program. Indoor water use was 
determined as the total water use during the months of January, February March, November, 
and December. Outdoor water use was defined as water use during the months of April 
through October, that was greater than the average indoor water use for that year. Outdoor 
water consumption was normalized for changing weather conditions using Greeley’s annual 
Irrigation Water Requirement (IWR). A more detailed description of this methodology is 
included in Appendix F.  
 
Customer accounts were filtered if sufficient data were present and if participation in a 
program was greater than 50 accounts. For example, the Spray Head Sprinkler Exchange was 
removed from the analysis because there were only 6 past participants in this program 
between 2013-2018. The cost of each program reflects both the cost of equipment and rebate, 
in addition to an estimated cost for the staff time needed to implement the program (see 
Appendix G for more details on cost calculations).  
 
While many other methodologies could also provide helpful insight into the change in water 
use resulting from water conservation program participation, this approach was determined to 
be the best match for Greeley’s existing data and data format. 
 

Results and Discussion  
 

Water Use Change 
 
Results are represented in Table 2 and compared to literature and the Alliance for Water 
Efficiency’s Water Conservation Tracking Tool’s model default values.  
 

 
13 The AWE Water Conservation Tracking Tool is an Excel-based spreadsheet tool for evaluating the water savings, 
costs, and benefits of urban water conservation programs and for projecting future water demands. The tool 
includes a review of literature assessing the anticipated average water savings, savings duration, and annual 
savings decay rate of a different conservation programs. See:  Alliance for Water Efficiency (AWE). Water 
Conservation Tracking Tool. Available: https://www.allianceforwaterefficiency.org/resources/topic/water-
conservation-tracking-tool. 

Page 170

Item No. 15.



 
 

 40 

While each program shown in Table 2 generated water savings during the 2013-2018 time 
period, the amount of savings varies significantly across different programs. Three programs 
resulted in especially large savings for the period of the study: the Residential Audit (19.5 
AF/year), the Front Loading Washing Rebate (17.1 AF/year), and the Toilet Rebates (14.7 
AF/year). The programs with the largest water savings reflect high levels of interest and 
participation in these programs, in addition to the water savings generated by these 
interventions. Water savings were also generated by the following water conservation 
programs: Smart Controller Rebates (4.3 AF/year); the Pressure Reducing Valve (PRV) Rebate 
and Rotary Nozzles Rebate (3.2 AF/year) and the Commercial Audits (2.9 AF/year). 
 
Programs’ overall water savings are heavily influenced by the number of customers who 
participate in a program. The Front Loading Washer Rebate, for instance, has both high total 
savings and high levels of water savings per customer account. The Smart Controller Rebate, 
PRV Rebate, and Rotary Nozzles Rebates have comparatively lower levels of total participation, 
but a high level of water savings for each participating account. In other words, despite their 
low cumulative savings, it may be worth maintaining or exploring the additional demand for 
these programs – to determine if additional outreach could grow participation and expand the 
programs’ overall water savings beyond individual customers’ water savings.  Additionally, an 
important consideration is that the number of participants included in this analysis is lower 
than the total number of program participants in Greeley’s water conservation programs. Many 
participants simply did not have sufficient water use data to be included in the calculations. 
Using a conservative approach, if a conservation program had less than 50 customer accounts 
with sufficient data, those accounts were excluded from the final calculations. Bear in mind, 
their inclusion would also increase the total AF of water saved through conservation programs. 
 
In terms of the return on investment (ROI) or the cost invested for each AF of water a program 
saves, all individual water conservation cost less than $625 per acre-foot. The Front Loading 
Washer Rebate is cheapest ($181 per AF), followed closely by the PRV Rebate ($188/AF), and 
the Rotary Nozzles Rebate ($190/AF). Commercial Audits ($285/AF) and Residential Audits 
($341/AF), along with the Smart Controller Rebate ($403/AF) make up the middle of the pack. 
The Toilet Rebates ($625/AF) are the most expensive program. The analysis defined costs as the 
raw cost of providing a rebate in addition to the staff time needed to review a rebate or 
administer an audit. Additional costs – such as the cost to advertise or create programs – are 
not reflected in this analysis.    
 

Please note it is not recommended to simply sum the total saved water from all programs. For a 
single customer account, there may have been times when the account participated in multiple 
programs; combining water savings values would lead to potential double-counting. A 
summation approach does give a rough estimate of the approximate savings across the 
selected programs, which is roughly 65 acre-feet per year, or 389 acre-feet between 2013-2018. 
Dividing the total cost of the included programs by the water savings realized by their 
participants estimates a cost per acre foot of $1,350 per AF. Water conservation programs far 

Page 171

Item No. 15.



 
 

 41 

exceed the cost per acre foot when compared to water right acquisitions from the Colorado 
Big-Thompson Project (estimated to be $62,500 per share as of July 2020, according to the 
Loveland Reporter-Herald).14 While the savings from water conservation do not continue into 
perpetuity, many have a fairly long expected lifetime of savings, ranging from 5 years (for audit 
programs) to 25 years (for toilet rebates). For a more detailed description of the estimated 
duration of each program’s water savings, see Appendix H.  

To ensure Greeley’s estimated water savings were reasonable, the results were compared to 
published values found in the AWE Water Conservation Tracking Tool (see Appendix H). For 
most programs, the results are similar. The most notable exceptions are the Commercial and 
Residential Audit programs, where the values found through the analysis are lower that what 
would be expected based on the AWE model default values. However, participation in audits 
includes a wide range of variables, such as individual behavior change and different weather 
conditions. For example, even while normalizing for weather by using IWR, conditions may still 
affect resident’s behavior and attitudes towards water use. For the Commercial Audit program, 
it is also possible that participants are overall using water more efficiently, but the water 
demand is higher because their business grew. Participation in these audits is an educational 
opportunity which may also lead to participation in other rebates, playing a role in generating 
the larger individual savings seen in some of the other programs.  
 

Conservation 
Program* 

Number of 
Accounts 

Annual 
Water 
Savings 
(AF) 

Annual ROI 
($/AF/Year) 

Estimated 
Annual Savings 
Per Account 
(Gallons/Year) 

Residential 
Audits (Indoor 
+ Outdoor) 

1294 19.5 $341 4,903 

Front Loading 
Washer Rebate 

994 17.1 $181 33,714 

Toilet Rebates 756 14.7 $625 6,271 

Smart 
Controller 
Rebate 

132 4.3 $403 10,682 

PRV Rebate 149 3.2 $188 7,093 

Rotary Nozzles 
Rebate  

147 3.2 $190 7,013 

Commercial 
Audits (Indoor 
+ Outdoor) 

182 2.9 $285 5,118 

 
14 Amundson, Ken. (17 June 2020). “NoCo Real Estate Summit: Water drives home prices, but can be controlled.” 
Loveland Reporter-Herald. https://www.reporterherald.com/2020/06/17/noco-real-estate-summit-water-drives-
home-prices-but-can-be-controlled/.  

Page 172

Item No. 15.

https://www.reporterherald.com/2020/06/17/noco-real-estate-summit-water-drives-home-prices-but-can-be-controlled/
https://www.reporterherald.com/2020/06/17/noco-real-estate-summit-water-drives-home-prices-but-can-be-controlled/


 
 

 42 

*For Residential and Commercial Audits, participants could select either or both the indoor and outdoor audits.  
** The Toilet Rebate program encompasses the 0.8 GPF Toilet, Dual Flush Toilets, Low Flow Toilet, and Ultra Low 
Flow Toilet programs. See Appendix G for more details about these programs.  
***Only accounts with sufficient water use data were included in these calculations, and only programs with at 
least 50 participants with sufficient water use data are presented in this table. 

Table 2. Estimated water savings achieved by selected water conservation programs. Study 
period from 2013-2018. 

 

Participation in Water Conservation Programs 
 
Total program participation from 2013-2018 is shown in Figures 24-26. During the study’s time 
period, there is a noted rate of decay along with a period of stabilization in the total 
participation. This fluctuation may have occurred based on multiple independent factors, 
including the following: 

1. Weather conductions: the 2012 drought may have caused an increase in participation in 
Water Conservation Programs that waned over time.  

2. Marketing campaigns: outreach can spark interest that fades over time.  
3. Staffing levels: Greeley’s ability to conduct audits is dependent on staffing levels, which 

have fluctuated over the years. 
4. Change in programs: Program fluctuation is a key component of participation. For 

instance, if a new program is initiated there may be a surge in participation or a sense of 
urgency to alter behaviors.    

5. Rates: Increasing rates may affect program participation; similarly, as customers take 
control of their own water budgets, their behavior and interest in conservation 
programs may change. 

6. Natural saturation: Programs focused on fixtures and appliance will have a saturation 
period.   

7. Local, state, or federal changes: Regulatory changes have occurred, and have focused on 
limiting water use for fixtures and appliances. As a result, new builds within a 
community naturally would have more water efficient products.  

 
Figure 26 breaks down the program participation according to each program during the study 
period. The highest total participation was in the Residential Audit Program (1,670), followed by 
the Front-loading Washer Rebate (1,050), and Toilet Rebates (770). These programs are 
followed by the Showerhead Exchange and Commercial Audit Programs (220 each), the PRV 
Rebate (175), and the Rotary Nozzles Rebate (160), the Smart Controller Rebate (140), the ET 
Sensor Rebate (55), and the Irrigation Controller Rebate (15).15 Note the Cash for Grass 
program, now referred to Life After Lawn, started as a pilot project in 2018. The relatively low 
participation in Cash for Grass (7 participants in 2018) reflects the earlier stage of the pilot 
project. Participation in the Spray Head Sprinkler Exchange Program started off very low, with 

 
15 The Smart Controller Rebate Program included the installation of these devices by Greeley Water Conservation 
Specialists; the Irrigation Controller Rebate was installed by participating customers.  

Page 173

Item No. 15.



 
 

 43 

just 6 participants in the program when it was getting started during 2016-2018, but increased 
significantly in 2019, jumping to over 50 participants.    
 
The trends in participation within each program can shed light on future outreach and 
engagement decisions. Other independent factors as mentioned above (such as weather 
conductions, marketing campaigns, and staffing levels, etc.) do influence trends. It is important 
to note that though trends should be monitored and considered for water conservation 
program management. Specifically, as Figure 26 shows, demand for many programs including 
the Residential Audit, Commercial Audit, Smart Controller Rebate, Rotary Nozzles Rebate, and 
PRV Rebate, remained relatively consistent from 2013-2018, suggesting a continued interest in 
and need for these programs. For the Audit programs, which have an estimated water savings 
lifetime of five years, water demands may be renewed as new business managers or 
homeowners take over water management on an account, and as water use appliances and 
behaviors change and shift over time. The decline in some programs may reflect a natural 
saturation of customer needs, or other shifts in customer demand. For instance, the Front 
Loading Washer Program was phased out by Greeley in response to market changes. The Toilet 
Rebate program shifted to support only hyper-efficient toilets in the wake of updated state 
regulations mandating the sale of water-efficient toilets.16  
 

 

 
16 Senate Bill 14-103, which took effect in 2016, requires all new applicable fixtures (including lavatory faucets, 

toilets, urinals and showerheads) sold in Colorado to be in compliance with federal WaterSense standards. For 
toilets, this means using 1.28 gallons of water or less per flush, as opposed to the federally mandated maximum of 
1.6 gallons per flush. (See: Concerning the Phase-out of the Sale of Certain Low-Efficiency Plumbing Fixtures, SB 14-
103, (2014). Available: https://www.statebillinfo.com/bills/bills/14/103_rev.pdf).  
 

Page 174

Item No. 15.

https://www.statebillinfo.com/bills/bills/14/103_rev.pdf


 
 

 44 

Figure 24. Participation in Greeley’s water conservation programs from 2013-2018.  
 
 

 
*For Residential and Commercial Audits, participants could select either or both the indoor and outdoor audits.  
** The Toilet Rebate program encompasses the 0.8 GPF Toilet, Dual Flush Toilets, Low Flow Toilet, and Ultra Low 
Flow Toilet programs. See Appendix G for more details about these programs.  

 
Figure 25. Participation in Greeley’s water conservation programs from 2013-2018.  

Page 175

Item No. 15.



 
 

 45 

 
*For Residential and Commercial Audits, participants could select either or both the indoor and outdoor audits.  
** The Toilet Rebate program encompasses the 0.8 GPF Toilet, Dual Flush Toilets, Low Flow Toilet, and Ultra Low 
Flow Toilet programs. See Appendix G for more details about these programs.  

 
Figure 26. Program-specific trends in participation in Greeley’s water conservation programs 
from 2013-2018.  
 
Table 3 captures the amount of overlap, among customers participating in multiple programs. 
Highlighted values in Table 3 represent the highest participation overlap. Approximately 30% of 
all participants in water conservation programs between 2013-2018 participated in multiple 
programs. Unsurprisingly, participants in the Residential Audit overlap with many other 
conservation programs targeting both indoor water use (e.g., the Front Loading Washer Rebate, 
Showerhead Exchange, and Toilet Rebate) and outdoor water use (e.g., the Smart Controller 
Rebate, PRV Rebate, Rotary Nozzles Rebate). The low number of overlaps between the 
Commercial Audit and other programs makes it difficult to draw firm conclusions. Most 
overlaps occur in programs focused on indoor water use, including the Toilet Rebate, Front 
Loading Washer Rebate, and Showerhead Exchange. This might reflect the primary water uses 

Page 176

Item No. 15.



 
 

 46 

of participating businesses; it could also suggest an opportunity to engage more commercial, 
industrial, and institutional (CII) customers in outdoor water efficiency programs.   
 
Many of the customer accounts that participated in the Toilet Rebate also participated in the 
Front Loading Washer Rebate, suggesting multiple appliances were replaced simultaneously 
(e.g., as part of a larger home renovation or construction project). There is also a fair amount of 
overlap on outdoor water efficiencies rebates, including the ET Sensor Rebate, Smart Controller 
Rebate, and Rotary Nozzles Rebate, and PRV Rebate, with especially high levels of overlap 
between the PRV Rebate and Rotary Nozzles Rebate. This suggests these residents may be 
either be participating in a holistic upgrade to their irrigation systems, or incrementally adding 
improvements over time. In either case, the results suggest that there are opportunities to 
engage participants in one program in additional conservation activities.  
  
  

C
as

h
 f

o
r 

G
ra

ss
 

C
o

m
m

er
ci

al
 A

u
di

t 

ET
 S

en
so

r 
R

eb
at

e 

Fr
o

n
t 

Lo
ad

in
g 

W
as

h
er

 R
eb

at
e 

Ir
ri

ga
ti

o
n

 C
o

n
tr

o
lle

r 

R
eb

at
e 

PR
V

 R
eb

at
e 

R
es

id
en

ti
al

 A
u

di
t 

R
o

ta
ry

 N
o

zz
le

s 
R

eb
at

e 

Sh
o

w
er

h
ea

d
 

Ex
ch

an
ge

 

Sm
ar

t 
C

o
n

tr
o

lle
r 

R
eb

at
e 

Sp
ra

y 
H

ea
d

 S
p

ri
nk

le
r 

Ex
ch

an
ge

 

To
ile

t 
R

eb
at

e 

Cash for Grass NA 0 0 0 0 0 2 1 0 1 0 1 

Commercial Audit   NA 2 8 1 3 1 4 6 2 0 10 

ET Sensor Rebate     NA 7 3 27 36 22 1 44 0 9 

Front Loading Washer 
Rebate       NA 1 12 150 17 18 15 0 76 

Irrigation Controller 
Rebate         NA 2 7 2 0 1 1 2 

PRV Rebate           NA 104 127 11 45 3 24 

Residential Audit              NA 103 129 84 3 143 

Rotary Nozzles Rebate               NA 11 45 1 26 

Showerhead Exchange                 NA 8 1 21 

Smart Controller Rebate                   NA 1 21 

Spray Head Sprinkler 
Exchange                     NA 0 

Toilet Rebate                       NA 

*For Residential and Commercial Audits, participants could select either or both the indoor and outdoor audits.  
** The Toilet Rebate program encompasses the 0.8 GPF Toilet, Dual Flush Toilets, Low Flow Toilet, and Ultra Low 
Flow Toilet programs. See Appendix G for more details about these programs. 
 

Table 3. Overlap between participations in Greeley’s Water Conservation Programs, 2013-2018.  
 

Page 177

Item No. 15.



 
 

 47 

 

Recommendations  
 

Effectiveness of Water Conservation Programs 
 
Across the board, Greeley’s Water Conservation Programs have saved both water and money, 
engaging nearly 5,000 participants between 2013 to 2018, and saving water ranging from 2.9 to 
19.5 AF per year per program.  These programs’ average cost per acre foot savings is $1,350, far 
below the current cost for Colorado Big-Thompson Project water shares. While the data 
analysis suggests that these programs are effective, it also provides insight into the projects it 
may make sense to expand or condense.  
 

Program Prioritization 
 

1. Residential Audits: The Residential Audits (Indoor and Outdoor) saved an estimated 19.5 
AF per year, which is encouraging because the customer survey results suggest continued 
interest in further participation in this program, particularly the Outdoor Irrigation Audit. 
The quantitative analysis also shows that participation in the Residential Audit often 
overlaps with participation in other indoor and outdoor water conservation programs, 
suggesting that this program is an effective “gateway” to utilizing other water 
conservation tools and resources. Survey results support this finding in that 95% of 
Residential Audit participants reported taking some kind of water saving action as a 
result of their audit. Separate from this analysis, Greeley Water is experiencing a recent 
increase in demand for indoor audits due to AMI leak detection services. 

2. Outdoor Efficiency Incentives: The survey showed particularly large interest in outdoor 
water efficiency rebates and incentives. There may be an opportunity to expand 
participation in programs like the Smart Controller Rebate, PRV Rebate, and Rotary 
Nozzles Rebate. These programs have high water savings per account but have seen 
lower levels of overall participation, compared to other programs. The outdoor Life After 
Lawn and Garden in a Box programs – though not captured by the water use change 
analysis – were the most popular incentive opportunities for future participation 
according to the survey results.  

3. Educational Programs & Online Efficiency Tools: Per the survey results, Greeley’s array of 
educational programs and online tools were, for the most part, well utilized by Greeley 
residents and of interest to respondents for future participation. Many past participants 
reported taking specific water savings actions as a result of participation in an 
educational program. While data on staff resources and cost for educational programs 
and online efficiency tools was not included in the scope for this project, one can assume 
that most of these programs and tools are less expensive and time intensive than 
residential audits and outdoor efficiency incentive programs. 

 

Page 178

Item No. 15.



 
 

 48 

Communications and Outreach  
 
In addition to the potential benefits of targeting outreach to specific neighborhoods and 
communities within the City, there may be opportunities to continue to harness synergies 
across conservation programs. Recommended steps are listed below: 
 

4. Lower participation in Greeley’s water conservation programs often coincides with areas 
that have higher percentages of renter-occupied housing; lower household income, and 
higher percentages of residents speaking Spanish, Asian American or Pacific Islander 
(AAPI) languages, or Indo-European languages. The primary areas of these populations 
are located in the northeast and southwest areas of the City’s center. These trends 
suggest that increasing participation within the city’s center might require strategies such 
as language translation (e.g., through partnerships with local community groups or non-
profits) and a particular emphasis on programs that renters are eligible to participate in. 
In-person events may be especially helpful, providing the opportunity for in-person 
translation and avoiding the need for Internet access, which may be lower in areas with 
lower median incomes. 

5. Around the perimeter of Greeley’s service area, participation is also sparser, in part 
reflecting a lower population density in these areas of the City. These neighborhoods 
tend to have larger median household income; lower percentages of residents speaking 
Spanish, AAPI, or Indo-European languages; and lower percentages of renter-occupied 
housing. Engaging these perimeter neighborhoods might be most effectively done 
through other forms of outreach, such as direct mail, bill inserts, or email outreach, that 
target participants spread across a wider area, and include programs aimed at both 
renters and homeowners.   

6. In addition to the potential benefits of targeting outreach to specific neighborhoods and 
communities within the City, there may be opportunities to continue to harness 
synergies across conservation programs. Approximately 30% of residents were part of 
multiple conservation programs, suggesting there may be ways to further encourage 
participants to take advantage of other relevant programs. Strategies may include 
continuing to encourage participants to complete an audit as an entry point to other 
programs, as well as reaching out to past participants to suggest additional or 
complementary programs. 

7. Survey results suggest some differences in program preferences among Hispanic and 
Latino respondents. For example, respondents of Hispanic, Latino or Spanish origin 
expressed more interest in the High Efficiency Toilet rebate. These insights could help 
target outreach around specific programs in neighborhoods with larger percentages of 
Hispanic and Latino residents as identified in the spatial analysis or help prioritize the 
translation of specific program materials.  

8. Popular outreach methods, such as email updates and the monthly newsletters, offer 
ways to further promote and increase awareness of the conservation programs, 

Page 179

Item No. 15.



 
 

 49 

specifically Greeley’s Online Efficiency Tools with which respondents were generally less 
familiar.  

9. Motivation in future water conservation programs is primary based on saving money on 
water bills, protecting Greeley’s limited water resources, reducing personal use, and 
supporting community values. Community engagement messaging may focus on these 
key points for better marketing strategies.  

 

Considerations for Future Water Conservation Program Analysis 
 
It is recommended for the Greeley’s Water Conservation Program to complete a Water 
Conservation Customer Survey every 5-7 years to stay in informed on customers’ values and 
interests, and to analyze trends and changes in respondent answers over time. Keeping the 
questionnaire consistent (See Appendix B) is key for comparing results. 
 
Updating the quantitative analysis on an annual basis could also enable Greeley Water to follow 
trends in participation in real time and shed light on the impact of different outreach and 
communication strategies. Documenting factors that may affect participation, such the number 
of program staff, outreach and communications activities, and introduction of AMI technology, 
could help interpret changes in participation over time. If resources allow, future analyses could 
also combine the spatial and water use change analyses, to visualize and showcase water use 
changes by neighborhoods and potentially foster friendly competition among different 
locations in the City.   
 
 

Conclusion  
 
It is important to keep in mind that Greeley’s substantial gains in water conservation – reducing 
water usage by 20% from 2007-2018 even as the City’s population has grown– are not entirely 
captured by the water savings associated with the conservation programs analyzed for this 
project. Water demand in Greeley is also influenced by state and local water use policies and 
regulations, rates, and market trends. Integrated water and land use planning approaches, such 
as conservation-oriented system development charges, plumbing codes, zoning standards, and 
landscaping ordinances, have likely resulted in significant water savings. Greeley’s water 
budget-based rate structure also provides residential customers with a price signal to 
incentivize conservation. And market trends and state regulations have led to the 
standardization of more water efficient appliances, fixtures, and equipment available for 
purchase. Finally, the introduction of AMI presents additional incentives and tools to enhance 
water conservation behavior and program participation. While comparing the value of policies 
and regulations with the impact of water conservation programs is beyond the scope of this 
project, it is important to recognize their importance to Greeley’s water supply resiliency goals.  
 

Page 180

Item No. 15.



 
 

 50 

The City of Greeley should be very proud of its efforts to build a popular, impactful, and highly 
valued Water Conservation Program. This performance analysis – including the customer 
survey, spatial analysis on participation, and change in water use analysis – is intended to 
provide the City with new data and information to prioritize its Water Conservation Program 
spending and to inform its forthcoming Water Efficiency Plan update. Greeley may also elect to 
use the tools and methodologies established through this project in upcoming years to assess 
program performance over time. 

  

Page 181

Item No. 15.



 
 

 51 

Appendix  
 

Attachment A – Summary of Greeley’s Water Efficiency Portfolio from 2013-2020 
 
The following section provides an overview of Greeley’s four primary categories of conservation 
programming: 1) Education programs, 2) Water Efficiency Incentives, 3) Water Audits, and 4) 
Online Efficiency Tools. 
 

1. Education Programs 
 
Landscape Lecture Series: Free lectures and workshops are offered January through September 
on a variety of landscape topics to improve water efficiency outdoors.  
 
Xeriscape Education: Literature and tours of Greeley’s Xeriscape garden provide tools and 
resources to help residents implement water-wise landscaping principles and reduce water use. 
      
Tours: Tours of Greeley’s water-related facilities are offered seasonally, for groups of 10 or 
more.  
 
Teacher Training: Greeley sponsors training programs on water and conservation issues for 
local teachers (e.g., Project WET provides water resource education materials that are 
appropriate for many different age groups and cultures and offer comprehensive coverage of 
the broad topic of water.17)  
 
Speakers Bureau: Speakers for classrooms, civic clubs, and other groups are available upon 
request. Presentations can be tailored to a specific age group, topic or learning objective (e.g., 
watersheds, water conservation, water law, water quality, water sources, xeriscape).  
 
Mayor’s Challenge for Water Conservation: The annual, national Mayor’s Challenge for Water 
Conservation runs from April 1- 30. This non-profit national community service campaign 
encourages leaders to inspire their residents to make a series of simple pledges at 
mywaterpledge.com to use water more efficiently, reduce pollution and save energy. 

     
 

2. Water Efficiency Incentives   
 
Irrigation Rebates ( res idResidential and Commercial)  

 
17 Project WET (Water Education Today). (2020). https://www.projectwet.org/.  

Page 182

Item No. 15.

https://www.projectwet.org/


 
 

 52 

Customers who have completed an irrigation audit can qualify for rebates that reduce the cost 
of -irrigation equipment – including smart sprinkler controllers, pressure-reducing valves, and 
rotary sprinkler nozzles – by up to 50 percent of the cost.   
 
Pressure-Reducing Valves 
A pressure-reducing valve reduces misting -- a fine spray that results from irrigation systems 
that apply water at a very high pressure, resulting in excessive evaporation and water drifting 
away from the intended irrigation area. By regulating water pressure and preventing misting, 
these valves make irrigation systems more efficient.18  
 
Rotary Nozzles 
Rotary nozzles increase uniformity and reduce overspray in irrigation systems. They operate by 
rotating a stream of water over the landscape, in contrast to the mist produced by spray-head 
sprinklers.19   
 
Smart Controllers  
Smart controllers (also called ET Controllers) use information about site conditions (rain, wind, 
slope, soil, plant type, etc.) to apply the right amount of water to maintain healthy growing 
conditions. Because smart controllers can be more efficient than traditional time-based 
irrigation controllers, they often reduce use by at least 25 percent, saving both money and 
water. Rebates for smart controllers cover half of the cost with customers pay the remaining 
$300.20  
 
Typically, a Greeley Water employee will conduct an irrigation audit, and share the report with 
participants within a few days. In the past, once the participant had purchased any irrigation 
equipment, a Greeley Water employee would return to the site to help the participant set up 
the new equipment (e.g., schedule a new smart sprinkler controller) and to teach the 
participant how to use it. (This direct installation component has been phased out in 2022, but 
was a part of the program during the years included in the quantitative analysis.)  
 
Commercial Rebates (available to multi-family residences and industrial, institutional and 
commercial accounts)  
Rebates are available for a variety of indoor and outdoor water-using devices, including:  
bathroom fixtures; kitchen and restaurant equipment; laundry appliances (including washing 
machines); industrial devices; and irrigation hardware.21 Free commercial audits help customers 

 
18 City of Greeley, CO. “Water Conservation Rebates.” Available: 
https://greeleygov.com/services/ws/conservation/water-conservation-rebates.  
19 Ibid. 
20 Ibid. 
21 For a detailed list of possible commercial rebates, please see: City of Greeley, CO. “Water Conservation 
Rebates.” Available: https://greeleygov.com/services/ws/conservation/water-conservation-rebates.  

Page 183

Item No. 15.

https://greeleygov.com/services/ws/conservation/water-conservation-rebates
https://greeleygov.com/services/ws/conservation/water-conservation-rebates


 
 

 53 

determine which products may be appropriate for their facility. Customers are strongly 
encouraged - but not required - to go through a commercial audit before receiving any rebates.  
 
Front Loading Washer Rebates (available single-family residences, multi-family residences and 
industrial, institutional, and commercial accounts)  
Rebates are available for a variety for high-efficiency front loading clothes washers which used 
less water and energy than standard top loading clothes washers. For each eligible washers 
purchased, a customer can receive a $100 rebate. In 2018, the residential front-loading washer 
rebates stopped.   
 
Professional Landscape Certification (available to landscape contractors)  
Rebates are available to landscape Contractors who works in Greeley to obtain training and 
continuing education to obtain their Certified Landscape Technician certification.  
 
Showerhead Exchanges (available to all customers) 
At showerhead exchanges, which are held periodically at events, customers can exchange their 
old showerheads for new low-flow models at no cost. New showerheads are also available 
through Greeley’s Indoor Water Audits. 
 
Toilets 
Toilets that use 0.8 gallons per flush or less are eligible for rebates from the City of Greeley. For 
each eligible toilet purchased, a household can receive a $50 rebate, with a two-toilet rebate 
per household limit. An additional $25 is given for recycling the old toilet in conjunction with 
the rebate. To participate, residents need only a receipt and a completed application.22  
   
Lawn Replacement Incentives 
 
Cash for Grass Rebates/Life After Lawn Bluegrass Replacement Program23 
Greeley water customers can get cash for replacing their lawn with low water use plants. This 
pilot program aims to replace lawns with more sustainable landscapes, including Xeriscape, rain 
gardens, and pollinator plants. The program provides rebates – of up to $2 per square foot – for 
500 to 2,000 square feet of lawn removed per single-family residence, and 5,000 to 20,000 
square feet at a non-residential or HOA property. The converted Xeriscape area must be 
irrigated using drip irrigation, micro spray irrigation or hand watering. While in theory this 
program seeks to target users who are exceeding their outdoor water budget, in practice these 
types of customers make up a small minority of participants in this program. Most participants 
are single-family residents, but this program also includes larger customers, such as HOAs, 
churches and other commercial properties.  

 
22 City of Greeley, CO. “Water Conservation Rebates.” Available: 
https://greeleygov.com/services/ws/conservation/water-conservation-rebates.  
23 City of Greeley, Colorado. (2020). “Life After Lawn: Bluegrass Replacement Program.” Available: 
https://greeleygov.com/services/ws/home/blog/water/2020/01/16/life-after-lawn-turf-replacement-program.  

Page 184

Item No. 15.

https://greeleygov.com/services/ws/conservation/water-conservation-rebates
https://greeleygov.com/services/ws/home/blog/water/2020/01/16/life-after-lawn-turf-replacement-program


 
 

 54 

 
This pilot grew out of a 2018 pilot study.24 While the program was mostly dormant in 2019, 
approximately 30 customers participated in 2020.  
 
Xeriscape Grants (available to multi-family residences and industrial, institutional, and 
commercial accounts)  
Matching grants (of up to $2,500 per year) are available to replace turf with Xeric plantings that 
require little or no water. This program can also install Xeric plantings in locations that did not 
previously have any landscaping in place. Multi-phase projects can receive additional funding in 
subsequent years. These grants can fund smaller HOA projects, small businesses, schools, 
places of worship, and other areas that have a maintenance plan in place. Many churches have 
been particularly interested in this program.  
 
Seasonal Offerings    
 
Compost Bin and Rain Barrel Sale (available to all customers) 
Greeley periodically offers its customers discounted compost bins, which helps with soil 
drainage, and rain barrels, that capture water to be used for watering the customer’s 
landscape.  
 
Garden in a Box (available to all customers) 
During the spring and fall, Greeley offers discounted Garden In A Box kits that enable customers 
to plant low water-use gardens at home. Kit options vary to fit different sizes and levels of sun 
exposure, and include low-water plants; a professionally designed plant-by-number map; and 
plant care instructions.  
 

 
3. Water Audits    

Greeley’s free, voluntary water audits help customers identify ways to conserve water, and are 
targeted to indoor, outdoor, and commercial water use.  
 
Indoor Water Audits (available to all customers)  
A Greeley Water Auditor will come to a property to: 

● Look for leaks and other sources of water waste 

● Check high water use appliances 

● Provide low-flow showerheads and faucet aerators at no cost 

● Make recommendations for repairs and upgrades 

 
Outdoor (Irrigation) Audits (available to all customers) 

 
24 City of Greeley, Colorado. (2020). “Life After Lawn: Bluegrass Replacement Program.” Available: 
https://greeleygov.com/services/ws/home/blog/water/2020/01/16/life-after-lawn-turf-replacement-program.  

Page 185

Item No. 15.

https://greeleygov.com/services/ws/home/blog/water/2020/01/16/life-after-lawn-turf-replacement-program


 
 

 55 

From the months of April through October, Greeley Water specialists will come to a property 
to: 

● Inspect watering zones and identify problems 

● Measure how much water is being applied 

● Check water pressure and recommend adjustments  

● Develop a custom watering schedule 

 
Typically, a Greeley Water employee will conduct the audit, and share the report with 
participants within a few days. The participant will often then participate in Greeley’s rebate 
program for, e.g., a smart sprinkler controller.  
 
Commercial Water Audits (available to multi-family residences and industrial, institutional 
and commercial accounts)  
During a commercial water audit, a Greeley Water specialist will: 

● Review how a facility is using water 

● Identify areas of water waste 

● Provide recommendations and custom water use targets 

The specifics of an audit often depend on the industry the customer is working in, but 
typically includes an examination of any water heaters, laundry rooms, toilets, or leaks 

 
 

4. Online Water Efficiency Tools  
 
Water Budget Portal (available to those customers on a water budget) 
Greeley calculates water rates for single-family homes using water budgets (the amount of 
water a single-family residence needs each billing period, as determined by persons per 
household, landscape size, and real-time weather conditions). On the Water Budget Portal,25 
customers can change their indoor water use profile, view their outdoor map, and get answers 
to common questions. 
 
WaterSmart Customer Portal (available to all customers) 
The WaterSmart Program is an online portal26 that allows customers to view and understand 
their home water use. Using the portal, it’s possible to see when and where a customer is using 
the most water, and how their water usage compares to similar households in the area. This 
offers a starting point for identifying ways to be more efficient.  
 
Online Plant Database (available to all customers) 

 
25 Available at:  efficiencyrewarded.com.  
26 Available at: greeleygov.com/watersmart.  

Page 186

Item No. 15.



 
 

 56 

This online plant database27 helps customers select low water-use plants that are well-suited to 
Greeley’s semi-arid climate. It includes over 350 plants along with photos, descriptions, and 
planting tips. 

 
Water Conservation Webpage (available to the public) 
Greeley’s water conservation webpage contains a wide variety of resources, tools, and tips for 
indoor and outdoor water conservation, including the City’s available rebates, audits, and 
educational programs. 

 
Other  
In 2020, Greeley started implementing advanced metering infrastructure (AMI), and sharing 
data gathered through AMI with participating customers. This is worth noting AMI was not used 
for analyses in this report but may be a tool to assist in future efficiency analyses.  
 

Appendix B – Customer Survey Questionnaire: Water Efficiency Program Performance  
 
Description in beginning: The City of Greeley is currently evaluating its Water Conservation Program to determine 
what programs are most beneficial to the City’s water conservation goals and of most value to Greeley Water 
customers. Your feedback will help the City update its conservation programs to best serve Greeley Water 
customers. This survey will take approximately 10-15 minutes. As a token of appreciation, you will be entered into 
a raffle to receive a $50-$100 gift card to a local restaurant.  
 

1. Please tell us who you are [check all that apply]  

a. Greeley resident  

b. Greeley business/commercial customer  

c. Other [Please specify] 

 
  Note: This survey is intended for Greeley Water Customers only.  
 

2. The City of Greeley currently offers all of the following water efficiency programs, tools and incentives to 

customers. Prior to this survey, which of the following programs were you aware that Greeley Water 

offered to their customers? Note: This question is asking only if you are aware of these programs, not if 

you have participated in them. [Mark all that apply or “None”] 

 
Education Programs:  

a. Landscape Lecture Series - free lectures and workshops on landscape topics to improve water 

efficiency 

b. Xeriscape Education - Literature, classes and tours of Greeley’s Xeriscape gardens (I.e. Woodbriar 

or Bittersweet Park) 

c. Tours of Greeley water-related facilities 

d. Teacher Training on water and conservation issues for local teachers 

e. Speakers Bureau - Greeley Water speakers visit classrooms, civic clubs and other groups 

 
27 Available at: plantsforgreeley.com. 

Page 187

Item No. 15.



 
 

 57 

f. Annual Mayor’s Water Conservation Challenge –water use reduction contest 

g. None, I was not aware that Greeley Water offered any of the above programs 

 
Water Audits: 

h. Indoor Water Audits  

i. Outdoor Irrigation Audits  

j. Commercial Audits (for multi-family residences and industrial, institutional & commercial 

accounts) 

k. Outdoor Irrigation Rebates (smart irrigation controller, pressure reducing valves, rotary sprinkler 

nozzles)  

l. Commercial Rebates (water efficient appliances, irrigation hardware, etc.)  

m. None, I was not aware that Greeley Water offered any of the above programs 

 
Other Efficiency Incentives: 

n. Life After Lawn turf replacement rebates (available to single family residents) 

o. Xeriscape Grants (available to multi-family residences and industrial, institutional and 

commercial accounts)  

p. Compost Bin and Rain Barrel Sale 

q. Discounted Garden in a Box Kit 

r. Free Low-Flow Showerhead Exchange 

s. High Efficiency Toilet Rebate 

t. Life After Lawn turf replacement rebates (for single family residents) 

u. None, I was not aware that Greeley Water offered any of the above efficiency incentives  

 
Online Water Efficiency Tools: 

v. Water Budget Portal 

w. WaterSmart Customer Portal 

x. Online Plant Database 

y. Greeley Water Conservation webpage 

z. None, I was not aware that Greeley Water offered any of the above water efficiency tools. 

 
- In Section 1, respondents will automatically skip over each of the programs which they replied “None” 

to 

 
SECTION 1: CURRENT PROGRAMS (Customers who have participated) 
 

A. EDUCATION PROGRAMS 

 
3. Education Programs: In the past 5 years, which of the following Greeley water efficiency education-

related programs have you participated in? [Please select all that apply, or “None” if you haven’t 

participated in any of these programs] 

a. Landscape Lecture Series - free lectures and workshops on landscape topics to improve water 

efficiency 

b. Xeriscape Education - Literature, classes and tours of Greeley’s Xeriscape gardens (I.e. Woodbriar 

or Bittersweet Park) 

Page 188

Item No. 15.



 
 

 58 

c. Tours of Greeley water-related facilities 

d. Teacher Training on water and conservation issues for local teachers 

e. Speakers Bureau - Greeley Water speakers visit classrooms, civic clubs and other groups 

f. Annual Mayor’s Water Conservation Challenge - water use reduction contest 

g. None 

h. Other [Please specify] 

 
- If none, page skip to Water Audits section 

- If they marked any of these programs move to Q#4 which will present only the education program(s) they 

selected 

 
4. Education Programs: On a scale of 1-5, how helpful did you find the specific Water Efficiency Education 

Program(s) indicated below. (1 = not helpful at all, 5 = very helpful) 

 

 1 (not 
helpful) 

2 3 4 5 (very 
helpful
) 

Not sure 

Landscape Lecture Series       

Xeriscape Education/Tour       

Tours of Greeley Water 
facilities 

      

Teacher Training       

Speakers Bureau       

Annual Mayor’s Water 
Conservation Challenge 

      

[Other]       

 
  

5.  Education Programs: What type of action, if any, was taken as a result of participating in ____________? 

[Mark all that apply] 

a. Switched to more waterwise plants or landscaping practices (e.g. replaced turf grass with native 

plants) 

b. Updated or adjusted my irrigation system in some way to improve water efficiency 

c. Switched to using more water efficient appliances or fixtures (e.g. faucet aerators, low-flow 

showerhead, low-flow toilet)   

d. Participated in a Greeley Water efficiency rebate, audit, or other financial incentive opportunity 

e. Changed my water usage behavior in some way (e.g. turning off tap when brushing teeth, 

washing car at commercial car wash instead of in driveway, etc.) 

f. Began educating others (students, friends) about the importance of water conservation 

g. No specific action was taken 

Page 189

Item No. 15.



 
 

 59 

h. Other [Please specify] 

 
 Blank is the specific program(s) they indicated in Q3. Repeat question if they indicated a change associated 
with more than one Education Program 
 

6. Education Program: Is there anything else you’d like to share with us about your participation in a Greeley 

Water Education Program? [Optional] 

 
__________________________________________ 
 
WATER AUDITS 
 

7. Water Audits: Greeley’s free, voluntary water audits help customers identify ways to conserve water, and 

are targeted to indoor, outdoor, and commercial water use. In the past 5 years, which of the following 

Greeley Water Audit programs have you participated in? [Mark all that apply] 

a. Indoor Water Audits  

b. Outdoor Irrigation Audits 

c. Commercial Audits (available to multi-family residences, industrial, institutional & commercial 

accounts) 

d. None 

 
- If none, page skip to Other Efficiency Programs 

 
8. Water Audits: On a scale of 1-5, how helpful did you find the water audit program indicated below? (1 = 

not helpful at all, 5 = very helpful) 

 

 1 2 3 4 5 Not sure 

Indoor Water Audits       

Outdoor Irrigation Audits       

Commercial Audits       

 
  Include only the audits they indicated participating in in Q8 
 

9.  Indoor Water Audits: What type of action, if any, was taken as a result of participating in an Indoor 

Water Audit? [Select all that apply] 

a. Repaired a leak 

b. Received and installed a free low flow showerhead(s) and/or faucet aerator(s) 

c. Upgraded an old high-water use appliance/fixture to a water efficient appliance/fixture 

d. Signed up for the WaterSmart customer portal 

e. Changed my water usage behavior in some way [e.g. turning off tap when brushing teeth, 

washing car at commercial car wash instead of in driveway, etc.] 

f. No action was taken 

g. Other [please specify] 

Page 190

Item No. 15.



 
 

 60 

 
Only for those who indicated in #8 that they had participated in an indoor audit 

 
12.  Water Audits: Do you have any recommendations for Greeley Water on improving the indoor audit 
program? [Optional] 
 
______________________ 

 
13. Outdoor Water Audits: What type of action, if any, was taken as a result of participating in an 

Outdoor Irrigation Audit? [Select all that apply] 
a. Received a rebate from Greeley Water to install a smart sprinkler controller 

b. Received a rebate from Greeley Water to install a pressure-reducing valve 

c. Received a rebate from Greeley Water to install rotary sprinkler nozzles 

d. Adjusted my irrigation water pressure 

e. Adjusted my irrigation watering schedule  

f. Adjusted my irrigation system in some other way to improve efficiency 

g. Switched to more water wise plants or landscaping practices  

h. No specific action was taken 

i. Other [please specify] 

 
14. Water Audits: On a scale of 1-5, how valuable did you find Greeley Water’s Outdoor Irrigation Rebate? 

(1 = not valuable, 5 = valuable) 
 

 1 2 3 4 5 Not sure 

Outdoor Irrigation Rebate       

 
- Only if respondents received a rebate, identified in Q13 

 
15. Water Audits: Do you have any recommendations for Greeley Water on improving the irrigation audit 

and/or associated irrigation rebate program? [Optional] 
 
_________________ 

 
16. Water Audits: What type of action, if any, was taken as a result of participating in a Commercial Water 

Audit? [Select all that apply] 
h. Repaired a leak 

i. Received and installed a free low flow showerhead(s) and/or faucet aerator(s) 

j. Received a pre-rinse spray nozzle 

k. Received a rebate from Greeley Water for bathroom fixtures, kitchen/restaurant equipment, 

laundry appliances (including washing machines), industrial devices, and/or irrigation hardware, 

etc. 

l. Upgraded an old high-water use appliance to a water efficient appliance  

m. Changed water usage behavior in some way  

n. Created a policy on water conservation or some other educational event for employees  

o. No specific action was taken 

p. Other [please specify] 

Page 191

Item No. 15.



 
 

 61 

 
 
17. Water Audits: On a scale of 1-5, how valuable did you find Greeley Water’s Commercial Rebate? (1 = not 
valuable, 5 = valuable) 

 1 2 3 4 5 Not sure 

Commercial Rebate       

 
- Only if they received a rebate 

 
 

17. Water Audits: Do you have any recommendations for Greeley Water on improving the commercial 
audit and/or rebate program? [Optional] 

 
_______________________________________ 
 
18. Water Audits: Is there anything else you’d like to share with us about your participation in a Greeley 

Water Audit? [Optional] 
 
____________________________ 
 

OTHER EFFICIENCY INCENTIVE PROGRAMS  
 

19. In the past 5 years, which of the following Greeley Water Efficiency Incentive programs have you participated 
in? [Select all that apply] 

a. Compost Bin and Rain Barrel Sale 

b. Discounted Garden in a Box Kit 

c. Free Low-Flow Showerhead Exchange 

d. High Efficiency Toilet Rebate 

e. Turf Retrofit: Life After Lawn 

f. None 

 
 If none, Skip to Online Efficiency Tools 
 
20. Efficiency Incentive Programs: On a scale of 1-5, how valuable did you find the specific Water Efficiency 
Education Program(s) indicated below. (1 = not valuable at all, 5 = very valuable) 

- Only list the programs they indicated participating in 

Efficiency Incentive Program 1 2 3 4 5 Not sure 

Compost Bin & Rain Barrel 
Sale 

      

Discounted Garden in a Box 
Kit 

      

Free Low Flow Showerhead 
Exchange 

      

Page 192

Item No. 15.



 
 

 62 

High Efficiency Toilet Rebate       

Turf Retrofit: Life After Lawn       

 
 
22. Efficiency Incentive Programs: Do you have any recommendations for Greeley Water on improving the 
__________ program? [Optional] 
 
__________________________ 

- Only the program(s) they indicated participated in in Q #19 

 
 
ONLINE WATER EFFICIENCY TOOLS 
 
23. In the past 5 years, which of the following Greeley Water Online Water Efficiency Tools have you utilized? 
[Select all that apply] 

a. Water Budget Portal 

b. WaterSmart Customer Portal 

c. Greeley’s Water Conservation Webpage 

d. Online Plant Database 

e. None  

 
If none, Skip ahead to next section 

 
24. Online Water Efficiency Tools: On a scale of 1-5, how helpful did you find the specific Water Efficiency 
Education Program(s) indicated below. (1 = not valuable at all, 5 = very valuable) 

- Only list the programs they indicated participating in 

 1 2 3 4 5 Not sure 

Water Budget Portal       

WaterSmart Customer 
Portal 

      

Greeley’s Water 
Conservation Webpage 

      

Online Plant Database       

 
25. Why did you choose to utilize the water budget portal? [Select all that apply in order of importance] 

a. To find out what the water budget was and better understand it 

b. To update my household information (e.g. people in my household, irrigable area) 

c. To learn more about my water use 

d. To save money on my water bill 

e. To reduce my personal water use 

f. To protect our limited water resources  

g. To save more water than my neighbors 

Page 193

Item No. 15.



 
 

 63 

h. To support community values 

i. Other  

- Only if they used the water budget portal 

 
26. Why did you choose to utilize the WaterSmart customer portal? [Select all that apply in order of importance] 

j. To review my water bill  

k. Because I had a large bill or a leak 

l. To update my household profile 

m. To learn more about my water use 

n. To save money on my water bill 

o. To reduce my personal water use 

p. To protect our limited water resources  

q. To save more water than my neighbors 

r. To support community values 

s. Other  

- Only if they used the WaterSmart portal 

 
 
SECTION 2: WATER EFFICIENCY BEYOND GREELEY PROGRAMS 
 

1. The following is a list of possible water saving actions for your home or business. What actions – if any – 

have you taken in the last 5 years (2015 – 2020) to reduce your water use? [Select as many as apply] 

 
Outdoor Activities 

a. Adjusted irrigation system and timers 

b. Installed a rain sensor to shut off irrigation system 

c. Installed a smart irrigation controller  

d. Reduced/skipped watering 

e. Replaced lawn or garden with low water plants or other material (e.g. vegetable garden, rock, 

mulch, hardscape) 

f. Upgraded irrigation system with high-efficiency equipment 

g. Installed a rain barrel/cistern 

h. Started a compost bin or pile 

i. Began tracking rainfall on my site 

j. Began running my irrigation system manually 

k. Used a broom instead of a hose to clean paved areas 

l. Fixed outdoor leaks (sprinkler, spas, etc.) 

 
Indoor Activities 

m. Purchased a high-efficiency clothes washer 

n. Installed faucet aerators 

o. Installed low flow showerheads 

p. Installed a water efficient toilet(s) 

q. Washed only full loads of clothes or dishes 

r. Took shorter showers 

Page 194

Item No. 15.



 
 

 64 

s. Fixed indoor leaks (toilet, faucet, etc.) 

t. I don’t let the water run unnecessarily 

 
u. Other [please specify] 

v. None 

 
2. Which of the following would be easier for you to do?  

a. Reduce the amount of water you now use for outdoor landscaping and gardening  

b. Reduce the amount of water you now use for indoor uses  

c. I could reduce both my indoor and outdoor water use easily 

d. Neither 

 
  
SECTION 3: LOOKING FORWARD / FUTURE PARTICIPATION & IMPROVEMENTS 
 

1. What would motivate you to participate in Greeley’s water conservation program? [Select all that apply in 

order of importance] 

a. To save money on my water bill 

b. To pay for a fixture/appliance that I want to replace (e.g toilets, smart irrigation controllers) 

c. To reduce my personal water use 

d. To protect our limited water resources  

e. To save more water than my neighbors 

f. To support community values 

g. Not applicable, I’m not motivated to participate  

h. Other [please specify] 

 
 

2. The City of Greeley currently offers all of the following water efficiency programs, tools and incentives to 

customers. What water efficiency programs, if any, are you most interested in participating in in the next 

3 years, using a scale of 1 to 5, with 1 being not interested and 5 being very interested. [Mark all that 

apply, if you have already participated or are not eligible for this specific rebate mark N/A] 

 
Education Programs:  

a. Landscape Lecture Series - free lectures and workshops on landscape topics to improve water 

efficiency 

b. Xeriscape Education - Literature, classes and tours of Greeley’s Xeriscape gardens (I.e. Woodbriar 

or Bittersweet Park) 

c. Tours of Greeley water-related facilities 

d. Teacher Training on water and conservation issues for local teachers 

e. Speakers Bureau - Greeley Water speakers visit classrooms, civic clubs and other groups 

f. Annual Mayor’s Water Conservation Challenge –water use reduction contest 

 
Water Audits: 

g. Indoor Water Audits  

h. Outdoor Irrigation Audits  

Page 195

Item No. 15.



 
 

 65 

i. Commercial Audits (for multi-family residences and industrial, institutional & commercial 

accounts) 

j. Outdoor Irrigation Rebates (smart irrigation controller, pressure reducing valves, rotary sprinkler 

nozzles)  

k. Commercial Rebates (water efficient appliances, irrigation hardware, etc.)  

 
Other Efficiency Incentives: 

l. Life After Lawn turf replacement rebates (available to single family residents) 

m. Xeriscape Grants (available to multi-family residences and industrial, institutional and 

commercial accounts)  

n. Compost Bin and Rain Barrel Sale 

o. Discounted Garden in a Box Kit 

p. Free Low-Flow Showerhead Exchange 

q. High Efficiency Toilet Rebate 

r. Life After Lawn turf replacement rebates (for single family residents) 

 
Online Water Efficiency Tools: 

s. Water Budget Portal 

t. WaterSmart Customer Portal 

u. Online Plant Database 

v. Greeley Water Conservation webpage 

Only if they selected a program in Q1 of Sec. 3 
 

3. How important do you feel the City of Greeley’s water efficiency programs are? 

a. Very important 

b. Important 

c. Neither important nor unimportant 

d. Not important 

 
4. How do you prefer to receive information about saving water and Greeley Water’s efficiency programs? 

[Select all that apply]  

a. Bill inserts 

b. Direct mail to my home or business 

c. Greeley Water website 

d. Social media 

e. Local newspaper articles/advertisements 

f. Radio advertisements 

g. Visits or calls to Greeley Water 

h. Email updates/monthly newsletter 

 
5. How willing, if at all, would you be to adopt a low water use landscape by removing turf grass from your 

front yard? 

a. Very willing 

b. May consider  

c. Would not consider  

Page 196

Item No. 15.



 
 

 66 

d. Already converted yard (skip ahead) 

e. Don’t have yard (skip ahead) 

f. Don’t know / Not sure (skip ahead) 

 
6. What are the primary barriers keeping you from replacing some or all of your grass with low water use 

landscaping? [Select as many as apply] 

a. Cost 

b. Physical labor involved 

c. Time 

d. Knowledge/expertise 

e. I like the look of grass  

f. I don’t like the look of low water landscapes 

g. Doesn’t save enough water to be worth the effort 

h. Other [Specify] 

i. Don’t know / Not sure 

 
SECTION 4: DEMOGRAPHICS 
 
You may select prefer not to answer for any of the following questions 
 

1. Do you own or rent your current place of residence? 

a. Own 

b. Rent 

c. Other [Write in] 

d. I do not live in Greeley 

e. Prefer not to answer 

 
2. What type of residence do you live in? 

a. Apartment 

b. Condo/townhome 

c. Patio home 

d. Duplex 

e. Mobile home 

f. Single-family detached 

g. Other  

h. I do not live in Greeley 

i. Prefer not to answer 

 
3. Which of the following best describes your age? 

a. 18-24 

b. 25-34 

c. 35-54 

d. 55-64 

e. 65+ 

f. Prefer not to answer 

Page 197

Item No. 15.



 
 

 67 

 
4. Are you of Hispanic, Latino or Spanish origin? 

a. Yes 

b. No 

c. Prefer not to answer 

 
5. How would you describe yourself? [Select all that apply] 

a. Black or African American 

b. Asian 

c. Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander 

d. Native American or Alaska Native 

e. White 

f. Other [Write in] 

g. Prefer not to answer 

 
6. Which of the following categories best describes your household income, that is from all persons in your 

household before all taxes? 

a. Under $25,000 

b. $25,000 - $49,000 

c. $50,000 - $75,000 

d. $75,000 - $99,999 

e. $100,000 - $149,999 

f. $150,000 - $249,999 

g. $250,000 and above 

h. Prefer not to answer 

 
FINAL  
 

7. Thank you so much for completing this questionnaire. To be entered into the raffle, please provide your 

name and email (preferred) or phone number. Note: your contact details will not be correlated with your 

survey responses. 

a. Name 

b. Email 

c. Phone 

 
To learn more about Greeley’s water efficiency programs, please visit 
https://greeleygov.com/services/ws/conservation/about.  

 
  

Page 198

Item No. 15.

https://greeleygov.com/services/ws/conservation/about


 
 

 68 

Appendix C – Greeley Water Conservation Bill Stuffer  
 

 

 

 

 

 
  

Page 199

Item No. 15.



 
 

 69 

Appendix D – Demographic Survey Results  

 

 

  

Page 200

Item No. 15.



 
 

 70 

Appendix E – Spatial Trends in Water Conservation Program Participation: Analysis and 
Data Sources   
 

Additional details and maps visualizing the spatial analysis of participation in Greeley’s water 
conservation programs are available here. 
 
A detailed description of the U.S. Census Bureau’s American Community Survey (ACS) data 
underlying the analysis is summarized in Table A-1 below. 28   
 

Demographics Visualized in Maps Data Source 

Percentage of Renter-Occupied 
Housing 

US Census Bureau. (2020). 2015-2019 American Community Survey 5-
Year Estimates. Total Population in Occupied Housing by Tenure by 
Units in Structure. https://data.census.gov/ cedsci/.  

Population speaking an Asian American 
and Pacific Islander language  
 
Population speaking an Indo-European 
language 
 
Spanish-Speaking Population 
 
Spanish-Speaking Population with 
Limited English 

US Census Bureau. (2020). 2015-2019 American Community Survey 5-
Year Estimates. Household Language by Household Limited English 
Speaking Status. https://data.census.gov/cedsci/.  

Asian American and Pacific Islander languages are defined by the US 
Census Bureau as including Chinese (incl. Mandarin, Cantonese), 
Japanese, Korean, Hmong, Vietnamese, Khmer, Thai, Lao, or other Tai-
Kadai languages, Tagalog (incl. Filipino), Ilocano, Samoan, Hawaiian, or 
other Austronesian languages, and other languages of Asia. 

Indo-European languages are defined by the US Census Bureau as 
languages spoken over the greater part of Europe and Asia as far as 
northern India (e.g., French, Armenian, Bengali, Nepali, Marathi, Telugu, 
Tamil, etc.). 

Spanish-Speaking Population includes all residents who speak Spanish 
(but may also, e.g., speak another language, such as English). Spanish-
Speaking Population with Limited English includes residents who speak 
Spanish and who have limited fluency in English.29 

Percent of Population that Identifies as 
Hispanic or Latino by Race 
 
 

US Census Bureau. (2020). 2015-2019 American Community Survey 5-
Year Estimates. Hispanic or Latino Origin by Race. https:// 
data.census.gov/cedsci/. 

U.S. federal government agencies adhere to standards issued by the 
Office of Management and Budget, which specify that race and Hispanic 
origin (also known as ethnicity) are two separate and distinct concepts. 
The question underlying this data asks respondents if they view 

 
28 The American Community Service (ACS) data reflects information gathered annually by the U.S. Census Bureau. 
The Bureau poses questions to randomly sampled addresses each year, and then uses this information to calculate 
community demographic information. This ACS data complements the Decennial Census the Bureau conducts 
every 10 years, which seeks responses from every resident. For information, see: 
https://www.census.gov/programs-surveys/acs/about.html.  
29 A more detailed explanation of how the US Census defines language categories is available at: 
https://www.census.gov/topics/population/language-use/about.html.  

Page 201

Item No. 15.

https://www.dropbox.com/sh/17t6oov8g9oq2cs/AABOt-YAWo9xrnaku8RsyJkYa?dl=0


 
 

 71 

themselves as having racial identity that is Hispanic or Latino (which 
does not preclude also having additional racial identities). 30 31 

Percent of Population that Identifies as 
Hispanic or Latino by Origin 
 
 

US Census Bureau. (2020). 2015-2019 American Community Survey 5-
Year Estimates. Hispanic or Latino Origin. https:// 
data.census.gov/cedsci/.  

U.S. federal government agencies adhere to standards issued by the 
Office of Management and Budget (OBM), which specify that race and 
Hispanic origin (also known as ethnicity) are two separate and distinct 
concepts. Hispanic origin can be viewed as the heritage, nationality, 
lineage, or country of birth of the person or the person’s parents or 
ancestors before arriving in the United States. OMB defines "Hispanic or 
Latino" as a person of Cuban, Mexican, Puerto Rican, South or Central 
American, or other Spanish culture or origin regardless of race. People 
who identify as Hispanic, Latino, or Spanish may be any race.32  33 34  

Median Household Income US Census Bureau. (2020). 2015-2019 American Community Survey 5-
Year Estimates. Median Household Income in the Past 12 Months (in 
2019 Inflation-Adjusted Dollars). https:// data.census.gov/ cedsci/.  

Total Population  
 
Population Density  

US Census Bureau. (2020). 2015-2019 American Community Survey 5-
Year Estimates. Total Population. https://data.census.gov/ cedsci/.  

Table A-1. 2020 U.S. Census Bureau American Community Survey (ACS) data included in the 
analysis of Greeley’s water conservation programs.  

 
  

 
30 U.S. Census Bureau. (2021). “About the Hispanic Population and its Origin.” Available: 
https://www.census.gov/topics/population/hispanic-origin/about.html.  
31 U.S. Census Bureau. (2010). Overview of Race and Hispanic 
Origin: 2010. Available: https://www.census.gov/content/dam/Census/library/publications/2011/dec/c2010br-
02.pdf/.  
32 U.S. Census Bureau. (2021). “About the Hispanic Population and it's Origin.” Available: 
https://www.census.gov/topics/population/hispanic-origin/about.html.  
33 U.S. Census Bureau. (2021).  “Hispanic Origin.” Available: https://www.census.gov/topics/population/hispanic-
origin.html.  
34 For additional context about this Census question and the nuances of how Hispanic and Latino race and origin 
are interpreted in the Census, please see: Pew Research Center. (23 September 2021). “Who is Hispanic?” 
Available: https://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2021/09/23/who-is-hispanic/.  

Page 202

Item No. 15.

https://www.census.gov/topics/population/hispanic-origin/about.html
https://www.census.gov/content/dam/Census/library/publications/2011/dec/c2010br-02.pdf/
https://www.census.gov/content/dam/Census/library/publications/2011/dec/c2010br-02.pdf/
https://www.census.gov/topics/population/hispanic-origin/about.html
https://www.census.gov/topics/population/hispanic-origin.html
https://www.census.gov/topics/population/hispanic-origin.html
https://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2021/09/23/who-is-hispanic/


 
 

 72 

 

Appendix F – Review of Water Efficiency Program Analyses 
 

The review of water efficiency program analyses highlighted several core elements in 
approaches to methodologies for calculating water use changes resulting from water 
conservation and water efficiency programs. These elements are listed here and described in 
greater detail in the sections below.  

1. Data Included 
2. Water Savings Methodologies 
3. Baselines and Control Groups 
4. Metrics Tracking Program Costs, Benefits, and Return on Investment 
5. Methodologies for Understanding Participation in Conservation Programs 
6. Analysis Applications & Key Findings 

 

1. Data Included 
The data underlying water efficiency program analyses often included: 

● Water demand numbers/consumption data from billing information  
● Population numbers  
● Rebate program participation and available program details (number and type of 

dishwashers, toilets, clothes washers installed, etc.)   
● Educational program participation details (monthly classes held, number of Garden 

in a Box kits distributed, etc.)  
● Program costs  

 

2. Methodologies: Water Savings  
 
Analyses of water use change or water savings take a number of different forms. The sections 
below describe two approaches representative of different styles of conducting this analysis.   
 

A. Example One: Program Performance Analysis  
 

One study used R/R Studio to conduct its water efficiency program analysis; this software 
was chosen because of its free open-source nature, and because it enables the creation of 
replicable codes. The analysis team pulled water consumption data from customers’ billing 
information, and combined (or joined) this with data on participation in water efficiency 
programs. This data informs two key sets of calculations around indoor water use and 
outdoor water use.  
 
The general methodology applies the formula below: 
 

Water use change = Water use the year prior to participating in program – water 
use the year after participating 

Page 203

Item No. 15.



 
 

 73 

 
To calculate indoor water use, the study uses the formula below: 
 

Indoor water use = (Total use for Dec-Mar) + (WQA if month’s use exceeds WQA, 
otherwise total use for Apr-Nov) 

 
Where WQA (Winter Quarterly Average) = Average use December, January and 
February. 

 
● This approach defines the winter quarter as including the billing data from January, 

February, and March. December billing data is excluded because, given the way 
Aurora’s billing cycle is timed, January billing data encompasses most of the water 
use in December. March billing data is included to encompass water use in February.  

● This approach calculates the winter quarter’s average water use (WQA) and 
multiplies this by 12, to estimate water use in: (a) the year before and (b) the year 
after participation in a water efficiency program.  

● This approach compares water use across years, rather than across months.  
 
To calculate outdoor water use, the study uses the formula below: 
 

Outdoor water use = Apr – Oct water use greater than WQA. Outdoor water use is 
normalized for weather. 

 
● This approach calculates the total water consumption during the year’s outdoor 

months (April through November35) and subtracts the average indoor water use 
(described above as the average water use during the winter quarter or WQA). The 
average indoor water use average was applied to all months of the year before it 
was subtracted from the total water consumption during the year’s outdoor months. 

● This approach normalizes the data based on weather conditions: specifically, Plant 
Water Requirements (PWR). The PWR of the year in question was compared to PWR 
in the year before, and to a 10-year rolling average. If PWR was higher in the year 
before, compared to the 10-year rolling average, a ratio was created to adjust 
consumption down to account for this.  

 
Several additional steps also help prepare the data for analysis:  

● Any outliers were removed from the analysis before it was conducted. 
● Households in behavior-oriented programs were only included if the account was 

not transferred from a previously participating customer.  
● Customers that had a leak or break investigation from field services were not 

included in the analysis.  

 
35

 November meter reads are used to completely capture October water use data.  

Page 204

Item No. 15.



 
 

 74 

 
B. Example Two: Water Conservation Program Evaluation 

 
In another example, a community partnered with and used a company’s proprietary 
Sustainability Information Management System (SIMS) software to develop a spatial dataset 
including each customer’s account and account number, address, customer class, and 
program participation. They focused their water savings analysis on a subset of customers: 
single-family households with data going back to at least 2005. This reflected the fact that 
single family households made up the majority (over 95%) of water efficiency participants. 
Monthly data from 2005 was necessary to pre-date customer involvement in water 
efficiency programs, though this criteria did limit the number of customers included in the 
analysis. Customers that met both criteria accounted for 38-69 percent of program 
participants.  
 
This study’s general methodology involved calculating the average daily water 
use/connection for each month, using the following approach for all customers included in 
the analysis:  
 

Average daily water use for [month] = Sum of daily water use for all participants in 
the program of interest/number of available records for a particular month 
 
The sum of participant’s daily water use was divided by the number of available 
records, since not all participants had complete water records for the entire period 
of interest.  
 

This data was used to estimate both (1) the annual water savings of water efficiency 
programs and (2) the accumulated water savings from January 2005 to January 2011.  
 
To calculate the water savings of indoor water use programs, this study calculated the 
wintertime daily average water use:  
 

Indoor water use = Average daily water use from December through March   
  

Winter use was defined as December through March for all years except for 2005 
(which used January - March) and 2020 (which used December and January).  
 
This calculation measures changes in daily wintertime use per connection (units: 
gallons/day).  

 
To calculate the water savings of outdoor water use programs, the anaylsis calculated the 
total summertime outdoor water use:  
 

Page 205

Item No. 15.



 
 

 75 

Outdoor water use = Sum of all customer daily water use from April through 
October - (estimated daily wintertime water use from the preceding winter * 214 
days)  

 
This calculation measures changes in seasonal water use per connection (units: 
gallons).  

 
To account for the variable seasonal impact of wind, precipitation, and temperature, 
the summertime water use was compared to summertime water use in the previous 
year. Based on this comparison, a ratio was applied to normalize water use across 
different years. For instance, evaluations of one conservation program’s participants 
summertime water use for each of the years between 2006 - 2011 were normalized 
to the summertime water use in the year 2005.  

 
C. Additional Questions and Considerations 

 
There are many different approaches to calculating the water savings from water use 
efficiency programs. Key questions include:  

● How to define “indoor” and “outdoor” water use (for instance, what months are 
used to determine when outdoor water use is likely to occur). 

● How to adjust data to calculate indoor water use (some programs, for instance, 
have meter reads that separate indoor and outdoor water use, making the 
calculations to distinguish between indoor and outdoor water use unnecessary).  

● How to account for variable temperature, wind and precipitation rates and their 
impact on outdoor water use over time. For instance, while one city calculates the 
PWR from year to year, and uses this ratio to normalize outdoor water use across 
years, another used the ratio of water usage from year to year as the basis of a 
similar calculation.    

 
Time frames: It can be challenging to account for the impacts of a particular program 
over time. One report took the approach of calculating savings on a one-time basis 
(rather than tracking them over the long term). This analysis is branded as a “change 
analysis” – rather than a water savings analysis – as the impacts of programs often vary 
widely across different years, and do not always result in water savings.   
 
Another analysis, in comparison, calculates both the annual and the accumulated 
savings over the implementation of a water efficiency program. Its assessment also 
notes a wide range of savings across different years, which may reflect both variability in 
meter reading and billing across different time periods, as well as larger-scale water use 
trends. 
 

Page 206

Item No. 15.



 
 

 76 

Risk of Double-Counting: There is often a risk of “double-counting” water savings from 
participants who participate in multiple programs. Isolating program-specific savings 
was described as often very challenging across our informational interviews. Possible 
approaches to addressing this risk include: 
 

● Using a hierarchy model. One approach involves assigning a different weight to 
different water conservation programs, to estimate how much each contributed 
to overall water savings, and to avoid double counting.  

● Including a very clear disclaimer when presenting water savings numbers across 
different program types, noting that program-specific savings cannot simply be 
added up to get an overall total without a risk of double-counting and additional 
uncertainty.  

 

3. Baselines and Control Groups 
 

There are several different approaches to determine a reference point to measure the 
impact of water efficiency programs from.  
 
One approach is to establish a control group, a group of customers with similar (1) water 
use and (2) seasonal variation in water use as customers participating in water efficiency 
programs.  
 
An analysis by one community, for instance, mirrored the indoor and outdoor water use 
calculations for water efficiency programs for a group of 1,000 customers who did not 
participate in water efficiency programs, and had water usage data going back to 2005. 
Three-year rolling averages of water use were calculated across all control group 
participants, to smooth out some variability in gallons of water use/day/connection, due 
to variation in the dates of meter reads, among other factors. Outdoor water use data 
among control participants was also normalized according to the same method as 
treatment group participants (based on a ratio comparing current seasonal water use to 
seasonal water use in a control year).  
 
Another approach is to measure changes in participating customers, prior to, during, 
and after their participation in water efficiency programs.  
 
We found a number of analyses that took this approach. This methodology includes the 
caveat that many sources of variability – from the dates of meter reads and billing, to 
changes in weather conditions, to other larger trends in water use – can influence this 
data.  
 
These approaches are not mutually exclusive; conducting both can offer complementary 
insights into the impact of different programs.  

Page 207

Item No. 15.



 
 

 77 

 

4. Metrics tracking program costs, benefits, and return on investment  
 

A brief summary of common metrics used to calculate and communicate the costs, 
benefits and returns on investment for various programs follows below.  
 

● Total annual program costs  
● Water savings (gallons per day per unit or connection) 
● Water savings (estimated gallons saved annually by a program) 
● Water savings (estimated gallons saved over project lifetime) 
● Water savings (total acre feet saved per year)  
● Water savings (cumulative water savings across several years) 
● Cost/AF (according to year, to indoor/outdoor water use, and to program) 
● Rebate efficiency (AF/rebate)  
● Average savings/customer per program 
● For indoor rebates, years before the customer saved enough money to realize a 

return on their investment 
● Deep dives into case studies of high-volume users  

 

5. Methodologies for understanding participation in conservation programs (indoor, outdoor)  
 

A. Spatial analysis  
 

Cities often used spatial analysis to explore participation across different 
neighborhoods. 
 
Several reports, for instance, display maps that visualize participation indoor and 
outdoor water efficiency programs across different neighborhoods.  
 
Key visualizations include: 

● The rate of participation in indoor and outdoor water efficiency programs by 
neighborhood. This can include neighborhood-by-neighborhood analyses, 
and/or a hot spot analysis of participation in indoor and outdoor water efficiency 
programs across the city.  

● The change in water use by neighborhood. One community has displayed maps 
highlighting the 10-15 neighborhoods with the largest savings. The visualizations 
take the approach of celebrating savings, rather than naming and shaming 
neighborhoods with high water consumption. These maps explore water savings 
in terms of both aggregate and average water use changes.  

 

Page 208

Item No. 15.



 
 

 78 

These analyses only include customers who have several years of data available. It’s also 
important to note that turnover and new developments can significantly affect 
neighborhood water use levels from year to year.  

 

B. Customer and market segmentation analysis 
 

In addition to mapping participation, one community has explored using U.S. Census 
data to develop customer and market segmentation. For instance, based on statistical 
analyses, it is possible to identify what kinds of distinct customer groups exist, based on 
considerations such as infrastructure, demographics, and water use levels and patterns. 
This kind of analysis can support targeted marketing; for instance, identifying different 
water use patterns across different cultures and targeting marketing towards specific 
water uses. It’s important to have a way to flag changes in who lives at a property and 
to filter the analysis for this, when conducting this kind of analysis.  
 

A number of analyses also track participation by customer category, such as: combined, 
commercial, irrigation class, multi-family, and residential, or more detailed categories 
such as: auto dealership, church, condo, cross-listed, duplex/triplex, manufactured 
home, hotel/motel, multifamily (4-8), multifamily (9+), office, other, recreational, retail, 
single family, warehouse, and undefined. For instance, one city found that their Slow 
the Flow program, which provides free irrigation consultations, efficiency tests, and 
customized irrigation schedules, initially had high levels of residential demand, 
necessitating budget increases for the program. Currently, however, the program mostly 
attracts larger customers, such as HOAs.  

 

Analysis Applications and Key Findings 
 
For the communities we spoke to, water efficiency analyses serve both internal and external 
purposes. These analyses help inform planning for future infrastructure and supply needs. 
Internally, they also help justify the use of staff time to implement efficiency programs, and 
benchmark the performance of different efficiency programs, to guide internal decisions about 
the future evolution and prioritization of different efficiency programs. For instance, one 
community found that while its toilet rebate program offered a strong return on investment 
initially, once the program had replaced most of the older toilets, it had a diminishing impact on 
water savings, unless it started to target larger customers (e.g., schools, apartment complexes).  
 

 Additional Advice and Best Management Practices 
 
Several cross-cutting themes and best practices – described in greater detail below – emerged 
through interviews with communities who conducted a water use change analysis.  
  

A. Starting points and scoping the analysis 

Page 209

Item No. 15.



 
 

 79 

 
The communities suggested considering several key points when developing an analysis, 
including:  

● The future goals for data collection and analysis. Ideally, these considerations can 
also feed into the monitoring process – by starting with the question “how will we 
track this?” at the beginning of a program.  

● Keeping analyses “simple but defensible,” and “only as complex as they have to be.” 
One respondent noted that while it’s easy to make evaluations of water use quite 
complicated, often in response to input from internal experts, it’s important to also 
take into account the considerations around maintaining the data and repeating 
analyses across different years, potentially under the direction of different team 
members. It’s also helpful to keep the intended audiences for the analysis in mind, 
and to consider what types of metrics will be most effectively communicated. Often, 
these are the most straightforward indicators.  

● Updating analyses across different years. One respondent noted that they have 
worked to find a balance between updating methodology – to reflect lessons 
learned and to try new analytical approaches – and consistency with past 
methodologies, which makes it possible to easily compare program performance 
across different years.   

 
B. Data Management 

 
The interviews uncovered several recommendations around data management:  

● Standardizing the process for entering, and cleaning and processed data is very 
helpful. It is ideal to devote some time to thinking through data input, data use, and 
the data infrastructure plan as part of the larger analysis process.  

● It is vital to ensure the presence of joiner IDs (e.g., names, customer IDs, etc.) to 
match and combine information across different data sources.  

● In terms of sharing data across analysts, it’s helpful when all analysts use the same 
program (e.g., Excel, R Studio, ArcGIS) to ensure consistency across different 
analyses and any data sets that feed into the analysis. Sometimes combining or 
manipulating information from different systems (e.g., accessing and analyzing data 
from a system tracking customer water use) creates challenges.  

 
C. Communicating the Results  

 
In terms of communicating the results, several overarching suggestions included: 

● Tailoring the findings for different audiences; some metrics may be more interesting 
to internal planners or analysts who are most familiar with implementing water 
efficiency programs; other metrics may resonate more with public or policy-focused 
audiences.  

Page 210

Item No. 15.



 
 

 80 

● One City has branded its analysis as a “change analysis” rather than “water savings 
analysis,” since they do not always see water savings in the yearly analysis. Providing 
clear context to help viewers interpret the results and to understand what types of 
information they draw from is crucial.  

 
Resources and Reports 
 

Report Description 

Aurora Water. (2015). Aurora 
Water Conservation: 2015 
Annual Report. 

Summary of results of water efficiency analysis, in terms of 
both water savings and community participation in water 
efficiency programs.  

Aurora Water. (2015). 2015 
Municipal Water Efficiency Plan.  

Summary of water efficiency programs, and calculation of 
water savings by program from 2002-2012. This memo 
references Aurora’s more recent methodology (which has 
been updated significantly since 2015), and also provides a 
detailed description of the program’s earlier approaches to 
measuring water savings from efficiency programs.   

Alliance for Water Efficiency 
(AWE) Water Conservation 
Tracking Tool 

The Alliance for Water Efficiency (AWE) has developed an 
Excel-based Water Conservation Tracking Tool36 that 
evaluates water savings, costs, and benefits for a water 
utility’s conservation programs, using a standardized 
methodology for water savings and cost-benefit accounting. 
It includes a list of pre-defined conservation activities users 
can select to guide their analysis. The program also 
estimates reduction in greenhouse gas emissions resulting 
from changes to plumbing and/or energy codes and 
conservation program activity.  

City of Longmont, CH2MHill and 
Great Western Institute. 
(January 2013). Water 
Conservation Program 
Evaluation.  

Assesses the effectiveness of water conservation programs 
supported by the City of Longmont, and recommends 
adjustments to make those programs more cost effective. 
Includes a detailed description of the methodology behind 
the assessment of water conservation programs.  

City of Longmont, CH2MHill and 
WaterDM. (September 2017). 

Section 4, “Current and Future Water Efficiency Efforts,” 
summarizes the history and intended future for Longmont’s 

 
36

 For more details, visit: https://www.allianceforwaterefficiency.org/resources/topic/water-conservation-
tracking-tool.  

Page 211

Item No. 15.

https://resourcecentral.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/06/AuroraWater2015_WaterConservationAnnualReport_Final.pdf
https://resourcecentral.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/06/AuroraWater2015_WaterConservationAnnualReport_Final.pdf
https://resourcecentral.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/06/AuroraWater2015_WaterConservationAnnualReport_Final.pdf
http://p1cdn4static.civiclive.com/UserFiles/Servers/Server_1881137/File/Residents/Water/Water%20System/Aurora%20Water%20Facts/Final_2015_ConservationPlan_update_3.18.16.pdf
http://p1cdn4static.civiclive.com/UserFiles/Servers/Server_1881137/File/Residents/Water/Water%20System/Aurora%20Water%20Facts/Final_2015_ConservationPlan_update_3.18.16.pdf
https://www.allianceforwaterefficiency.org/resources/topic/water-conservation-tracking-tool
https://www.allianceforwaterefficiency.org/resources/topic/water-conservation-tracking-tool
https://www.allianceforwaterefficiency.org/resources/topic/water-conservation-tracking-tool
https://www.longmontcolorado.gov/home/showpublisheddocument/18065/636276044567930000
https://www.longmontcolorado.gov/home/showpublisheddocument/18065/636276044567930000
https://www.longmontcolorado.gov/home/showpublisheddocument/18065/636276044567930000
https://www.longmontcolorado.gov/home/showpublisheddocument/18065/636276044567930000
https://www.longmontcolorado.gov/home/showpublisheddocument/18065/636276044567930000
https://www.longmontcolorado.gov/home/showdocument?id=23548
https://www.longmontcolorado.gov/home/showdocument?id=23548
https://www.allianceforwaterefficiency.org/resources/topic/water-conservation-tracking-tool
https://www.allianceforwaterefficiency.org/resources/topic/water-conservation-tracking-tool


 
 

 81 

Water Efficiency Master Plan: 
Update to the 2008 Water 
Conservation Plan.  

water efficiency programs. It describes trends in gross and 
per capita residential water use and estimates future water 
savings from water efficiency programs.  

Feinglas, S., Gray, C., and 
Mayer, P. (November 2013). 
Conservation Limits Rate 
Increases for a Colorado Utility. 
Alliance for Water Efficiency.  

This study examines the long-term impact of water 
conservation on water rates and tap fees in the City of 
Westminster, Colorado and finds that rates would be 
substantially higher today if not for water savings achieved 
since 1980. Analysis draws on water demand records, water 
rates, tap fees, and capital project costs from 1980 through 
2010.  

Resource Central. (2020). 2019 
Annual Report: Water 
Conservation Impact. 

Overview of quantitative and qualitative metrics for 
different water conservation programs, including many 
educational programs.  

Water Research Foundation. 
(April 2016). Residential End 
Uses of Water, Version 2: 
Executive Report.  

The study identifies variations in water use by fixture or 
appliance (updating a 1999 study) and evaluates future 
conservation potential. It also includes predictive models to 
forecast residential demand.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 212

Item No. 15.

https://www.longmontcolorado.gov/home/showdocument?id=23548
https://www.longmontcolorado.gov/home/showdocument?id=23548
https://www.longmontcolorado.gov/home/showdocument?id=23548
https://www.waterdm.com/sites/default/files/Feinglas-Gray-Mayer-%282013%29-Conservation-Limits-Rate-Increases-For-Colorado-Utility.pdf
https://www.waterdm.com/sites/default/files/Feinglas-Gray-Mayer-%282013%29-Conservation-Limits-Rate-Increases-For-Colorado-Utility.pdf
https://www.waterdm.com/sites/default/files/Feinglas-Gray-Mayer-%282013%29-Conservation-Limits-Rate-Increases-For-Colorado-Utility.pdf
https://www.waterdm.com/sites/default/files/Feinglas-Gray-Mayer-%282013%29-Conservation-Limits-Rate-Increases-For-Colorado-Utility.pdf
https://www.waterdm.com/sites/default/files/Feinglas-Gray-Mayer-%282013%29-Conservation-Limits-Rate-Increases-For-Colorado-Utility.pdf
https://resourcecentral.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/01/All-Cities-Final-Report-2019.pdf
https://resourcecentral.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/01/All-Cities-Final-Report-2019.pdf
https://resourcecentral.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/01/All-Cities-Final-Report-2019.pdf
https://www.circleofblue.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/04/WRF_REU2016.pdf
https://www.circleofblue.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/04/WRF_REU2016.pdf
https://www.circleofblue.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/04/WRF_REU2016.pdf
https://www.circleofblue.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/04/WRF_REU2016.pdf


 
 

 82 

Appendix G – Water Use Change Analysis: Detailed Methodology  

 
In consultation with Greeley, WaterNow and WRA identified a subset of Greeley’s water 
conservation programs to focus the participation and water use analysis on (the full list of these 
programs is described in greater detail in Table A-2 below).   
 
The analysis covers participation in water efficiency programs during the years 2013-2018. 
Given the unusual factors – the COVID pandemic and resulting stay-at-home orders – affecting 
2020 water use, 2020 water use is not included in these calculations, and the water use change 
for participation in programs during 2018 is analyzed using only 2019 water use data.  
 
To conduct the analysis, we compared customers’ average water use two years prior to 
participation in Greeley’s water conservation programs, with their average water use two for 
two years following their participation in a water use program. While many other 
methodologies could provide helpful insight into the change in water use resulting from water 
conservation program participation (see the Resources and Reports section in Appendix F for a 
more detailed description of methodological approaches and related studies), this approach 
was determined to be the best match for Greeley’s existing data and data format.  
 
Specifically, we applied the following calculation to participants in evaluated programs:  
 

Water use change = Average water use for the two years prior to participating in 
program – average water use for the two years after participating 

 
This approach was applied to programs targeting indoor and outdoor water use. Indoor water 
use was calculated as the total water use during the months of January, February March, 
November, and December. For the remaining seven months of the year, it was assumed that 
indoor water use was the average monthly during these five winter months. A customer’s 
annual indoor water use was calculated using the approach below:  
 

Indoor water use = (Total use in Jan., Feb., March, Nov., Dec.) + (WQA*7) 
 

WQA (Winter Quarterly Average) = Average water use in Jan., Feb., March, Nov., Dec. 
 
 
Outdoor water use was defined as water using during the months of April through October, 
that was greater than the average indoor water use. Outdoor water use was calculated using 
the approach below: 
 

Outdoor water use = Apr. – Oct. water use, greater than WQA 
 

Page 213

Item No. 15.



 
 

 83 

Outdoor water use between years was normalized for weather, by using Greeley’s annual 
Irrigation Water Requirement (IWR).  
 
Once participants’ indoor or outdoor water use (depending on the conservation program being 
evaluated) was calculated, the average water use change was first calculated, and then applied 
to the years that a participant was active in the program (e.g., if a customer participated in 
2014, the average annual water savings was applied to the years 2015-2018). We referenced 
the default lifetime savings and annual savings decay rates cited in the AWE Water 
Conservation Tracking Tool; based on these values, only the Commercial and Residential Indoor 
and Outdoor Programs had a savings decay rate (of 20 percent annually) and a lifetime savings 
rate (of five years) that applied to the analyzed programs. The toilet rebates, for instance, had 
an estimated 25-years of savings – far beyond the six years included in this analysis (see Table 
A-3 for more details).  
 
The cost calculations used for each program typically included both the cost of a rebate along 
with administrative costs. It is important to note that the estimates around staff time are 
limited to the installation of a particular program or rebate (e.g., the process of reviewing an 
application). Longer, more overarching processes – such as developing programs, 
transportation, equipment, or advertising to increase participation in a program – are not 
captured in this analysis’s cost calculations.    
 

Page 214

Item No. 15.



 
 

 84 

 
Program Name Description  Indoor/Outdoor Water Use  Customer 

Types 
Years Analyzed 

Commercial and Residential Audits 

Commercial 2013-2018 
Use: Commercial Audits 
2013-2018 

Indoor Water Audits: Greeley Water Specialists come 
to a property to: 
● Review how a customer is using water 
● Identify areas of water waste 
● Provide recommendations and custom water use 
targets  
 
Outdoor (Irrigation) Audits: Greeley Water Specialists 
come to a property to: 
● Inspect watering zones and identify problems 
● Measure how much water is being applied 
● Check water pressure and recommend adjustments 
● Develop a custom watering schedule 

Indoor and/or Outdoor  CII, MFR 2013-2018 

Residential 2013-2018 Use: 
Residential Audits 2013-
2018  

Indoor and/or Outdoor  SFR 2013-2018 

Indoor Conservation Programs 
  

0.8 GPF Toilet Rebate Toilets that use 0.8 gallons per flush or less are 
eligible for rebates (with a two-toilet rebate per 
household limit). 

Indoor CII, MFR, SFR 2014-2018 

Dual Flush Toilet Rebate Greeley provided rebates for dual flush toilets, a 
variation of the flush toilet that uses two buttons or a 
handle mechanism to flush different amounts of 
water. 

Indoor CII, MFR, SFR 2013-2018 

Low Flow Toilet Rebate A low-flush toilet (or low-flow toilet or high-efficiency 
toilet) is a flush toilet that uses significantly less 
water than traditional high-flow toilets 

Indoor CII, MFR, SFR 2016-2018 

Ultra Low Flow Toilet 
Rebate 

Indoor CII, MFR, SFR 2013-2018 

Page 215

Item No. 15.



 
 

 85 

Toilet Rebates  Includes and summarizes the four programs listed 
above: an 0.8 GPF Toilet (2014-2018); a Dual Flush 
Toilet (2013-2018); a Low Flow Toilet Rebate (2016-
2018); and an Ultra Low Flow Toilet Rebate (2013-
2018). 

Indoor CII, MFR, SFR 2013-2018 

Front Loading Washer 
Rebate 

Greeley provided rebates for high-efficiency front 
loading clothes washers, which use less water and 
energy than standard top loading clothes washers. 
This program ended in 2018.  

Indoor CII, MFR, SFR 2013-2018 

Showerhead Exchange At showerhead exchanges, which are held 
periodically at events, customers can exchange their 
old showerheads for new low-flow models at no cost. 

Indoor CII, MFR, SFR 2017-2018 

Outdoor Conservation Programs 
  

ET Sensor Rebate An ET Sensor uses factors such as solar radiation, air 
temperature, relative humidity, and wind to calculate 
evapotranspiration and communicate it to the central 
software (e.g., to an irrigation controller) via the host 
controller's communication. 

Outdoor CII, MFR, SFR 2013-2018 

Spray Head Sprinkler 
Exchange 

Greeley enabled customers can exchange their old 
spray heads for more efficient models. 

Outdoor CII, MFR, SFR 2016-2018 

Rotary Nozzles Rebate Rotary nozzles increase uniformity and reduce 
overspray in irrigation systems. They operate by 
rotating a stream of water over the landscape, in 
contrast to the mist produced by spray-head 
sprinklers.   

Outdoor CII, MFR, SFR 2013-2018 

Smart Controller Rebate Smart controllers are automatic timing devices with 
nonvolatile memory used to remotely control valves 
that operate an irrigation system that is contractor 
grade quality. Smart controllers are able to self-adjust 
and reschedule irrigation events based on integrated 
instrumentation that measures evapotranspiration 
(weather-based) or soil moisture or flow or a 
combination. 

Outdoor CII, MFR, SFR 2013-2018 

Irrigation Controller Rebate Outdoor CII, MFR, SFR 2014-2018 

Page 216

Item No. 15.



 
 

 86 

 
Smart Controller Rebates were installed by Greeley’s 
Water Conservation Specialists, while Irrigation 
Controller Rebates were installed by the customer.   

Pressure Reducing Valve 
(PRV) Rebate 

A pressure-reducing valve reduces misting, a fine 
spray that results from irrigation systems that apply 
water at a very high pressure, resulting in excessive 
evaporation and water drifting away from the 
intended irrigation area. 

Outdoor CII, MFR, SFR 2013-2018 

Cash for Grass Rebate Greeley water customers who are exceeding their 
outdoor water budget can get cash for replacing their 
lawn with low water use plants. This 2018 pilot 
program aims to replace lawns with more sustainable 
landscapes, including Xeriscape, rain gardens, and 
pollinator plants. 

Outdoor CII, MFR, SFR 2018 

 
Table A-2. A summary of programs included in the analysis of program participation and water use savings. This list was narrowed 
down, and the final results only include programs if the number of customers with sufficient water use data was larger than 50. Year 
analyzed include all years that the program was active during the 2013-2018 window the analysis considers.  
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 217

Item No. 15.



 
 

 87 

Appendix H – Comparison of Results to Reference Values  
 

Greeley Water 
Conservation 
Program 

AWE 
Conservation 
Program 

AWE Model 
Values 
(gpd/unit) 

AWE Model Values: 
Estimated Annual 
Savings Per Account 
(gpy/unit) 

AWE Model Values: 
Estimated Annual Water 
Savings (AF) 

Life of Savings 
(years) 

Savings 
Decay (% 
/year)  

Residential Audits 
(Indoor + Outdoor) 

SFR Water Use 
Audit 

33.9 gpd/unit 12,374 23 5 20 

Front Loading 
Washer Rebate 

SFR Washer 
Rebate 

19.3gpd/unit 7,044.5 17.11 15 0 

Toilet Rebates SFR ULFT 
Replacement, SFR 
HET Replacement 

20.9 gpd/unit - 
27.8 gpd/unit 

7,628.5 – 10,147 16.26 25 0 

Smart Controller 
Rebate 

SFR Smart 
Irrigation 
Controller Rebate 

26.1 gpd/unit 9,527 3 10 0 

PRV Rebate ND ND ND ND ND ND 

Rotary Nozzles  SFR Irrigation 
Nozzle 
Replacement 

1.6 gpd/unit 584 3.37 10 0 

Commercial Audits 
(Indoor + Outdoor) 

CII Large 
Landscape Water 
Audit 

893 gpd/unit 325,945 87 5 20 

**For Residential and Commercial Audits, participants could select either or both the indoor and outdoor audits.  

** The Greeley Toilet Rebate program encompasses the 0.8 GPF Toilet, Dual Flush Toilets, Low Flow Toilet, and Ultra Low Flow Toilet programs. See Appendix 
G for more details about these programs.  
***Only accounts with sufficient water use data were included in these calculations, and only programs with at least 50 participants with sufficient water use 
data are presented in this table.  

Page 218

Item No. 15.



 
 

 88 

****For the columns labeled “AWE Model Values: Estimated 6 Year Water Program Savings (AF)” and “AWE Model Values: Estimated Annual Water Savings 
(AF)” the AWE model values were substituted for the calculated average annual water savings, to compare the study’s results to the results that would have 
been realized using model values. 

 
Table A-3. Estimates of water savings for included programs using the default values from the AWE Water Conservation Tracking 
Tool.  
 
Table A-3 compares the values found in this analysis with the default model values used in the AWE Water Conservation Tracking 
Tool. For most programs, the results are similar, with a few exceptions, notably the Commercial and Residential Audit programs, 
where the values found through the analysis are lower that what would be expected based from the AWE model default values. 
However, participation in these programs includes an especially wide range of variables, such as individual behavior change and 
different weather conditions (even while normalizing for weather by using IWR, conditions may still affect resident’s behavior and 
attitudes towards water use). For the Commercial Audit program, in particular, it is also possible that while participants are using 
water more efficiently, their overall water use still increases (for instance, their customer base or production grows, increasing their 
total water use). Participation in these Audits may also lead to participation in other rebates, as seen in the especially high level of 
overlap between the Residential Audit and other conservation programs, playing a role in generating the larger individual savings 
seen in some of the other programs.

Page 219

Item No. 15.



 
 

 89 

 

Page 220

Item No. 15.



City Council Agenda - City of Greeley, Colorado 

Council Agenda Summary 
December 6, 2022 

Key Staff Contact: Heidi Leatherwood, City Clerk 

  

Title:  

Introduction and first reading of an Ordinance re-authorizing various Boards and 

Commissions for three years 

Summary: 
 

City Charter §2-8 in part the following: 

 

Any Board or Commission not specifically created by this Charter shall be subject to 

periodic review by Council every three (3) years after the date of its creation. After 

review, Council may re-authorize the Board or Commission's authority or allow the 

Board or Commission to lapse by a majority vote of the entire Council. 

 

In accordance with this provision and past practice, this item proposes the 

reauthorization of the following boards to continue for a period of three years. 

 

1) Citizen Budget Advisory Committee 

2) Citizen Transportation Advisory Board 

3) Commission on Disabilities 

4) Downtown Development Authority 

5) Golf Board 

6) Historic Preservation Commission 

7) Rodarte Community Center Advisory Board 

8) Stormwater Board 

9) Youth Commission 

 

In 2023, the following boards are scheduled for Triennial Review and possible 

reauthorization. The City Clerk’s Office will work to develop a proposed process and 

criteria to guide the triennial reviews moving forward. 

 

1) Human Relations Commission 

2)         Museum Board 

3)         Parks & Recreation Advisory Board 

4)         Judicial Review Board 

 

 

Page 221

Item No. 16.



City Council Agenda - City of Greeley, Colorado 

Fiscal Impact: 
 

 
 

Does this item create a fiscal impact on the City of Greeley? No 

Is there grant funding for this item? N/A 

 

Legal Issues:   

Consideration of this matter is a legislative process. 

Other Issues and Considerations: 

None. 

Decision Options:  

1) Introduce the ordinance as presented; or 

2) Amend the ordinance and introduce as amended; or 

3) Deny the ordinance; or 

4) Continue consideration of the ordinance to a date certain. 

Council’s Recommended Action:  

A motion to introduce the ordinance and schedule the public hearing and second 

reading for January 3, 2023. 

Attachments: 

Ordinance 
 

Page 222

Item No. 16.



  

CITY OF GREELEY, COLORADO 

ORDINANCE NO. 1, 2023 

 

AN ORDINANCE RE-AUTHORIZING VARIOUS BOARDS AND COMMISSIONS  

FOR THREE YEARS 

  

WHEREAS, in November 2001, Greeley voters approved an amendment to the Home 

Rule Charter, in Section 2-8 Appointive Boards and Commissions, to require that City 

Council review its advisory groups every three years to determine whether the board or 

commission continues to serve the purpose for which it was created and decide 

whether or not to authorize its continuance: and 

 

WHEREAS, Ordinance No. 59, 2002, was adopted by City Council October 15, 2002, to 

implement this Charter amendment and thereby created a triennial review schedule 

for appointive boards and commissions; and 

 

WHEREAS, City Council is prepared to re-authorize these appointive groups for a three-

year period.  

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT HEREBY ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

GREELEY, COLORADO THAT: 

 

Section 1.  The following groups are hereby re-authorized for a period of three years 

from January 1, 2023, to expire December 31, 2025: 

1) Citizen Budget Advisory Committee 

2) Citizen Transportation Advisory Board 

3) Commission on Disabilities 

4) Downtown Development Authority 

5) Golf Board 

6) Historic Preservation Commission 

7) Rodarte Community Center Advisory Board 

8) Stormwater Board 

9) Youth Commission 

Section 2.  This ordinance shall become effective five days after its final publication as 

provided by the Greeley City Charter. 

 

PASSED, ADOPTED, SIGNED AND APPROVED, THIS _____ DAY OF JANUARY 2023. 

 

ATTEST:     CITY OF GREELEY, COLORADO 

 

 

 

_______________________________  ____________________________________ 

City Clerk     Mayor 

Page 223

Item No. 16.



City Council Agenda - City of Greeley, Colorado 

Council Agenda Summary 
December 6, 2022 

Key Staff Contact: Sean Chambers, Water & Sewer Director, 970-350-9815 

  

Title:  

Introduction and first reading of an Ordinance for the sixth amendment to the 

development agreement for Leprino Foods Company 

Summary: 
 

In 2008, the City and Leprino entered into a Development Agreement for Leprino’s 

construction of a dairy product manufacturing facility in Greeley. The Development 

Agreement required the City to provide Leprino with treated water service for all three 

planned phases of its development, which was then estimated at 1,344 acre feet per 

year at buildout. To meet Greeley’s raw water requirements for the facility, the 

Development Agreement granted Leprino certain raw water credits (including a 600 

acre feet credit for “Produced Water” generated from milk as a byproduct during 

processing at the facility), and allowed Leprino to pay cash-in-lieu of providing raw 

water at a favorable rate. 

 

As Leprino began operations and was constructing the three phases of its facility, it was 

apparent that the facility’s original estimated demand of 1,344 acre feet per year was 

low. Through 2016, Leprino had purchased 1,133 acre feet of cash-in-lieu water, which 

reflected the entirety of the favorably priced cash-in-lieu (Leprino Water Bank Rate) as 

defined in the original Development Agreement. In March 2017, Greeley City Council 

approved the Fourth Amendment of the Development Agreement for Leprino. The 

Fourth Amendment made changes to the Development Agreement that made 

available to Leprino additional raw water at discounted cash-in-lieu rates, but also 

required Leprino to match each acre foot of discounted cash-in-lieu water with a 

dedication of Colorado-Big Thompson (C-BT) water. After the dedication of C-BT, 

Leprino has the option to purchase 55 acre feet of water at the original Leprino Water 

Bank Rate ($4,500/acre foot, increasing 4% annually starting in 2015) and up to 150 acre 

feet of water at the New Leprino Water Bank Rate ($12,000, increasing 4% annually 

starting in 2018). Since the adoption of the Fourth Amendment, Leprino had dedicated 

247 units of C-BT water, reflecting 190 acre feet of water, but has not purchased any of 

the additional discounted cash-in-lieu water. After the dedication of 190 acre feet of 

C-BT, Leprino’s total raw water allotment is 2,134 acre feet. 

 

The original Development Agreement envisioned the Leprino facility would be built out 

by 2018 and that after 2018 any water usage by Leprino over the raw water allotment 

would be subject to a raw water surcharge. This provision was unchanged in the 

subsequent amendments to the Development Agreement. In 2020, Leprino used 

2,306.53 acre feet of water, exceeding their allotment by 172.53 acre feet. At the 2020 

raw water surcharge rate of $10.05 per thousand gallons, this overage resulted in a 

total raw water surcharge of $565,001.68 due to Greeley from Leprino. 

 

Page 224

Item No. 17.



City Council Agenda - City of Greeley, Colorado 

At the time the Fourth Amendment to the Development Agreement was developed 

and approved, the exact amount of decreed Produced Water was unknown. (Greeley 

and Leprino received the decree for the Produced Water on April 17, 2020.) The Fourth 

Amendment defined the option for Greeley to purchase the excess water above 600 

acre feet of Produced Water (called Excess Decreed Amount) and the purchase price 

for Greeley would be the New Leprino Water Bank Rate (escalated at 4%). The 

Produced Water volume was approximately 840 acre feet of water, or 240 acre feet 

above the 600 acre feet of raw water credit given to Leprino. Although Greeley 

declined to purchase any of this additional water, staff agreed to allow Leprino to 

satisfy their raw water surcharge liability with a portion of the Excess Decreed Amount 

supplies rather than pay the surcharge with cash. The enclosed Sixth Amendment to 

the Development Agreement reflects Greeley purchasing 38.70 acre feet of Excess 

Decreed Amount water, which reflects the volume of water the raw water surcharge 

of $565,001.68 can purchase using the 2022 New Leprino Water Bank Rate of 

$14,599.83/acre foot. 

Fiscal Impact: 
 

Does this item create a fiscal impact on the City of Greeley? Yes 

If yes, what is the initial, or, onetime impact? $565,001,68 

What is the annual impact? None 

What fund of the City will provide Funding?  Water Acquisition Fund 

What is the source of revenue within the fund? Cash-in-Lieu 

Is there grant funding for this item? No 

If yes, does this grant require a match?  

Is this grant onetime or ongoing?  

Additional Comments: Greeley is using revenue owed from Leprino to pay for an 

additional water supply 

Legal Issues:   

Consideration of this matter is a legislative process. 

 

Decision Options:  

1) Introduce the ordinance as presented; or 

2) Amend the ordinance and introduce as amended; or 

3) Deny the ordinance; or 

4) Continue consideration of the ordinance to a date certain. 

Council’s Recommended Action:  

A motion to introduce the ordinance and schedule the public hearing and final 

reading for January 3, 2023. 

Attachments: 

Ordinance 

6th Amendment – Leprino Foods Development Agreement 

PowerPoint 

Page 225

Item No. 17.



CITY OF GREELEY, COLORADO 

ORDINANCE NO. 2, 2023 

 

AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE CITY TO ENTER INTO A SIXTH AMENDMENT TO THE 

DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT WITH LEPRINO FOODS COMPANY 

 

 

WHEREAS, on June 13, 2008, the City and Leprino entered into a Development Agreement 

(“Initial Development Agreement”); and,  

 

WHEREAS, on November 25, 2008, the City and Leprino entered into the First Amendment to 

the Initial Development Agreement (“First Amendment”); and,  

 

WHEREAS, on July 15, 2013, the City and Leprino entered into the Second Amendment to the 

Initial Development Agreement (“Second Amendment”); and, 

 

WHEREAS, on February 17, 2016, the City and Leprino entered into the Third Amendment to the 

Initial Development Agreement (“Third Amendment”); and, 

 

WHEREAS, on March 13, 2017, the City and Leprino entered into the Fourth Amendment to the 

Initial Development Agreement (“Fourth Amendment”); and, 

 

WHEREAS, on April 4, 2019, the City and Leprino entered into the Fifth Amendment to the Initial 

Development Agreement (“Fifth Amendment”); and, 

 

WHEREAS, pursuant to the Initial Development Agreement as amended (hereinafter, the 

“Development Agreement”), Leprino has satisfied its obligation to supply the City with raw 

water sufficient to meet the needs of the first two phases of the Project (as defined in the 

Development Agreement); and,  

 

WHEREAS, in 2017 Leprino determined that it would require water service for Phase III of the 

Project that exceeded the amounts initially estimated and addressed in the Development 

Agreement and previously purchased by Leprino pursuant thereto; and, 

 

WHEREAS, the City and Leprino addressed Leprino’s satisfaction of its raw water obligations 

with respect to its anticipated water demands for Phase III of the Project and, in connection 

therewith, amended certain related provisions of the Development Agreement (see the Fourth 

Amendment); and, 

 

WHEREAS, in satisfaction of Subsections I(F)(1)(e)(i)-(v) of the Fourth Amendment, the City filed 

the Water Court Application and obtained a water court decree acceptable to Leprino; and, 

 

WHEREAS, under Subsections I(F)(1)(e)(v) of the Fourth Amendment, the City was granted 600 

acre-feet of Produced Water, and the exclusive option to purchase that quantity of Produced 

Water greater than 600 acre-feet of water per year (based upon the accounting approach 

approved in the Water Court Application and based upon the average quantity of water 

available to the City annually over a 36 month time period commencing after Leprino has 

completed Phase III of the Project and achieved full production and milk receiving capacity 

Page 226

Item No. 17.



at the anticipated Phase III milk receiving design capacity) (defined as the “Excess Decreed 

Amount” under the Fourth Amendment); and,  

 

WHEREAS, in January 2019, Leprino completed Phase III of the Project, and based on the 36 

month average, the parties have determined that the Excess Decreed Amount is 

approximately 240 acre-feet; and, 

 

WHEREAS, in 2020, Leprino’s annual raw-water allotment was 2,134 acre-feet but its actual use 

was 2,306.53 acre-feet, exceeding its allotment by approximately 172.53 acre-feet. In lieu of 

paying cash to satisfy the applicable surcharge, Leprino has agreed to grant, and the City has 

agreed to accept, a license to 38.70 acre-feet of the Excess Decreed Amount; and, 

 

WHEREAS, subject to the terms of this Sixth Amendment, the City is acquiring 38.70 acre-feet of 

the Excess Decreed Amount and relinquishing its rights to exercise the exclusive option to 

purchase all or a portion of the remaining Excess Decreed Amount; and,  

 

WHEREAS, the City and Leprino desire to amend the Development Agreement in accordance 

with this Sixth Amendment; and,  

 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 20-268 of the Greeley Municipal Code (“Municipal Code”), City 

Council is authorized to approve special agreements that modify the requirements for water 

service under Chapter 3, Title 20 of the Municipal Code; and, 

 

WHEREAS, it is in the best interest of the citizens of the City of Greeley for Council to enter into 

this Agreement. 

 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF GREELEY, COLORADO: 

 

Section 1.  The City Council hereby authorizes the City to enter into an Agreement entitled 

“Sixth Amendment to the Development Agreement”, a copy of which is attached hereto and 

incorporated herein as Exhibit A.   

 

Section 2.    This Ordinance shall take effect on the fifth day following its final publication, as 

provided by Section 3-16 of the Greeley City Charter. 

 

PASSED AND ADOPTED, SIGNED AND APPROVED ON THIS _____ DAY OF __________________ 2023.  

 

ATTEST   CITY OF GREELEY, COLORADO 

 

 

 

 

         

City Clerk    Mayor 

Page 227

Item No. 17.



SIXTH AMENDMENT TO THE DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 

 

This Sixth Amendment to the DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT (“Sixth Amendment”) is entered 

into as of ___________, 2023 by and between LEPRINO FOODS COMPANY (“Leprino”), a Colorado 

corporation, and THE CITY OF GREELEY, COLORADO, a home rule municipal corporation (“City”).  

 

WHEREAS, on June 13, 2008, the City and Leprino entered into a Development Agreement 

(“Initial Development Agreement”); and,  

 

WHEREAS, on November 25, 2008, the City and Leprino entered into the First Amendment to 

the Initial Development Agreement (“First Amendment”); and,  

 

WHEREAS, on July 15, 2013, the City and Leprino entered into the Second Amendment to the 

Initial Development Agreement (“Second Amendment”); and, 

 

WHEREAS, on February 17, 2016, the City and Leprino entered into the Third Amendment to the 

Initial Development Agreement (“Third Amendment”); and, 

 

WHEREAS, on March 13, 2017, the City and Leprino entered into the Fourth Amendment to the 

Initial Development Agreement (“Fourth Amendment”); and, 

 

WHEREAS, on April 4, 2019, the City and Leprino entered into the Fifth Amendment to the Initial 

Development Agreement (“Fifth Amendment”); and, 

 

WHEREAS, pursuant to the Initial Development Agreement as amended (hereinafter, the 

“Development Agreement”), Leprino has satisfied its obligation to supply the City with raw water sufficient 

to meet the needs of the first two phases of the Project (as defined in the Development Agreement) by a) 

applying the 211 acre-feet initial raw water credit extended by the City at no charge to Leprino; b) receiving 

the 600 acre-feet maximum “applicable credit” for “Produced Water” defined therein and extended by the 

City; and c)  paying cash in lieu of dedicating raw water for approximately 813 acre-feet of water at the 

applicable “Leprino Water Bank Rate” defined therein; and,  

 

WHEREAS, in March 2016 Leprino paid for the remaining approximately 320 acre-feet of cash-

in-lieu raw water credit available at the applicable Leprino Water Bank Rate under the Development 

Agreement, which brought the total amount of cash-in-lieu of raw water credit Leprino has purchased to 

1,133 acre-feet, and,  

 

WHEREAS, the Development Agreement capped Leprino’s entitlement thereunder to purchase 

water at the applicable Leprino Water Bank Rate at 1,133 acre feet (1,344 acre-feet estimated demand minus 

211 acre-feet of initial raw water credit), but provided that Leprino could, if needed, purchase additional 

water in excess of 1,133 acre-feet at a rate no greater than the City’s most favorable cash in lieu rate, or at 

an available water bank rate, in effect at the time of such additional purchase; and,  

 

WHEREAS, in 2017 Leprino determined that it would require water service for Phase III of the 

Project that exceeded the amounts initially estimated and addressed in the Development Agreement and 

previously purchased by Leprino pursuant thereto; and, 

 

WHEREAS, the City and Leprino addressed Leprino’s satisfaction of its raw water obligations 

with respect to its anticipated water demands for Phase III of the Project and, in connection therewith, 

amended certain related provisions of the Development Agreement (see the Fourth Amendment); and, 

 

Page 228

Item No. 17.



2 

 

WHEREAS, in satisfaction of Subsections I(F)(1)(e)(i)-(v) of the Fourth Amendment, the City 

filed the Water Court Application and obtained a water court decree acceptable to Leprino (“Case No. 

17CW3020”); and, 

 

WHEREAS, under Subsections I(F)(1)(e)(v) of the Fourth Amendment, the City was granted 600 

acre-feet of Produced Water, and the exclusive option to purchase that quantity of Produced Water greater 

than 600 acre-feet of water per year (based upon the accounting approach approved in the Water Court 

Application and based upon the average quantity of water available to the City annually over a 36 month 

time period commencing after Leprino has completed Phase III of the Project and achieved full production 

and milk receiving capacity at the anticipated Phase III milk receiving design capacity) (defined as the 

“Excess Decreed Amount” under the Fourth Amendment); and,  

 

WHEREAS, in January 2019, Leprino completed Phase III of the Project, and based on the 36 

month average, the parties have determined that the Excess Decreed Amount is approximately 240 acre-

feet; and, 

 

WHEREAS, in 2020, Leprino’s annual raw-water allotment was 2,134 acre-feet but its actual use 

was 2,306.53 acre-feet, exceeding its allotment by approximately 172.53 acre-feet. In lieu of paying cash 

to satisfy the applicable surcharge, Leprino has agreed to grant, and the City has agreed to accept, a license 

to 38.70 acre-feet of the Excess Decreed Amount; and, 

 

WHEREAS, subject to the terms of this Sixth Amendment, the City is acquiring 38.70 acre-feet 

of the Excess Decreed Amount and relinquishing its rights to exercise the exclusive option to purchase all 

or a portion of the remaining Excess Decreed Amount; and,  

 

WHEREAS, initially capitalized terms used herein and defined in the Development Agreement 

shall have the meanings contained in the Development Agreement unless otherwise modified or defined 

herein; and,  

 

WHEREAS, the Development Agreement may be amended from time to time, in whole or in part, 

by mutual written consent of the parties hereto or their successors in interest; and  

 

WHEREAS, the City and Leprino desire to amend the Development Agreement in accordance 

with this Sixth Amendment.  

 

IN CONSIDERATION OF THE RECITALS, COVENANTS, AND PROVISIONS SET FORTH 

HEREIN AND OTHER GOOD AND VALUABLE CONSIDERATION, THE RECEIPT, 

SUFFICIENCY, AND ADEQUACY OF WHICH ARE HEREBY ACKNOWLEDGED BY AND 

BETWEEN THE PARTIES, THE PARTIES AGREE AS FOLLOWS:  

 

I. 2020 Surcharge. As of 2018, Leprino has dedicated or received a raw water dedication credit for a 

total allotment of 2,134 acre-feet. In 2020, Leprino’s actual use exceeded its allotment by 

approximately 172.53 acre-feet. Pursuant to subsections I(F)(1)(d)(iv)-(v) of the Fourth 

Amendment, Leprino is subject to the City’s raw water surcharge (Sec. 20-260 of the Greeley 

Municipal Code) for any water use that exceeds its annual allotment. Based on the 2020 raw water 

surcharge rate, Leprino owes a surcharge fee of approximately $565,001.68. In lieu of a cash 

payment, however, Leprino has agreed to grant, and the City has agreed to accept, a license to a 

portion of the Excess Decreed Amount (referred to below in this Sixth Amendment as the “Excess 

Amount”) that is equal in value to the surcharge (or 38.70 acre-feet) as provided for in subsections 

I(F)(1)(d)(iv) and I(F)(1)(e) below.  

 

Page 229

Item No. 17.



3 

 

II. Relinquishment of the Option. Pursuant to the Fourth Amendment, the City was granted an option 

to purchase all or a portion of the Excess Decreed Amount. The City has decided not to exercise its 

right; and except as provided in I(F)(1)(e)(i) below, the City hereby relinquishes any and all rights 

to the Excess Decreed Amount (or the “Excess Amount” as defined herein), less the 38.70 acre-

feet as provided above. In accordance with this relinquishment, the City acknowledges that Leprino 

is free to use, license, lease, or sell to any other party on terms selected by Leprino, in its sole 

discretion, the right to use the balance or unlicensed portion of the Excess Decreed Amount (or 

201.30 acre-feet as of 2022, which amount may increase or decrease in future years). 

 

III. Amendments. Section I(F)(1)(d)-(e) of the Development Agreement is hereby amended and 

replaced in its entirety as follows: 

 

d. Dedication of Raw Water. 

 

i. Amounts Previously Dedicated or Credited. Separate and apart from the PIF and the water 

service charge specified above for treatment and delivery of water, the City requires new 

developers to dedicate to the City, sufficient raw water for the anticipated water needs of the 

development project. Prior to completion of Phase III of the Project , Leprino anticipated that 

its use would not exceed 2,354 acre-feet annually. In partial satisfaction of its projected 

demand, Leprino dedicated or received a credit for a total of 2,134 acre-feet of raw water in 

accordance with the Development Agreement. The amounts dedicated by or credited to Leprino 

are presented in the following table.  

 

 

 

ii. Additional Amounts Available. To meet the balance of its projected raw water dedication 

requirements (i.e., 220 acre-feet), Leprino may satisfy the first 55 acre-feet by paying a cash-

in-lieu fee equal to the City’s former water bank rate of $4,500/acre foot (the "Leprino Water 

Bank Rate"). Beginning January 1, 2015, the Leprino Water Bank Rate will increase at a rate 

of 4% per year, accruing and compounded annually (or $6,158.56 /acre-foot as of the date of 

this Sixth Amendment). Leprino may satisfy the balance (i.e., 165 acre-feet for a total of 220 

acre-feet) by paying a cash-in-lieu fee of $12,000/acre-foot (the “New Leprino Water Bank 

Rate”), based on credits previously transferred into the City’s water bank in 2017. Beginning 

January 1, 2018, the New Leprino Water Bank Rate shall increase at the rate of 4% per year, 

accruing and compounded annually (or $14,599.83/acre-foot as of the date of this Sixth 

Year 
Raw Water 

Credit (af) 

Cash-in-

Lieu (af) 

Produced Water 

Credit (af) 

C-BT 

(Units) 

C-BT 

Credit 

(af) 

Total Water 

(af) 

2011 211  78.38     289.38 

2012  52.35 273.82     615.55 

2013  182.41 247.8     1045.76 

2014  522.44       1568.20 

2015  55.59       1623.79 

2016  320.21       1944.00 

2017      167 128.46 2072.46 

2018      80 61.54 2134 

Total 211 1,133 600 247 190 2134 

Page 230

Item No. 17.



4 

 

Amendment). Leprino may acquire additional water service beyond the projected 2354 acre-

feet only by satisfying the City’s raw water dedication requirements in existence at the time of 

any request for such additional service.   

 

iii. Supplemental Cash-in-Lieu for Overages. As specified above, Leprino has previously 

dedicated or received a credit for a total amount of 2,134 acre-feet of raw water and may furnish 

an additional 220 acre-feet to the City by paying a cash-in-lieu fee in accordance with 

subparagraph I(F)(1)(d)(ii) above. Currently, Leprino’s annual use is approximately 2102 acre-

feet. If Leprino exceeds its annual allotment for two consecutive calendar years or if the amount 

of Produced Water available to the City is less than 638.701 acre-feet resulting in a reduced 

annual allotment for two consecutive calendar years, then Leprino shall be required to pay a 

cash-in-lieu fee in accordance with subparagraph I(F)(1)(d)(ii) above to increase its annual 

allotment by an amount equal to either (1) the average volume of water used above its annual 

allotment or (2) the average volume of Produced Water less than 638.70 acre-feet that is made 

available to the City over the applicable two consecutive calendar year period. The payment of 

any cash-in-lieu fee pursuant to this section shall be in addition to any surcharge assessed 

pursuant to subparagraph I(F)(1)(d)(v) below.    

 

iv.  Surcharge.  If Leprino's actual usage in any calendar year exceeds its allotment (i.e., 2,134 

acre-feet as of the date of this Sixth Amendment) or if the amount of Produced Water available 

to the City in any calendar year is less than 638.70 acre-feet resulting in a reduced annual 

allotments, then the City's standard raw water surcharge shall apply. In the City’s sole 

discretion, Leprino may satisfy a raw water surcharge by allocating to the City a portion of the 

Excess Amount (defined below), if any, equal to the calculated surcharge. The value of the 

Excess Amount shall be determined based on the New Leprino Water Bank Rate as set out in 

subsection I(F)(1)(d)(ii).  

 

e. Water Produced by Leprino; License. As a manufacturer of cheese and related dairy products, 

Leprino purchases a large volume of fluid milk that is delivered to its factories. The milk is 

then processed in the cheese making and whey manufacturing process such that most of the 

solids, fat, protein, and other minerals and components are removed and segregated into various 

product streams for eventual sale. Approximately 87% of the raw milk consists of water. The 

water portion of the milk that is not retained in the cheese or whey products is ultimately 

collected by Leprino and remains in Leprino's ownership, dominion, and control. Leprino refers 

to this water portion of the milk as "Produced Water."  

 

i. License. Leprino hereby grants to the City a license, in accordance with and subject to the 

terms of this Agreement, to use, reuse, successively use, and/or dispose of 638.70 acre-feet per 

year of the Produced Water portion of Leprino’s wastewater discharge from the Plant for as 

long as Leprino operates the Plant (the “License”). The grant of the License shall be a condition 

precedent to the rights and obligations of the parties under this paragraph I(F)(1)(e). 

 

ii. Excess Amount. In 2017, the City and Leprino filed an application in Division 1 Water 

Court  and received a decree in Case No. 17CW3020 on April 17, 2020, to use, reuse, 

successively use, and/or dispose of the Produced Water for use for augmentation and 

replacement purposes. Leprino previously estimated that the Project, upon completion, would 

                                                 
1  Because it intended to satisfy the 2020 surcharge, the additional 38.70 acre-feet of Produced Water shall not be added to 

Leprino’s annual allotment.  In order to ensure that Leprino has dedicated an amount of raw water adequate to cover its 

annual allotment and its obligation under Section I(F)(1)(e), however, the 38.70 acre-feet shall be considered for purposes 

of calculating the amounts under Sections I(F)(1)(d)(iii) and (iv).  

Page 231

Item No. 17.



5 

 

produce approximately 600 acre-feet/year of Produced Water on an annual basis. Based upon 

a 36-month average after completion, the Project has produced approximately 840 acre-feet of 

Produced Water or 240 acre-feet above its previous estimate (“Excess Amount”). If additional 

measurement devices at the Plant are required by the State or Division Engineer, the parties 

agree to share equally the costs of installation of such devices, and to mutually agree upon any 

burden to be assumed by either party to read, report the results of, and maintain such devices. 

 

iii. Licensed Water. The period for revoking the License (as described in the Fourth 

Amendment) has passed. Pursuant to subsection I(F)(1)(d)(v), Leprino has agreed to grant, and 

the City has agreed to accept, a license to use, reuse, successively use, and/or dispose of 38.70 

acre-feet of the Excess Amount (in lieu of a cash surcharge payment pursuant to subsection 

I(F)(1)(d)(iv) above), for a total 638.70 acre-feet of Produced Water available to the City under 

the License (“Licensed Water”). In the event that Leprino, its third party licensee, lessee, or 

grantee seek to use the amount of Produced Water over and above the 638.70 acre-feet of 

Licensed Water, the quantification of such use must be consistent with the quantification 

method approved in the decree entered in Case No. 17CW3020. 

 

IV. Other Terms in Full Force and Effect. Except as specifically modified herein, all of the terms 

and conditions of the Development Agreement, First Amendment, Second Amendment, Third 

Amendment, Fourth Amendment and Fifth Amendment remain in full force and effect.  
 

[Signature page to follow] 

  

Page 232

Item No. 17.



6 

 

THE CITY OF GREELEY, a home rule 

municipal corporation 

 

 

By:__________________________ 

Mayor 

 

ATTESTED: 

 

 

By:__________________________ 

City Clerk 

 

APPROVED AS TO SUBSTANCE: 

 

 

By:__________________________ 

 Raymond C. Lee, III, City Manager  

       

APPROVED AS TO AVAILABILITY OF 

FUNDS: 

 

 

By:________________________________ 

John Karner, Finance Director 

 

APPROVED AS TO LEGAL FORM: 

 

 

By:__________________________ 

Douglas Marek, City Attorney 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

LEPRINO FOODS COMPANY, a Colorado 

Corporation 
  

 

By: _____________________________ 

Its: _____________________________ 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM AND  

ENFORCEABILITY  

 

 

By: _____________________________ 

Its: Vice-president and General Counsel 

 

 

 

Page 233

Item No. 17.



Sixth Amendment to 
the Leprino 

Development 
Agreement

City Council 
1st Reading - December 6, 2022

Page 234

Item No. 17.



Leprino Development Agreement 
Background

• Original Development Agreement in 2008

• Raw water credits and costs a key component of the agreement

o “Produced Water” from dairy process was a key part of the raw water 

dedication, and an uncertain amount when the agreement was negotiated

o Leprino was granted up to 1,133 acre feet (AF) of favorable cash-in-lieu water 

priced at $4,500/AF (Leprino Water Bank Rate)

• Total demand was projected to be 1,344 AF at buildout

Page 235

Item No. 17.



Fourth Amendment to Development 
Agreement
• Leprino was successful – buildout projection for water demand too low

• All 1,133 AF of Leprino Water Bank Rate water was purchased

• Produced Water volume still unknown 

• Leprino requested additional cash-in-lieu at a favorable rate

o Greeley offered 55 AF at Leprino Water Bank Rate and 150 AF at the New 

Leprino Water Bank Rate ($12,000/AF to start)

o Leprino had to dedicate an equal amount of C-BT water to receive cash-in-

lieu 

Page 236

Item No. 17.



Leprino’s Raw Water - Current

Source of Water Supply Volume (Acre Feet)

Credit associated with site 211

Produced Water credit (decreed – Apr 
2020) 600

Leprino Water Bank 1,133

C-BT Dedication 190

Leprino’s Allotment 2,134 

 Leprino did not purchase any additional cash-in-lieu under the 
terms of the Fourth Amendment to the Development Agreement

Page 237

Item No. 17.



Leprino’s Raw Water Overage - 2020

Volume - AF

Credit associated with site 211

Produced Water credit (decreed) 600

Leprino Water Bank 1,133

C-BT Dedication 190

Leprino’s Allotment 2,134

Total Usage - 2020 2,306.53

2020 Overage 172.53

• Buildout occurred in 
2018 – raw water 
surcharges for any 
usage over allotment

• Leprino’s overage in 
2020 results in 
amount owed of 
$565,001.68

Page 238

Item No. 17.



Sixth Amendment – Key Terms

• Per the Fourth Amendment, Greeley had the option to purchase 

the Excess Decreed Amount (240 AF), or the volume above 600 

AF

o In 2022, Leprino and Greeley staff agreed to use the $565,001.68 

Leprino owes for the raw water surcharge for Greeley to purchase 

38.70 AF of Excess Decreed Amount water

o Greeley relinquishes all rights to the remainder of the Excess 

Decreed Amount

o Defined remaining available cash-in-lieu amounts
Page 239

Item No. 17.



Leprino’s Potential Raw Water –

Sixth Amendment
Volume - AF

Credit associated with site 211

Produced Water credit (decreed) 600

Leprino Water Bank 1,133

C-BT Dedication 190

Leprino’s Allotment 2,134

Potential New Supplies

Additional Leprino Water Bank 55

New Leprino Water Bank 165

Potential Total Supply - AF 2,354

• Leprino can increase 
their allotment

• Leprino staff has 
indicated that they 
believe 2,134 AF is 
sufficient for their 
operations

Page 240

Item No. 17.



Recommended Action:

• Introduce the Ordinance and schedule the public hearing and final 

reading on January 3, 2023.

Page 241

Item No. 17.



Questions?

Page 242

Item No. 17.



City Council Agenda - City of Greeley, Colorado 

Council Agenda Summary 
  

Title:  

Pulled Consent Agenda Items 

Summary:  

Pulled Consent Agenda items will be considered in the order they appeared on the 

consent agenda. 

 

 

Page 243

Item No. 18.



City Council Agenda - City of Greeley, Colorado 

Council Agenda Summary 
December 6, 2022 

Key Staff Contact: Benjamin Snow, Economic Health & Housing Director 

  

Title:  

Public hearing to Consider a Substantial Amendment (#4) to the Community 

Development Block Grant Coronavirus (“CDBG-CV”) related to the 2020-2024 

Consolidated Plan and 2020 Action Plan 

Summary: 
 

The City has received two rounds of CARES Act Funding through the Community 

Development Block Grant Coronavirus (CDBG-CV 3). The total of the two rounds of 

funding received is $1,020,067. The grants are specifically for the preparation for, 

prevention of, and response to the COVID-19 pandemic. The City tried to implement 

several activities to use funds, but the only activity to move forward has been support 

for the Housing Navigation Center/Cold Weather Shelter/Day Use Facility run by United 

Way of Weld County. 

 

United Way updated the application submitted in October 2021 requesting an 

increase in CDBG-CV funding by $192,000 (see attachments) to increase support for 

staff providing the services and meals for guests. The City has requested that the shelter 

be open 24/7 from November 15, 2022 through April 15, 2023; CDBG-CV funds will 

provide support for the additional hours.  

 

Also attached is proposed Substantial Amendment #4. This Amendment is for the 

changes noted below.  

 

Proposed Substantial Amendments 

1. Increase allocation to Administration from $193,635 to $200,000. Twenty percent 

is allowable under the grant; this would be 19.6%. While it is not anticipated that 

$200,000 will be needed, without any other activities identified, this will provide 

support for whatever administrative costs are charged to CDBG-CV. 

2. Increase funding to Priority A, Housing Navigation Center/Cold Weather 

Shelter/Day Use Facility from $360,000 to $820,067. (This is more than the United 

Way of Weld County request; however, when inputting the activities into IDIS, all 

of the $1,020,067 needs to be attached to an activity. With no other activity 

identified, this encumbers the remaining grant funds for HUD purposes. If the 

actual budget was more than anticipated, this would also allow for an increase 

without returning to the full citizen participation process.) 

3. Remove Priority B funding (for the Bonell non-congregate shelter). This activity 

did not move forward. 

 

Note:  The City has three years (until June 2023) to expend and draw 80% ($816,054) of 

the total grant and six years to expend it all. The Agreement with United Way expires 

on March 31, 2023 to leave time for the draw request from them and to draw the funds 

from HUD. 

Page 244

Item No. 19.



City Council Agenda - City of Greeley, Colorado 

The public comment period ran from November 10, 2022 through November 15, 2022. 

(The CDBG-CV grant allows for a five-day comment period, rather than 30, per the 

City’s HUD CPD Rep.) City Council will review the Board’s recommendations and hold 

the required public hearing on December 6, 2022, after which the Amendment will be 

submitted to HUD for approval. 

Fiscal Impact: 
 

Does this item create a fiscal impact on the City of Greeley? Yes, it is an entitlement grant 

available to the City, 

specific to COVID-19 

pandemic. 

If yes, what is the initial, or, onetime impact? $1,020,067 (total CDBG-CV) 

What is the annual impact? N/A 

What fund of the City will provide Funding?  N/A 

What is the source of revenue within the fund? U.S. Dept. of Housing & 

Urban Development 

Is there grant funding for this item? Yes, this is a HUD grant 

If yes, does this grant require a match? No 

Is this grant onetime or ongoing? One-time 

Additional Comments:  

Legal Issues:   

None. 

 

Other Issues and Considerations: 

HUD regulations require a public hearing to be held before Council approval. 

Decision Options:  

1) Approve the Substantial Amendment with noted activities and budgets, as 

 presented; or 

2) Request changes to the Substantial Amendment and then adopt with changes; 

or 

3) Continue consideration of the items to the next regular Council meeting, 

 understanding the HUD deadline by which the CDBG-CV funds must be applied 

for. 

Council’s Recommended Action:  

A motion to accept the Substantial Amendment as presented. 

Attachments: 

United Way application documents 

Substantial Amendment for the CARES Act Funding 

Page 245

Item No. 19.



 
 
 

 

 

United Way of Weld County mission statement: To improve lives by mobilizing the caring power of our community. 

 
www.UnitedWay-Weld.org | 970-353-4300 | UWWC@UnitedWay-Weld.org 
PO Box 1944 - Greeley, CO 80632 | 814 9th Street - Greeley | 330 Park Avenue - Fort Lupton 

 

 

Greeley Urban Renewal Authority 
1100 10th Street, Suite 402 
Greeley, CO 80631 
Attn: Carol Larsen 

 

RE: Request for amendment to CDBG-CV Subrecipient Agreement 
 
 
To the Greeley Urban Renewal Authority: 

We are writing to request an amendment to our Subrecipient Agreement for 2020 CDBG-CV funding. We are 
requesting an additional $192,000 in CDBG-CV funding, in addition to the original $360,000 award for a total 
amended award amount of $552,000. The purpose of these additional funds are to increase shelter open hours to 
establish a 24 hour, 7 days per week shelter operation from November 15, 2022 to April 15, 2023. Increasing 
hours of operation will create more opportunities to engage with COVID-19 vulnerable populations and help 
prepare for, respond to, and prevent the spread of COVID-19. Please refer to the included attachments for further 
details regarding this amendment request.   

 

Respectfully submitted, 

 

Melanie Woolman 

President & CEO 

Page 246

Item No. 19.



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CITY OF GREELEY, COLORADO 
 

CARES ACT FUNDS SUBSTANTIAL AMENDMENT 
TO THE 2020-2024 CONSOLIDATED PLAN and 

2020 ANNUAL ACTION PLAN 
 
 

Public Comment Period – November 10, 2022 8 AM through November 16, 2022 5 PM 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Prepared by the Greeley Urban Renewal Authority 
1100 10th Street, Suite 402 

Greeley, CO 80631 
Benjamin L. Snow, Economic Health and Housing Director 

 
 

Contact Information 
J. R. Salas, GURA Manager 

970-350-9380 
j.r.salas@greeleygov.com 

Page 247

Item No. 19.



 

2 

 

CARES ACT SUBSTANTIAL AMENDMENT 
TO THE 2020-2024 CONSOLIDATED PLAN AND 2020 ACTION PLAN 

TO AMEND ACTIVITIES AND FUNDING FOR CDBG-CV 1 AND CDBG-CV 3 
 
 

Cares Act Background 
On March 27, 2020, the United States Congress passed the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic 
Security Act (CARES Act), Public Law 116-136. The bill provided $5 billion in Community Development 
Block Grant (CDBG) funds to rapidly respond to COVID-19. The U. S. Department of Housing and Urban 
Development (HUD) allocated $2 billion of that the same day. This constituted the first round of CDBG-
Coronavirus (CDBG-CV) funds. In the second round, $1 billion was allocated to States and insular areas. 
The final (third round) $2 billion was allocated on September 11, 2020. As an entitlement community, 
the City of Greeley was awarded $493,277 in the first round of allocations and $526,790 in the third 
(cumulative $1,020,067). All funds must be used specifically to prevent, prepare for, and/or respond to 
the COVID-19 pandemic. 
 
There were three prior Substantial Amendments approved by City Council. Proposed changes to 
activities and/or funding once again requires approval of City Council. Prior Amendments are available 
at the Greeley Urban Renewal Authority – 1100 10th Street, Suite 402, Greeley, CO 80631. 
 
Qualifying as a Substantial Amendment 
A Substantial Amendment to the City’s Consolidated Plan/Annual Action Plan for use of its grants from 
the U. S. Department of Housing and Urban Development is required any time one of the following 
occurs: 

1. A change is made to allocation priorities or the method of distribution of funds; 

2. To implement an activity not previously described in the action plan, using funds from any 
program covered by the consolidated plan (including program income, reimbursements, 
repayment, recaptures, or reallocations from HUD); or 

3.  There is a change the purpose, scope, location, or beneficiaries of an activity.  
 
Proposed Substantial Amendment (4th Amendment for CDBG-CV Funds) 
The following lists the changes proposed under Substantial Amendment #4. Attachment A shows the 
3rd Amendment and how this 4th Amendment will change what was last approved.  
 
Trying to make use of the CDBG-CV funds has been challenging, with proposed activities and activities’ 
budgets a constant moving target. However, due to the lack of suitable activities and 
expenditure/draw deadlines, it is anticipated that this will be the final Amendment. 
 
The 4th Amendment makes these changes: 
 

1. Increase allocation to Administration from $193,635 to $200,000. Twenty percent is allowable 
under the grant; this would be 19.6%. While it is not anticipated that $200,000 will be needed, 

Page 248

Item No. 19.



 

3 

 

without any other activities identified, this will provide support for whatever administrative 
costs are charged to CDBG-CV. 

2. Increase funding to Priority A, Housing Navigation Center/Cold Weather Shelter/Day Use 
Facility from $360,000 to $820,067. (This is more than the United Way of Weld County request; 
however, when inputting the activities into IDIS, all of the $1,020,067 needs to be attached to 
an activity. With no other activity identified, this encumbers the remaining grant funds for HUD 
purposes. If the actual budget was more than anticipated, this would also allow for an increase 
without returning to the full citizen participation process.) 

3. Remove Priority B funding (for the Bonell non-congregate shelter). This activity did not move 
forward. 

 
All CDBG-CV funds must be used to prevent, prepare for, and/or response to the Coronavirus. The City 
has three years (until June 2023) to expend 80% of the total of CDBG-CV award ($816,054) and six 
years to expend it all. 
 
Analysis 
This proposal qualifies as a substantial amendment because it meets at least one of the three instances 
noted in the Qualifying as a Substantial Amendment section. The Substantial Amendment will be to the 
2020-2024 Consolidated Plan and 2020 Annual Action Plan. 
 
Meeting a National Objective 
The CDBG-CV funds allocated under the CARES Act must be used specifically for the preparation for, 
prevention of, and response to the COVID-19. All CDBG-CV activities must still meet a National 
Objective of the CDBG Program: 

 Benefit low-and-moderate income people (minimum of 70% of the CDBG-CV grant) 

 Aid in the prevention or elimination of slum or blight 

 Meet an urgent need 
 
Citizen Participation Requirements 
Substantial Amendments are required to follow the City’s Citizen Participation Plan, which requires a 
public comment period of five days with 10 days’ notice of upcoming comment periods and public 
hearings.  

 Because there is no continuing social distancing order in the City of Greeley, public hearings 
must be in public. A virtual component is allowable. How notice will be provided is a part of the 
Citizen Plan Amendment. 
 

Consultation 
The consultations requirement for the Consolidated Plan were met prior to its submittal to HUD on 
March 31, 2020. However, due to the nature of the needs for which CDBG-CV funds are to be used, City 
staff notified non-profit agencies considered to be “CDBG Partners” with the City with regard to 
changes/additions being proposed. These agencies are the “boots on the ground” and work daily with 
low- moderate-income residents affected by COVID-19. Notification of the upcoming Substantial 
Amendment and request for comments was emailed to the partner group prior to the GURA Board 
meeting to notify them of the proposed changes and the comment/hearing opportunities. Any 

Page 249

Item No. 19.



 

4 

 

comments received from the City’s CDBG partner group will be included in the Substantial Amendment 
sent to HUD.  

 
Citizen Participation  
The City is required to consult the public in the manner described in its Citizen Participation Plan, as 
amended, to address Substantial Amendments to the Consolidated Plan utilizing CDBG-CV. The Public 
was consulted in the following manner: 

1. The Substantial Amendment was available for review by the public for a five-day period 
beginning 8:00 a.m. November 10, 2022 and ending at 5:00 p.m. on November 16, 2022. Notice 
of the comment period was provided through legal ads in the Greeley Tribune (published 
October 28, 2022 (in English and Spanish) and on the City’s website – www.greeleygov.com. 
The GURA Board of Commissioners also held a public meeting on November 9, 2022 at which 
comment could be made. 

2. The Citizens Committee for Community Development members were mailed the Substantial 
Amendment for comment with notice of the public comment period. 

3. The City’s CDBG “partner” agencies were emailed the Substantial Amendment and invited to 
comment.  

4. One public hearing was held, per the requirements of the CDBG-CV grant. Additionally, a public 
meeting was held. 

A. GURA Board of Commissioners:  Public meeting date November 9, 2022 at 4:30 p.m. 
B. Greeley City Council:  Ad published November 23, 2022; public hearing date December 

6, 2022 at 6:00 p.m. 
5. Written comments on the Substantial Amendment were accepted during the comment period 

noted above or by comment at the public meeting and/or hearing. 
 
Public Comment Received  
During the public comment period, the following comments were received.  

 No comments from the public were received at the GURA Board of Commissioners’ public 
meeting or during the five-day comment period. 

 No comments from the public were received at the City Council’s Public Hearing. 
 
Approvals 

 Approval to recommend the Substantial Amendment to the Greeley City Council was given on 
November 9, 2022 by the GURA Board of Commissioners.  

 Approval of the Substantial Amendment was given by the Greeley City Council on December 6, 
2022. 
  

References 

 City of Greeley Consolidated Plan for Years 2020 -2024 and 2020 Action Plan and Draft of the 
Substantial Amendment, link:   www.greeleygov.com/services/ehh/greeley-urban-renewal-
authority  
    

 

Attachment A 

Page 250

Item No. 19.

http://www.greeleygov.com/
http://www.greeleygov.com/services/ehh/greeley-urban-renewal-authority
http://www.greeleygov.com/services/ehh/greeley-urban-renewal-authority


 

5 

 

CDBG-CV 3 Award (Priority identified upon receipt of CV 3) 

Priority A under CDBG-CV 3 was to acquire and/or rehab an existing building for multi-family housing. 

1. HUD required all funds to be allocated with the 3rd amendment; this activity did 
not move forward. 

421,432.00 0.00 

 

Priorities, Activities, Changes 
3rd Substantial 

Amendment 
Approved 

4th Substantial 
Amendment 

Proposed 

CDBG-CV 1 Award 493,277.00 493,277.00 

CDBG-CV 3 Award 526,790.00 526,790.00 

1. The CDBG-CV 1 award amount has not changed. 

Administration of CDBG CV grant 193,635 200,000 

2. 20% of the grant is eligible for administration. The set-aside amount has varied slightly through Substantial 
Amendment changes. With the 4th Amendment, it is about 19.6% of the grant. 

CDBG-CV 1 Award (Priorities identified upon receipt of CV-1) 

Priority A was to provide public services to low-mod-income residents. 

3. Unidentified public service activity benefiting LMI residents 360,000 820,067 

 The 3rd Amendment approved the activity as providing services at the new Cold Weather Shelter/ Housing 
 Navigation Center/day use facility. Amendment 4 increases the funding. 

Priority B was to provide a personal isolation facility that became the Bonell Non-Congregate Shelter for at-risk homeless 
persons. The activity did not move forward.  Amendment 4 removes this priority from funding. 

Priority C was to provide an Emergency Rent Assistance Program. The activity did not move forward. Emergency Rent 
Assistance was provided through the County. 

Priority D to support the acquisition and/or rehab of a new congregate cold weather shelter/housing navigation center/day use 
facility was added by Substantial Amendment #2. An acquisition/rehab activity did not move forward. 

Page 251

Item No. 19.



October 20, 2022, CDBG-CV Application Amendment 

Attachment A to Application 

************************************************************************************* 

Page 1 

The Housing Navigation Center (HNC) with cold weather shelter helps people to survive their experience 

of homelessness and helps to connect clients to resources that help them find housing and establish 

stability. The cold weather shelter benefits guests by providing a safe, warm place to spend the coldest 

nights of the year. Without it, hypothermia, other weather related illnesses and injuries such as 

frostbite, and even death, are potential fates for our most vulnerable neighbors. The cold weather 

shelter benefits police, fire, ambulance and other first responders, and healthcare workers by providing 

them an alternate location to take people they encounter other than jail or the emergency room, both 

of which are far more expensive options. The cold weather shelter staff include 1 director of operations, 

1 shelter manager, 1 volunteer coordinator, and 14 shelter associates. The HNC provides a safe place for 

people to be during the day, while also connecting them to community resources, case management, 

mail access, locker storage, hygiene services, and more. Primary HNC activities include: 1) diverting 

people from the homeless services system; 2) assessing those who are experiencing homelessness and 

prioritizing them for a return to housing; 3) providing needed resources for those who are living out of 

doors (cold weather shelter, mail delivery, hygiene resources, etc.); and 4) connecting people to 

housing, jobs, health services, and needed livelihood services. The HNC staff include a team of 3 

resources navigators and 3 housing navigators that help connect guests to permanent housing solutions, 

1 program coordinator who manages internal programming, and a program director that oversees all 

HNC operations. The Housing Navigation Center is currently located at 870 28th Street, Greeley, 80631. 

Both the HNC and cold weather shelter have made operational changes to respond to COVID-19. People 

experiencing homelessness are especially vulnerable to COVID-19. As such, the HNC and cold weather 

shelter screen for COVID-19 symptoms, serving as the first point of contact for sick individuals who may 

not be in regular contact with other providers. The HNC and cold weather shelter host COVID-19 vaccine 

clinics for guests. Furthermore, the HNC and cold weather shelter provide socially distanced sleeping 

areas, and hotel vouchers for COVID-19 positive or exposed individuals and for shelter overflow. Non-

Congregate sheltering is the best way to keep vulnerable populations socially distanced, thus decreasing 

the community spread of COVID-19. 

Additional funding is being requested to increase the hours of operations for the HNC day shelter and 

overnight cold weather shelter. Current daytime hours of operation are Monday – Friday, 8am – 5pm, 

and overnight shelter hours are from 7pm-7am, 7 nights per week from November 15 to April 15. 

Additional funding will allow for 24/7 shelter operations between November 15, 2022 to April 15, 2023. 

Removing the shelter gaps between daytime and night time operations and on weekends will prevent 

community spread of COVID-19 by providing a clean and controlled environment for people 

experiencing homelessness to be during the winter months. It will also create more opportunity for 

engagement to help guests get housed and access other community resources.   

Page 2 

Page 252

Item No. 19.



In addition to the cost outlined below, this additional request in funding is needed to pay for additional 

direct service staff time associated with increasing hours of operations. This includes staffing to cover 

day shelter operations from 3pm to 7pm Monday to Friday and from 7am-7pm on weekends. The 

additional funding will also be used to pay for additional food costs associated with expanded hours.  

CDBG-CV funds would be used to pay for rent at the Housing Navigation Center and cold weather 

shelter building to ensure a safe place for people experiencing homelessness to stay during the COVID-

19 pandemic. CDBG-CV funds would also be used to pay for direct staff time at the cold weather shelter 

and Housing Navigation Center. Staff screen for COVID-19 symptoms, perform regular COVID-19 testing, 

maintain cleanliness of the space, enforce social distancing and mask requirements, and keep people 

safe. CDBG-CV funds would also pay for a professional cleaning crew to maintain the cleanliness of the 

space. CDBG-CV funds would support the cold weather shelter meal purchases for guests. Due to COVID-

19, the cold weather shelter provides self-contained meals that allow guests to eat while socially 

distanced. Finally, CDBG-CV funds would be used to pay for motel overflow vouchers. This funding 

allows for overflow guests to have a safe place to sleep when the shelter is full. Hotel vouchers also can 

be used to quarantine and isolate guests who have contracted COVID-19. The above costs are directly 

related to the increased costs associated with operating the HNC and cold weather shelter during the 

COVID-19 pandemic and, as such, the CDBG-CV funds would fill the gap needed to make up the 

difference in operational costs. The HNC and cold weather shelter are also supported by ESG, ESG-CV 2, 

and ESG-CV 2.2 funds however there is not enough funding to support all of our operations. Therefore, 

CDBG-CV funds would be used to fill the gap in funding created by the COVID-19 pandemic. 

Page 2 

See Attachment C for HNC Budget and CV costs. 

Page 253

Item No. 19.



October 20, 2022 CDBG-CV Application Amendment 
Attachment B to Application - Connection of line item budget requests to COVID-19 
******************************************************************************************* 

*CDBG-CV funds must be used to prepare for, respond to, and/or prevent the spread of COVID-19. Funds have
been requested for the following budget categories. Provide an explanation of how using CDBG-CV funds will

prepare for, respond to, and/or prevent the spread of COVID-19.

1. HNC direct service staff salaries/benefits
Activity will (check all that apply) □prepare for COVID IZJrespond to COVID [glprevent COVID

The Housing Navigation Center (HNC) Resource Navigators are the direct service staff at the HNC. 
They help to respond to COVID-19 by helping vulnerable individuals experiencing homelessness find 
and enroll in resources that help them stay healthy, such as doctors' appointments, job searchers, 
and housing searchers. Resource Navigators also prevent COVID-19 by screening guests for COVID 
symptoms during the day, providing PPE to guests, and connecting guests to testing and COVID 
vaccination opportunities. 

2. Rent/Utilities

Activity will (check all that apply) 18:Jprepare for COVID [glrespond to COVID [glprevent COVID

The HNC and cold weather shelter need a physical location for operations, in order to prepare for, 
respond to, and prevent COVID-19. The HNC and cold weather shelter provide a safe place during 
the day and night where guests can access basic services, such as laundry and showers, which help 
limit community spread of COVID-19. Without money to pay for rent for the HNC, people 
experiencing homelessness would have no place to go and would travel around the community, 
increasing the risk of COVID-19 exposure and increasing community transmission. 

3. Cleaning services

Activity will (check all that apply) Dprepare for COVID IZJrespond to COVID [8lprevent COVID

The HNC and cold weather shelter contract with professional cleaning companies to keep the space
clean. This level of deep cleaning is not possible with basic staffing alone. Professional cleanings 
ensure that guests are not exposed to viruses or germs, including COVID-19. 

4. CWS direct service staff salaries/benefits

Activity will (check all that apply) □prepare for COVID [glrespond to COVID [8lprevent COVID

Cold weather shelter staff are responsible for ensuring the health and safety of guests at check-in at 
night. Staff screen for COVID-19 symptoms at check-in, arrange for isolation/quarantine and 
transportation for individuals who have been exposed/contracted COVID-19, and enforce COVID-19 
rules such as masks mandates and social distancing requirements. 

5. cws meals

Activity will (check all that apply) 18:Jprepare for COVID [glrespond to COVID [8lprevent COVID

COVID-19 has impacted how meals can be served at the cold weather shelter. To prevent the spread 
of COVID-19 during meal time, all meals are individually packaged so guests can eat meals at their 
beds to prevent spread during congregate feeding times. The cold weather shelter also reduced the 
number of volunteers who traditionally serve the meals. As such, meals costs have increased. 
Additionally, community meals sights have closed due to COVID-19 and the cold weather shelter 
meals are sometimes the only meals available to guests during the winter. 

6. Motel vouchers

Activity will (check all that apply) □prepare for COVID [glrespond to COVID [glprevent COVID

Page 254

Item No. 19.



The cold weather shelter is a wide open congregate sleeping space. As such, there are no safe places 

for individuals to be isolated or quarantined when exposed to COVID-19. Motel vouchers are used to 

isolation/quarantine individuals who have tested positive COVID-19 or been exposed at the cold 

weather shelter. Using motel vouchers to isolate guests is vital for preventing potential COVID-19 

outbreaks at the congregate shelter. The vouchers also provide vital overflow capacity for when the 

shelter is full. Overcrowding of shelters increases the risk of COVID-19 exposure. Providing hotel 

overflow helps increase social distancing and keeps people safe in non-congreate sheltering. 

Page 255

Item No. 19.



CDBG-CV Attachment C
HNC Program Budget 2022-2023

HNC CWS Current Award Additional Request

Confirmed Revenue Award Staff 129,000$     144,900$     

CDBG-CV^ (City of Greeley) (ends 3/31/23) 329,899$     118,899$     211,000$    Rent/Utilities 132,000$     

Emergency Food and Shelter Program Phase 39 10,000$     10,000$     Cleaning Services 22,000$     

Emergency Food and Shelter Program Phase ARPA-R 47,695$     27,695$     20,000$     Shelter Meals 42,000$     47,100$    

ESG '21 (4/1/22-3/30/22) 65,000$     35,000$     30,000$     Motel Overflow 35,000$     

ESG CV 2.2 (end 8/31/23) 43,555$     5,111$    38,444$     Total: 360,000$     192,000$     

ESG CV2.3 (ends 8/31/23) 45,000$     12,000$     33,000$     

ESG CV2.3 NoCO CoC (ends 8/31/23) 75,000$     75,000$     Total: 552,000$     

Homeless Prevention Activities Program 25,000$     25,000$     

I Heart Humanity 9,091$    9,091$    

Kaiser Permanente 47,487$     47,487$     

Parole Beds (State of Colorado DOC) 5,000$    5,000$     

The Weld Trust HNC (1/1/22-12/31/22) 79,330$     79,330$     

The Weld Trust RN/HN (1/1/22-12/31/22) 140,364$     140,364$     

UWWC FY 22-23 Campaign & Carryforward 71,283$     35,000$     36,283$     

WCDPHE COVID-19 Hotels 20,000$     20,000$     

Total:  $  1,013,704 629,977$     383,727$    

Anticipated Revenue (Current Applications) Ask

CDBG-CV Amendment (City of Greeley) (Current ask) 192,000$     9,505$    182,495$    

NoCO CoC Street Outreach Program 125,533$     34,833$     22,000$     

The Weld Trust (22-23) (1/1/23-12/31/23) 400,000$     141,572$     112,833$    

UWWC FY 22-23 Campaign & Carryforward 74,439$     74,439$     8,000$     

Total:  $      791,972 260,349$     325,328$    

Total Revenue:  $  1,805,676 890,326$     709,055$    

Expenses

Salaries
364,750$     241,039$    

Benefits 79,131$     18,844$     

Occupancy 13,924$     -$     

Shared costs 122,811$     74,907$     

Supplies - Office/kitchen/general 7,000$    14,500$     

Supplies - Food -$    89,100$     

Communications (phones and Internet) 5,724$    960$     

Postage 500$    -$     

Mileage 4,400$    1,000$     

Equipment & software lease/maintenance 7,720$    -$     

Furniture & equipment 3,000$    2,000$     

Advertising & promotion 500$    1,500$     

Printing & copying 2,000$    1,000$     

Staff development/training/conferences 7,000$    1,000$     

Program incentives (laundry vouchers) 2,400$    -$     

Meetings & events- food 500$    -$     

Insurance 3,000$    -$     

Miscellaneous* 39,790$     10,000$     

Rent expense** 57,566$     57,566$     

Utilities ** 10,414$     10,415$     

Professional Services- Facility repairs & Maintance 17,000$     -$     

Professional Services- Security 40,516$     110,385$    

Professional Services- Cleaning services 15,600$     21,840$     

Professional Services- BioHazard -$    15,000.00$    

Professional Services- Laundry -$    3,000.00$    

Client Emergency Needs -Motel overflow vouchers -$    35,000$     

Client Emergency Needs - COVID-19 Hotels*** 20,000$     -$     

Client Emergency Needs - Prevention and Rent Help 50,000$     -$     

Client emergency needs - Miscellaneous ^^ 15,080$     -$     

Total Expenses: 890,326$     709,055$    

Program Balance: (0)$    (0)$     

% Secured: 71% 54%

Monthly Cost: 74,194$     118,176$    

Total Revenue: 1,599,381$    

Total Expenses: 1,599,381$    

Balance: (0)$     

% Secured: 63%

% Anticipated: 37%

% Funded: 100%

Footnotes

** Split 50/50 between CWS and HNC

*** Not a typical annual expense- COVID specific

^ Award amount reflects remaining unspent CDBG-CV amount of orgianl $360,000 award as of 7/1/2022

^^ includes bus passes, applications, wrap around services, etc.

* Unanticipated new expenses related to the new location

CDBG-CV Request

UWWC's fiscal year runs from 7/1/2022 to 6/30/2023, some funding sources cross multiple fiscal year 

budgets

FY 2022-2023

Page 256

Item No. 19.



Page 257

Item No. 19.



Page 258

Item No. 19.



Duplication of Benefits Worksheet - Subrecipient for Public Service Activities

Activity Name

Subrecipient

Date of Initial DOB Review

Step 1: Assess Need - Provide line item activity costs

Item Cost

A. Staff $210,607.20

B. Staff - direct service staff $395,181.50

C. Benefits, Occupancy, Shared Costs $309,616.68

D. Staff Training $8,500.00

E. Rent/Utilities/Maintenance $135,961.00

F. Insurance $3,000.00

G. Unanticipated Repairs $66,790.00

H. Security $150,901.00

I. Cleaning Services $52,440.00

J. Communications $6,684.00

K. Professional Services - Laundry $3,000.00

L. Professional Services - Meals $89,100.00

M. Supplies $39,720.00

N. Transportation $5,400.00

O. Client emergency needs $67,480.00

P. Motel overflow vouchers $55,000.00

Activity budget total $1,599,381.38

Step 2:  Determine Assistance - Provide funding sources and amounts 

The CARES Act has progams that should be considered as funding sources. Please complete the second page of this form.

Source of funds Amount

CDBG-CV (City of Greeley) 329,899$            

Emergency Food and Shelter Program Phase 39 10,000$              

Emergency Food and Shelter Program Phase ARPA-R 47,695$              

ESG '21 65,000$              

ESG CV 2.2 43,555$              

ESG CV2.3 45,000$              

ESG CV2.3 NoCO CoC 75,000$              

Homeless Prevention Activities Program 25,000$              

I Heart Humanity 9,091$                

Kaiser Permanente 47,487$              

Parole Beds (State of Colorado DOC) 5,000$                

The Weld Trust HNC 79,330$              

The Weld Trust RN/HN 140,364$            

UWWC FY 22-23 Campaign & Carryforward 71,283$              
WCDPHE COVID-19 Hotels 20,000$             

Total of funding sources 1,013,704$        

Step 3:  Calculate Unmet Need - Activity budget minus available funds

Total Need $1,599,381.38

Minus assistance 1,013,704$        

Actual Unmet Need $585,677.38

Step 4:  Document the Analysis

Retain the above as the calculation documentation. Attach adequate documentation to justify determination of

the maximum award of CDBG-CV funds.

Step 5: Certify as to Correctness of Duplication of Benefits Form

Signature (not typed, this needs to be a signature Date

Name and title of signatory above:  

Reviewed at GURA by/date:

Accepted by GURA by/date:

This form is to be completed twice:  (1) As an attachment to the submitted application; (2) With final draw providing any update to budgets and/or funding 

sources.

Melanie Woolman, President & CEO

I, the undersigned, certify to the following:  (1) That the information provided above and on page two are true and complete to the best of my knowledge; (2) 

That the Duplication of Benefits (DOB) requirement has been explained to me by GURA staff and I understand the DOB requirement; (3)I have reviewed and 

completed the CARES Act Program funding opportunities piece of this form (page 2). Further, I understand there may be a monitoring of this activity by the City 

and/or HUD, that additional documentation may be required, and the CDBG-CV funds are subject to repayment to HUD by the subrecipient or beneficiary of the 

funds if HUD is not satisfied with the DOB documentation or funds a DOB occurred.

United Way Housing Navigation Center and cold weather shelter

United Way of Weld County

10/20/2022

9/30/2021

Page 259

Item No. 19.



DOB Worksheet - Subrecipient for Public Service Activities - CARES Act Programs
The CARES Act Programs noted below may be alternative funding sources for this activity. Please complete the information

below. For additional information on any program noted below, contact GURA or the agency noted.

Agency/Program Name

1.  SBA-Paycheck Protection Program Loans

2.  SBA-Economic Injury Disaster Loans

3.  SBA-Express Bridge Loans

4. SBA-Debt Relief Program

5. FEMA-Disaster Relief Fund

6. FEMA-Public Assistance Program

7. FEMA-Emergency Food and Shelter Program (EFSP)

8. Treasury-Unemployment Insurance

9. Treasury-Coronavirus Relief Fund

10. Economic Impact Payments

11. Economic Impact Payments-2nd round

12. USDA-Commodity Supplemental Food Program

13. USDA-Child Nutrition Programs

14.  USDA-Supplemental Nutrition for WIC

15. USDA Nutrition Ass't Block Grant to Territories

16. USDA-Disaster Household Distribution

17. USDA-Summer Food Service Program

18. Emergency Food Assistance Program

19. Pandemic EBT

20. SNAP

21. HHS-Community Living Allocation

22. Labor-Dislocated Workers Grant

23. Supplemental Economic Adjustment Assistance

State of Colorado Department of Local Affairs Emergency 

Solutions Grant - Coronavirus (ESG-CV)

No
Yes, though an insufficient 

amount for full activity cost

Government entities needing coordinated, long-term, regional, and strategic responses 

to economic recovery due to budget shortfalls resulting fro coronavirus because of 

declining revenues and increased demands for service.

School children

Food for needy families

Meals for older adults

Workers laid off due to COVID-19

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

Yes, though an insufficient 

amount for full activity cost

Low-income women, infants, children

Low-income individuals in Territories

Targeted to some states and Intian Tribal Organizations

School children

Low-income persons

No

No

Qualified small business owners, including agricultural businesses and private non-profits 

in all U. S. States and territories.

Small business owners in U. S. States and territories.

Small business owners in U. S. States and territories.

State and local governments attempting to mitigate the spread of COVID-19.State, territorial, tribal, and local government entities and certain private non-profit 

organizations.

All organizations helping hungry and homeless persons, as well as those organizations 

that support those at risk of becoming hungry or homeless due to econoic hardships.

$600 increase in benefits (ended July 31, 2020).

States, Tribal governments, and units of local government larger than 500,000Tax filers with adjusted gross income up to $75,000 (individuals) and $150,000 (married 

with joint returns). May be other restrictions. ($1200/$2400)

Tax filers with adjusted gross income up to $75,000 (individuals) and $150,000 (married 

with joint returns). May be other restrictions. ($600/$1200)

Elderly at least 60 years old

Children from low-income families

No

No

Yes, though an insufficient 

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

Small businesses, including non-profits, Veterans organizations, Tribal concerns, sole 

proprietorships, self-employed individuals, and independent contractors with 500 or 

fewer employees, or no greater than the # of employees set by the SBA.

Was this Funding Utilized?For
Note yes, no, NA, and any reasoning 

for not utilizing funding if it was 

applicable to the activity.

No

Page 260

Item No. 19.



City Council Agenda - City of Greeley, Colorado 

Council Agenda Summary 
December 6, 2022 

Key Staff Contact: John Karner, Finance Director 

  

Title:  

Public hearing and second reading of an Ordinance appropriating additional sums 

to defray the expenses and liabilities of the City of Greeley for the balance of the 

fiscal year of 2022 and for funds held in reserve for encumbrances through December 

31, 2021 

Summary: 
 

This is the fourth supplemental appropriation ordinance modifying the 2022 budget. This 

appropriation ensures that existing commitments in progress at 2021 year-end can be 

completed in 2022, designates funds for additional commitments, and appropriates 

new grants that have been awarded. 

Fiscal Impact: 
 

Does this item create a fiscal impact on the City of 

Greeley? 

Yes 

If yes, what is the initial, or, onetime impact? $34,055,361 

What is the annual impact? $34,055,361 

What fund of the City will provide Funding?  See Ordinance 

What is the source of revenue within the fund? Fund Balance, Grants, Expense 

Reimbursement, Sales & Use Taxes 

Registration Fees, Royalties, Cash 

in Lieu, Insurance Recoveries, 

Private Donations & Bond 

Proceeds. 

Is there grant funding for this item? Yes 

If yes, does this grant require a match? Yes, Items 1,6 ,15, 28, 36, 37 

Is this grant onetime or ongoing? Onetime  

Additional Comments: Total appropriations made by this ordinance, excluding 

transfers, are $34,055,361.  The following funding sources will be 

used to cover the appropriations made by this ordinance. 

 
  

Total

Fund Balance: Capital 8,419,252$   

Fund Balance: Operating 6,329,131      

New Resources 19,306,978   

Total (Excluding Transfers) 34,055,361$ 

Page 261

Item No. 20.



City Council Agenda - City of Greeley, Colorado 

Legal Issues:   

City Charter prohibits actual expenditures from exceeding appropriations at the fund 

level.  This ordinance will ensure that this does not occur. 

Other Issues and Considerations: 

 

Decision Options:  

1) Adopt the ordinance as presented; or 

2) Amend the ordinance and adopt as amended; or 

3) Deny the ordinance; or 

4) Continue consideration of the ordinance to a date certain. 

Council’s Recommended Action:  

A motion to adopt the ordinance and publish with reference to title only. 

Attachments: 

Ordinance 

Detail Supporting Schedule 

PowerPoint Presentation 

 

Page 262

Item No. 20.



 THE CITY OF GREELEY 

 ORDINANCE NO. 47, 2022 

 

AN ORDINANCE APPROPRIATING ADDITIONAL SUMS TO DEFRAY THE EXPENSES AND 

LIABILITIES OF THE CITY OF GREELEY FOR THE BALANCE OF THE FISCAL YEAR OF 2022 AND 

FOR FUNDS HELD IN RESERVE FOR ENCUMBRANCES AT DECEMBER 31, 2021. 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Greeley has or will incur expenses for certain activities described 

below during the 2022 fiscal year, and 

  

WHEREAS, the revenues received in the City of Greeley in 2021, exceeded the amount 

of revenues estimated in the 2021 Budget by more than the total amount of the 

expenditures in the same year; 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GREELEY, 

COLORADO: 

 

Section 1.  In accordance with section 5-17 of the Greeley Charter, from actual and 

anticipated revenues which exceed the revenue estimates in the 2022 budget and 

amounts held in fund balance reserves from 2021, there is hereby appropriated the 

following designated sums to be allocated for use during the remainder of 2022: 

 

 
 

  

Fund  Amount  Transfers  Total 

100 GENERAL FUND 2,236,671$       140,000$           2,376,671$        

103 HUD GRANTS FUND 1,062,930         -                      1,062,930          

104 STREETS AND ROADS FUND 147,895             -                      147,895             

106 SALES AND USE TAX FUND 13,050,000       -                      13,050,000        

112 NEAHR GRANTS FUND 264,645             -                      264,645             

122 CABLE FRANCHISE PEG FUNDS 15,391               -                      15,391               

123 CASH IN LIEU OF LANDSCAPING -                     17,981               17,981               

125 POUDRE RIVER TRAIL 150,000             -                      150,000             

143 COMMUNITY MEMORIALS -                     1,750                  1,750                  

301 PUBLIC IMPROVEMENT (2,350,000)        -                      (2,350,000)         

303 PUBLIC ART 91,250               -                      91,250               

304 FOOD TAX 24,257               -                      24,257               

306 FIRE EQUIPMENT ACQUISITION/REPLACEMENT 2,030,446         -                      2,030,446          

318 QUALITY OF LIFE 1,256,080         -                      1,256,080          

334 ROAD DEVELOPMENT 6,145,000         -                      6,145,000          

336 TRAILS DEVELOPMENT 458,000             -                      458,000             

414 SEWER DEBT SERVICE 1,795,793         -                      1,795,793          

425 WATER DEBT SERVICE 3,327,990         -                      3,327,990          

432 STORMWATER CONSTRUCTION 2,681,059         -                      2,681,059          

433 STORMWATER CAPITAL REPLACEMENT 53,987               -                      53,987               

434 STORMWATER DEBT SERVICE 1,399,789         -                      1,399,789          

502 LIABILITY -                     134,435             134,435             

511 EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCE OPERATIONS 36,000               -                      36,000               

512 FLEET REPLACEMENT 164,178             -                      164,178             

513 EQUIPMENT REPLACEMENT 14,000               -                      14,000               

Grand Total 34,055,361$     294,166$           34,349,527$     

Page 263

Item No. 20.



Section 2.  All actions heretofore taken (not inconsistent with the provisions of this 

ordinance) by the officers, agents and employees of the City in connection with this 

appropriation are hereby ratified, approved and confirmed. 

 

Section 3.  This Ordinance shall become effective five (5) days after its final publication 

as is provided by Section 3-16 of the Greeley Charter, 

 

PASSED AND ADOPTED, SIGNED AND APPROVED THIS _____ DAY OF DECEMBER, 2022. 

 

ATTEST: THE CITY OF GREELEY 

 

 

 

 

 

______________________________ BY____________________________ 

City Clerk      Mayor 

Page 264

Item No. 20.



City of Greeley

2022 Appropriation - 4

City Council Meetings: November 15th & December 6th

Fund Item  Funding Source Description  Fund Balance Revenue Expenditures  Net Impact 

100 - GENERAL FUND

1 Grant History Colorado awarded an $18,000 grant to the City of Greeley to hire a consultant to conduct a

historic resource reconnaissance survey of 72 properties in the area bounded by 14th and 16th Streets

and 10th and 12th Avenues. The City has a $750 cash match that will be funded by existing budget in

Community Development.

-                             18,000                 18,000                 -                              

2 Royalties This appropriation request will use oil royalties to fund the continuous operations of the United Way

Shelter. $109,000 will be given to United Way to keep the day & overnight shelter open continuously

from November of 2022 to April of 2023.

-                             109,000               109,000               -                              

3 Royalties This appropriation request will fund the first year of the Housing First Team. Oil royalties will be used to

support the staff and necessary equipment for fiscal year 2023.

-                             1,048,610           1,048,610           -                              

4 Operating Transfer: 

REVENUE FROM 

CASH IN LIEU OF 

LANDSCAPING & 

MEMORIALS.

This request will appropriate reimbursements for expenditures and cash in lieu related to the Share the

Shade program, tree removals, and traffic control. $1,750 will be transferred from the Community

Memorials Fund & $17,981 will be transferred from the Cash in Lieu of Landscaping Fund to the General 

Fund. The remaining $13,339 are expense reimbursements by contractors for work paid for by the City.

-                             33,070                 33,070                 -                              

5 Grant The City of Greeley received a grant for $12,500 from the Colorado Department of Local Affairs (DOLA).

This grant was provided to the City of Greeley for the recruitment and retention of lifeguards and

aquatics staff that worked this summer at Discovery Bay and Centennial Swimming pools.

-                             12,500                 12,500                 -                              

6 Grant The Natural Areas & Trails (NAT) division was awarded funding through a grant from Great Outdoors

Colorado (GOCO) in March of 2022 to fund the majority of a two-year Fellowship position to support

NAT in its operations and develop natural resource professionals in the early stages of their career. The

grant, totaling $143,000, is to fund the salary and benefits/overhead of the Fellow position, with up to

75% of the total award available from GOCO at the execution of the grant, with the final 25% payable

upon the completion of the project ($32,000 for 2022, $69,000 for 2023, and $42,000 in 2024). The

funding for this position will be provided largely from the GOCO grant, with the remaining position

costs funded out of the existing Natural Areas & Trails operation budget.

-                             143,000               143,000               -                              

7 Royalties This appropriation request will use oil royalties to fund the purchase and installation of gates at the 8th

Street Art Walkway that is privately owned but subject to an easement. 

-                             58,000                 58,000                 -                              

8 Expense 

Reimbursement

Greeley Fire provides UC Health with two-way security authentication tokens and NetMotion Licenses.

Greeley Fire's new partnership with UCHealth ambulance via contract requires UCHealth personnel and

computers to have access to the Computer Aided Dispatch (CAD) for emergency response. This is a

reimbursement for unexpected expenses to cover these items until UC Health has its own account with

the communications center.

-                             40,000                 40,000                 -                              

9 Grant / Private 

Donation / Expense 

Reimbursement

This request is to appropriate all remaining 2022 grants ($27,187), private donations ($43,500), &

expense reimbursements ($183,521) for the Fire department. These funds were essential to the

department in continuing operations & services to the community. Key highlighted items include

$120,000 that was reimbursed for providing lead & assistance instructors for the Front Range Fire

Consortium Academy, $20,000 from PDC Energy for the purchase of helmets, $18,989 for deployment

reimbursements for responding to Hurricane Ian & wildfires in Larimer County, and $9,250 from the

Firefighter Heart & Circulation Trust grant for physicals. The remaining grants, private donations, and

expense reimbursements total $85,969.

-                             254,208               254,208               -                              

10 Grant / Expense 

Reimbursement

This request is to appropriate all remaining 2022 grants ($445,783) & expense reimbursements

($39,500) for the Police department. As with the Fire Department, these funds were essential to the

department in continuing operations & services to the community. Key highlighted items include

$135,000 from the Justice Assistance COVID Grant (JAG) which helped pay for safety equipment &

personal protective equipment. $108,300 will be received from the Victims of Crimes Act (VOCA) to pay

for employees, equipment, and supplies for coordinators & volunteers. Another major grant was

received from the High-Intensity Drug Trafficking Award (HIGTA) for investigations personnel, overtime,

building, and vehicles leases in conjunction with the drug task force. The remaining grants & expense

reimbursements total $137,183.

-                             485,283               485,283               -                              

11 Royalties This request is to appropriate oil royalties for the contractual increase for shelter and services provided

by the Weld County Humane Society. The contract increases the per capita amount from $3.3 to $4.

-                             35,000                 35,000                 -                              

100 - GENERAL FUND -                             2,236,671           2,236,671           -                              

Page 265

Item No. 20.



Fund Item  Funding Source Description  Fund Balance Revenue Expenditures  Net Impact 

103 - HUD GRANTS FUND

12 Grant / Fund 

Balance

This request is to reappropriate prior year grant funding and program income for Community

Development Block Grant projects. $569,385 will be appropriated from the HUD Grants fund, while

$179,265 in federal funds will be appropriated.

569,385               179,265               748,650               -                              

13 Grant This request is to reappropriate prior year grant funding for HOME (HOME Investment Partnerships

Program) grant projects.

-                             191,780               191,780               -                              

14 Grant This request will reappropriate prior year grant funding received from the Community Development

Block grant for coronavirus related projects.

-                             122,500               122,500               -                              

103 - HUD GRANTS FUND 569,385               493,545               1,062,930           -                              

104 - STREETS AND ROADS FUND

15 Grant This request will fund one of Council’s initiatives for a Waste Diversion & Characterization study. The

approval of this request will facilitate the use of $147,850 in grant funding to accomplish this project.

Paired with the grant funding, the City will use $19,650 in existing budget for this effort. The

completion of these two related studies will not only provide a better understanding of what residents

of Greeley are disposing, but also to provide potential policy options for City Council moving forward.

-                             147,895               147,895               -                              

104 - STREETS AND ROADS FUND -                             147,895               147,895               -                              

106 - SALES AND USE TAX FUND

16 Sales & Use Tax Growth rates from sales and use tax collections have exceeded the original budget as was presented

during the 2023 Budget. For accounting and appropriation requirements, estimated additional sales &

use tax revenues are appropriated for 2022 to fund the adopted 2023 budget.

-                             13,050,000        13,050,000        -                              

106 - SALES AND USE TAX FUND -                             13,050,000        13,050,000        -                              

112 - NEAHR GRANTS FUND

17 Grant This request will ensure that the City of Greeley can accurately report all grant revenues and

expenditures to the State of Colorado. Any unspent funds in 2018, 2019, & 2020 will be reappropriated.

Because the Northeast Colorado All Hazards region grant is a reimbursement, no funds will be received

until the funds are spent on eligible projects and a request is submitted to the State of Colorado.

-                             264,645               264,645               -                              

112 - NEAHR GRANTS FUND -                             264,645               264,645               -                              

122 - CABLE FRANCHISE PEG FUNDS

18 Fund Balance Weld School District 6, as a Designated Access provider, filed an application with the city requesting

Public, Educational, and Government Access (PEG) Grant funds for the purpose of purchasing

equipment to support their video divisions for providing local content associated with the educational

programming for Channel 16. This content is consistent with the expectations of the city's cable

franchise agreement.

15,391                 -                             15,391                 -                              

122 - CABLE FRANCHISE PEG FUNDS 15,391                 -                             15,391                 -                              

125 - POUDRE RIVER TRAIL

19 Fund Balance This request is to appropriate funds that will close out the Poudre River Trail fund at the City of Greeley

to align with the amended and restated intergovernmental agreement that was implemented on

November 22, 2021 for the Poudre River Trail Corridor.

150,000               -                             150,000               -                              

125 - POUDRE RIVER TRAIL 150,000               -                             150,000               -                              

301 - PUBLIC IMPROVEMENT

20 Operating Transfer: 

GENERAL FUND

This request will use oil royalties to support the infrastructure construction for the Hope Springs

contract. The City match for this project is $140,000. 

-                             140,000               140,000               -                              

21 Expense 

Reimbursement

This request will appropriate additional funding from the Greeley Urban Renewal Authority (GURA) for

new sidewalks. $783,214 was received, but only $773,214 was included in the budget.

-                             10,000                 10,000                 -                              

22 Fund Balance This request is to appropriate funds for the 16th Street Enhancement project out of the Public

Improvement Fund (301) and into the Road Development Fund (334).

-                             (2,500,000)         (2,500,000)         -                              

301 - PUBLIC IMPROVEMENT -                             (2,350,000)         (2,350,000)         -                              

Page 266

Item No. 20.



Fund Item  Funding Source Description  Fund Balance Revenue Expenditures  Net Impact 

303 - PUBLIC ART

23 Fund Balance After the 2022 budget had been approved, the Greeley Recreation Manager put in a request for the Art

Commission to add a mural to the Family Funplex pool area as it is shut down for other pool

maintenance/play installation in September 2022. The Art Commission agreed that the timing is ideal

for all parties involved since painting a mural will greatly benefit from having low humidity in the room

at the time and being closed to the public. The funding requested for this project to be added to the

existing Paint the Town budget is $33,250; this includes $25,000 for the artist and all supporting costs

for project management and contingency, etc. from the 303 1% for Art fund balance. 

33,250                 -                             33,250                 -                              

24 Fund Balance The Art Commission has recommended to staff that additional funding be appropriated for 12th Street

Outfall Art to reflect the total amount added to the 303 1% fund generated from phases 1A and 1B of

the stormwater project, 12 St. Outfall project. When the new art project was originally planned and

budgeted for, the total amount generated was not yet known. The Art Commission would like to honor

stormwater contributions by installing the most impactful art that will be more visible to the public. A

change order will need to be attached to the artists contract during the 2022 design phase of the

project. The Art Commission recommends allocating additional funds in the amount of $58,000 that

will include an additional $45,000 for a more substantial work of art to be installed at the proposed

stormwater holding pond near 12th Street and 2nd Avenue in the Sunrise neighborhood. It also

includes the supporting costs for project management and contingency. Additional project funds would

come from the 303 1% for Art fund balance, the remaining fund balance would be within the guidelines

for maintenance reserves.  

58,000                 -                             58,000                 -                              

303 - PUBLIC ART 91,250                 -                             91,250                 -                              

304 - FOOD TAX

25 Operating Transfer: 

LIABILITY

This appropriation will cover $24,257 in roof panel damages at the Salt Shed from high winds. This

amount will be moved from the Liability fund to the Food Tax Fund.

-                             24,257                 24,257                 -                              

304 - FOOD TAX -                             24,257                 24,257                 -                              

306 - FIRE EQUIPMENT ACQUISITION/REPLACEMENT

26 Fund Balance As part of the Fire Department Fire Apparatus Capital Replacement plan, Ladder 1 is scheduled for

replacement in 2025. Supply chain issues and a backlog in the fire apparatus manufacturing industry

has created a 38-month delivery time from the order date on all fire engines and ladder trucks. Finance,

Fleet, Purchasing, and Fire leadership are concerned with delaying the order of this front-line apparatus

and the associated maintenance cost of keeping the current ladder in service for additional years.

Approving this appropriation allows the City to create an order by the end of 2022. Delivery and

payment for the apparatus would still be one year later than planned in 2026.  

2,030,446           -                             2,030,446           -                              

306 - FIRE EQUIPMENT ACQUISITION/REPLACEMENT 2,030,446           -                             2,030,446           -                              

318 - QUALITY OF LIFE

27 Grant The City was awarded a grant from Poudre Heritage Alliance, a non-profit organization, to help fund the

trailhead interpretive sign. Construction of the new Island Grove Trailhead occurred in 2021. The

remaining item is the new trailhead sign that will be installed at the kiosk. The sign is in the final draft

stage with fabrication and installation scheduled for summer 2022. Funds are in the original budget,

however, we were able to secure additional funding through a grant from a partnering organization

which will allow existing funds to be available for additional Poudre River Corridor work.

-                             6,080                    6,080                    -                              

28 Grant The City was awarded a $1.25 million Land and Water Conservation Fund (LWCF) grant in late 2021, for

the acquisition of the Shurview property which the Trust for Public Land and the City closed on in

March 2022 for a total purchase price of $8.5 million. The federal LWCF funds are managed by the

Colorado Parks and Wildlife agency, and Natural Areas & Trails (NAT) staff coordinate regularly on the

status of the LWCF grant in the federal process. These funds will be applied to the Shurview property

purchase when they are received.

-                             1,250,000           1,250,000           -                              

318 - QUALITY OF LIFE -                             1,256,080           1,256,080           -                              

Page 267

Item No. 20.



Fund Item  Funding Source Description  Fund Balance Revenue Expenditures  Net Impact 

334 - ROAD DEVELOPMENT

29 Fund Balance $200,000 is needed to complete the design for the 16th Street Enhancement project which will be

funded by Road Development fund balance. This item is related to request #24, which will also

appropriate $2.5 Million that was originally allocated in the Public Improvement Fund (301) to Road

Development (334). 

700,000               2,000,000           2,700,000           -                              

30 Fund Balance Project will redesign the intersection at 23rd Ave and 4th St to remove the skewed intersection. Work

will be performed in conjunction with the replacement of the 5th St. bridge over No. 3 Ditch. A CDOT

grant of $800,000 is available for the 5th St. bridge replacement. 5th St will be overlaid in 2023 and this

project is a logical next project to improve transportation infrastructure and provide safer access to the

school and neighborhood. This request is for an appropriation of $200,000 to start the concept/scope

design process.  This new appropriation is required to maintain the project schedule. 

200,000               -                             200,000               -                              

31 Fund Balance The City will be hiring a qualified consulting firm and/or team (Professional) to provide the City with

engineering design, defining right-of-way (ROW) impacts, obtaining local, State and Federal clearances,

stakeholder and utility coordination for the US 34/WCR 17 Intersection Improvement Project. The

Intersection improvement design concept is a Continuous Flow Intersection. All work associated with

the project must be in accordance with CDOT Standards and Specifications, with room for innovative

design solutions. All plans must be prepared in CDOT format, and specifications must be written in the

format of the latest CDOT Standard Specifications for Road and Bridge Construction. The project will be

bid and led by the City. 

2,000,000           -                             2,000,000           -                              

32 Fund Balance Downtown Improvements project involves three projects in the overall Downtown Corridor focused on

managing downtown as a vibrant corridor for entertainment and people: (1) Planning efforts along 8th

Ave/BUS 85 from 24th Street to US 85 Interchange (North) to bring a human scale to the street; (2)

Improvements along 11th Street from UPPR to 9th Street to expand sidewalks, landscape, and lighting

for an improved pedestrian mobility and accessibility; (3) Rehabilitation of the Alley south of 11th

Street from 7th to 8th Avenues. This neighbors the new 55+ Apartment building and needs to be

rehabilitated to match the overall addition of the 55+ Apartment building and surrounding area. 

1,245,000           -                             1,245,000           -                              

334 - ROAD DEVELOPMENT 4,145,000           2,000,000           6,145,000           -                              

336 - TRAILS DEVELOPMENT

33 Fund Balance The Broadview Acres Phases 2 and 3 construction has gone through an RFP process. The low bid for

the project -- including the construction of the 0.7 mi of trail, and the desired add alternative 3 item to

include a HAWK signal across 4th St to ensure safe access to Madison Elementary for students, is

$821,789. The current appropriated amount for the project in the 2023 budget in the Trails

Development Fund (336) for this project is $774,840. With the preferred add alternative 3 included in

the project, in addition to project management ($80,000), additional design and testing services

($53,000), public art ($4,000), and additional construction and contingency costs ($321,000), the final

project is projected to need $1,232,840 to fully fund the project. Above the currently appropriated

$774,840, an additional $458,000 needs to be appropriated from the Trails Development fund. The

funding of this project comes from revenues from the Trails Development Fund, a $300k grant from

CDOT from the Multi-Modal Opportunities Fund (MMOF)grant program, and a $25,000 contribution

from the Poudre River Trail Corridor (PRTC), Inc. non-profit. The MMOF grant award and PRTC

contribution have already been appropriated in past cycles.

458,000               -                             458,000               -                              

336 - TRAILS DEVELOPMENT 458,000               -                             458,000               -                              

414 - SEWER DEBT SERVICE

34 Bond Proceeds / 

Fund Balance

This appropriation request will allocate sewer debt issuance costs & debt payments for 2022. 1,509,446           286,347               1,795,793           -                              

414 - SEWER DEBT SERVICE 1,509,446           286,347               1,795,793           -                              

425 - WATER DEBT SERVICE

35 Bond Proceeds / 

Fund Balance

This appropriation request will allocate water debt issuance costs & debt payments for 2022. 2,980,604           347,386               3,327,990           -                              

425 - WATER DEBT SERVICE 2,980,604           347,386               3,327,990           -                              

Page 268

Item No. 20.



Fund Item  Funding Source Description  Fund Balance Revenue Expenditures  Net Impact 

432 - STORMWATER CONSTRUCTION

36 Fund Balance This request is to appropriate $1,681,059 in fund balance for the 12th Street Storm Outfall Phase 4.

These funds are currently budgeted in 2025 but we would like this project to be forwarded to 2023.

The Stormwater Management Division was also awarded $1,000,000 from the Federal Emergency

Management Agency (FEMA) Building Resilient Infrastructure in Communities (BRIC) program through

the Capacity and Capability Building (C- and CB) scoping and planning activity. This grant is allocated to

scoping, planning and design of the 12th Street Storm Outfall Phases 2-4 and positions the City

favorably for being competitive for a sizeable FEMA construction grant. The application for the

construction grant must be for Phases 2-4 and will be due in late 2023. Consequently, the City will need

to complete design to a 50% level of Phases 2-4 by the end of 2023. The Division is proposing to

appropriate funds from 2025 to 2023 to help facilitate this approach. Construction is still scheduled for

2026 for Phase 4 due to construction time of Phases 2 and 3.

1,681,059           1,000,000           2,681,059           -                              

432 - STORMWATER CONSTRUCTION 1,681,059           1,000,000           2,681,059           -                              

433 - STORMWATER CAPITAL REPLACEMENT

37 Grant / Fund 

Balance

This appropriation request will utilize $40,490 from the Federal Emergency Management Agency

(FEMA). The subaward has a 75% (maximum) federal and 25% (minimum) non-federal cost share

percentage. The City has a match amount of $13,497 which will be provided by Stormwater fund

balance. These dollars will be used to install 10 rain gauges and two weather stations in and around

Greeley’s Downtown Drainage Basin. These devices will not only enhance our response and

preparedness for large rain events (like we experienced in July of 2021), but will also dramatically

improve the data collection and improve future modeling for engineering purposes.

13,497                 40,490                 53,987                 -                              

433 - STORMWATER CAPITAL REPLACEMENT 13,497                 40,490                 53,987                 -                              

434 - STORMWATER DEBT SERVICE

38 Bond Proceeds / 

Fund Balance

This appropriation request will allocate stormwater debt issuance costs & debt payments for 2022. 1,069,305           330,484               1,399,789           -                              

434 - STORMWATER DEBT SERVICE 1,069,305           330,484               1,399,789           -                              

511 - EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCE OPERATIONS

39 Operating Transfer: 

LIABILITY

This request will appropriate insurance recovery funds to repair and maintain police vehicles &

equipment. Funding will be moved from the Liability fund to the Fleet Maintenance fund.

-                             36,000                 36,000                 -                              

511 - EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCE OPERATIONS -                             36,000                 36,000                 -                              

512 - FLEET REPLACEMENT

40 Operating Transfer: 

LIABILITY

One City utility vehicle was stolen from the Linn Grove Cemetery. This appropriation request will ensure

that the City receives a replacement. Funding will be shifted form the Liability Fund to the Fleet

Replacement Fund.

-                             35,000                 35,000                 -                              

41 Vehicle Sale to 

Other Department

This appropriation request will move funding in the Natural Areas & Trails budget to the Fleet budget

for the purchase of a vehicle  for the Restoration Specialist position.

-                             90,000                 90,000                 -                              

42 Operating Transfer: 

LIABILITY

Two City vehicles were considered a total loss that were both caused by non-city staff. This

appropriation will ensure that the City receives replacements. Funding will be shifted from the Liability

Fund to the Fleet Replacement Fund.

-                             39,178                 39,178                 -                              

512 - FLEET REPLACEMENT -                             164,178               164,178               -                              

513 - EQUIPMENT REPLACEMENT

43 Equipment Sale to 

Other Department

This appropriation request will move funding in the Natural Areas & Trails budget to the Equipment

budget for the purchase of equipment for the Restoration Specialist position.

-                             14,000                 14,000                 -                              

513 - EQUIPMENT REPLACEMENT -                             14,000                 14,000                 -                              

Page 269

Item No. 20.



Fund Item  Funding Source Description  Fund Balance Revenue Expenditures  Net Impact 

TOTAL (Less Additional Operating Expenditures Between Funds) 14,713,383        19,341,978        34,055,361        -                                

OPERATING TRANSFERS

T 4 Grant

Forestry Program Reimbursement

     Operating Transfer

          CASH IN LIEU OF LANDSCAPING to GENERAL FUND ($17,981)

          COMMUNITY MEMORIALS TO GENERAL FUND ($1,750)

-                             19,731                 19,731                 -                              

T 20 Royalties

Hope Springs Contract

     Operating Transfer of Royalties

          GENERAL FUND to PUBLIC IMPROVEMENT

-                             140,000               140,000               -                              

T 25
Insurance 

Recoveries

Salt Shed Repair from High Winds

     Operating Transfer of Insurance Recoveries

          LIABILITY to FOOD TAX

-                             24,257                 24,257                 -                              

T 39
Insurance 

Recoveries

Police Cruiser Repair

     Operating Transfer of Insurance Recoveries

          LIABILITY to EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCE OPERATIONS

-                             36,000                 36,000                 -                              

T 40 Fund Balance

Stolen Utility Vehicle Replacement

     Operating Transfer of Fund Balance

          LIABILITY to FLEET REPLACEMENT

35,000                 -                             35,000                 -                              

T 42
Insurance 

Recoveries

Total Loss Vehicle Reimbursement

     Operating Transfer of Insurance Recoveries

          LIABILITY to FLEET REPLACEMENT

-                             39,178                 39,178                 -                              

35,000                  259,166               294,166               -                                

14,748,383        19,601,144        34,349,527        -                                

Page 270

Item No. 20.



2022
4th Appropriation

City Council Meeting

December 6th

Page 271

Item No. 20.



Fourth Appropriation - 2022

• Allocation of Revenues and Expenditures

• Ensures Completion of Projects & Commitments 

• Records Grants & Received Revenues

• Amount: $34,055,361 Expenditures

o (+ $294,166 in Transfers Across Funds)

2

Page 272

Item No. 20.



City 
Council 
Priorities

Page 273

Item No. 20.



City Council Priorities

Page 274

Item No. 20.



5

Department Allocation

Excludes Transfers

Page 275

Item No. 20.



6

Funding Sources

    Total 

Fund Balance: Operating 6,329,131$           

Fund Balance: Capital 8,419,252             

New Resources 19,306,978           

Total (Excluding Transfers) 34,055,361$         

Operating Transfers 294,166                

Total Appropriation 34,349,527$         

Page 276

Item No. 20.



7

Homeless to Housing - ICM Team

[100 - GENERAL FUND]*

Police Miscellaneous Grants & 

Reimbursements

[100 - GENERAL FUND]

Northeast Colorado All Hazards Region 

Grants

[112 - NEAHR GRANTS FUND]

Fire Miscellaneous Grants & 

Reimbursements
226,365          

[100 - GENERAL FUND]

Waste Characterization & Diversion Study 147,895          

[104 - STREETS AND ROADS FUND]

1,048,610$     

Additional Operating Request(s)

264,645          

Amount

485,283          

Operating Highlights

Excludes Transfers

* ½ the Funding will be Allocated from Federal Grants
Page 277

Item No. 20.



8

12th Street Storm Outfall Projects 2,681,059$     

[432 - STORMWATER CONSTRUCTION]

Land & Water Conservation Fund Grant - 

Shurview Property Repayment
1,250,000       

[318 - QUALITY OF LIFE]

Additional Capital Request(s) Amount

Capital Highlights 
New Resources

Excludes Transfers

Page 278

Item No. 20.



9

Ladder 1 Replacement Funding 2,030,446$       

[306 - FIRE EQUIPMENT ACQUISITION/REPLACEMENT]

US34 & CR17 Design 2,000,000         

[334 - ROAD DEVELOPMENT]

Downtown Improvements 1,245,000         

[334 - ROAD DEVELOPMENT]

Broadview Acres Phase 2 & 3 Trail 458,000            

[336 - TRAILS DEVELOPMENT]

23rd Ave & 4th Street Redesign

[334 - ROAD DEVELOPMENT]

16th Street Enhancement 

[334 - ROAD DEVELOPMENT]

Amount

200,000            

200,000            

Additional Capital Request(s)

Capital Highlights
Fund Balance

Excludes Transfers

Page 279

Item No. 20.



Questions

Page 280

Item No. 20.



City Council Agenda - City of Greeley, Colorado 

Council Agenda Summary 
  

Title:  

Scheduling of Meetings, Other Events 

Summary:  

During this portion of the meeting the City Manager or City Council may review the 

attached Council Calendar or Planning Calendar and Schedule for City Council 

Meetings and Work Sessions and make any necessary changes regarding any 

upcoming meetings or events. 

Attachments: 
Council Meetings and Other Events Calendars 

Council Meeting and Work Session Schedule/Planning Calendar 

 

 

Page 281

Item No. 21.



1 11/30/2022 8:39 AMCouncil Master Calendar

SuMo TuWe Th Fr Sa

1 2 3
4 5 6 7 8 9 10

11 12 13 14 15 16 17
18 19 20 21 22 23 24
25 26 27 28 29 30 31

December 2022

SuMo TuWe Th Fr Sa

1 2 3 4 5 6 7
8 9 10 11 12 13 14

15 16 17 18 19 20 21
22 23 24 25 26 27 28
29 30 31

January 2023

December 5, 2022 - 

December 11, 2022

Monday, December 5

Wednesday, December 7

Friday, December 9

Tuesday, December 6
6:00pm -  City Council Meeting (Council Chambers and via Zoom) - 

Council Master Calendar

Thursday, December 8
4:00pm - 5:00pm Chamber of Commerce Ribbon Cutting - 55 

Resort - Council Master Calendar

Saturday, December 10

Sunday, December 11

Page 282

Item No. 21.



1 12/1/2022 9:39 AMCouncil Master Calendar

SuMo TuWe Th Fr Sa

1 2 3
4 5 6 7 8 9 10

11 12 13 14 15 16 17
18 19 20 21 22 23 24
25 26 27 28 29 30 31

December 2022

SuMo TuWe Th Fr Sa

1 2 3 4 5 6 7
8 9 10 11 12 13 14

15 16 17 18 19 20 21
22 23 24 25 26 27 28
29 30 31

January 2023

December 12, 2022 - 

December 18, 2022

Monday, December 12

Wednesday, December 14
3:00pm - 4:00pm GPD Swearing In Ceremony  (GPD Main 

breakroom)

Friday, December 16

Tuesday, December 13
6:00pm -  City Council Worksession Meeting (Council Chambers and

via Zoom) - Council Master Calendar

Thursday, December 15
7:30am - 8:30am DDA (DeBoutez/Butler)

11:00am - 2:00pm City of Greeley Holiday Party (Gates, Hall, Clark,

Deboutez, Butler) (Double Tree Hotel) - Council Master Calendar

3:30pm - 4:30pm Airport Authority (Clark/Payton)

Saturday, December 17

Sunday, December 18

Page 283

Item No. 21.



1 12/1/2022 10:28 AMCouncil Master Calendar

SuMo TuWe Th Fr Sa

1 2 3
4 5 6 7 8 9 10

11 12 13 14 15 16 17
18 19 20 21 22 23 24
25 26 27 28 29 30 31

December 2022

SuMo TuWe Th Fr Sa

1 2 3 4 5 6 7
8 9 10 11 12 13 14

15 16 17 18 19 20 21
22 23 24 25 26 27 28
29 30 31

January 2023

December 19, 2022 - 

December 25, 2022

Monday, December 19
3:30pm - 5:30pm Commissioner Steve Moreno & Director of 

Finance Don Warden Retirements (1150 O St (1150 O St, Greeley, 

Colorado  80631)) - Council Master Calendar

Wednesday, December 21
2:00pm - 5:00pm Water & Sewer Board (Gates)

Friday, December 23

Tuesday, December 20
6:00pm -  City Council Meeting - Cancelled - Council Master 

Calendar

Thursday, December 22

Saturday, December 24

Sunday, December 25

Page 284

Item No. 21.



1 11/30/2022 8:41 AMCouncil Master Calendar

SuMo TuWe Th Fr Sa

1 2 3
4 5 6 7 8 9 10

11 12 13 14 15 16 17
18 19 20 21 22 23 24
25 26 27 28 29 30 31

December 2022

SuMo TuWe Th Fr Sa

1 2 3 4 5 6 7
8 9 10 11 12 13 14

15 16 17 18 19 20 21
22 23 24 25 26 27 28
29 30 31

January 2023

December 26, 2022 - 

January 1, 2023

Monday, December 26
11:30am - 12:30pm Greeley Chamber of Commerce (Hall)

6:00pm - 7:00pm Youth Commission (Clark)

Wednesday, December 28
7:00am - 8:00am Upstate Colorado Economic Development 

(Gates/Hall) (Upstate Colorado Conference Room) - Council Master 

Calendar

Friday, December 30

Tuesday, December 27
6:00pm -  City Council Worksession Meeting - Cancelled - Council 

Master Calendar

Thursday, December 29

Saturday, December 31

Sunday, January 1

Page 285

Item No. 21.



11/29/2022

This schedule is subject to change

Date/Type Description Sponsor Placement/Time
Development Impact Fees John Karner/Todd Cristiano

ARPA Priorities John Karner

Legislative Agenda Staycie Coons

December 20, 2022

Council Meeting Cancelled

December 27, 2022

Council Work Session Cancelled

Minutes Approval (12/6/22 Council Meeting; 12/13/22 Council Work Session) Heidi Leatherwood Consent

Motion Designating posting sites for City Council meeting notices Heidi Leatherwood Consent

Motion to Approve 12th Street Stormwater Outfall Change Order #3 Paul Trombino Consent

Intro & 1st Rdg Ord - 1603, 1611, 1613, 1619 7th Ave Rezone Becky Safarik Consent

Intro & 1st Rdg Ord - Development Impact Fees John Karner Consent

2nd Rdg Ord & PH - Authorizing 6th Amendment to Leprino Development Agreement Sean Chambers Regular

2nd Rdg Ord & PH - Reauthorzing various Boards & Commissions Heidi Leatherwood Regular

City Council Meeting Scheduling 2022/2023

January 03, 2023

 Council Meeting

December 13, 2022

 Council Work Session

Page 286

Item No. 21.



City Council Agenda - City of Greeley, Colorado 

Council Agenda Summary 
  

Title:  

Consideration of a motion authorizing the City Attorney to prepare any required 

resolutions, agreements, and ordinances to reflect action taken by the City Council at 

this meeting and any previous meetings, and authorizing the Mayor and City Clerk to 

sign all such resolutions, agreements and ordinances 

Council’s Recommended Action:  

A motion to approve the above authorizations. 

 

 

Page 287

Item No. 22.



City Council Work Session Agenda - City of Greeley, Colorado 

City Council Work Session 

Agenda Summary 
 

December 6, 2022 

Doug Marek, City Attorney 

Noel Mink, Human Resources Director 

Title: 

Consideration of a motion to go into Executive Session to receive legal 

advice from the City Attorney and to determine positions, develop 

strategy, and give instructions to negotiators regarding 2023 collective 

bargaining with Greeley Firefighters 

Background: 

 

The Greeley Municipal Charter sets out the policy, process, and timeline for 

negotiating collective bargaining agreements with Greeley Firefighters. This 

agenda item calls for an executive session so that -- prior to initiating 

collective bargaining for 2023 with Greeley Firefighters -- the City Council 

can meet with those management officials who establish compensation, 

hours, working conditions, and all other terms and conditions of 

employment.   For purposes of collective bargaining, the City acts through 

the Chief of the Fire Department, Director of Human Resources, City 

Manager, and City Council .   

 

Pursuant to Colorado law and consistent with the Greeley Municipal Code, 

the City Council is authorized to move for an executive session to receive 

legal advice and to determine positions, develop strategies, and provide 

instructions to negotiators regarding collective bargaining.  

Decision Options: 

A motion to go into an Executive Session for a conferral with the City 

Attorney to receive legal advice and to determine positions, develop 

strategies, and provide instructions to negotiators regarding collective 

bargaining, as provided in C.R.S. 24-6-402(4)(b) and 24-6-402(4)(e)(I), and 

Greeley Municipal Code 2-151(a)(2) and 2-151(a)(5). 

 

 

Page 288

Item No. 23.


	Meeting Information
	Agenda
	Item No. 5.	Recognitions and Proclamations
	Whats Great

	Item No. 6.	Citizen Input
	Item No. 7.	Reports from Mayor and Council
	Item No. 8.	Initiatives from Mayor and Council
	Status Report of Initiatives

	Item No. 9.	Council Proceedings
	City Council Proceedings November 1, 2022 - draft
	City Council Proceedings November 15, 2022 - draft

	Item No. 10.	Work Session Report
	11-15-22 Special Work Session Report - draft

	Item No. 11.	Motion to Approve 2023 Proposed Council Meeting and Work Session Calendar
	Suggested Council Calendar Dates, List of Meeting - 2023

	Item No. 12.	Consideration of a Resolution Authorizing IGA for Judicial and Administrative Services with Fort Collins and Loveland
	RES 43, 2022 - Approving Judge sharing IGA
	IGA for Sharing of Judicial Services

	Item No. 13.	Consideration of a Resolution Approving the 2023 DDA Budget
	RES 45, 2022 - DDA 2023 Budget
	DDA Meeting Minutes 11-17-22
	Greeley Downtown Development Authority 2023 Budget

	Item No. 14.	Consideration of a Resolution - 2022 DDA Mill Levy Certification
	RES 46, 2022 - DDA Mill Levy with attachments
	DDA August Certification 2022

	Item No. 15.	Consideration of a Resolution - Water Efficiency Plan
	RES 44, 2022 - Water Efficiency Plan
	2022_Water Effeciency Plan (WEP) Pres. 12.06.2022
	Draft-Water-Efficiency-Plan (attachment added)

	Item No. 16.	Intro & 1st Rdg Ord - Re-authorizing various Boards and Commissions
	Agenda Summary - Intro & 1st Rdg Ord - Re-authorizing Boards and Commissions
	ORD 1, 2023 - Re-authorize various B & C

	Item No. 17.	Intro & 1st Rdg Ord - Leprino 6th Amendment
	Agenda Summary - Leprino 6th Amendment
	ORD 2, 2023 - Leprino Sixth Amendment
	Sixth Amendment (Leprino - Greeley)
	Leprino 6th Amendment DA - City Council (1st Reading)

	Item No. 18.	Pulled Consent
	Agenda Summary - Pulled Consent Agenda Items

	Item No. 19.	PH - Amendment to the CDBG-CV related to the 2020-2024 Consolidated Plan and 2020 Action Plan
	Agenda Summary - CDBG-CV Sub Amend 4
	CDBG-CV Amendment Request Letter - Signed
	Substantial Amendment (#4)-CDBG-CV - DRAFT
	Amendment Attachment A - Application Description
	Amendment Attachment B - COVID Response
	Amendment Attachment C - FY 22-23 HNC Budget
	Amendment Attachment D - Signed
	Amendmend Attachment D - Dup of benefits worksheet for increase

	Item No. 20.	Ord PH & 2nd Rdg - 4th 2022 Additional Appropriation
	ORD 47, 2022 - Appropriation  4
	2022 Appropriation  4
	2022 Appropriation #4 - Presentation (updated presentation)

	Item No. 21.	Scheduling of Meetings, Other Events
	Schedule of Meetings, Other Events
	Council Meeting and Work Session Planning Calendar

	Item No. 22.	Consideration of a motion..
	Item No. 23.	Consideration of a Motion - Executive Session re collective bargaining
	Bottom

